
 
 
 

Cabinet 
 

Date: Thursday, 1 October 2009 
Time: 
 

6.15 pm 

Venue: Council Chamber - Wallasey Town Hall 

 
 
Contact Officer: Brian Ellis 
Tel: 0151 691 8491 
e-mail: brianellis@wirral.gov.uk 
Website: http://www.wirral.gov.uk 
 

 

AGENDA 
 
1. MINUTES  
 
 The minutes of the last meeting have been printed and published.  Any 

matters called in will be reported at the meeting. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  That the minutes be approved and adopted. 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
 The members of the Cabinet are invited to consider whether they have 

a personal or prejudicial interest in connection with any of the items on 
this agenda and, if so, to declare it and state the nature of such 
interest. 
 

CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND LIFELONG LEARNING 
 
3. RELOCATION OF GILBROOK PRIMARY SCHOOL - 

CONSULTATION (Pages 1 - 24) 
 
4. REVIEW OF PRIMARY SCHOOL PLACES - PHASE 5 PLANNING 

AREAS AND COMMENCEMENT OF PHASE 5 (Pages 25 - 140) 
 
5. REVIEW OF SECONDARY SCHOOL PLACES PHASE 2 (Pages 141 

- 162) 
 
6. REVIEW OF SECONDARY SCHOOL PLACES PHASE 1 (Pages 163 

- 238) 
 

Public Document Pack



7. EXEMPT INFORMATION - EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND 
PUBLIC  

 
 The following item contains exempt information. 

  
RECOMMENDATION:  That, under section 100 (A) (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following item of business on the grounds that it 
involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined by the 
relevant paragraphs of Part I of Schedule 12A (as amended) to that 
Act. 
 
 

8. AIMING HIGHER (Pages 239 - 252) 
 
9. ANY OTHER BUSINESS  
 
 To consider any other business that the Chair accepts as being urgent. 

 
 
 



WIRRAL COUNCIL  

CABINET – 1st OCTOBER 2009       

REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN’S SERVICES 

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATION ON POSSIBLE RELOCATION OF GILBROOK SPECIAL 
SCHOOL 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 To report on statutory consultations which have been held for the proposal to relocate 
Gilbrook Special School to the former site of Arrowe Hill Primary School and enable Cabinet 
to decide whether to publish statutory notices for the proposal.  

1.0 Background 

1.1  The Governing body of Gilbrook School, a special school with 50 places for primary age 
pupils with emotional and behavioural issues, has expressed an interest in relocating to 
larger premises with improved facilities to carry out additional behaviour support work to 
mainstream schools. The school is currently located in a semi-industrial area on Pilgrim 
Street, Birkenhead, but serves pupils from the entire Wirral area. A Sports Barn is located on 
the Gilbrook site. 

1.2 The closure of Arrowe Hill Primary School, Glebe Hey Road, Woodchurch, resulted from 
Phase 4 of the Primary Places Review. The school will formally close on 31st August 2009. 

1.3 Relocating to the former Arrowe Hill building would increase the net floor area available to 
Gilbrook by a third, and although the school would no longer have access to the Sports Barn, 
the total site area available to the school would triple including a substantial increase in hard 
and soft play area. The Authority would retain the former Infant building for storage purposes. 

1.4 At its meeting of 28th May 2009 Cabinet instructed that a formal consultation should be 
carried out with various stakeholders. This consultation ended on 31st July 2009 and the 
outcome is the subject of this report. 

2.0  Consultation  

2.1 In order for all stakeholders to have access to relevant background information and have the 
opportunity to comment and respond, the following methods of consultation have been 
employed : 

(i) A consultation leaflet and comments form to all parents/carers of pupils attending 
Gilbrook School. The information was also provided to trade union representatives, 
relevant Ward and parliamentary representatives and other persons specified by 
guidance. The consultation leaflet is attached as Appendix A. 

(ii) A dedicated web-site on the Wirral Learning Grid was established and advertised on the 
council web-site, the council Intranet, and in the parents’ consultation leaflets and the 
standard letters to schools.   This site provided access to all the information produced in 
paper form and allowed e-mail responses to a dedicated e-mail address. Woodchurch 
T.R.U.S.T residents association was contacted and has advertised the consultation on 
their website, www.woodchurchtrust.com. 

(iii) The consultation leaflet was made available and advertised at Woodchurch and Upton 
libraries, the central libraries, Woodchurch community centre, The Lauries community 
centres and at the Conway Centre One-Stop shop.  

(iv) A meeting for all interested stakeholders was held at Gilbrook School. This comprised a 
short presentation on the option, followed by audience comments, feedback and 
questions.  The meetings were attended by parents, carers and staff. The date of the 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



meeting was in the parents’ leaflets and on the specific web-site and a general notice 
was published in the local press. 

(v) Opportunities have been provided for other means of response.  Submissions have been 
received in paper and e-mail formats – all of which will be made available before and at 
the Cabinet meeting, in addition to the summaries contained in this report. 

(vi) All of the relevant LA documentation produced for the consultation has been shared with 
the Diocesan Bodies. 

 3.0 Outcome of the Consultation 

 3.1 Ten written responses to the consultation were received. Eight of these were from 
parents/carers of pupils at the school, the remaining two from other interested people. 
Anonymised comments are attached as Appendix B. 

 3.2 The meeting held on 24th June 2009 was attended by 16 people – 11 were parents/carers, 
four were staff members (including the headteacher) and 1 was an interested person. 20% of 
pupils attending the school were represented by at least one parent/carer. The comments and 
views made at this meeting were recorded in writing. The notes are attached as Appendix C. 

 3.3 All written responses received were positive regarding the proposed relocation. Respondents 
cited the benefits of moving to a larger building and site in a more central location within 
Wirral with better car parking and outdoor play facilities. The Governing body believes the 
potential benefits to include: 

• More classrooms, which should help reduce class sizes even further 

• Better quality accommodation for the exclusion base 

• More meeting spaces for various agencies including social care, health, education and 
parents, as well as one to one sessions with pupils 

• More capacity to provide extended services – parents weekly workshops, for example 

• More car parking and a larger staffroom 

• More space to carry out additional behaviour support training and advice to mainstream 
schools. 

  As would be expected, some concerns were raised, particularly at the meeting, in relation to 
the transition to the new site, principally around the logistics of moving furniture and other 
equipment, the security of the new site, staffing issues, access to indoor play facilities and 
potential for new uniforms. 

3.4 It should be noted that travel to school arrangements would continue as specified in the 
Authority’s information booklets for parents, which are that the Authority would pay the travel 
costs of children attending Gilbrook either by providing a travel pass for pupils able to travel 
by public transport, or by arranging travel on the Authority’s own or contracted vehicles, 
including providing an escort if necessary. 

3.5 The long-term benefits of relocating to the former Arrowe Hill site appear to outweigh any 
short-term disruption to the school caused by the move. The proposal is recommended to 
proceed as a statutory proposal. 

4.0 Financial Implications 

4.1 The 2009/10 Schools Capital programme approved by Cabinet on 28th May 2009 includes 
£200,000 to facilitate the move to the former Arrowe Hill building. 

4.2 If the proposal is approved, as a change in place of employment beyond their control, 
Gilbrook staff (teaching and non-teaching) may be entitled to claim Disturbance and 
Travelling Allowance for four years, equivalent either to weekly or monthly train/bus fare or 
additional travel mileage allowance for essential car users. 

5.0 Staffing Implications 

Page 2



5.1 As a relocation, it is expected that all current staff will transfer to the new building. The only 
effect upon the staff will be in terms of them having to work in a new location (See 4.2 
above). 

6.0 Equal Opportunities Implications 

6.1 It is essential to plan school provision across the Authority so that it is both efficient and 
effective in the interests of all pupils.  

6.2 An Equality Impact Assessment will be carried out in relation to this report. 

7.0 Community Safety Implications 

7.1 Rationalisation and refurbishment of schools allow the most vulnerable accommodation to be 
removed and other security improvements carried out. 

8.0 Local Agenda 21 Statement 

8.1 The provision of efficient and effective education is a vital part of serving local communities; 
inefficient use of resources is wasteful both in educational and physical resource terms. 

9.0 Planning Implications 

9.1  Any proposals that may arise from school re-organisation would be subject to the usual 
planning processes. 

10.0 Anti-Poverty Implications 

10.1 The redistribution of funding released by school reorganisation, in combination with the 
Authority’s intention to realign the schools budget to give higher levels of funding to schools 
with high levels of deprivation, as well as improved accommodation, goes towards raising 
aspirations and narrowing the attainment gap for vulnerable groups. 

11.0 Social Inclusion Implications 

11.1 School re-organisation and transforming accommodation through the Primary Capital 
Programme and other schemes, provides opportunities to promote joint agency work to 
promote co-ordinated solutions for pupils and their families. There is scope for community 
participation in the design process of any new school buildings, raising the school’s profile 
within the community. 

12.0 Local Member Support Implications 

12.1 Special school provision has relevance to all Wards.  

12.2 Gilbrook School and the Wards in which the two sites are situated, which are Birkenhead and 
Tranmere and Upton.  

Recommendations 

(1) That statutory proposals be published in respect of the statutory alteration to transfer the site 
of Gilbrook Special School to the former site of Arrowe Hill Primary School  

(2) That the Director of Children’s Services be authorised to take all necessary steps to publish 
these proposals, ensure the prescribed procedures are followed, including requesting 
permissions from the Secretary of State in furtherance of the proposal. 

Howard Cooper 

Director of Children’s Services 

 
Page 3



Page 4

This page is intentionally left blank



Relocating Gilbrook School to the former
site of Arrowe Hill Primary School

June – July 2009

Consultation DocumentPage 5



Re-locating Gilbrook School to the former site of Arrowe Hill 
Primary School 

Consultation
This leaflet 

! describes the option 

! outlines the timetable for consultation and possible implementation

! tells you how to respond to consultation

Dear Consultee 

Some of you may be aware that the Council has been carrying out a review of primary 

schools across Wirral over the last few years. One of the outcomes of this review process is 

that Arrowe Hill Primary School in Woodchurch will close as a primary school from 31st

August 2009.  The Governing body of Gilbrook School had asked the Council to look at 

moving Gilbrook to a larger building with more outdoor space. The possibility of relocating 

Gilbrook to the former Arrowe Hill site has now been discussed between the Local Authority 

and the Governing body of Gilbrook School, and so far all are agreed that relocation would be 

beneficial.  

Because the proposed site is more than 2 miles away from Gilbrook’s existing site, we are 

consulting more widely with parents, staff, governors and other people related to Gilbrook 

School in order to help decide whether Gilbrook should relocate to the former Arrowe Hill site. 

Your views are important to us. Please take this opportunity to have your say. 

Yours sincerely 

Howard Cooper 

Director of Children’s Services   

Page 6



2

The Consultation 

We have tried to think of questions you may have about the option to relocate Gilbrook 

School. We are also sure you will have plenty more! Please ask your headteacher, or write to 

the Local Authority at the address at the end of this leaflet.  

What is Gilbrook School? 

Gilbrook School is a local authority maintained community special school with 50 places for 

boys and girls aged 5 to 11, who have statements of special educational needs because of 

emotional or behavioural difficulties. Some have additional learning needs, such as ADHD, 

Autism, Moderate Learning Difficulties and Specific Learning Difficulties. 

Gilbrook is located on Pilgrim Street, Birkenhead, but serves the whole of Wirral.  

Pupils are admitted at different times during the school year, sometimes with a history of non-

attendance and extreme behaviour, which in some cases has led to exclusion from their 

mainstream school. Consequently, many learners have considerable gaps in their skills and 

knowledge, particularly in terms of communication, language and literacy. When pupils reach 

the end of Year 6, some return to mainstream secondary education every year. 

The school also provides an Outreach Service offering advice and training for teaching and 

non-teaching staff in mainstream primary schools. 

When last inspected by Ofsted in 2007, Gilbrook was found to be an “outstanding” school.  

Why move? What are the benefits? 

At present, Gilbrook occupies a single storey school with six teaching rooms, an assembly 

hall and a sports hall.  

Arrowe Hill’s building is two storey, with eight teaching spaces in the main building, an 

assembly hall, and a linked single storey building currently used as an ICT, community and 

before/afterschool club facility. 

Relocating to the former Arrowe Hill building would increase the net floor area available to 

Gilbrook by a third, and although the school would no longer have access to the Sports Barn, 

the total site area available to the school would triple including a substantial increase in hard 

and soft play area. The Authority would retain the former Infant building for storage purposes. 

The Governing body believes that the benefits would be as follows: 

! More classrooms, which should help reduce class sizes even further 

! Better quality accommodation for the exclusion base 

! More meeting spaces for various agencies including social care, health, education and 

parents, as well as one to one sessions with pupils 

Page 7



3

! More capacity to provide extended services – parents weekly workshops, for example 

! More car parking and a larger staffroom 

! More space to carry out additional behaviour support training and advice to 

mainstream schools 

Would any building work be needed? 

The Arrowe Hill building has very recently been renovated, but there are likely to be 

changes needed to the building and site, and on this basis the Local Authority has already 

set aside £200,000 of capital funding in this years budget to assist with the move to Arrowe 

Hill, if the final decision is that the relocation is the best way forward.  

Exactly what would be required would be worked out after the final decision is made but 

could include an extension to the existing car park, some new windows, making a safe 

drop-off for the minibuses and installing a panic alarm system. 

This work would be carried out before Gilbrook move in, so that there is no disruption to 

children and staff. 

What is the legal process?  

By law, a school can’t relocate more than 2 miles in a straight line from the original site 

without publishing a “prescribed alteration” notice.  The legal process involves a 

consultation with stakeholders before a decision is made whether to publish the legal notice 

for the transfer of site. 

After the legal notice is published, at both sites and in local newspapers, there is another 6 

weeks for people to make comments about the proposal to relocate the school. 

This means that the final decision would be made by Council’s Cabinet during the Autumn 

term. The earliest a move could take place would be Easter 2010. 

Would admissions change?

The process for admission to Gilbrook would be the same as now. The new buildings would 

be bigger, but there is no intention to create additional places, so there would be about 50 

children at any time, just as now. 

Travel to school arrangements would continue as specified in the Authority’s information 

booklets for parents, which are that the Authority would pay the travel costs of children 

attending Gilbrook either by providing a travel pass for pupils able to travel by public 

transport, or by arranging travel on the Authority’s own or contracted vehicles, including 

providing an escort if necessary. 

Page 8



4

Would the school have a new name or uniform? 

No, not unless the Governing body decide to do so.  

What about existing staff? 

As a relocation, all existing staff would transfer to the new site, unless they move to another 

school or retire, just as in any other school. 

Page 9



5

The Consultation

It is important for you to understand that a decision has not already been made.  The 

Council’s Cabinet will want to see the comments made during consultation before making 

any decision about what happens next.

Finding out more 

If you want more information about the options, you can find out more on the Internet.  Go to 

www.wirral-mbc.gov.uk, and click on More Information under Latest News in the Special 

School Review box (purple). You will find: 

! This consultation leaflet  

! Site and building information on Gilbrook and Arrowe Hill 

! How to send your comments to the Director 

If you do not have access to the Internet at home, you can go to your local library where staff 

will help you log on and print out the information.  

The Consultation leaflet will also be available to read at the following places: 

Libraries   Community Centres One Stop Shops 
Woodchurch   Woodchurch   Conway Centre 

Birkenhead Central  The Lauries       

Wallasey Central 

You can also look at the documents at Wallasey Town Hall. If you want more printed copies, 

please contact the Asset Management Team, Hamilton Building, Conway Street, Birkenhead, 

CH41 4FD, 0151 666 4351, or by e-mail at specialreview@wirral.gov.uk.   

What are the next steps? 

Step 1.   The first step is to distribute the consultation leaflet and ask for views and 

comments. 

People associated with other local or special schools, and members of the public who want 

to, can write in with their views.  Anyone who wants to can write and say what they think. 

There will be a session at Gilbrook School on Wednesday 24th June at 10 o’clock in 

the morning. 

The meeting is an opportunity for parents, staff, governors and other people directly related 

to the school to find out more information and talk to representatives of the Children and 

Young People’s Department. 

Page 10



6

When the Consultation ends, all the views and opinions received in writing and at the 

consultation meeting will form part of a report to the Council’s Cabinet.  Cabinet members will 

read the report and decide what to do next.  They may decide not to go further with this option 

at this stage.  Members might make changes, consider other options put forward as part of 

the consultation, or they could decide to do more consultation.  

Step 2.   If Council’s Cabinet decides to go ahead with this option, the Local Authority will 

publish a prescribed alteration notice. This notice is followed by six weeks for formal written 

objections and comments to be sent to the Director of Children’s Services. 

Step 3.   After the six week representation period ends, the proposal, with the objections and 

comments, is sent to the Council’s decision making body, which is Council’s Cabinet.  Cabinet 

can decide to: 

! Approve the proposal 

! Approve the proposal with changes 

! Approve the proposal subject to other factors, such as obtaining planning permission 

! Reject the proposal. 

If Cabinet can’t agree a decision, the Schools’ Adjudicator will make the final decision.  The 

Adjudicator is independent, and is appointed by the Government to make decisions on school 

proposals.

Step 4.  If the proposal is approved, either by Cabinet or by the School’s Adjudicator, it will be 

put into practice.   

HAVING YOUR SAY

What do you think?  Please make sure your response is received by Friday, 31st July 2009.

You can write on your own, or you can join together with other people to write a joint letter.  

Your comments can be sent by post, by handing them in at your school or by e-mail.  If you 

find it helpful you can complete and return the feedback form on the next page.  There is 

also a feedback form on the Consultation website: www.wirral-mbc.gov.uk/primaryplaces/

The postal address for return of feedback forms or written comments is:

Gilbrook Consultation 
Director of Children’s Services 
Hamilton Building 
Conway Street 
Birkenhead 
CH41 1FD 
Or by e-mail to specialreview@wirral.gov.uk 

Please note:  To make sure the Consultation is fully open and transparent, all the responses 
to this consultation will be made available for inspection. 

Page 11



7

Gilbrook Consultation Feedback Form 

Please let us know the main relationships you have with the school by putting a tick in the 
appropriate box or boxes.  You might be a parent and a member of staff, for example. 

School Parent Member of staff Governor Other person

Gilbrook School 
    

Other (please say which one)
    

Do you agree with the proposal to relocate Gilbrook School to the former Arrowe Hill 
site? Tick one box only. 

YES                                               NO  
Comments
Please give your reasons or comments in the box below. You can write more on the back of 
the form, or on another sheet if you need to. 

Please tell us your name and address, and e-mail address if you have one.  We will not use 
your personal information for anything other than this consultation.

Name

Address 

Postcode 

e-mail

Please note:  In order to ensure that this process is fully open and transparent, other people 
will be able to read all the responses to this consultation. 

Address: Gilbrook Consultation    Make sure your response is 
  Director of Children’s Services  received by: 
  Hamilton Building     

  Conway Street    FRIDAY 31st JULY 2009
  Birkenhead 
  CH41 4FD 
E-mail  specialreview@wirral.gov.uk

Page 12



P
a
g
e
 1

3



P
a

g
e
 1

4



P
a
g
e
 1

5



P
a

g
e
 1

6



Hi

My name is xxx and I am a parent of a child who attends Gilbrook 
School.  I would like to put my opinion across about the relocation of Gilbrook 
to Arrowe Hill Primary School. 

I think that this relocation would be a really good idea because at the moment 
they have their dinner hall, their ICT and science lessons in the same room 
because of the lack of space in the building that they use now.  They also use 
the same room for parent groups. 

Also they do not have a real playground because it is also a carpark so if a 
parent has their car in there, they have to wait until the children come in from 
their break before they can get their cars back out. 

I really think that they need to relocate to give them more room and space for 
the children to enjoy their time at school. 

P
a
g
e
 1

7



P
a

g
e
 1

8



P
a
g
e
 1

9



Dear Sally Gibbs

Thanks for your email and the policy document on Gilbrook.  I can see lots and lots of 
advantages of Gilbrook being relocated.  But I am concerned about the travel arrangements.  
Will all those families who request transport to the new school gain that service free please?

With best wishes

Frank Field

P
a

g
e
 2

0



P
a
g
e
 2

1



P
a

g
e
 2

2



APPENDIX C 
Notes from parents meeting at Gilbrook 

24th June 2009 
 

Present – David Armstrong, Sally Gibbs, Graham Mount 
 
Headteacher – Two years ago the governing body began thinking about 
moving to larger premises. The Governing body wrote to the local 
authority to ask if we could be considered if a suitable site came up.  
Arrowe Hill closes on 31st August this year and was offered as an option. 
A group of staff, governors and parents made a visit earlier this year, the 
general consensus was that a move would be beneficial for many 
reasons. The governing body wrote to DA to say yes. 

• We have 50 places, but have had more than 50 pupils for some 
time. Classes should be 8-9 children maximum, but we only have 
6 classrooms. Staffing has increased, there is an impact on our 
limited car parking. Cars park on the playground. 

• Outreach services have produced more admin and staffing 
requirements. We support 40 mainstream schools, and this means 
more visitors to school. 

• The Exclusion base is very small, used to be a small library. 

• We do loads of work with other agencies to meet childrens needs. 
There are meetings going on every day but we have no space for 
it, end up using the foyer, the kitchen, offices, it’s not really 
appropriate. 

• Although we’ve done our best, there is very little green space. 
Q. Is the Arrowe Hill site secure?  
A. It has only two ways in, and security fencing all the way round, 
overlooked by houses all the way round too. We intend to finish the 
window replacement scheme and extend the car park. 
Gilbrook have asked for the alarm system to be relocated/reinstalled. 
The security at Arrowe Hill is probably better than here although we 
don’t often have runners. 
 
Q. Does it have more than one Hall? 
A. Only one hall. Although no separate Sports hall, there is far more 
outside space, and more rooms inside that could be used. 
 
Q. Will the number of places be expanded? 
A. No, will stay 50 places but never say never. We also may have 
visiting children for various reasons. 
 
Q. Could we get another Sports Barn? 
A. There are plenty of sporting facilities in Woodchurch, so it would be 
unlikely to be approved. 
 

Page 23



Q. It seems like long term there is more scope for alteration at Arrowe 
Hill if we need to. 
A. There is a substantial site, with more rooms and secluded safe 
facilities. Once settled in, you would have a better idea of what needs to 
be altered. 
 
Q. Could we use the hall in the old Junior building? 
A. Possibly, although the junior building is used by the LA for storage. 
 
Q. What happens to staff? 
A. All the staff can move en bloc to the school with no change to their 
contracts. 
 
Q. Is the entrance way wide enough to get a minibus through? 
A. Yes. We will also arrange for a drop-off area for the minibuses. 
 
Q. Will the uniforms change? Fender (nearby school) has the same 
coloured jumper. 
A. Not intending to change uniform, or the name as we have a good 
reputation built up with the name. 
 
DA – During the gap between the decision being made and the move, 
we will do all building work while the site is empty. We are keeping the 
caretaker and a cleaner on to keep the building occupied until then. 
 
Q. What happens to the furniture and equipment? 
A. Schools taking pupils from Arrowe Hill will get first choice of the IT 
and other equipment, furniture. After this Gilbrook will get the opportunity 
to make the best of the two sets of equipment etc. and decide what to 
keep. 
 
Q. Would the school get any special closure days to help with the move? 
A. This is considered an unavoidable closure, would have to be agreed 
with parents due to childcare etc. We would normally ask schools to 
move during a school holiday, for example, Easter, but it is possible to 
get additional closure days by agreement with the authority. 
 
Q. Can parents help with the move?  
A. Yes if they want to. 
 
Q. Are there likely to be any objections? 
A. You can never make everybody happy. The Arrowe Hill site will not 
be sold and will remain a school, with fewer pupils, and less traffic due 
to minibuses so hopefully this move will not cause many objections. 
 

Page 24



WIRRAL COUNCIL 

CABINET -  1st OCTOBER 2009                           
 

REVIEW OF PRIMARY SCHOOL PLACES: OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS ON 
OPTIONS PUT FORWARD FOR THE PHASE 5 PLANNING AREAS AND 
COMMENCEMENT OF PHASE 6 

Executive Summary 

1.0 This report advises the Cabinet of the outcomes of the consultation process which has 
taken place in the North Birkenhead planning area, in respect of the options for 
consultation agreed at Cabinet on 28th May 2009.  This report describes the 
responses to the various options put forward for discussion, including additional 
suggestions put forward during the consultation process, and makes 
recommendations with regard to statutory proposals in this area. The report also 
introduces the beginning of Phase 6 of the Review and asks for approval of an 
amendment to this phase. 

Background 

2.0 Context Of The School Organisation Plan 

Until March 2005, School Organisation Committees (SOC) were required by law to 
have regard to the School Organisation Plan (SOP) when considering statutory 
proposals for changes to schools’ provision.  The plan itself was approved on a 
regular basis by the SOC.  However the SOP was one of seven statutory plans 
repealed by the Children Act 2004.  The SOC itself has now been abolished by the 
Education and Inspections Act 2006 with effect from 25th May 2007. Nevertheless the 
policies and principles set out in the SOP remain an important context in which the 
Wirral Primary Review was set, and continue to be key guidance for the consideration 
of statutory proposals.  

2.1. DCSF guidance on the School Organisation Plan states that 

“The key purpose of the School Organisation Plan is to set out clearly how the Local 
Education Authority (LEA) plans to meet its statutory responsibility to secure sufficient 
education provision within its area in order to promote higher standards of attainment.  
It should be designed to help the key stakeholders – LEA, schools, promoters, parents 
and local communities, understand what school places are needed at present and in 
future, and how they are provided.  Importantly it will be the starting point… in 
considering statutory proposals for changes to schools”. 

2.2 As indicated above, the plan contains the policies and principles proposed by the LA 
and agreed by the former SOC for the planning of school provision.  These policies 
and principles are set out at Appendix 1 to the report.  It will be seen that the intention 
(prior to the abolition of the requirement to consider the plan) was that any proposal 
should be considered within the context of the principles set out in paragraphs 3 to 5 
of the Policies and Principles.  There is an over-riding requirement that overall 
provision is effective and efficient, i.e. that there should be an appropriate balance 
between school places and the following principles/criteria:  

• parental preference  

• delivering the curriculum  

• meeting statutory and desirable goals on class sizes 

• maintaining or promoting diversity 

• SEN 

• standards 

Agenda Item 4

Page 25



 2 

• accessibility  

• (secondary schools only) post 16 provision 

• contribution to the community. 

Paragraph 4 of the Policies and Principles adds the issue of overall school size within 
the primary sector and paragraph 5 deals specifically with the objectives of the 
Diocesan authorities. 

2.3   View of the Wirral Schools Forum 

Members should note that in June 2005 the Schools Forum passed the following 
resolution: 

“Resolved - That Wirral Schools Forum recognises that the local education authority 
has a duty to maintain and fund schools in an efficient and effective manner.  This 
implies that the number of schools should reflect the pupil population and the needs of 
Wirral communities, which could mean the amalgamation or closure of schools for the 
efficiency and effectiveness of the service.” 

2.4 Following the presentation of the Review of Primary School Places report on 16th 
October 2008, Cabinet instructed that six Area Reviews be carried out within Phase 5 
of the Primary Places Review: Prenton, Beechwood, North Birkenhead, Central 
Birkenhead, South Birkenhead and Noctorum.  These areas equate to the small 
planning areas in the Authority’s School Organisation Plan. The outcomes of these 
area reviews were reported to Cabinet on 28th May 2009 and a copy of this report is 
attached as Appendix 2. 

2.5 Following consideration of that report, Cabinet agreed that no options would be 
brought forward for the Prenton, Beechwood, Central Birkenhead, South Birkenhead 
and Noctorum small planning areas at this time, although numbers and place 
provision would be kept under review.  A number of options for consultation were 
proposed in respect of the North Birkenhead area. 

2.6 In relation to community school provision, the options were: 

   A1  Closure of Cathcart Street Primary School 

A2 Closure of Cole Street Primary School 

A3 Amalgamation of Cathcart Street Primary School and Cole Street 
Primary School at either an existing or a new site. 

In relation to Aided school provision the following option was suggested: 

B Closure of St Laurence’s Catholic Primary School 

 These options were approved for consultation. 

2.7 The options were within the context set out by the Director of Children’s Services, of 
the need to reduce the growing number of primary school surplus places and took 
account of Audit Commission guidance on surplus places against a continuing fall in 
the number of primary age pupils, and issues identified in the recent Joint Area 
Review.  In addition to removing unnecessary surplus places, the options were 
intended to make more effective use of resources, take account of patterns of parental 
preference, reflect the additional challenges of maintaining small schools in an urban 
area and contribute to the wider standards agenda through the more efficient use of 
resources. 

2.8 In order for all stakeholders to have access to relevant background information and 
have the opportunity to comment and respond, the following methods of consultation 
have been employed : 

Page 26



 3 

a) A range of documentation has been produced and distributed.  This comprised: 

 (i)  the full consultation document sent to all schools in the North Birkenhead 
area; St Werburgh’s Catholic Primary School in the South Birkenhead 
planning area; Birkenhead High School for Girls (Junior Division); local One-
Stop shops, Bidston and St James library and the Central Libraries; 
Wallasey Town Hall and relevant community centres; 

(ii) a review pack comprising all the relevant background information sent to all 
the locations in (i) above; 

(iii) parents’/carers’ consultation leaflets and comments forms to all 
parents/carers, via the three schools named in the options; 

(iv) standard letters to all the schools in the small planning area, one format for 
schools named in the options and one for other schools in the small 
planning area and for parents of pupils at St Werburgh’s Catholic Primary 
School and Birkenhead High School for Girls (Junior Division). 

b) A dedicated web-site on the Wirral Learning Grid was established and 
advertised on the council web-site, the council Intranet, and in the parents’ 
consultation leaflets and the standard letters to schools.   This site provided 
access to all the information produced in paper form and allowed e-mail 
responses to a dedicated e-mail address. 

c) Meetings were arranged for all interested stakeholders at each of the schools 
named in options for closure or amalgamation.  These meetings followed the 
same format, with a presentation on the overall position and the school specific 
position followed by around ninety minutes of time for audience comments, 
feedback and questions.  The meetings were attended by parents, carers, staff, 
governors, Ward members and various other interested persons and bodies, 
including Diocesan representatives where appropriate.  Each meeting was 
chaired by the Cabinet member for Children’s Services and Lifelong Learning.  
The dates for the meetings were in the parents’ leaflets and on the specific 
web-site and a general notice was published in the local press. 

d) Opportunities have been provided for other means of response.  Submissions 
have been received in paper and e-mail formats – all of which will be made 
available before and at the Cabinet meeting, in addition to the summaries 
contained in this report. 

e) All of the relevant LA documentation produced for the consultation has been 
shared with the Diocesan Bodies. 

2.9 The importance of eliciting the views of pupils is sometimes raised and this is an issue 
which is taken very seriously. We are sensitive to the fact that school re-organisation 
is by its nature upsetting and potentially stressful, particularly for children. Throughout 
the review, discussions with headteachers have taken place as to whether pupils 
should be formally consulted, and if so, how this could be carried out with minimum 
impact. The professional opinion of headteachers involved in this Phase of the Review 
was that any formal consultation would be unnecessarily distressing to children, 
nevertheless, the consultation may include responses received from individual 
children. 

2.10 The consultation process and the presentation of LA, small planning area and school 
data to this wider audience does appear to have persuaded most people of the need 
to reduce the number of school places, though understandably people wish to 
advocate the case for their school in respect of closure or amalgamation options. 

2.11 In addition to the detail set out below, further records of views put forward during the 
consultation period are attached as Appendix 3.  Feedback is set out school by 

Page 27



 4 

school.  The record for each school brings together the responses from the meeting 
held at the school, together with any points raised in written or e-mail submissions to 
the Authority. 

Outcome of the Consultation 

3.0 Further suggestions in relation to primary school provision in the North Birkenhead 
area were made as part of the consultation process:  

• Reduce the size of St Laurence’s Catholic Primary School and use the surplus 
space for other purposes 

• Amalgamate Cathcart Street Primary and The Priory CE (Aided) Primary 

Further discussion of these suggestions is given with the related consultation options 
below. 

3.1 There were several key themes in the combined responses from consultees: 

• General understanding of the falling rolls situation 

• Effect of proposed housing and demographic changes on pupil numbers 

• Respect for school staff in their skills and relationships with pupils and parents 

• Educational standards and quality of provision 

• Concern for the fate of closed buildings and sites  

• Travel distance to school and the effect on traffic and road safety 

• Disruption to pupils’ education and confidence 

• Class sizes 

• Importance of small schools 

• Effect of any change on children with special educational needs 

• Importance of out of hours facilities, such as adult learning and breakfast clubs 

• Importance of early years provision, including day care facilities 

• Relationship between school and community 

• Keeping friends and siblings together 

• Staff redeployment 

• Continuity of school over several generations. 

3.2 Responses from the Anglican and Roman Catholic Diocese 

 The Diocese of Chester and the Diocese of Shrewsbury are key partners along with 
the LA in making provision for the education of children in Wirral. Both Diocesan 
Authorities were provided with the consultation documentation with an opportunity to 
respond.  

3.3 Views of the Catholic Diocese of Shrewsbury 

The consultation response from the Diocese of Shrewsbury is attached as Appendix 4.  

 The Diocese recognise that numbers on roll at St Laurence’s are low, and that the 
Council must consider reductions in surplus places. Their response emphasises the 
good standards achieved by St Laurence’s in an area of social deprivation and asks 
that this, and the presence of community facilities such as the Children Centre satellite 
be taken into account before any decision is made. 

Page 28



 5 

 Finally, the Diocese asks for confirmation that the Authority intends to liase, along with 
the governing bodies of St Werburgh’s and Our Lady and St Edward’s Catholic 
Primary Schools in order to provide a place at one of these two schools for any former 
St Laurence’s parent who wishes to transfer in the event of the closure of St 
Laurence’s.  This may include additional accommodation. The Diocese believes that 
August 2010 would be the most appropriate date for any proposed closure. 

Role of the Diocesan bodies in school re-organisation 

3.4 Until the SOC’s abolition on 25th May 2007, each Diocese was represented by a 
voting group on the SOC. Under the new guidance on school re-organisation 
proposals, each Diocese has the ability to object to any statutory proposal decided by 
the Local Authority Decision Maker, thereby referring the proposal to the School’s 
Adjudicator. This is not a significantly different position to their former roles on the 
SOC. Full guidance has now issued by the DCSF and is available to read or download 
on-line at http://www.DCSF.gov.uk/schoolorg/index.cfm Key points of the guidance 
and a commentary in relation to Phase 5 options for North Birkenhead is included 
within the report at Appendix 5. 

Commentary on small schools 

3.5 The Authority funds its schools through the operation of its local funding formula.  The 
formula is designed so as to ensure that sufficient resources are made available to 
schools for the pupils they have to teach.  The formula ensures that, however small a 
school, it will have sufficient resources.  One would not therefore expect any school, 
simply through smallness, to become financially unviable.  What does happen is that 
small schools draw in a greater share of the resource per pupil from the total available 
for distributing among all schools.   

 Since the total sum available for spending on all our children does not increase if we 
choose as an Authority to organise our children in more schools than is necessary for 
the efficient and effective delivery of education, it follows that the maintenance of small 
schools, where this is not necessary, comes at the expense of all other children.   

 The key questions therefore in terms of use of resources are: 

i) How small does a school need to be within the context of Wirral before it would 
be considered as contributing to an ineffective use of resource?  

ii) Are there reasons in specific cases why individual schools although “small” by 
Wirral standards should continue to be maintained even though they are 
relatively expensive?  

3.6 With regard to Wirral’s policy on small schools, the School Organisation Plan (agreed 
in 2003) contained the proposal that the LA “should consider the implications of an 
increasing number of primary schools with less than one form of entry – 30 pupils and 
therefore primary schools with fewer than 210 pupils i.e. 7 x 30”.  That review was 
carried out in great detail and with the involvement of a wide range of Headteachers, 
and culminated in the policy document “The Pursuit of Excellence”, extracts of which 
are included in Appendix 7.  This policy adopted in 2004 suggests that a school 
should have at least 180 pupils in order to be viable.  The guidance to Decision 
Makers (Appendix 5a) makes no mention of school size. DCSF guidance says that 
“Schools with fewer than 150 pupils may be educationally and financially sustainable 
only through substantial subsidies via their local authorities funding formula” :  

www.teachernet.gov.uk/management/fallingschoolrolls/schools/educational decisions 

One problematic issue which is discussed in some detail in Appendix 7 is the potential 
difficulty of mixed age teaching, especially across key stages. 

Page 29



 6 

3.7 With regard to organisational viability there can be no question that small schools face 
greater challenges.  This of course does not mean that at any one time a particular 
small school cannot produce excellence through having outstanding teachers.  
Furthermore it is often the case when small schools are considered nationally that 
many small schools enjoy a number of advantages as a result of their location and are 
attractive to staff.  In many parts of the country it is a clear necessity to maintain small 
schools because the alternative would be that children be transported, perhaps for a 
number of miles, to the nearest school.  Authorities who have such schools receive 
additional sparcity funding from the government which enables them to spend more on 
these schools without it being at the expense of others, in order for them to be 
organisationally viable.  Wirral does not receive this element of grant. 

3.8 Our experience in Wirral, has been that while overall until quite recently we have had 
few primary schools that have fallen into one of the Ofsted categories of concern, 
those that have done so have generally been among our smaller schools.  We do not 
believe that this is coincidence: it arises because of the inevitable requirement on 
individual staff in small schools to take on wider burdens of responsibility and from the 
disproportionate impact which one weaker member of staff will have on the school as 
a whole. 

4.0 Commentary on options 

 The next section of the report comments on the agreed options, discussing individual 
schools separately where appropriate. Numbers on roll are from the January 2008 
School Census. 

A1  Closure of Cathcart Street Primary School 

4.1 Cathcart Street Primary is a small school with 101 pupils on roll, about half the number 
on roll just 10 years ago (205). This is largely the result of the falling population, 
although 59% of potential community school parents living in the catchment zone 
choose to send their children elsewhere, principally to The Priory CE Primary School 
(34%, 45 pupils). Set against this “outflow”, 52% of pupils on roll in Summer 2008 
came from outside the school’s catchment zone, however overall there was a small 
net loss to other community/CE primary schools of 12% (16 pupils). There are a large 
number of surplus places (52%, 109). This is predicted to rise to 53% (112 places) by 
2014. In 2006-2007, expenditure per pupil was £5,089 compared with the Wirral 
average of £3,249.  

4.2 The contextual value added score (99.9) for Key Stage 2 in 2008 shows that pupils at 
Cathcart Street Primary School are making progress in line with similar pupils in other 
schools (see Appendix 6).   

4.3 All current and projected pupils from Cathcart Street Primary could be accommodated 
at primary schools within a reasonable distance without requiring any new build 
classroom provision, dependant on a particular pattern of parental preference. As 
stated in 4.1 above, large numbers of parents living within Cathcart Street’s zone 
choose The Priory CE Primary School, and there are 28 alternative primary schools  
within a 2 mile radius of the school. The catchment zone of Cathcart Street Primary 
School would be allocated to Cole Street Primary School. Parents currently in-zone for 
Cole Street Primary would continue to be in-zone and would be unaffected by this 
change. 

4.4 Respondents from Cathcart Street Primary raised the school’s excellent attainment 
record, and the quality of the relationships between parents, pupils and staff. There 
were concerns that children would not “fit in” at other local schools, disruption to 
children’s education, about additional expense in purchasing new uniforms and the 
impact on travel and transport.   

Page 30



 7 

4.5 The quality of the site, the security of the location and its green environment were 
strongly featured. Respondents believed that Cathcart Street has scope for expansion 
and redevelopment if chosen as the site for a combined school, possibly incorporating 
a Children’s Centre and other extended services. The proximity of the site to the Wirral 
Waters development was also raised. 

4.6 The on-site “CATS” club, which provides before and after school care, as well as 
holiday clubs, was highly regarded. Respondents felt strongly that the facility should 
be retained in some form in any re-organisation of schools in the area. 

4.7 Consultees allied to Cole Street Primary School were in favour of the closure of 
Cathcart Street either alone, or in conjunction with an amalgamation at the Cole Street 
site.  

4.8 New housing in the area was mentioned as a potential source of additional pupils to fill 
surplus places. New housing either under construction or with planning approval in the 
area includes 5 flats converted from an existing building on Cole Street, 14 new 3 bed 
houses on Fox Street, 14 two bed flats on the former Livingstone public house site on 
Livingstone Street, 7 three bed houses on Bentinck Street, 6 three bed houses on 
Knowles Street, 5 two bed flats and a 3 bed house at St Anne’s Place and 5 converted 
flats on Grange Road West. In total within half a mile of Cathcart Street Primary 
School the North Birkenhead area 57 properties will be or have recently been built or 
converted. Even treating flats as houses, these developments are projected to 
produce 13 primary age pupils, of whom 3-4 are likely to attend a Catholic primary 
school, with a similar number opting for a Church of England primary school such as 
The Priory CE. Also, the additional pupils are likely to be existing Wirral residents and 
may already live locally, in which case they may continue to attend their existing 
school. Local housing changes are unlikely to make a significant impact on the issue 
of surplus places in this area. 

4.9 If this option were to proceed, depending on parental preferences, there may be a 
requirement for relatively modest capital works at the Cole Street Primary site, to 
which Cathcart Street’s catchment zone would be transferred. The capacity of the 
Cole Street building as it is currently organised is 210 pupils. In the event that the new 
capacity at Cole Street following any required internal adaptations and building works 
reached 350 pupils or more, a statutory expansion notice would be required.  

A2  Closure of Cole Street Primary School 

4.10 Cole Street Primary has 124 pupils on roll, having last had more than 210 pupils on 
roll in 2002 (218). The roll peaked at 277 in 1997 and has experienced a long decline. 
75% of potential community school parents living in the catchment zone choose to 
send their children elsewhere, principally to The Priory CE Primary School (18%, 59 
pupils), Christ Church CE Primary School (Birkenhead, 12%, 40 pupils), Woodchurch 
Road Primary School (12%, 40 pupils) and Cathcart Street Primary School (12%, 38 
pupils). 30% of pupils on roll in Summer 2008 came from outside the school’s 
catchment zone, however overall there was a net loss of 63% (204 pupils) to other 
community and CE primary schools.  

4.11 The school has 41% (86) surplus places, and this is projected to rise to 47% (99 
places) by 2014. While the surplus is, as identified by respondents, slightly lower than 
that at Cathcart Street Primary, this is well above the 5-10% surplus identified by the 
Audit Commission, beyond which money is being wasted, and it is right to look at 
ways of reducing this surplus. 

4.12 In 2006-2007, expenditure per pupil was £4,466 compared with the Wirral average of 
£3,249.  

Page 31



 8 

4.13 The contextual value added score (100.1) for Key Stage 2 in 2008 shows that pupils at 
Cole Street Primary School are making progress in line with similar pupils in other 
schools (see Appendix 6).   

4.14 All current and projected pupils from Cole Street Primary could be accommodated at 
primary schools within a reasonable distance without requiring any new build 
classroom provision, although dependant on parental preference and with the 
agreement of the governing body and Diocese of Chester, there may be additional 
accommodation needs at The Priory CE (Aided) Primary School. While this may meet 
the requirement to consider the expansion of popular and successful schools, such a 
proposal has not been discussed with the Diocese of Chester. There are 31 
alternative primary schools within a 2 mile radius of the school. The catchment zone of 
Cole Street Primary School would be allocated to Cathcart Street Primary School. 
Parents currently in-zone for Cathcart Street Primary would continue to be in-zone and 
would be unaffected by this change. 

4.15 Respondents from Cole Street Primary raised the quality of the relationships between 
parents, pupils and staff and good standards at the school. There were concerns 
about the impact on travel and transport, crossing busy roads and on disruption to 
children’s education. 

4.16 Respondents believed that the Cole Street building, while older, was more suitable for 
retention as a school due to its solid construction and large classrooms. The 
restrained site was seen as a positive, as the roof top playground was popular with 
children, secure, and made the school “special”. Suggestions to expand the building 
and site included: utilising a small strip of grass at the front of the school which could 
be brought inside the school fence; using the schools car park as playground, 
reproviding the staff car park either in Birkenhead Park or elsewhere in the 
neighbouring area; building a conservatory on top of the flat roof; or for the Council to 
purchase buildings to the rear of the existing school in order to expand the 
playground. 

4.17 Consultees allied to Cole Street Primary School were not in favour of this option. Many 
were in favour of either the closure of Cathcart Street Primary (Option A1) with more 
children attending Cole Street Primary, or of the amalgamation of Cole Street and 
Cathcart Street at the Cole Street site. One respondent suggested that if closed, the 
building could be offered for use by other local community groups. 

4.18 If this option were to proceed, depending on parental preferences, there may be a 
requirement for internal alterations at the Cathcart Street or The Priory CE Primary 
sites. Statutory expansion notices at either school might be required at a later date. 

A3 Amalgamation of Cole Street Primary School and Cathcart Street Primary 
School at either site or on a new site 

4.19 The two schools taken together have a combined roll of 225 pupils, which is not large 
in Wirral terms, being around 1 form of entry. The pattern of parental preference in this 
area indicates a high level of mobility between catchment areas facilitated by high 
levels of surplus places, as well as overlap between the pupil populations of the two 
schools, with more children from Cole Street’s zone attending Cathcart Street Primary 
School than making the reverse journey. 

4.20 The CVA scores for both schools indicate that pupils are making progress in line with 
similar pupils at other schools. Good standards were cited by some respondents as a 
reason not to amalgamate the two schools, on the basis that the ensuing disruption 
would impact upon the quality of education and threaten standards. A minority of 
parents indicated that they would not want their children to be educated with children 
from the other school due to a perceived difference in background; however 
geographical analysis of where parents live indicates that there is an overlap between 

Page 32



 9 

the pupil populations of the two schools. Staff from both schools have strongly 
expressed their commitment to ensure that all pupils would be welcomed in any 
setting, whatever the outcome of the consultation. 

4.21 Respondents allied to both schools were concerned that the site for any amalgamated 
school should be carefully chosen. Issues around parking and safe drop-off areas 
were raised around both sites.  

4.22 Birkenhead Park lies between the sites of the two existing schools. Opened in 1847, 
the Park was declared a Grade 1 listed landscape by English Heritage in 1995 and 
was recently subject to an £11.5 million renovation. Preliminary discussions with the 
national lead expert on the Park and Joseph Paxton, who was also the consultant on 
the recent renovation, indicate that proposals for a primary school on land on the edge 
of the Park between the internal carriage drive and Park Road East could be viable, as 
long as the school did not encroach upon the Grand Entrance, and the playing fields 
remained in public use as part of the Park.  

4.23 However, respondents allied to both schools expressed reservations about a new 
school sited in Birkenhead Park. Concerns were raised about litter, particularly broken 
glass and drug paraphernalia, “stranger danger”, general safety of children travelling 
to and from school, vandalism, security and potential for increased truancy. In general, 
few consultees from either school were in favour of an amalgamation into a new build 
primary school on a new site, rather that an existing site should be used, in particular 
that an existing building be renewed rather than rebuilt. 

4.24 If all pupils from both former schools attended an amalgamated school, it is estimated 
that either existing site would require relatively modest capital works. Whichever site 
were chosen, the other building could be utilised to accommodate pupils whilst 
construction work was underway. 

4.25 Comparison of the two sites indicates that Cathcart Street is the larger of the two sites, 
at 7,351 m2, compared with 2,698 m2 at Cole Street. The proportion of “green” space 
at Cathcart Street is 52%, compared with 11% at Cole Street. Both schools already 
utilise Birkenhead Park for outdoor activities which would be expected to continue, 
whichever option is implemented. Cathcart Street is a more recently constructed 
building, single storey, with more scope for extension, including the possibility of 
housing additional services on site and embedding the well respected CATS club in a 
new build or extension, removing the temporary mobile currently on the site.  

Foundation and Community schools 

4.26 In an amalgamation, both existing schools close and a new school opens. Under the 
Education and Inspections Act 2006, all new primary schools, as has been the case 
for some time in secondary schools, are subject to a “competition” where the Authority 
invites bids to establish the best provider for the new school. The Authority can enter 
its own proposal into the competition, and in many cases, particularly in primary 
school competitions, is likely to be the only entrant. Other possible proposers could 
include faith organisations, businesses, universities, colleges or a charitable 
organisation. A new school would be a Foundation school, not a community school. 
The Secretary of State can, however, decide to grant permission for Wirral LA to 
propose a new community school within a competition. The criteria that would be used 
are given in Appendix 5b. An application could also be made to the Secretary of State 
for permission to establish a new school without holding a competition. While each 
case is different, examples in the guidance do not appear to apply if Cole Street and 
Cathcart Street were to amalgamate. Reaching a decision under the statutory 
competition process is likely to take at least 6 months longer than would be the case 
without a competition.  

4.27 The differences between community and Foundation schools are as follows: 

Page 33



 10

• In a community school, the Local Authority owns the land, buildings and all the 
other assets of the school, employs the staff, and decides the admission criteria 
for the school. The running of the school is delegated to the governing body. 

• In a Foundation school, as well as running the school, the governors own the 
land and buildings, employ the staff, and decide the admission criteria. The 
governors have greater freedom to spend money on building projects, and can 
choose to set their own term dates. 

Pupils at Foundation schools follow the same national curriculum as those in 
community schools, and staff are employed on the same nationally agreed terms and 
conditions. Funding for Foundation schools comes from the Authority in exactly the 
same way as for community schools. While the governing body of a Foundation 
school could decide to have different admission criteria, the school still has to follow 
the same admissions code as community schools.  

Other than the land and buildings, which must be conveyed from the Authority to the 
Foundation governing body or Trustees, other assets in the school (books, equipment 
etc.) remain the Authority’s property. Excellent relationships continue to be maintained 
with Wirral’s Foundation secondary schools, and there is no reason to believe that this 
position would differ in the case of a Foundation primary school.  

4.28 Option A3 does not fall into any of the categories that would be highly likely to receive 
an exemption from the Secretary of State to hold a competition, e.g. an Infant and 
Junior amalgamation or reorganisation of schools with the same religious nature. 
Holding a competition will add 6 months to the decision making process, with 
extended levels of uncertainty about the future of primary schools in the local area 
which could have a destabilising effect on primary school rolls, and a case could be 
made for the need for expediency to resolve community uncertainty, however, it 
seems unlikely that approval to establish a school without a competition would be 
granted in this case. Amalgamation, whilst offering an opportunity for the staff in 
particular, but also the pupils of both schools to start afresh in a “new school”, albeit in 
existing buildings, may not be the most appropriate solution in this instance.  

Other suggestions raised during consultation for these schools 

4.29 Amalgamate Cathcart Street Primary and The Priory CE Primary 

As in any amalgamation, both schools would close, and a new school then established 
on one of the two sites.  

Legally, however, it is not possible to combine community and Aided provision into a 
single school.  Neither site is large enough to form a “campus” of separate schools, 
which would in any case be costly and unlikely to resolve surplus place issues in the 
area. Another alternative which would achieve the same end would be to propose 
closure of Cathcart Street Primary School, linked with relocating The Priory CE into 
the Cathcart Street building, which would require a statutory alteration, not a statutory 
competition, however the Diocese of Chester would need to approve this move. 

This suggestion is not recommended for further consideration. 

RECOMMENDATION 

4.30 Option A2 for the closure of Cole Street Primary School is recommended to 
proceed as a statutory proposal with effect from August 2010, with a proviso to 
guarantee all former Cole Street pupils on roll at the time of the school’s closure 
a place at Cathcart Street Primary School.  

 Former Cole Street parents who did not wish to take up the guaranteed place at 
Cathcart Street Primary would be offered the opportunity to express a 
preference for an alternative primary school. Places at these schools would 

Page 34



 11

then be allocated based on the admission criteria published in the Authority’s 
booklets for parents, within the limitations of the Infant Class Size limit.  

 The proposed implementation date of August 2010 will allow for any works 
required at Cathcart Street Primary School to be carried out ahead of Cole 
Street’s closure.  

B  Closure of St Laurence’s Catholic Primary School 

4.31 St Laurence’s Catholic Primary has 75 pupils on roll, having last had more than 210 
pupils on roll in 1998 (211), followed by a long decline. The school serves the St 
Laurence’s Parish which is part of the wider parish of St Laurence and St Werburgh’s, 
also served by St Werburgh’s Catholic Primary School.  

4.32 There were a total of just 80 Catholic choice pupils living within the St Laurence’s 
Parish in Summer 2008. Of these, 61% (49 pupils) attended St Laurence’s Catholic 
Primary School. The remaining 39% (31 pupils) principally attended St Werburgh’s 
Catholic Primary School (16%, 13 pupils), Our Lady and St Edward’s Catholic Primary 
School (13%, 10 pupils) and St Joseph’s Catholic Primary (Birkenhead) (6%, 5 pupils). 
31% of pupils on roll in Summer 2008 came from outside the school’s catchment 
parish, however overall there was a small net loss of 8% (6 pupils) to other Catholic 
primary schools.  

4.33 The school has 64% (135) surplus places, and this is projected to rise to 74% (155 
places) by 2014.  

4.34 In 2006-2007, expenditure per pupil was £5,520 compared with the Wirral average of 
£3,249. This was the highest expenditure per pupil for any Wirral primary school that 
year. 

4.35 The contextual value added score (101.4) for Key Stage 2 in 2008 shows that pupils at 
St Laurence’s Catholic Primary School are making more progress than similar pupils 
in other schools (see Appendix 6).   

4.36 All current and projected pupils from St Laurence’s Catholic Primary could be 
accommodated at primary schools within a reasonable distance without requiring any 
new build classroom provision. The Diocese of Shrewsbury and the Local Authority 
have agreed in principle to work co-operatively to provide Catholic primary places for 
every former St Laurence’s pupil whose parents wish them to attend a Catholic 
primary school. A £406,000 four classroom extension will shortly be completed at Our 
Lady and St Edward’s Catholic Primary School, funded by the Primary Capital 
Strategy, and depending on parental preference, there may be other accommodation 
needs, including at St Werburgh’s Catholic Primary School. There are 28 alternative 
primary schools within a 2 mile radius of the school, of which six are Catholic primary 
Schools.  

4.37 Respondents from St Laurence’s Catholic Primary raised the quality of the 
relationships between parents, pupils and staff. The contribution of the school to the 
community over several generations was raised, with particular reference to high 
levels of deprivation in the area. Restrictions caused by the small size of the school 
were, respondents felt, offset by the hard work and dedication of the school’s staff who 
went “above and beyond” to ensure a good quality education and nurturing 
environment. 

4.38 Concerns were raised about the quality of education and class sizes at alternative 
schools, also whether children attending non-Catholic primary schools would retain 
their priority admission to Catholic secondary schools. The distance to alternative 
schools and availability of places and the future of the St Laurence’s site were also 
raised as issues. 

Page 35



 12

4.39 Appendix 6 shows the CVA score for schools in the North Birkenhead area, and also 
for St Werburgh’s Catholic Primary School. Pupils at all schools are making at least 
the expected rate of progress, with four schools making more than the expected rate 
of progress. Standards at alternative school provision are not in question.  

4.40 In terms of class size, the arrangement of classes is a matter for individual governing 
bodies to decide, within the confines of the school’s budget and accommodation. 
There is little correlation between overall school size, class size, and educational 
standards. As discussed in 3.4 to 3.7, larger schools can afford to employ more staff, 
to enable more small group and one to one teaching outside the traditional classroom 
setting, which can be of great benefit to some children, particularly those with special 
or additional needs. 

DCSF School On 
roll 

Number 
of classes 

Average 
Class 
size 

Vertical 
groups? 

Staff:Pupil 
ratio 

 Wirral Average 264 10.1 25.0  1:8 

2275 Bidston Avenue Primary 411 14 29.4 No 1:6 

2261 Cathcart Street Primary 101 7 15.3 No 1:14 

2262 Cole Street Primary 124 7 18.1 Yes (1) 1:10 

3368 
Holy Cross Catholic 
Primary 

182 9 
20.6 

Yes (1) 1:10 

3367 
Our Lady St Edward’s 
Catholic Primary 

249 9 
27.7 

Yes (1) 1:8 

2249 Portland Primary 176 8 24.5 Yes (1) 1:10 

3370 
St Laurence’s Catholic 
Primary 

75 4 
20.8 

Yes (all 4) 1:9 

3366 The Priory CE Primary 208 7 29.7 No 1:11 

3372 
St Werburgh’s Catholic 
Primary 

192 8 
27.0 

Yes (1) 1:9 

 The table above shows the number on roll aged 4 to 11 at January 2009, with the number of classes 
(excluding F1 classes), average class size and whether any vertical grouping occurred (number of 
classes in brackets). Staff : Pupil ratio includes Full Time Equivalents for teaching and non-teaching 
education-based staff (e.g. excluding administrative/bursars and clerical staff). 

Another measure of “class size” is the Staff to Pupil ratio. The Wirral average is one 
member of teaching/support staff to every 8 pupils on roll, where the average school 
size is 264 pupils. Bidston Avenue, although the largest school in this planning area, 
with nearly the highest average class size, also has the lowest staff to pupil ratio, with 
one member of teaching/support staff to every 6 pupils on roll.  

On this measure, St Laurence’s has 1 member of teaching/support staff to every 9 
pupils on roll – the same as St Werburgh’s which is almost three times larger, however 
it should be borne in mind that this is achieved by funding St Laurence’s at the highest 
level of any Wirral primary school, effectively at the expense of every primary school 
child in Wirral. 

4.41 The Diocese has indicated that all pupils wishing to transfer to a Catholic primary 
school in the event of closure, will be guaranteed a place. In terms of retaining their 
priority status for admission to Catholic secondary schools if children transfer to non-
Catholic primary schools, the Diocese have stated that an exception to the admission 
policies of Catholic secondary schools will not be made in this instance. It may be 
worth noting that over the last five years of Year 7 admissions (2003 to 2008), on 
average 25% of pupils admitted to Catholic secondary schools had attended a non-
Catholic primary school. The breakdown by school is as follows: 

  St John Plessington : 29% 

  St Anselms College: 28% 

Page 36



 13

  Upton Hall School: 27% 

  St Mary’s College: 21% 

4.42 In terms of distance to alternative schools, the distance between the St Laurence’s 
site and other Catholic primary schools are not great. St Werburgh’s is half a mile 
away – about 12 minutes walk. Our Lady and St Edward’s is 0.8 miles away (about 16 
minutes walk). Wirral policy on transport to schools says that pupils are entitled to free 
transport if the nearest appropriate school is more than 2 miles away for children aged 
under 8, and more than 3 miles away from children aged 8 and over. Within the 2 mile 
distance are also St Joseph’s Catholic Primary (Birkenhead) at 1.3 miles (29 minutes 
walk), St Joseph’s Catholic Primary (Wallasey) at 1.4 miles (30 minutes walk) and 
Holy Cross Catholic Primary School at 1.8 miles (35 minutes walk). The exact travel 
distance for any individual pupil would depend on their home address. 

4.43 St Laurence’s is the site for a satellite to the Birkenhead and Tranmere Children’s 
Centre based at St Werburgh’s Catholic Primary School. The LA also leases part of 
the building for use by its Adult Learning team. Both services would require rehousing 
in the local area if this option were to proceed. 

Other suggestions raised during consultation for this school 

4.44 Maintain St Laurence’s as a small school, reducing surplus places by other 
uses of the building 

There are currently 75 pupils on roll, projected to fall to 55 pupils by 2014. The number 
of surplus places is projected to rise from 135 to 155. This means the school would be 
75% empty by 2014. 

The rationale for this suggestion is that a reduction of surplus places could be 
achieved by further usage of the building for “non-school” purposes.  

The capacity of St Laurence’s, measured by the DCSF Net Capacity method, is 210 
places. The school has already given over former classroom spaces for use as: a 
Conference room; a Parents room; a Foundation resource; an additional Foundation 1 
room; two classrooms (plus additional facilities) are now in use by a Children’s Centre 
Satellite, and the Annexe is currently used by the Authority’s Adult Learning team Had 
these alterations not been carried out, the capacity at St Laurence’s would now be 381 
pupils – which would mean 306 surplus places. 

The Authority seeks to co-locate children’s services with schools wherever possible, 
and has done so at St Laurence’s. The viability of any school chosen as a co-location 
site must be taken into account when decisions are made regarding extended schools. 
Any further reduction in surplus places would not, however, address the issues faced 
by the school due to its small size, and there is little prospect of numbers on roll at the 
school increasing. 

This option is not recommended to proceed as a statutory proposal. 

RECOMMENDATION 

4.45 Option B for the closure of St Laurence’s Catholic Primary School is 
recommended to proceed as a statutory proposal with effect from August 2010, 
with a proviso to guarantee all former St Laurence’s pupils on roll at the time of 
the school’s closure a place at a Catholic primary school if this is their 
preference. 

 Former St Laurence’s parents would be offered the opportunity to express a 
preference for any primary school. Places at these schools would then be 
allocated based on the admission criteria published in the Authority’s booklets 
for parents, within the limitations of the Infant Class Size limit.  

Page 37



 14

 The proposed implementation date of August 2010 will allow for works required 
at neighbouring Catholic primary schools to be carried out ahead of St 
Laurence’s closure. 

5.0 Amendments to Phase 6 of the Primary Places Review 

5.1 At its meeting of 16th October 2008, Cabinet approved Phase 6 of the Review, to 
include the following small planning areas: South Wallasey, North Wallasey, Leasowe, 
Moreton, Upton and Greasby. At its meeting of 19th March 2009 Cabinet made an 
allowance for an amendment to Phase 6:  

(404, item 4) Should the Joint Church school be approved and implemented as in (2), 
the Leasowe area be moved from Phase 6 of the Primary Places Review to Phase 8 
accordingly. 
The minutes of this meeting are attached as Appendix 8. 

5.2 Following the 19th March 2009 Cabinet meeting, the Diocese of Shrewsbury and 
Diocese of Chester applied to the Secretary of State for consent to waive competition 
in relation to the establishment of a Joint Church school in Leasowe on 7th April 2009. 
Approval for the waiver was received on 17th July 2009.  

5.3 The next stage in this process is for a meeting to take place between the Local 
Authority and the two Diocesan bodies, prior to formal statutory notice publication 
during Autumn 2009, which begins the legal process for closing the existing school 
(Our Lady of Lourdes Catholic Primary School) and establishing the new Joint Church 
school.  

5.4 While the Joint Church school has not been approved and implemented as per the 
recommendation made on 19th March 2009, it is recommended that the Leasowe area 
be removed from Phase 6 of the Review, to be reviewed in due course in Phase 8 of 
the Review. 

 Manor Primary School 

5.5 A further amendment is sought to include a review focused on Manor Primary School 
in Beechwood. Manor Primary School formed part of Phase 5 of the Review, however, 
none of the options included in the 28th May 2009 report involved Manor Primary. 
Following the Cabinet meeting Ofsted placed Manor Primary School in Special 
Measures, the most serious category of concern on 3rd June 2009. Schools are placed 
in special measures if they are deemed to be failing to provide learners with an 
acceptable standard of education and where the people responsible for leading, 
managing or governing the school are not demonstrating the capacity to secure the 
necessary improvement. The Ofsted report is attached as Appendix 9.  

5.6 Under Section 15 of the Education Act 2005, as amended by Part 1 of Schedule 7 of 
the Education and Inspections Act 2006, the Local Authority has a duty to provide a 
Statement of Action within 10 working days of a school being placed into an Ofsted 
category of concern and has met this requirement. The Statement of Action must set 
out: 

• the action the local authority has taken so far; 

• the additional support the local authority will commission to help the school 
address the areas of weakness identified by Ofsted; 

• what arrangements the local authority has made to inform parents and carers 
about the actions planned for the school, and how it will gather and take into 
account their views; 

• what specific steps are needed to build the leadership and management 
capacity of the school, including at middle management level; 

Page 38



 15

• whether there is scope for partner organisations to be brought in to support 
the school (including other schools, trusts, colleges, or non-educational 
organisations), and how this collaboration will be facilitated;  

• the scope for the school to be closed or federated, taking into account the 
number of surplus places in better-performing local schools, and – if such a 
course of action is appropriate – when this might happen; 

• the scope for the school to become a Trust school or an Academy; 

• whether the authority intends to use its intervention powers to appoint 
additional governors, require the school to enter into arrangements, withdraw 
delegation of the budget, or replace the governing body with an Interim 
Executive Board (IEB); 

• if the school is not to be closed or federated, or the authority’s intervention 
powers will not be used, why none of these actions is considered 
appropriate; and 

• a plan of future action, including resource implications, quantified targets to 
evaluate the effectiveness of external support, target dates for key actions, 
and progress review points. 

5.7 The Local Authority has a duty to consider various intervention options listed above 
when a school enters Special Measures, accordingly, these will be considered in 
relation to Manor Primary School during Phase 6 of the Review.  

5.8  A map showing shaded areas representing the Phase 6 review areas, and a list of 
schools included in each small planning area, is attached as Appendix 10. 

6.0 Implications of the Review Process for Pupils 

 Admission Arrangements: present and future pupils 

6.1 The closure and/or amalgamation of primary schools will have implications for the 
Authority’s admission arrangements.  The DCSF have advised that there is no 
requirement to consult separately on any changes to admission arrangements as long 
as full details are provided to parents in the statutory public notices on the proposed 
alterations to the school provision. This would include details on how the Authority 
would propose to manage the transfer of pupils to alternative schools, and also deal 
with applications from parents living in the areas concerned for places in Foundation 
2. 

 Re-zoning of areas  

6.2 In the event of any reorganisation, school catchment areas would have to be 
reviewed.  In the case of an amalgamation it might be assumed that the catchment 
areas of the schools involved could simply be merged but it is likely that we would 
take the opportunity to consider any other necessary adjustments.  In the case of a 
school closure, zones of neighbouring schools would have to be re-drawn .  Changes 
would need to take into account consideration of home address in relation to nearest 
appropriate schools, the new capacity of schools in the area, and other factors such 
as planned housing development.   

In relation to the potential transfer of existing pupils to alternative schools, the 
Authority would invite parents to indicate a preference.  If their preference was for a 
placement in a community or controlled school, then the Authority would seek to meet 
that preference, within the admission criteria set out in the Authority’s booklets for 
parents. 

 Pupils with Special Educational Needs 

Page 39



 16

6.3 If any pupil has a Statement of Special Educational Needs then the Statement will be 
amended to reflect the new school, and the provision specified in the Statement will 
be delivered appropriately.  Any pupils who are currently placed in designated special 
provision such as a Special Needs Class would be transferred to an alternative 
placement according to parental preference.  For all those pupils on the SEN register 
who are affected, the Authority would deploy an element of any savings to provide 
enhanced support at their new school.  Details of how such a scheme may operate 
would need to be developed. 

7.0 Staffing Implications 

7.1 Closure of Schools 

 If a school closes, staff would technically be redundant.  However, the neighbouring 
schools to which pupils relocate will require additional staff, and these schools would 
be requested to give prior and preferential treatment to redundant staff. 

7.2 Redeployment 

In previous years, Wirral has had an excellent record of finding alternative 
employment for school staff. When posts are advertised in Wirral, schools are 
requested to give redundant staff who meet the advertised criteria, either a prior and 
preferential interview or an interview in competition with other candidates. 

8.0 Financial Implications 

8.1 The recommendations contained in this report have capital implications in respect of   
the re-location of current pupils and the re-allocation of future pupils to schools.  The 
level of capital required will depend upon the final, approved proposals and will require 
further, detailed development work.  An amount of £250,000 is included in the 2009/10 
Schools Capital Programme for “scheme development resulting from primary reviews” 
which was approved at the Cabinet meeting of 28th May 2009. This will allow 
schemes to be drawn up, costed and tendered, with any balance contributing to build 
costs.  The balance of the capital build costs would need to be drawn from the 
following sources: DCSF Primary Capital Programme, DCSF Modernisation Grant, 
council capital including capital receipts from the disposal of surplus assets, Prudential 
Borrowing and capital forming part of other national initiatives.  It is a requirement that 
funding is clearly identified when proposals are submitted to the decision maker for 
approval. 

8.2 The recommendations contained in this report include the closure and amalgamation 
of schools, which in turn will produce revenue savings, to the benefit of other schools 
as the funding is re-distributed.  In the short term the Authority could be required to 
fund any staff severance costs following closures and amalgamation but they may be 
partly or entirely offset by savings. 

9.0 Equal Opportunities Implications 

9.1 An equality impact assessment will be carried out on this report. 

10.0 Human Rights Implications 

10.1 There are none arising directly from this report. 

11.0 Local Agenda 21 Statement 

11.1 The removal of old, inefficient accommodation contributes to Council principles and 
targets in respect of Agenda 21. 

12.0 Community Safety Implications 

12.1 Rationalisation and refurbishment of schools allow the most vulnerable 
accommodation to be removed and other security improvements carried out. 

Page 40



 17

13.0 Planning Implications 

13.1 The relationship between housing development policy and school place provision is a 
factor in considering surplus place removal. 

13.2 Construction of any new classroom provision would be subject to the usual planning 
permissions. 

14.0 Local Member Support Implications 

14.1 Primary place planning and potential surplus place removal have relevance to all 
Wards. 

14.2 The current options affect the Bidston and St James, Birkenhead and Tranmere and 
Claughton Wards directly. 

14.3 Phase 6 of the Review involves schools located in the following Wards: Seacombe, 
Liscard, New Brighton, Wallasey, Leasowe and Moreton East, Moreton West and 
Saughall Massie, Upton, Greasby Frankby and Irby, Bidston and St James (Manor). 

15.0 Background Papers 

 Audit Commission Report: Planning School Places in Wirral September 2004. 

 School Organisation Plan. 

 LA document “Pursuit of Excellence: Primary Education in Wirral”. 

School pupil number returns, January 2009 (Annual Census return to DCSF). 

School Net Capacity Calculation, July 2009, to DCSF requirements. 

Consultation Documents  

Other data held in Department including that provided by Wirral Health Authority. 

16.0 Appendices 

See list attached. 

17.0 Summary 

17.1 No one closes schools lightly.  However, there is general agreement amongst all 
stakeholders that action must be taken to address the issue of surplus capacity.  
Officers are required to offer clear advice as to appropriate action in order to spend 
public money wisely and ensure all Wirral’s children benefit equitably from the funding 
available.  The recommendations below I believe will ensure best value for the future 
generations of children in the review areas, and more equitable spending for the 
benefit of all Wirral’s pupils, from the savings made. 

18.0 Recommendations 

1) That statutory proposals be published in respect of the following options: 

Option A2, closure of Cole Street Primary School from August 2010 

Option B, closure of St Laurence’s Catholic Primary School from August 2010 

2) That the Director of Children’s Services be authorised to take all necessary 
steps to publish these proposals, ensure the prescribed procedures are 
followed, including requesting permissions from the Secretary of State and 
proposals for the re-zoning of schools, in furtherance of the proposals. 

3) That amendments be made to Phase 6 of the Primary Places Review:  

a. to move the Leasowe planning area to Phase 8 of the Review, pending the 
outcome of proposals for a Joint Church school in that area 

Page 41



 18

b. to review Manor Primary School following that schools placement in Special 
Measures by Ofsted 

Howard Cooper 

Director of Children’s Services 

Page 42



 19

List of Appendices 
Appendix Description 

1  Extract from School Organisation Plan: Policies and Principles 

2  Cabinet Report and resolution from 28th May 2009 

Consultation 

3a  Analysis of Consultation 

3b  Summary of responses 

4  Response from Diocese of Shrewsbury 

Education and Inspections Act 2006 

5  Summary of new regulations on school re-organisation 

Standards 

6a   Standards – KS2 data; Value Added 

6b   Standards – Extracts from Ofsted reports 

Issues concerned with size and viability 

7a   Extract from “In Pursuit of Excellence”, written by Wirral 
Headteachers and the Primary Team, School Effectiveness 

7b  Extract from “Small Schools: How well are they doing?” (Ofsted 
2000) 

7c  Size and viability in consultation area 

Other items 

8 Cabinet Resolution from 19th March 2009 

9 Ofsted Inspection report on Manor Primary School, June 2009 

10 Map of Phase 6 small planning areas and schools list 

 

Page 43



Page 44

This page is intentionally left blank



R
e

f:
 A

M
P

/D
A

2
4

7
4

/C
V

W
 S

c
h

o
o

l 
O

rg
a

n
is

a
ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 (
S

e
p

 2
0

0
4

)

iii
)

T
h
e
 d

u
ty

 o
n
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

 t
o
 s

e
c
u
re

 i
n
fa

n
t 

c
la

s
s
 s

iz
e
s
 o

f 
n
o
 m

o
re

th
a
n
 

3
0
 

p
u
p
ils

; 
th

e
 

C
o
m

m
it
te

e
 

s
h
o
u
ld

 
in

 
a
d
d
it
io

n
 

h
a

v
e

re
g
a
rd

 
to

 
th

e
 
d
e
s
ir
a
b
ili

ty
 
o
f 

a
c
h

ie
v
in

g
 
s
im

ila
r 

p
ro

v
is

io
n

 
in

 
ju

n
io

r 
  

a
n
d
  

 s
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

  
 c

la
s
s
e
s
  
 t

a
k
in

g
  

 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 

 o
f 

 t
h
e

1
)

T
h
is

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

O
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
 P

la
n
 i

s
 n

o
t 

a
 “

s
ta

n
d

 a
lo

n
e

” 
d

o
c
u

m
e

n
t,

 
it
 f

o
rm

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e
 l

o
c
a
l 

p
la

n
n
in

g
 f

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

, 
b
o
th

 o
f 

th
e
 L

E
A

 
a
n
d
 
o
th

e
r 

a
g
e
n
c
ie

s
 
a
n
d
 
b
o
d
ie

s
 
a
n
d
 
a
ls

o
 
is

 
p
a
rt

 
o
f 

th
e
 
lo

c
a
l 

d
e
liv

e
ry

 o
f 
n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
p
o
lic

y
 i
n
it
ia

ti
v
e

s
 a

n
d
 p

ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
. 

2
)

T
h

e
 m

o
s
t 

im
p

o
rt

a
n

t 
p

la
n

n
in

g
 e

le
m

e
n

t 
is

 t
o

 s
e

t 
o

u
t 

th
e

 f
a

c
to

rs
 

w
h
ic

h
 
th

e
 
C

o
m

m
it
te

e
 
w

ill
 
ta

k
e
 
in

to
 
a
c
c
o
u
n
t 

w
h
e
n
 
c
o
n
s
id

e
ri
n
g

p
ro

p
o

s
a

ls
 
to

 
a

d
d

, 
re

m
o

v
e

, 
re

lo
c
a

te
 
o

r 
re

-o
rg

a
n

is
e

 
p

la
c
e

s
 
a

n
d

 
m

a
in

ta
in

 t
h
e
 b

a
la

n
c
e
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 t

h
e
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

s
u
rp

lu
s
 p

la
c
e
 

re
m

o
v
a
l 

a
n
d
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 

p
la

c
e
 p

ro
v
is

io
n

 w
it
h
 t

h
e
 m

a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e
 o

f
m

a
x
im

u
m

 p
a

re
n

ta
l 
c
h

o
ic

e
. 

3
)

W
it
h

in
 

th
e

 
re

q
u

ir
e

m
e

n
t 

th
a

t 
o

v
e
ra

ll 
p
ro

v
is

io
n
 

is
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 

a
n
d
 

e
ff
ic

ie
n
t 

i.
e
. 

a
n
 

a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 
b
a
la

n
c
e
 

b
e
tw

e
e
n
 

s
c
h
o
o
l 

p
la

c
e
s

a
v
a
ila

b
le

 
a
n
d
 

p
u
p
il 

n
u
m

b
e
rs

, 
th

e
 

S
c
h
o
o
l 

O
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
 

C
o
m

m
it
te

e
 w

h
e
n
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ri
n
g
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
ls

 r
e
fe

rr
e
d
 t

o
 i

t 
u
n
d
e
r 

th
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 
(S

c
h
o
o
l 

O
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
 
P

ro
p
o
s
a
ls

) 
R

e
g
u

la
ti
o
n
s
 
1
9
9
9
,

w
ill

 
c
o
n
s
id

e
r 

e
a
c
h
 

p
ro

p
o
s
a
l 

a
g
a
in

s
t 

th
e

 
fo

llo
w

in
g

 
p

ri
n

c
ip

le
s
, 

w
e

ig
h

te
d

 a
s
 a

p
p

ro
p

ri
a

te
 t

o
 t

h
e
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
ls

 u
n

d
e

r 
c
o

n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o

n
. 

i)
T

h
e
 
d
e
s
ir
a
b
ili

ty
 
in

 
c
o
n
s
id

e
ri
n

g
 
a

n
y
 
p

ro
p

o
s
a

ls
 
o

f 
m

a
tc

h
in

g
 

s
c
h
o
o
l 
p
la

c
e
s
 t

o
 p

a
tt
e
rn

s
 o

f 
p
a
re

n
ta

l 
p
re

fe
re

n
c
e
 f

o
r 

re
le

v
a
n
t 

s
c
h
o
o
ls

 
a
s
 

e
x
p
re

s
s
e
d
 

o
v
e
r 

a
 

re
a

s
o

n
a

b
le

 
p

e
ri
o

d
 

o
f 

ti
m

e
 

w
h
ic

h
 w

o
u
ld

 n
o
rm

a
lly

 b
e
 f

iv
e
 y

e
a
rs

. 

ii)
T

h
e
 d

u
ty

 u
p
o
n
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

 t
o
 p

ro
v
id

e
 t

h
e

 N
a

ti
o

n
a
l 

C
u
rr

ic
u
lu

m
a
n
d
 

s
o
 

fa
r 

a
s
 

it
 

h
a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 

a
d
o
p
te

d
 

b
y
 

th
e
 

s
c
h
o
o
l,
 

th
e
 

c
u
rr

ic
u
lu

m
 o

f 
th

e
 E

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 A

u
th

o
ri
ty

.

d
e
s
ir
a
b
ili

ty
 
in

 
c
e
rt

a
in

 
a
re

a
s
 
o
f 

th
e

 
c
u

rr
ic

u
lu

m
 
fo

r 
s
m

a
lle

r 
c
la

s
s
 s

iz
e
s
 i
n
 a

c
c
o
rd

a
n
c
e
 w

it
h
 h

e
a
lt
h
 a

n
d
 s

a
fe

ty
 g

u
id

a
n
c
e
. 

iv
)

T
h
e
 
d
e
s
ir
a
b
ili

ty
 
o
f 

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 
o
f 

p
ro

v
is

io
n
 
(f

o
r 

e
x
a
m

p
le

 
b
y

g
e

n
d

e
r,

 r
e

lig
io

u
s
 o

r 
d

e
n

o
m

in
a

ti
o

n
a
l 
c
o

n
v
ic

ti
o

n
 o

r 
fo

r 
s
p

e
c
ia

l
e

d
u

c
a

ti
o

n
a

l 
n

e
e

d
s
),

 
c
o

n
s
is

te
n
t 

w
it
h
 

th
e
 

e
ff
ic

ie
n
t 

a
n
d
 

e
ff

e
c
ti
v
e

 
u

s
e

 
o

f 
re

s
o

u
rc

e
s
 

a
n

d
 

th
a

t 
th

e
re

 
s
h

o
u

ld
 

b
e

 
n

o
 

re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t

h
e
 p

ro
p
o
rt

io
n
 o

f 
d

e
n

o
m

in
a

ti
o

n
a

l 
p

la
c
e

s
. 

 N
o

te
: 

d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

in
 

th
is

 
c
o
n
te

x
t 

d
o
e
s
 

n
o
t 

in
c
lu

d
e
 

th
e
 

is
s
u
e
 

o
f 

s
e
le

c
ti
o
n
 s

in
c
e
 t

h
e
 S

c
h
o
o
ls

 S
ta

n
d
a
rd

s
 a

n
d
 F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

 A
c
t

m
a
k
e
s
 
s
e
p

a
ra

te
 
p
ro

v
is

io
n
 
fo

r 
c
o
n
s
id

e
ri
n
g
 
th

e
 
p
o
s
it
io

n
 
o
f 

g
ra

m
m

a
r 

s
c
h
o
o
ls

. 
 T

h
e
 q

u
e
s
ti
o
n
 o

f 
s
e
le

c
ti
o
n
 t

h
e
re

fo
re

, 
lie

s
 

o
u

ts
id

e
 t

h
e

 c
o

m
p

e
te

n
c
e

 o
f 

th
e

 C
o
m

m
it
te

e
.

v
)

T
h

e
 

d
e

s
ir
a

b
ili

ty
 

o
f 

a
c
ti
v
e

ly
 

p
ro

m
o

ti
n

g
 

th
e

 
in

te
g

ra
ti
o

n
 

o
f 

p
u
p
ils

 
w

it
h
 

s
p
e
c
ia

l 
e

d
u
c
a
ti
o

n
a

l 
n

e
e

d
s
 

in
to

 
m

a
in

s
tr

e
a

m
 

s
c
h
o
o
ls

 w
h
e
re

v
e
r 

th
is

 i
s
 a

p
p

ro
p

ri
a

te
 a

n
d

 c
a

n
 b

e
 a

d
e

q
u

a
te

ly
 

re
s
o
u
rc

e
d
. 

 W
h
e
n
e
v
e
r 

p
o
s
s
ib

le
, 

th
e
 o

p
ti
o
n
 o

f 
m

a
in

s
tr

e
a
m

 
d
e
n
o
m

in
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

s
c
h
o
o
l 

p
ro

v
is

io
n
 

s
h
o
u
ld

 
b
e
 

a
v
a
ila

b
le

 
fo

r 
p
u
p
ils

 w
it
h
 s

p
e
c
ia

l 
e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
n

e
e

d
s
 w

h
o

s
e

 p
a

re
n

ts
 w

o
u

ld
 

p
re

fe
r 

th
is

. 

v
i)

T
h

e
 
p

ro
m

o
ti
o

n
 
o

f 
h

ig
h

 
s
ta

n
d
a
rd

s
 
in

 
re

le
v
a
n
t 

s
c
h
o
o
ls

 
a
s

re
fl
e
c
te

d
 i

n
 e

x
te

rn
a
l 

in
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
 a

n
d
 i

n
 e

n
d
 o

f 
K

e
y
 

S
ta

g
e
 a

n
d
 p

o
s
t 

1
6
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 d

a
ta

 a
s
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

. 

v
ii)

T
h
e
 a

c
c
e
s
s
ib

ili
ty

 t
o
 s

u
it
a
b
le

 s
c
h

o
o

ls
 f

o
r 

c
h

ild
re

n
 r

e
s
id

e
n

t 
in

 
th

e
 a

re
a
 t

a
k
in

g
 i

n
to

 p
a
rt

ic
u
la

r 
a
c
c
o
u
n
t 

th
e
 L

o
c
a
l 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n

A
u
th

o
ri
ty

’s
 h

o
m

e
 t

o
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
tr

a
n
s
p
o
rt

 p
o
lic

y
. 

v
iii

)
T

h
e
 
d
e
s
ir
a

b
ili

ty
 
o
f 

p
ro

v
id

in
g
 
a
 
ra

n
g
e
 
o
f 

o
p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 
fo

r 
p
u
p
ils

 a
t 

1
6
+

 s
o
 f

a
r 

a
s
 t

h
is

 i
s
 c

o
n
s
is

te
n
t 

w
it
h
 t

h
e
 e

ff
ic

ie
n
t

a
n
d
 e

ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 u

s
e
 o

f 
re

s
o
u
rc

e
s
. 

ix
)

T
h
e
 d

e
s
ir
a
b
ili

ty
 o

f 
s
c
h
o
o
ls

 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 t

h
e
 n

e
e
d
s
 o

f 
th

e
 w

id
e
r

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
, 

in
 p

a
rt

ic
u
la

r 
th

e
 i

m
p
a
c
t 

u
p
o
n
 f

a
c
ili

ti
e
s
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

to
 

th
e
 

lo
c
a
l 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

w
h
ic

h
 

m
a
y
 

b
e
 

p
ro

v
id

e
d
 

in
 

th
e
 

s
c
h
o
o
ls

 c
o
n
c
e
rn

e
d
. 

2
7

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 B

P
O

L
IC

IE
S

 A
N

D
 P

R
IN

C
IP

L
E

S
 S

U
P

P
O

R
T

IN
G

 P
L

A
N

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 1

 -
 E

X
T

R
A

C
T

 F
R

O
M

 S
C

H
O

O
L

 O
R

G
A

N
IS

A
T

IO
N

 P
L

A
N

 (
2

0
0

3
)

Page 45



R
e

f:
 A

M
P

/D
A

2
4

7
4

/C
V

W
 S

c
h

o
o

l 
O

rg
a

n
is

a
ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 (
S

e
p

 2
0

0
4

)

4
)

T
h
e
 

a
b
o
v
e
 

p
ri
n
c
ip

le
s
 

a
re

 
th

o
s
e
 

a
d
o

p
te

d
 

in
 

th
e
 

S
c
h
o
o
l

O
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
 

P
la

n
 

p
re

v
io

u
s
ly

.
It

 
is

 
p

ro
p

o
s
e

d
, 

in
 

th
e

 
2

0
0

4
/5

 
a
c
a
d
e
m

ic
 y

e
a
r 

th
a
t 

th
e
 L

E
A

 c
o

n
s
id

e
r 

fu
rt

h
e

r 
th

e
 i

m
p

lic
a

ti
o

n
s
 o

f
a
n
 i
n
c
re

a
s
in

g
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

p
ri
m

a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
ls

 w
it
h
 l
e
s
s
 t

h
a
n
 o

n
e
 f

o
rm

 
e
n
tr

y
 –

 3
0
 p

u
p
ils

 a
n
d
 t

h
e
re

fo
re

 p
ri
m

a
ry

 s
c
h

o
o

ls
 o

f 
fe

w
e

r 
th

a
n

 
2
1
0
 

p
u
p
ils

 
ie

. 
7
 

x
 

3
0
, 

w
it
h
 

th
e
 

s
a

m
e
 

e
n
tr

y
 

s
iz

e
 

a
p
p
lie

d
 

to
s
e
p
a
ra

te
 i
n
fa

n
t 

a
n
d
 j
u
n
io

r 
s
c
h
o
o
ls

. 
 T

h
e
 L

E
A

 r
e
v
ie

w
 w

ill
 c

o
n
s
id

e
r

a
 r

a
n
g
e
 o

f 
is

s
u
e
s
, 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 c

u
rr

ic
u
lu

m
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
, 

c
la

s
s
 a

n
d
 y

e
a
r 

g
ro

u
p
 
o
rg

a
n
iz

a
ti
o
n
, 

s
ta

ff
in

g
 
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
s
, 

fi
n

a
n

c
ia

l 
e

ff
ic

ie
n

c
y
 
a

n
d

 
p
a
re

n
ta

l 
a
tt
it
u
d
e
s
, 

a
s
 
w

e
ll 

a
s
 
th

e
 
s
u
rp

lu
s
 
p
la

c
e
s
 
is

s
u
e
. 

 
It
 
is

 
in

te
n
d
e
d
 

th
a
t 

a
n
y
 

p
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

 
a
ri

s
in

g
 

fr
o
m

 
th

is
 

re
v
ie

w
 

w
ill

 
b
e
 

b
ro

u
g
h
t 

to
 
th

e
 
S

c
h
o
o
l 

O
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
 
C

o
m

m
it
te

e
 
a
s
 
p
a
rt

 
o
f 

th
e
 

a
n
n
u
a
l 
p
la

n
 r

e
v
ie

w
 i
n
 J

u
n
e
 2

0
0
5
.

5
) 

D
e
n
o
m

in
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P

ro
v
is

io
n

V
o

lu
n

ta
ry

 a
id

e
d

 p
ro

v
is

io
n

 m
a

d
e

 b
y
 C

h
u
rc

h
e
s
 i
s
 n

o
rm

a
lly

 r
e
la

te
d

to
 
a
 
p
a
rt

ic
u
la

r 
p
a
ri
s
h
 
o
r 

p
a
ri
s
h
e
s
. 

 
In

 
re

s
p
e
c
t 

o
f 

th
e
 
C

a
th

o
lic

D
io

c
e
s
e
 

o
f 

S
h
re

w
s
b
u
ry

 
th

e
 

p
ri
n
c
ip

le
s
 

u
n
d
e
rp

in
n
in

g
 

s
u
c
h

d
e
n
o
m

in
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
p
ro

v
is

io
n
 a

re
 a

s
 f

o
llo

w
s
: 

C
a
th

o
lic

 s
c
h
o
o
ls

 e
x
is

t 
to

 m
e
e
t 

th
e
 n

e
e
d
s
 o

f 
p
a
re

n
ts

 o
f 

b
a

p
ti
s
e

d
 

C
a
th

o
lic

s
 i

n
 f

u
lf
ill

in
g
 p

ro
m

is
e
s
 a

n
d
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
ib

ili
ti
e
s
 a

c
c
e
p
te

d
 b

y
 

th
e
m

 d
u
ri
n
g
 t

h
e
ir
 c

h
ild

’s
 b

a
p
ti
s
im

a
l 

c
e

re
m

o
n

y
. 

 I
t 

is
 t

h
e

 p
u

rp
o

s
e

 
o
f 

th
o
s
e
 

s
c
h
o
o
ls

 
to

 
o
ff
e
r 

a
 

d
is

ti
n
c
tl
y
 

C
h
ri
s
ti
a
n
 

e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 

in
 

a
c
c
o
rd

a
n
c
e
 w

it
h
 g

o
s
p
e
l 

v
a
lu

e
s
 a

n
d
 t

h
e

 t
e

a
c
h

in
g

s
 o

f 
th

e
 R

o
m

a
n

 
C

a
th

o
lic

 C
h

u
rc

h
. 

It
 

is
 

th
e
 

p
o
lic

y
 

o
f 

th
e
 

D
io

c
e
s
e
 

to
 

p
ro

v
id

e
 

a
 

p
la

c
e
 

fo
r 

e
v
e
ry

 
b
a
p
ti
s
e
d
 C

a
th

o
lic

 c
h
ild

 w
it
h
in

 a
 C

a
th

o
lic

 P
ri

m
a
ry

 a
n
d
 S

e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 
S

c
h
o
o
l.
  

S
u
c
h
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
 f

o
r 

s
c
h
o
o
ls

 w
it
h
in

 t
h
e
 t

ru
s
te

e
s
h
ip

 o
f 

th
e
 

D
io

c
e
s
e
 i

s
 b

a
s
e
d
 o

n
 a

 p
a
ri
s
h
 n

e
tw

o
rk

 a
n
d
 e

a
c
h
 p

a
ri
s
h
 h

a
s
 a

 
d

e
s
ig

n
a

te
d

 
D

io
c
e

s
a

n
 

P
ri
m

a
ry

 
a
n
d
 

S
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 
S

c
h
o
o
l 

w
h
ic

h
s
e

rv
e

s
 i

t.
  

C
a

th
o

lic
 S

e
c
o

n
d

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
ls

 u
n
d
e
r 

th
e
 t

ru
s
te

e
s
h
ip

 o
f 

R
e
lig

io
u
s
 O

rd
e
rs

 s
e
rv

e
 a

ll 
g
e
o
g
ra

p
h
ic

a
l 
a
re

a
s
 w

it
h
in

 W
ir
ra

l 
L
E

A
. 

C
a

th
o

lic
 s

c
h

o
o

ls
 a

re
 a

n
 i
n

te
g

ra
l 
p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e

 m
is

s
io

n
 o

f 
th

e
 C

h
u

rc
h

 
a
n
d
 t

h
a
t 

m
is

s
io

n
 i
s
 h

e
ld

 t
o
 b

e
 v

a
lid

 a
n

d
 v

a
lu

e
d

 t
h

ro
u
g
h
 a

ll 
s
ta

g
e
s

in
 t

h
e
 e

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 s

y
s
te

m
. 

 W
it
h
in

 e
a
c
h
 o

f 
th

o
s
e
 s

ta
g
e
s
 t

h
e
 a

im
 o

f 
th

e
 D

io
c
e
s
e
 i

s
 t

o
 m

a
in

ta
in

 a
 d

is
ti
n
c
ti
v
e
 C

a
th

o
lic

 e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 

e
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
t.

T
h
e
 C

h
u
rc

h
 o

f 
E

n
g
la

n
d
 D

io
c
e
s
e

o
f 

C
h
e
s
te

r 
w

ill
 m

a
k
e
 d

e
c
is

io
n
s

re
g
a
rd

in
g
 
th

e
 
p
ro

v
is

io
n
 
o
f 

s
c
h
o
o
l 

p
la

c
e
 
w

it
h
 
re

fe
re

n
c
e
 
to

 
th

e
 

fo
llo

w
in

g
 p

ri
n
c
ip

le
s
:

-
p
ro

m
o
ti
n
g
 

h
ig

h
 

q
u
a
lit

y
 

e
d
u
c
a

ti
o

n
 

d
e

m
o

n
s
tr

a
ti
n

g
 

C
h

ri
s
ti
a

n
 

b
e

lie
fs

 
a

s
 

e
x
p

re
s
s
e

d
 

in
 

th
e

 
w

o
rs

h
ip

 
a
n
d
 

p
ra

c
ti
c
e
s
 

o
f 

th
e
 

C
h
u
rc

h
 o

f 
E

n
g
la

n
d
; 

-
re

c
o
g
n
is

in
g

 t
h
e
 r

o
le

 o
f 

a
ll 

C
h
u
rc

h
 o

f 
E

n
g
la

n
d
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

 i
n
 t

h
e
 

m
is

s
io

n
 o

f 
th

e
 C

h
u
rc

h
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
 l
if
e
 o

f 
th

e
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
; 

-
s
e
e
k
in

g
 

to
 

m
e
e
t 

th
e
 

a
s
p
ir
a
ti
o
n
s
 

o
f 

p
a
re

n
ts

 
a
n
d
 

s
e
rv

e
 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 
b
y
 
p
ro

v
id

in
g
 
e
d
u
c
a

ti
o

n
 
in

 
th

e
 
v
o

lu
n

ta
ry

 
a

id
e

d
 

c
a
te

g
o
ry

 w
it
h
in

 t
h
e
 f

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

 o
f 

th
e
 C

h
u
rc

h
 o

f 
E

n
g
la

n
d
; 

-
s
e
e
k
in

g
 

to
 

m
a
in

ta
in

 
th

e
 

h
is

to
ri

c
 

p
o
s
it
io

n
 

o
f 

th
e
 

C
h

u
rc

h
 

o
f 

E
n

g
la

n
d

 i
n

 s
e

rv
in

g
 a

ll 
c
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
 b

y
 w

o
rk

in
g
 i

n
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
w

it
h
 a

ll 
th

o
s
e
 w

h
o
 p

ro
v
id

e
 o

r 
a
re

 e
m

p
lo

y
e
d
 i
n
 e

d
u
c
a
ti
o

n
.

6
)

T
h
is

 
S

c
h
o

o
l 

O
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
 
P

la
n
 
lin

k
s
 
c
lo

s
e
ly

 
to

 
th

e
 
L
E

A
 
A

s
s
e
t

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

P
la

n
 (

A
M

P
) 

a
n
d
 t

h
e
 l

in
k
e
d
 S

ta
te

m
e
n
t 

o
f 

P
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
.

T
h
e
s
e
 w

e
re

 m
o
s
t 

re
c
e
n
tl
y
 u

p
d
a
te

d
 a

n
d
 a

p
p
ro

v
e
d
 b

y
 t

h
e
 D

fE
S

 i
n
 

N
o

v
e

m
b

e
r 

2
0

0
2

. 
 T

h
e

 S
ta

te
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
P

ri
o

ri
ti
e

s
 s

e
ts

 o
u

t 
th

e
 l
in

k
s
 t

o
 

n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
, 

th
is

 
S

c
h
o

o
l 

O
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
 

P
la

n
, 

th
e
 

L
E

A
 

E
d

u
c
a

ti
o

n
 

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

P
la

n
 

a
n
d
 

a
 

n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

o
th

e
r 

p
la

n
s
, 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 

th
e
 

E
a
rl
y
 

Y
e
a
rs

 
a
n
d
 

C
h
ild

c
a
re

 
P

la
n
, 

th
e
 

A
c
c
e
s
s
 

S
tr

a
te

g
y
, 

th
e
 S

e
c
u
ri
ty

 P
la

n
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
 p

o
s
t 

O
F

S
T

E
D

 A
c
ti
o
n
 P

la
n
. 

7
)

T
h
e
 A

M
P

 S
ta

te
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

P
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
s
 t

h
e
 f

o
llo

w
in

g
 k

e
y
 l
in

k
s

w
it
h
 t

h
is

 S
c
h
o
o
l 
O

rg
a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
 P

la
n
:

E
a
rl
y

Y
e
a
rs

-
n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

ta
rg

e
t 

o
f 

u
n
iv

e
rs

a
l 

p
ro

v
is

io
n
 f

o
r 

a
ll 

th
re

e
 

a
n
d
 f

o
u
r 

y
e
a
r 

o
ld

s
 a

lr
e
a
d
y
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
d
.

P
ri
m

a
ry

-
th

e
 
m

a
in

 
c
h
a
lle

n
g
e
 
o

v
e

r 
th

e
 
n

e
x
t 

fi
v
e

 
y
e

a
rs

 
in

 
re

s
p

e
c
t 

o
f 

p
ro

v
is

io
n

 
o

f 
p

la
c
e

s
 

is
 

th
e

 
p

ro
je

c
te

d
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 

a
n
d
 

s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
t 

fa
ll 

in
 

p
u
p
il 

n
u

m
b
e
rs

.
A

re
a
 r

e
v
ie

w
s
 a

re
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 i

n
 t

h
o

s
e

 g
e

o
g

ra
p

h
ic

a
l

a
re

a
s
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 l

o
w

e
s
t 

p
ro

je
c
te

d
 o

c
c
u
p
a
n
c
y
 r

a
te

s
fo

r 
2
0
0
8
/9

. 

S
e

c
o

n
d

a
ry

-
C

u
rr

e
n

tl
y
 a

 v
e

ry
 e

ff
ic

ie
n

t 
p

o
s
it
io

n
, 

w
it
h

 v
e

ry
 h

ig
h

 
o

c
c
u

p
a

n
c
y
 r

a
te

s
 a

n
d

 n
o

 s
c
h

o
o

l 
in

 e
x
c
e
s
s
 o

f 
th

e
 

2
5
%

 
p
lu

s
 

s
u
rp

lu
s
 

p
la

c
e
s
 

b
e

n
c
h
m

a
rk

. 
 

T
h
e
 

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
2
 

tr
a
n
s
fe

r 
c
o
h
o
rt

 
re

p
re

s
e
n
ts

 
th

e
 

p
e
a
k
 
n
u
m

b
e
r,

 
w

it
h
 
a
 
s
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 
ro

ll 
p
e
a

k
in

g
 
a
t

J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
4
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
n
 d

e
c
lin

in
g
 y

e
a
r 

b
y
 y

e
a
r.

 

2
8

Page 46



S
p
e
c
ia

l
-

F
u
tu

re
 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
ts

 
a
re

 
lin

k
e
d
 
to

 
th

e
 
L
E

A
 
S

E
N

 
p
la

n
, 

w
h
ic

h
 i

s
 i

n
c
lu

d
e
d
 a

s
 A

p
p
e
n
d
ix

 B
 o

f 
th

is
 P

la
n
.

T
h

e
 

e
s
ta

b
lis

h
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
m

o
re

 
b
a
s
e
s
 

in
 

m
a
in

s
tr

e
a
m

 
s
c
h
o
o
ls

 
fo

r 
p
u
p
ils

 
w

it
h
 

m
o
d
e
ra

te
 

a
n
d
 

c
o
m

p
le

x
le

a
rn

in
g
 
d
if
fi
c
u
lt
ie

s
 
a
n
d
 
th

e
 
p
ro

v
is

io
n
 
o
f 

a
 
s
e
c
o
n
d
 

s
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 
s
c
h
o
o
l 

fo
r 

p
u
p
ils

 
w

it
h

 
s
o

c
ia

l,
 
e

m
o

ti
o

n
a

l 
a
n
d
 b

e
h
a
v
io

u
ra

l 
d
if
fi
c
u
lt
ie

s
 a

re
 t

h
e
 m

a
in

 l
in

k
s
 t

o
 t

h
is

 
p
la

n
. 

 T
h
e
s
e
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
ls

 i
n
 p

ri
n
c
ip

le
 m

a
tc

h
 w

e
ll 

w
it
h
 

th
e
 o

p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 p

re
s
e
n
te

d
 b

y
 i

n
c
re

a
s
e
d
 l

e
v
e
ls

 o
f

“s
p
a
re

” 
a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 m

a
in

s
tr

e
a
m

 s
c
h
o
o
ls

. 

8
)

T
h
e
 L

E
A

 E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

P
la

n
 (

E
D

P
) 

lin
k
s
 t

o
 t

h
is

 p
la

n
 i
n

th
e

 e
ff

ic
ie

n
t 

u
s
e

 o
f 

fu
n

d
in

g
 f

o
r 

b
o

th
 e

x
is

ti
n

g
 a

c
c
o

m
m

o
d

a
ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 
a
n
y
 
re

d
u
c
ti
o
n
s
 
o
r 

in
c
re

a
s
e
s
 
in

 
a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 
to

 
a
c
h
ie

v
e
 
th

e
 

b
e
s
t 

m
a
tc

h
 t

o
 p

u
p
ils

’ 
n
u
m

b
e
rs

 a
n
d
 c

h
a
n
g
in

g
 c

u
rr

ic
u
lu

m
 n

e
e
d
s
. 

In
 t

h
e
 E

a
rl
y
 Y

e
a
rs

 a
n
d
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 s
e
tt
in

g
 t

h
is

 m
e
a
n
s
 t

h
e
 r

e
m

o
v
a
l 
o
f 

a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 

w
h
e
re

v
e
r 

p
o
s
s
ib

le
 

to
 

a
llo

w
 

re
-d

ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 

re
v
e

n
u

e
 
fu

n
d

in
g

 
in

to
 
c
u

rr
ic

u
lu

m
 
p

ri
o

ri
ti
e

s
 
a

n
d

 
o

n
ly

 
a

 
m

o
d

e
s
t 

c
a
p
it
a
l 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 t

o
 e

n
h
a
n
c
e
 I

C
T

, 
re

s
o
u
rc

e
, 

lib
ra

ry
 a

n
d
 d

in
in

g
 

p
ro

v
is

io
n
 

a
n
d
 

e
a
s
e
 

o
v
e
rc

ro
w

d
in

g
 

a
t 

a
 

v
e
ry

 
s
m

a
ll 

n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

s
c
h
o
o
ls

. 
 I

n
 t

h
e
 s

e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 s
e

c
to

r,
 t

h
e

 r
a

is
in

g
 o

f 
A

tt
a

in
m

e
n

t 
a

t 
K

e
y
 
S

ta
g

e
s
 
3

 
a

n
d

 
4

 
is

 
lin

k
e

d
 
th

ro
u

g
h

 
th

e
 
re

m
o

v
a

l 
o

f 
s
u

rp
lu

s
p

la
c
e

s
 –

 n
o

w
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d

 a
t 

S
t 

B
e
n
e
d
ic

t’
s
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
 m

a
jo

r 
c
a
p
it
a
l 

in
v
e
s
tm

e
n
ts

 
th

ro
u
g
h
 
P

F
I 

C
a
p
it
a
l 

C
h
a
lle

n
g
e
, 

T
a
rg

e
te

d
 
C

a
p
it
a
l,

A
id

e
d
 C

a
p
it
a
l,
 E

x
c
e
lle

n
c
e
 i

n
 C

it
ie

s
 f

u
n
d
in

g
 a

n
d
 N

O
F

 f
u
n
d
in

g
 t

o
 

a
d

d
re

s
s
 
a

 
ra

n
g

e
 
o

f 
S

u
it
a

b
ili

ty
 
is

s
u
e
s
 
a
n
d
 
w

h
e
n
 
v
ie

w
e
d
 
a
s
 
a
 

w
h

o
le

, 
p

ro
v
id

e
 
th

e
 
m

o
s
t 

s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n

t 
u

p
lif

t 
in

 
th

e
 
S

u
it
a

b
ili

ty
 
a

n
d

 
q
u
a
lit

y
 o

f 
s
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
l 
a
c
c
o
m

m
o

d
a

ti
o

n
 f

o
r 

a
 g

e
n

e
ra

ti
o

n
. 

 I
n

 
a
d
d
it
io

n
 t

h
e
 S

p
e
c
ia

lis
t 

S
c
h
o
o
l 

in
it
ia

ti
v
e
 i

s
 f

u
lly

 s
u
p
p
o
rt

e
d
 b

y
 t

h
e
 

L
E

A
 
w

it
h
 
a
ro

u
n
d
 
5
0
%

 
o
f 

s
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 
s
c
h
o
o
ls

 
a
lr
e
a
d
y
 
g
ra

n
te

d
 

s
p
e
c
ia

lis
t 

s
ta

tu
s
 a

n
d
 o

th
e
rs

 p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
. 

T
h

is
 

m
a

jo
r 

in
v
e

s
tm

e
n

t 
is

 
a

ls
o

 
s
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g

 
th

e
 

E
D

P
 

n
a

ti
o

n
a

l 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 

o
f 

n
a
rr

o
w

in
g
 

a
tt
a
in

m
e
n
t 

g
a
p
s
, 

ta
c
k
lin

g
 

u
n
d
e
r

a
c
h
ie

v
e
m

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 

p
ro

v
id

in
g
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt

 
fo

r 
s
c
h

o
o

ls
 

o
p

e
ra

ti
n

g
 

in
 

c
h

a
lle

n
g

in
g

 c
ir
c
u

m
s
ta

n
c
e

s
 o

r 
w

h
ic

h
 a

re
 c

a
u
s
in

g
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

. 

A
s
 w

e
ll 

a
s
 t

h
e
 n

a
ti
o
n
a
l 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 o

u
tl
in

e
d
 a

b
o
v
e
, 

th
e
re

 a
re

 a
ls

o
 

lin
k
s
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 t

h
is

 p
la

n
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
p
ri
o
ri
ty

 t
a
rg

e
ts

 i
n
 t

h
e
 E

D
P

. 

9
)

T
h
e
 
c
a
p
it
a
l 

in
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 

in
 
s
e

c
o

n
d

a
ry

 
s
c
h

o
o

ls
 
a

n
d

 
th

e
 
c
u

rr
e

n
t 

v
e
ry

 e
ff
ic

ie
n
t 

m
a
tc

h
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 p

u
p
il 

n
u
m

b
e
rs

 a
n
d
 o

v
e
ra

ll 
c
a

p
a
c
it
y

s
u
p
p
o
rt

 t
h
e
 r

a
is

in
g
 o

f 
s
ta

n
d
a
rd

s
 a

n
d
 r

a
is

in
g
 p

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n
 p

o
s
t 

1
6
 

a
s
 w

e
ll 

a
s
 e

n
h
a
n
c
in

g
 s

p
e
c
ia

lis
t 

fa
c
ili

ti
e

s
 t

o
 c

o
n

tr
ib

u
te

 t
o

 r
a

is
in

g
 

s
ta

n
d

a
rd

s
 i
n

 C
re

a
ti
v
e

, 
C

u
lt
u

ra
l,
 E

m
o

ti
o

n
a

l,
 S

p
ir
it
u

a
l 
a

n
d

 P
h

y
s
ic

a
l 

w
e
ll 

b
e
in

g
 o

f 
p
u
p
ils

 –
 b

o
th

 l
o
c
a
l 

p
ri
o
ri
ty

 t
a
rg

e
ts

. 
 T

h
e
 p

ro
je

c
te

d
 

re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 s

e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 n
u
m

b
e
rs

 o
v
e
r 

th
e
 n

e
x
t 

fi
v
e
 y

e
a
rs

 w
ill

 a
ls

o
p
ro

v
id

e
 h

e
a
d
ro

o
m

 f
o
r 

th
e
 g

re
a
te

r 
in

c
lu

s
io

n
 p

ri
n
c
ip

le
s
 s

e
t 

o
u
t 

in
 

th
e
 L

E
A

 S
p
e
c
ia

l 
E

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 N

e
e
d
s
 p

la
n

 a
tt

a
c
h

e
d

 a
s
 a

 a
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 

to
 t

h
is

 p
la

n
, 

w
h

ic
h

 i
s
 t

h
e

 t
h

ir
d

 l
o

c
a
l 
p
ri
o
ri
ty

 i
n
 t

h
e
 E

D
P

. 
 T

h
is

 p
la

n
a
ls

o
 l
in

k
s
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 p

o
s
t 

O
F

S
T

E
D

 A
c
ti
o
n
 P

la
n
, 

w
h
ic

h
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t

h
e

L
E

A
 
to

 
e
n
s
u
re

 
th

a
t 

“t
h
e
 
g
ro

w
th

 
o
f 

s
u
rp

lu
s
 
p
la

c
e
s
 
in

 
p
ri
m

a
ry

 
s
c
h
o
o
ls

 i
s
 c

o
n
tr

o
lle

d
” 

a
n
d
 “

re
d
u
c
e

 o
u
t 

o
f 

b
o
ro

u
g
h
 p

la
c
e
m

e
n
ts

 i
n
 

s
p
e
c
ia

l 
s
c
h
o
o
ls

 
b
y
 
e
x
p
a
n
d
in

g
 
c
u

rr
e
n
t 

p
ro

v
is

io
n

 
w

h
ic

h
 
in

 
tu

rn
lin

k
s
 t

o
 t

h
e
 L

E
A

 B
e
h
a
v
io

u
r 

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 P
la

n
”.

 

1
0
)

T
h
e
re

 a
re

 a
ls

o
 i
m

p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 a

ri
s
in

g
 f

ro
m

 t
h
e
 S

c
h
o
o
l 
O

rg
a
n
is

a
ti
o
n

P
la

n
 f

o
r 

th
e
 L

E
A

 A
c
c
e
s
s
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
, 

th
e
 S

e
c
u
ri
ty

 P
la

n
, 

th
e
 L

E
A

 
IC

T
 P

la
n
, 

th
e
 L

E
A

 P
h
y
s
ic

a
l 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 P

la
n
, 

th
e
 E

x
c
e
lle

n
c
e
 i

n
 

C
it
ie

s
 
P

la
n
 
a
n
d
 
th

e
 
P

F
I 

P
ro

je
c
t 

P
la

n
, 

in
 
th

a
t 

c
a

re
fu

l 
d

e
c
is

io
n

 
m

a
k
in

g
 i

s
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t

o
 e

n
s
u
re

 b
e
s
t

lo
n
g
 t

e
rm

 r
e
tu

rn
s
 f

ro
m

 c
a
p
it
a
l 

in
v
e

s
tm

e
n

t 
d

e
c
is

io
n

s
. 

1
1
)

In
 

2
0
0
3
/4

 
th

e
 

L
E

A
 

re
c
e
iv

e
d
 

a
 

s
p
e
c
if
ic

 
c
a
p
it
a
l 

a
llo

c
a
ti
o
n
 

o
f

£
2
5
1
,0

0
0
 t

o
 b

e
 u

s
e
d
 f

o
r 

th
e
 e

x
p
a
n
s
io

n
 o

f 
p

o
p

u
la

r 
s
c
h

o
o

ls
. 

 T
h

is
fu

n
d
in

g
 

h
a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 

a
llo

c
a
te

d
 

to
 

p
ro

v
id

e
 

a
 

th
re

e
/f
o
u
r 

g
e
n
e
ra

l 
c
la

s
s
ro

o
m

 
e
x
te

n
s
io

n
 

a
t 

W
o
o
d

c
h
u
rc

h
 

H
ig

h
 

S
c
h

o
o
l,
 

th
e
 

m
o
s
t

h
e
a
v
ily

 o
v
e

r 
s
u
b
s
c
ri
b
e
d
 s

e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
l 

in
 r

e
s
p
e
c
t 

o
f 

p
a
re

n
ta

l 
p

re
fe

re
n

c
e

s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 L

E
A

.

1
2
)

T
h
e
 L

E
A

 m
a
k
e
s
 d

if
fe

re
n
t 

a
rr

a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

 f
o
r 

th
e
 f

o
llo

w
in

g
 g

ro
u
p
s

o
f 

v
u

ln
e

ra
b

le
 c

h
ild

re
n

: 

R
e

f:
 A

M
P

/D
A

2
4

7
4

/C
V

W
 S

c
h

o
o

l 
O

rg
a

n
is

a
ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 (
S

e
p

 2
0

0
4

)

2
8

Page 47



i.
C

h
ild

re
n
 w

h
o
 a

re
 o

u
t 

o
f 

s
c
h
o
o
l 

b
e
c
a
u
s
e
 o

f 
ill

n
e
s
s
 a

n
d
 i

n
ju

ry
a

re
 
p

ro
v
id

e
d

 
fo

r 
th

ro
u

g
h

 
W

ir
ra

l 
H

o
s
p
it
a
l 

S
c
h
o
o
l 

a
n
d
 
H

o
m

e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 
S

e
rv

ic
e
. 

 
T

h
e
 
L

E
A

 
w

ill
 
s
h

o
rt

ly
 
h
a
v
e
 
fi
n
a
lis

e
d
 
o
u
r

p
o
lic

y
 o

n
 t

h
e
 e

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
c
h
ild

re
n
 w

h
o
 a

re
 i
ll.

 

ii.
P

u
p

ils
 w

h
o

 a
re

 l
o

o
k
e

d
 a

ft
e

r 
b

y
 l
o

c
a
l 
a
u
th

o
ri
ti
e
s
. 

 M
o
s
t 

c
h
ild

re
n

w
h
o
 a

re
 l

o
o
k
e
d
 a

ft
e
r 

a
tt
e
n
d
 a

 m
a

in
s
tr

e
a
m

 o
r 

s
p
e
c
ia

l 
s
c
h
o
o
l.

T
h

e
y
 a

re
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
e

d
 b

y
 t

h
e

 L
o

o
k
e

d
 A

ft
e

r 
C

h
ild

re
n

 E
d

u
c
a

ti
o

n
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 
T

e
a
m

 
w

h
ic

h
 

is
 

p
a
rt

 
o
f 

th
e
 

P
u
p
il 

A
c
c
e
s
s
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt

S
e
rv

ic
e
. 

 A
 s

m
a
ll 

n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

th
e
s
e
 c

h
ild

re
n
 a

re
 i

n
 c

h
ild

re
n
’s

h
o
m

e
s
 w

h
e
re

 e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 o

n
 s

it
e
. 

 S
o
m

e
ti
m

e
s
 t

h
e
s
e
 

h
o
m

e
s
 w

ill
 b

e
 o

u
ts

id
e
 t

h
e
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
. 

iii
.
T

h
e
 L

E
A

 d
o
 n

o
t 

m
a
k
e

 a
rr

a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

 f
o
r 

s
c
h
o
o
l 
a
g
e
d

 p
u
p
ils

 t
o

a
tt
e
n
d
 c

o
lle

g
e
 d

ir
e
c
tl
y
 b

u
t 

m
a
n
y
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

 a
n
d
 t

h
e
 P

u
p
il 

A
c
c
e
s
s

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 
S

e
rv

ic
e
 

w
ill

 
a
rr

a
n
g
e
 

fo
r 

p
la

c
e
m

e
n
ts

 
a
t 

W
ir
ra

l 
M

e
tr

o
p
o
lit

a
n
 C

o
lle

g
e
 a

n
d
 s

o
m

e
ti
m

e
s
 a

t 
c
o

lle
g

e
s
 o

u
ts

id
e

 t
h

e
 

B
o
ro

u
g
h
.

iv
.T

h
e
 

A
u
th

o
ri
ty

 
k
e
e
p
s
 

a
 

re
c
o
rd

 
o
f 

th
o
s
e
 

c
h
ild

re
n
 

w
h
o
 

a
re

 
e
d
u
c
a
te

d
 a

t 
h
o
m

e
 b

y
 t

h
e
ir
 p

a
re

n
ts

 p
ro

v
id

e
d

 t
h

e
ir
 p

a
re

n
ts

 h
a

v
e

 
in

fo
rm

e
d

 
u

s
 
th

a
t 

th
e

y
 
a

re
 
e

d
u

c
a

ti
n
g
 
th

e
ir
 
c
h
ild

re
n
 
a
t 

h
o
m

e
.

T
h

e
 

A
u

th
o

ri
ty

’s
 

in
s
p

e
c
to

rs
 

p
a

y
 

re
g

u
la

r 
v
is

it
s
 

to
 

c
h

ild
re

n
’s

h
o
m

e
s
 t

o
 e

n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 

th
e
ir
 e

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 s

u
ff
ic

ie
n
t.
 

v
.

T
h
e
re

 a
re

 n
o
 p

s
y
c
h
ia

tr
ic

 u
n
it
s
 o

r 
s
e
c
u
re

 p
ro

v
is

io
n
 i
n
 W

ir
ra

l 
b
u
t

c
h

ild
re

n
 

w
it
h

 
p

s
y
c
h

ia
tr

ic
 

d
if
fi
c
u

lt
ie

s
 

m
a

y
 

b
e

 
e

d
u

c
a

te
d

 
in

 
c
o
n
ju

n
c
ti
o
n
 
w

it
h
 
th

e
 
C

h
ild

 
a
n

d
 
F

a
m

ily
 
S

e
rv

ic
e
 
w

h
ic

h
 
is

 
th

e
lo

c
a
l 
C

h
ild

 a
n
d
 A

d
o
le

s
c
e
n
t 

M
e
n
ta

l 
H

e
a
lt
h
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 t

h
ro

u
g
h
 t

h
e
 

e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 

p
ro

v
id

e
d
 

a
t 

W
ir
ra

l 
H

o
s
p
it
a
l 

S
c
h
o
o
l.
 

 
A

 
b
a
s
e
 

a
t

A
d
c
o
te

 
H

o
u
s
e
, 

w
h
ic

h
 
is

 
th

e
 
h
e
a
d
q
u
a
rt

e
rs

 
o
f 

th
e
 
C

h
ild

 
a
n
d
 

F
a
m

ily
 S

e
rv

ic
e
, 

p
ro

v
id

e
s
 e

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 f

o
r 

p
ri
m

a
ry

 a
n
d
 s

e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

a
g

e
d

 p
u

p
ils

. 
 I

f 
n

e
c
e

s
s
a

ry
, 

fo
llo

w
in

g
 a

 p
e
ri
o
d
 o

f 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

th
e

re
, 

c
h

ild
re

n
 m

a
y
 t

ra
n

s
fe

r 
to

 t
h
e
 m

a
in

 b
a
s
e
 o

f 
th

e
 H

o
s
p
it
a
l 

S
c
h
o
o
l.

1
3

)
T

h
e

 
A

u
th

o
ri
ty

 
a

d
o

p
te

d
 
in

 
2

0
0

2
 
a
 
P

la
n
 
fo

r 
th

e
 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

s
p
e
c
ia

l 
e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

n
e
e
d
s
 w

h
ic

h
 p

ro
m

o
te

s
 t

h
e

 d
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

o
f

o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it
ie

s
 f

o
r 

c
h

ild
re

n
 w

it
h

 s
p

e
c
ia

l 
n
e
e
d
s
 t

o
 b

e
 e

d
u
c
a
te

d
 i
n
 a

 
m

a
in

s
tr

e
a
m

 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 

fo
r 

s
o
m

e
 
if
 
n
o
t 

a
ll 

o
f 

th
e
 
ti
m

e
. 

 
T

h
e
 

A
u

th
o

ri
ty

 a
ls

o
 h

a
s
 t

e
n

 s
u

c
c
e

s
s
fu

l 
s
p
e
c
ia

l 
s
c
h
o
o
ls

, 
in

 a
d
d
it
io

n
 t

o
 

th
e
 

H
o
s
p
it
a
ls

 
S

c
h
o
o
l,
 

w
h
ic

h
 

a
re

 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
 

s
tr

o
n
g
 

lin
k
s
 

w
it
h

m
a

in
s
tr

e
a

m
 s

c
h

o
o

ls
 t

o
 t

h
e

 b
e

n
e

fi
t 

o
f 

p
u
p
ils

 i
n
 b

o
th

 s
e

c
to

rs
. 

 T
h
e
 

o
b
je

c
ti
v
e
s
 

in
 

th
e
 

S
E

N
 

P
la

n
 

a
re

 
c
o

m
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

 
b

y
 

th
e

 
A

c
c
e
s
s
ib

ili
ty

 
S

tr
a
te

g
y
 

a
d
o
p
te

d
 

in
 

2
0
0
3
. 

 
T

h
is

 
s
e
ts

 
o
u
t 

th
e
 

A
u

th
o

ri
ty

’s
  

s
tr

a
te

g
y
  

to
 m

a
k
e

a
ll 

s
c
h
o
o
ls

  
 m

o
re

  
a
c
c
e
s
s
ib

le
  

to
 

c
h
ild

re
n
 w

it
h
 d

is
a
b
ili

ti
e
s
. 

 T
h
e
 L

E
A

 p
la

n
 i
s
 a

tt
a
c
h
e
d
 a

s
 A

p
p
e
n

d
ix

B
 o

f 
th

is
 p

la
n
. 

1
4
)

P
o
s
t 

1
6
 P

ro
v
is

io
n

T
h
e
 p

e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
y
o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 r
e
m

a
in

in
g
 i
n

 l
e
a
rn

in
g
 i
n

 W
ir
ra

l 
p
o
s
t 

1
6
 i
s
 a

b
o
v
e
 t

h
e
 n

a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
v
e
ra

g
e
. 

T
h
e
 p

e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 i
n
 

le
a
rn

in
g
 a

t 
a
g
e
 1

7
 i
s
 l
o

w
e
r 

th
a
n
 t

h
e
 n

a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
v
e
ra

g
e
. 

 T
h
e
re

 i
s
 

a
n
 i
n
te

n
ti
o
n
 t

o
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 t

h
e
 p

ro
p
o
rt

io
n
 o

f 
y
o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 a
g
e
d
 1

6
-

1
9
 i
n
 l
e
a
rn

in
g
, 

a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 t

h
e
y
 n

e
e
d
 n

o
t 

n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ri
ly

 b
e
 i
n
 l
e
a
rn

in
g
 

in
 L

E
A

 p
ro

v
is

io
n
.

P
o
s
t 

1
6
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
 f

o
r 

le
a
rn

e
rs

 i
n
 W

ir
ra

l 
d
if
fe

rs
 i
n
 d

if
fe

re
n
t 

p
a
rt

s
 o

f 
th

e
 b

o
ro

u
g

h
.

B
ir
k
e
n
h
e
a
d
 s

e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
ls

 d
o
 n

o
t 

p
ro

v
id

e
 p

o
s
t 

1
6
 e

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 

o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it
ie

s
. 

  
B

ir
k
e

n
h

e
a

d
 s

tu
d

e
n

ts
 a

re
 a

b
le

 t
o
 a

p
p
ly

 f
o
r 

p
o
s
t 

1
6
 

le
a
rn

in
g
 t

o
 t

h
e
 s

ix
th

 f
o
rm

 o
f 

a
 s

e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
l 
in

 a
n
o
th

e
r 

p
a
rt

 
o
f 

th
e
 b

o
ro

u
g
h
, 

o
r 

to
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
 i
n
 t

h
e
 c

o
lle

g
e
s
 o

r 
o
th

e
r 

tr
a
in

in
g
 

p
ro

v
id

e
rs

.

M
a
in

ta
in

e
d
 s

e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
ls

 i
n
 B

ir
k
e
n
h
e
a
d
 d

o
 n

o
t 

p
ro

v
id

e
 p

o
s
t 

1
6
 e

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 o

p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
. 

 B
ir
k
e
n
h
e
a
d
 s

tu
d
e
n
ts

 a
re

 a
b
le

 t
o
 

a
p
p
ly

 f
o
r 

p
o
s
t 

1
6
 l
e
a
rn

in
g
 t

o
 t

h
e
 s

ix
th

 f
o
rm

 o
f 

a
 s

e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
l 

in
 a

n
o

th
e

r 
p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e

 b
o

ro
u

g
h

, 
o

r 
to

 p
ro

v
is

io
n
 i
n
 t

h
e
 c

o
lle

g
e
s
 o

r 
o
th

e
r 

tr
a
in

in
g
 p

ro
v
id

e
rs

. 
 C

a
th

o
lic

 s
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
ls

 w
h
ic

h
 

s
e
rv

e
 t

h
e
 B

ir
k
e
n
h
e
a
d
 a

re
a
 d

o
 o

ff
e
r 

s
ix

th
 f

o
rm

 e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
. 

S
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
ls

 i
n
 W

a
lla

s
e
y
, 

D
e
e
s
id

e
 a

n
d
 B

e
b
in

g
to

n
 h

a
v
e
 

s
ix

th
 f

o
rm

s
. 

  
S

tu
d
e
n
ts

 a
re

 a
b
le

 t
o
 a

p
p
ly

 t
o
 e

it
h
e
r 

re
m

a
in

 i
n
 t

h
e
ir
 

o
w

n
 s

c
h

o
o

l,
 j
o

in
 a

n
o

th
e

r 
s
c
h

o
o

l 
s
ix

th
 f

o
rm

, 
o

r 
m

o
v
e

 t
o

 p
ro

v
is

io
n

in
 t

h
e
 c

o
lle

g
e
s
 o

r 
o
th

e
r 

tr
a
in

in
g
 p

ro
v
id

e
rs

. 

A
 

1
6
-1

9
 

a
re

a
-w

id
e
 

in
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n

to
o
k
 

p
la

c
e
 

in
 

A
u
tu

m
n
 

2
0
0
2

;
in

s
p
e
c
ti
n
g
 
p
ro

v
is

io
n
 
fo

r 
1
6
-1

9
 
y
e
a
r 

o
ld

s
 
in

 
s
c
h
o
o
ls

, 
c
o
lle

g
e
s
,

tr
a
in

in
g
 p

ro
v
id

e
rs

 a
n
d
 C

o
n
n
e
x
io

n
s
.

 T
h
e
 f

in
d
in

g
s
 r

e
le

v
a
n
t 

to
 t

h
is

 
p

la
n

 r
e

la
te

 t
o

 e
q

u
a

lit
y
 o

f 
a

c
c
e

s
s
 t

h
e

 l
e
a

rn
in

g
 o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s
 a

n
d

 
re

te
n

ti
o

n
 r

a
te

s
 i

n
 l

e
a

rn
in

g
, 

p
a

rt
ic

u
la

rl
y
 a

t 
a
g
e
 1

7
 y

e
a
rs

. 
  

 T
h
e
 

A
re

a
-W

id
e

 
In

s
p

e
c
ti
o

n
 

(A
W

I)
 

A
c
ti
o

n
 

P
la

n
 

a
d

d
re

s
s
in

g
 

th
e

s
e

 
is

s
u
e
s
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 t

o
 t

h
e

 D
e

p
a

rt
m

e
n

t 
fo

r 
E

d
u

c
a

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 
S

k
ill

s
. 

  
A

n
 a

g
re

e
d
 a

c
ti
o
n
 p

la
n
 t

o
 i

m
p

ro
v
e

 t
h

e
s
e

 i
s
s
u

e
s
 w

ill
 b

e
 

im
p
le

m
e
n
te

d
 f

ro
m

 S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
3
. 

R
e

f:
 A

M
P

/D
A

2
4

7
4

/C
V

W
 S

c
h

o
o

l 
O

rg
a

n
is

a
ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 (
S

e
p

 2
0

0
4

)

2
9

Page 48



WIRRAL COUNCIL  

CABINET – 28th MAY 2009         

REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN’S SERVICES 

REVIEW OF PRIMARY PLACES PHASE 5: AREA REVIEWS OF BIRKENHEAD, 
BEECHWOOD, NOCTORUM AND PRENTON AND POSSIBLE RELOCATION OF GILBROOK 
SPECIAL SCHOOL 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This report advises the Cabinet of progress on the Phase 5 Area Reviews of primary school 
places in the small planning areas of Central, South and North Birkenhead, Beechwood, 
Noctorum and Prenton. Following meetings with key stakeholders in each of these areas, this 
report contains a summary of provision in each area and puts forward recommendations for 
options for consultation, and comments briefly on some of the issues involved. A 
recommendation is also made to consult on the possible relocation of Gilbrook School from 
Birkenhead to Woodchurch. 

1.0 Background 

1.1 At its meeting of 16th October 2008, Cabinet instructed that Phase 5 of the Primary Places 
Review should comprise Prenton, Noctorum, North Birkenhead and Beechwood, South 
Birkenhead and Central Birkenhead. The minutes of that Cabinet meeting are attached for 
Members’ information as Appendix A to this report. As in previous phases, the first stage of 
the Review has been to conduct a process where, on a confidential basis, meetings have 
taken place with key stakeholders in each of the areas under review. These stakeholders 
included Ward Councillors as well as officers of the Diocese of Chester and Shrewsbury, 
headteachers and chairs of governors of schools potentially affected by the Reviews. 
Following these confidential discussions, recommendations can now be made for options for 
consultation in the next stage of the review process.  

1.2 In addition to the options described below there is considerable analytic and background 
material that was used as the basis for the identification of options; this is available for 
Members on request. A brief description of this material is included at Appendix B. Numbers 
on roll provided in this report are from the annual School Census of January 2009.  

2.0 Prenton  

2.1 The small planning area of Prenton was included within the Phase 5 Area Review in order to 
ensure that we had looked coherently at provision across this region of the Wirral. The 
Prenton area is served by a single community primary school.  

2.2 Formed by the amalgamation of Prenton Infant School and Prenton Junior School in 2005, 
numbers on roll at this school have fallen in recent years, following the general trend across 
the borough, and are projected to remain relatively stable over the next five years. Prenton 
retains more than 80% of in-zone community/CE choice pupils, and also shows a net gain of 
pupils from other local schools, principally from the catchments of Devonshire Park Primary 
and Townfield Primary schools.  In terms of size, the school is likely to remain well above the 
Wirral policy definition of a small school.  In 2006, Ofsted judged Prenton to be a good 
school, and 2008 Key Stage 2 contextual value added shows that pupils are making the 
expected rate of progress. 

Conclusion 

2.2 There has been careful consideration of this planning area, the outcome of which is that the 
opinion of officers is that there is no need at this stage to proceed with consideration of 
options for change.  Page 49



3.0 Noctorum 

3.1 The small planning area of Noctorum contains four schools, two community, one Church of 
England Aided and one Catholic Aided. Of these, Hillside Primary and St Peter’s Catholic 
Primary School are within the Wirral policy definition of a small school. Only Hillside Primary 
has significantly high surplus places (26.7%). 

3.2 Hillside Primary School was originally separate Infant and Junior schools, amalgamated in 
1998 in separate buildings, then consolidated into the former Infant building once building 
work was completed. There are sufficient places at schools within 1 mile to accommodate 
Hillside Primary School pupils, and almost as many community/CE choice pupils from 
Hillside’s catchment attend Townfield Primary School, as attend Hillside Primary. Ofsted 
rated Hillside Primary as “satisfactory”, and Townfield Primary as “good” in 2007. Key Stage 
2 contextual value added in 2008 indicates that pupils at Hillside Primary are making the 
expected rate of progress, and at Townfield Primary, more than the expected rate of 
progress. 

Claughton Children’s Centre has recently been established in the existing building at Hillside 
Primary School, which may have a longer term impact on improving numbers on roll at the 
school, which are currently projected to remain stable in the next five years.  

3.3 St Peter’s Catholic Primary School retains almost two-thirds of available Catholic choice 
pupils within the catchment Parish. Although overall there is a net loss to alternative Catholic 
primary schools, there is some overlap in pupil terms with the neighbouring Parish of St 
Paul’s Catholic Primary (Beechwood), with 15% of pupils attending St Peter’s residing in St 
Paul’s Parish. While small, the school has few surplus places using the DCSF calculation 
method, and was rated “good” by Ofsted in 2006. Key Stage 2 contextual value added in 
2008 indicates that pupils at St Peter’s Catholic Primary are making more than the expected 
rate of progress. 

 Conclusion 

3.4 St Peter’s Catholic Primary School is the only Catholic primary in this planning area, although 
there are links with St Paul’s Parish which should be monitored. The presence of the 
Children’s Centre at Hillside Primary School may encourage more parents to choose the 
school over time. Pupils at both schools are making the expected rate of progress or better. 
On this basis, it is recommended that the Noctorum area should be monitored and reviewed 
in a later phase of the Review. 

4.0 Central Birkenhead 

4.1 The small planning area of Central Birkenhead contains six schools, three all-through 
community primary schools, a Church of England Controlled primary, and two Catholic Aided 
primary schools. 

Surplus places are high in two of the six schools in this planning area – Christ Church CE 
(Birkenhead) Primary and Devonshire Park Primary. Christ Church CE Primary also falls into 
the Wirral policy definition of a small school. Oxton Children’s Centre and a Spaces for 
Sports and Arts Initiative facility are located adjacent to the school.  

4.2 Christ Church CE Primary had 162 pupils on roll in January 2009. Projections indicate an 
increase to 193 pupils by 2014, which would reduce surplus places from the present level of 
32% to 19%, below the 25% or more level which requires an annual report to the DCSF. The 
Governing body have indicated a desire to expand the school through a rebuild on the same 
site. This is not supported by current projections. Other options for change in neighbouring 
schools may have minor ramifications for pupil numbers at Christ Church, however there is 
sufficient scope within the existing building to accommodate additional children if required. 

4.3 Devonshire Park Primary School had 289 pupils on roll in January 2009. The Net Capacity of 
the current buildings is currently 420 pupils, which means 31% surplus places, above the 

Page 50



25% reporting threshold. Projections indicate that the number on roll will be broadly similar in 
2014, with surplus remaining high unless action is taken. In 2007, Ofsted rated the school as 
good with outstanding features, and Key Stage 2 2008 contextual value added indicates that 
pupils are making the expected rate of progress. 

4.4 The school occupies four pre-World War I buildings on a relatively confined site, originally 
Temple Road School.  The two main buildings, North and South, and the former caretakers 
house are two storey, while the separate kitchen and dining block is single storey. The school 
has an F1 (nursery) class, and designated special needs classes at Key Stage 1 and Key 
Stage 2. 

4.5 Devonshire Park is rated as a high priority for Primary Capital Strategy funding based on a 
multi-factorial scoring system. There is scope to rationalize the school into a single main 
building by a combination of internal adaptations and extension. This could include a new 
entrance and admin area and relocation of existing kitchen and dining facilities into the main 
building. The scheme would incorporate extended school and community use of the building. 
The redundant building(s) would then be cleared and landscaped into additional play and on-
site green space, which is currently lacking on the Devonshire Park site. The F1 class and 
SEN classes would be retained. 

4.6 The rationalization is expected to reduce the Net Capacity of the school from 420 places to 
300 places, which on current projections will reduce surplus places at the school to less than 
10%. It will also reduce future expenditure on outstanding condition items from the school’s 
Devolved Formula Capital. 

Other considerations 

4.7 Woodlands Primary School is the subject of a capital scheme development process listed on 
another item on the same Cabinet agenda, involving a two classroom extension to the main 
building in order to vacate rooms in use by the school at the adjacent Beechcroft building. 
The current admission number at Woodlands Primary is 44. This scheme would alleviate 
some of the accommodation suitability issues faced by the school, which would be further 
enhanced by a reduction in admission number to 30 places. However, dependant on the 
outcome of other options discussed in this report, pupil places may be required at Woodlands 
Primary School and consequently a reduction in admission number will not be pursued at this 
time. 

 Conclusion 

4.8 It is recommended that an option appraisal is carried out to determine the most effective 
solution to the rationalization of Devonshire Park Primary School. Transforming 
accommodation through the Primary Capital Programme and other schemes, provides 
opportunities to promote joint agency work to promote co-ordinated solutions for pupils and 
their families. There is scope for community participation in the design process of any new 
school buildings, raising the school’s profile within the community. Current funding 
predictions would indicate a 2011/12 implementation date at the earliest for any scheme. 

 5.0 South Birkenhead 

5.1 The small planning area of South Birkenhead contains five schools – four community primary 
schools and one Catholic Aided primary. Of these two are below the Wirral policy definition of 
a small school, and both of these have significantly high surplus places.  

 With one exception, Mersey Park Primary, surplus places are relatively high in schools 
across this area. The table below shows for each school the current Net Capacity, number on 
roll and percentage surplus, with the projected number on roll and percentage surplus in 
2014. Shaded cells indicate 25% or more surplus places. 

Page 51



 

School Capacity 
2009 
NOR 

2009 
Surplus % 

2014 NOR 
(projected) 

2014 
Surplus 
% 

Bedford Drive 406 314 22.7 364 10.2 

Mersey Park 399 371 7.0 367 8.1 

Well Lane 243 150 38.3 175 27.8 

Rock Ferry 329 248 24.6 271 17.7 

St Anne’s Catholic 243 175 28.0 173 28.7 

5.2 As demonstrated above, current projections indicate that surplus places are likely to remain 
high at both Well Lane Primary and St Anne’s Catholic Primary schools, despite projected 
additional pupils at Well Lane Primary. Well Lane Primary is the base for an Area team in the 
stand alone block to the rear of the school.   

5.3 During Phase 1 of the Primary Places Review in 2005, consultations on the closure of Well 
Lane Primary school were carried out with stakeholders in the South Birkenhead area.  The 
outcome of that consultation was reported to Cabinet at its meeting of 18th July 2005.  At that 
time, the closure of The Dell Primary School was considered a higher priority, and there were 
concerns about implications for class sizes at adjoining schools should both The Dell and 
Well Lane close at the same time.  

5.4 27% of community/CE choice children who live in Well Lane’s zone attend the school, which 
means that about two-thirds attend other schools. Despite a reduction in the Net Capacity 
from 351 pupils in 2003 to 243 in 2008, including the location of an Area team into part of the 
school, surplus places at Well Lane have been consistently high for many years and are 
projected to continue to be so. There is little further scope for rationalization of the existing 
building. The expenditure per pupil at Well Lane was £4,284 per pupil in 2006/2007, above 
the Wirral average of £3,249. 

5.5 In 2006, Ofsted judged Well Lane to require a “notice to improve” with particular reference to 
children's standards and achievements, the curriculum and attendance. In 2007, the school 
was judged by Ofsted as “satisfactory”. Key Stage 2 2008 contextual value added indicates 
that pupils were making the expected rate of progress. 

5.6 Combined with potential to raise the admission number at Mersey Park Primary School (57 to 
60), there are sufficient places at local schools to accommodate all current and future Well 
Lane pupils. In 2009, there were 269 surplus places at alternative schools within the South 
Birkenhead planning area and 1,290 surplus places at the 27 schools (counting Infant and 
Junior separately) within a 2 mile radius. While small, standards at the school have improved 
and numbers on roll are projected to rise over the next five years. It is not recommended to 
proceed to formal consultation in relation to Well Lane Primary School, although the position 
of schools in this area will continue to be carefully monitored. 

5.7 There is some minor scope for “on paper” reductions in Net Capacity and surplus places at 
Rock Ferry Primary School and Bedford Drive Primary School through small reductions in 
their admission numbers. Admission number reductions are consulted upon through the 
Admissions Code of Conduct process and do not require formal consultation through the 
Review process. Officers will discuss the potential for such reductions with headteachers and 
Chairs of Governors at the two schools. 

 Diocesan Issues 

5.8  As shown in 5.1 and 5.2 above, surplus places and small school size are also factors 
involving St Anne’s Catholic Primary School.  

5.9 St Anne’s retains about half of the Catholic choice pupils living in its catchment Parish, with 
an overall net loss to other Catholic primary schools. Of those who attend Catholic schools 
elsewhere, the largest proportion (37%) attend St John’s Catholic Infant and Junior schools in 
Bebington, located 0.5 miles away. The school occupies a mid-1970’s building on two floors 

Page 52



with little scope for rationalization. Expenditure per pupil at St Anne’s was £3,561 per pupil in 
2006/2007, slightly above the Wirral average of £3,249. 

5.10 In 2006, Ofsted judged St Anne’s to require a “notice to improve”, with particular reference to 
Foundation stage provision. In 2007, the school was judged by Ofsted as “satisfactory”. In 
Key Stage 2 in 2008, the contextual value added score of 99.4 indicated that pupils were 
making the expected rate of progress. 

5.11 The Catholic Diocese of Shrewsbury have indicated an interest in rebuilding St Anne’s 
Catholic Primary School using Primary Capital Strategy funding. This is intended to resolve 
various building condition issues, but would include a reduction in size to 210 places (rather 
than 243 places). The current site is completely surrounded by housing, and has very narrow 
and limited access. Resolving this issue would require consideration of the transfer to a new 
site in the immediate local area, potentially through purchase by the Diocese or a land swop 
to a Council owned site, alternatively a temporary relocation of the school to allow demolition 
and rebuild. 

 Conclusion 

5.12 Factors involved in the inclusion of the closure of Well Lane Primary School in 2005’s 
consultation remain an issue, and it is right to consider whether the school should continue to 
be retained. It is recommended not to proceed to consultation on closure of Well Lane 
Primary School at this time. Standards at the school have improved in recent years, and 
projections indicate that the number on roll should increase over the next five years, although 
remaining a small school. The area will require careful monitoring and will be considered 
again in due course, or earlier if circumstances require.  

5.13 The Diocesan option for the rebuilding of St Anne’s is unlikely to require publication of 
statutory notices. The reduction in surplus places achieved if this proposal were approved 
would be minimal, and St Anne’s is currently rated as a medium priority for Primary Capital 
Programme funding. It is recommended that preliminary investigations take place into 
alternative sites in the local area, but that formal consultations are not carried out at this 
stage. 

6.0 North Birkenhead and Beechwood 

6.1 The small planning area of North Birkenhead is currently served by eight primary schools. 
Four are Community primary schools, one is Church of England Aided, and three are 
Catholic Aided. From September 2009, the area will also be served by the primary division of 
the Birkenhead High Academy for Girls, the only single-sex maintained primary school in 
Wirral. Of these nine schools, four are within the Wirral policy definition of a small school, and 
three of those four schools also have more than 25% surplus places. 

 The small planning area of Beechwood is served by three primary schools, one Community 
primary, one Church of England Controlled and one Catholic Aided. Two of the three are 
within the Wirral policy definition of a small school. Surplus places are relatively high at all 
three schools, but reach more than 25% surplus places in one school. 

 North Birkenhead 

6.2 Cathcart Street Primary School and Cole Street Primary School are both small schools with 
high levels of surplus, situated in close proximity. The following table shows current capacity, 
number on roll and surplus places alongside projections for 2014. 

School Capacity 
2009 
NOR 

2009 
surplus 
places 

2009 
Surplus 
% 

2014 NOR 
(projected) 

2014 
Surplus 
% 

Cathcart Street 210 101 109 48.1 95 45.0 

Cole Street 210 124 86 59.0 108 51.4 

Total 420 225 195 53.6 203 48.3 Page 53



 The combined pupils of the two schools are effectively a single form of entry primary school, 
both now and projected to five years time, with almost a schools worth of surplus places 
between them. Options to combine the two schools should form part of the consultation in 
this area. 

6.3 Cole Street Primary School occupies a 1920’s two storey building on a confined site 
overlooking Birkenhead Park. The school has a roof top playground and there is little scope 
for rationalization of the existing building. Cathcart Street Primary School occupies a 1970’s 
building on a pleasant, but relatively confined site. A community group, “CATS” occupies a 
double mobile classroom on the Cathcart site, but again there is little scope for rationalization 
of the building. 

6.4 Cathcart Street Primary retains two-fifths of community/CE choice children who live in the 
catchment zone, the largest proportion of the remainder (a third) attending nearby The Priory 
CE Primary School.  Cole Street retains a just a quarter of in-zone community/CE choice 
children, with the remaining three-quarters attending various local schools, including The 
Priory CE, Christ Church CE (Birkenhead), Woodchurch Road Primary and Cathcart Street 
Primary schools. The pupil populations of the two schools overlap slightly, in that some Cole 
Street zoned pupils attend Cathcart Street Primary School. It should be noted that The Priory 
CE and Christ Church CE have catchment zones that overlap those of the local community 
schools. Expenditure per pupil at Cathcart Street Primary School was £5,089 (fifth highest) 
and at Cole Street £4,066 (thirteenth highest) in 2006/2007, above the Wirral average of 
£3,429. 

6.5 In 2009, Ofsted judged Cole Street Primary School to be “satisfactory”. Cathcart Street 
Primary School was last inspected by Ofsted in 2006, at which time it was judged to be a 
“good” school. In Key Stage 2 in 2008, the contextual value added scores of 100.1 at Cole 
Street and 99.9 at Cathcart Street Primary indicated that pupils at both schools were making 
the expected rate of progress and standards at the two schools are therefore not dissimilar. 

6.6 There are several methods for arriving at a single school. Legally, this could be achieved by 
closing one of the two schools and guaranteeing former pupils of the closing school a place 
at the other school, or by an amalgamation, which involves closing both schools and 
establishing a new school on a single site at which former pupils of both schools are 
guaranteed a place.  

 This leads to the following options for consultation: 

 A:   Closure of Cathcart Street Primary School 

 B:   Closure of Cole Street Primary School 

 C: Closure of both Cathcart Street and Cole Street Primary Schools, linked to the 
establishment of a new school on a single site. 

6.7 Either existing building could accommodate the pupils of both schools within the current 
accommodation with minor alterations. If attractive, a new building, potentially on a new site, 
would become a high priority for 2011/2012 Primary Capital Strategy funding with a view to 
open in 2013, unless earlier funding is available from the Council’s Capital pot. An option 
appraisal of existing and potential sites for a new school building is recommended. 

 Diocesan Issues 

6.8 St Laurence’s Catholic Primary School, located across the road from Cathcart Street Primary 
School, now has 75 pupils on roll and 64% surplus places, the roll having reduced by a third 
in the last three years alone. The roll is projected to continue to fall to 62 pupils and 70.5% 
surplus places by 2014. An Annex to the main building is currently leased by the Authority’s 
Adult Learning team, and the school is the site of a satellite to Birkenhead and Tranmere 
Children’s Centre based at St Werburgh’s Catholic Primary School. There is little scope for 
further rationalization of the existing school building. Page 54



6.9 St Laurence’s retains 61% of Catholic choice pupils within the St Laurence’s portion of the 
joint Parish of St Laurence’s and St Werburgh’s and has a net loss to other Catholic primary 
schools. The joint Parish is currently served by two primary schools. The other, St 
Werburgh’s, is in the small planning area of Central Birkenhead. St Werburgh’s was rebuilt in 
1999 as a single form of entry primary school and has few surplus places. It retains 69% of 
Catholic choice pupils in the St Werburgh’s part of the Parish, and has a significant net gain 
from other Catholic primary schools, including St Joseph’s (Birkenhead) and St Laurence’s. 

6.10  In 2008, Ofsted judged St Laurence’s as “good”. In Key Stage 2 in 2008, the contextual 
value added scores of 101.4 indicated that pupils were making more than the expected rate 
of progress. Expenditure per pupil at St Laurence’s was £5,520 in 2006/2007, above the 
Wirral average of £3,429 and the highest of any Wirral primary school. 

6.11 At the 27 alternative primary schools within a 2 mile radius of St Laurence’s, in 2009 there 
were 1,609 empty places, 295 of which were in Catholic schools. Excluding those in 
Wallasey, there were 144 empty places in the five alternative Catholic primary schools in the 
Birkenhead area, which is projected to fall slightly to 130 empty places by 2014. 

6.12 In order to provide Catholic primary places in this area of Birkenhead, the Catholic Diocese of 
Shrewsbury has already proposed the expansion of nearby Our Lady and St Edward’s 
Catholic Primary School by three to four classrooms, including replacing a mobile classroom. 
This scheme is funded via the Local Authority Co-ordinated Voluntary Aided Programme and 
the Primary Capital Strategy and is expected to create an additional 90 places. In 
combination with existing surplus places in the area, if St Laurence’s Primary School were to 
close, there should be sufficient Catholic primary places to meet parental demand in 
Birkenhead for the foreseeable future. 

6.13 Relocation of the Authority’s Adult Learning team to a central Birkenhead location would 
depend upon the outcome of the review, and the availability of suitable premises in the local 
area. 

 Beechwood 

6.14 In 2005 when this area was last reviewed, there were 34% surplus places across the three 
schools. Two proposals for change arose from Phase 1 of the Review, one of which was 
implemented.  

Community and Church of England Controlled schools 

6.15 The amalgamation of Vyner Primary and St Oswald’s CE Primary School to form Bidston 
Village CE Primary School on the former St Oswald’s site was implemented in 2006. The site 
was projected to have 188 pupils and 42% surplus places in 2009, but as a result of the 
proposal being implemented, now has 277 pupils and 21% surplus places, which although 
high, is a significant improvement. In 2008, Ofsted judged the school to be “good”, and Key 
Stage 2 2008 contextual value added indicates that pupils are making more than the 
expected rate of progress. 

6.16 Numbers on roll at Manor Primary School have continued to fall in the last few years, and 
surplus places have now reached 45%. In 2006, Ofsted judged the school to be 
“satisfactory”, and Key Stage 2 2008 contextual value added indicates that pupils are making 
the expected rate of progress. A satellite to the Bidston St James Children Centre has been 
established at the school in the existing building which may have a longer term impact on 
improving numbers on roll at the school, which are currently projected to continue to fall over 
the next five years.  

  Diocesan Issues 

6.17 The second proposal resulting from Phase 1 of the Primary Places Review was the closure of 
St Paul’s Catholic Primary School, which was referred to the School’s Adjudicator. The 
Adjudicator’s decision at that time was to reject the proposal, principally on the grounds of 
that there was no guarantee of sufficient places in the three alternative Catholic primary 

Page 55



schools, and no significant difference in standards between St Paul’s and these three 
schools.  

6.18 In 2009, while there are small numbers of surplus places at alternative Catholic primary 
schools, there are fewer than would be required to accommodate former St Paul’s pupils.  In 
terms of standards, at their last inspections St Paul’s was judged by Ofsted as “satisfactory 
with some good features” (2007), St Joseph’s Catholic Primary (Upton) was found to be 
“satisfactory” (2007), as was Holy Cross Catholic Primary School (2008), while St Peter’s 
Catholic Primary (Noctorum) was judged as “good”. Key Stage 2 2008 contextual value 
added at Holy Cross, St Paul’s and St Joseph’s (Upton) indicated that pupils were making the 
expected rate of progress, while at St Peter’s (Noctorum), pupils were making more than the 
expected rate of progress. As discussed in Section 3 above, there is a degree of pupil 
population overlap between St Paul’s and St Peter’s (Noctorum). 

6.19 St Paul’s remains a small school with relatively high surplus places. There is no official 
waiting time between the Adjudicator’s decision to reject a proposal and beginning the 
consultation process again on that proposal. However, in initial discussions the Diocesan 
Director of Education for the Diocese of Shrewsbury have made it clear that at this time they 
would again take up their right to refer a decision on the closure of St Paul’s to the Schools 
Adjudicator, and without a significant alteration in the factors that led to the decision to reject 
the proposal in 2006, it is difficult to see how the Adjudicator would reach a different 
conclusion.  

6.20 The development of 213 new houses in the Beechwood area is expected to generate around 
50 primary age pupils, of whom 1 in 5 is likely to choose Catholic education. Although some 
will probably be children who already live locally, the number on roll at St Paul’s could 
reasonably be expected to increase by around 10, and Manor Primary by about 20. The first 
phase of housing development on Beechwood consisted of 30 houses to be rented to 
existing Beechwood tenants, and 9 three and four bed houses for sale or shared ownership. 
The 30 rental properties include 14 retirement bungalows, 6 two bed houses, and 8 three and 
four bed houses. If this pattern is repeated across the other 7 development sites, 40% of the 
213 houses built would be for retired or single people without children. Around 75% of the 
213 would therefore be rented to existing residents. The new housing is intended to stabilise 
the community in the area, rather than to significantly increase its size. 

6.21 It is not recommended to proceed to proposals in this area, although numbers and standards 
require careful monitoring. The area will be reviewed again in due course, or as required if 
circumstances change significantly. 

 Conclusions 

 6.22 When last reviewed in 2005, there were 1,786 pupils attending schools in the North 
Birkenhead planning area, with 499 (22%) surplus places. Four years on, there are 1,796 
pupils attending schools in the North Birkenhead planning area (including Birkenhead High 
Academy), and 454 (20%) surplus places, a small reduction. In Beechwood, there were 444 
pupils attending three schools, with 232 (34.3%) surplus places, rising in 2009 to 482 pupils 
and 195 (28.8%) surplus places. 

 6.23 In 2005/2006, proposals were made to reorganize school provision in the Bidston end of the 
Birkenhead North and Beechwood planning areas. In this phase of the Review, it is 
recommended to proceed to consultation on changes to school provision in the Birkenhead 
end of the planning area as follows:  

• A: Closure of Cathcart Street Primary School 

• B: Closure of Cole Street Primary School 

• C: Closure of both Cathcart Street and Cole Street Primary Schools, linked to the 
establishment of a new Primary school Page 56



• D: Closure of St Laurence’s Catholic Primary School 

7.0 Phase 4 - Relocation of Gilbrook School 

7.1 The closure of Arrowe Hill Primary School, Glebe Hey Road, Woodchurch, resulted from 
Phase 4 of the Primary Places Review. The school will formally close on 31st August 2009.  

7.2 The Governing body of Gilbrook School, a special school with 50 places for primary age 
pupils with emotional and behavioural issues, have expressed an interest in relocating to 
larger premises with improved facilities to carry out additional behaviour support work to 
mainstream schools. The governors expression of interest letter is attached as Appendix C. 
The school is currently located in a semi-industrial area on Pilgrim Street, Birkenhead, but 
serves pupils from the entire Wirral area. A Sports Barn is located on the Gilbrook site. 

7.3 Relocating to the former Arrowe Hill building would increase the net floor area available to 
Gilbrook by a third, and although the school would no longer have access to the Sports Barn, 
the total site area available to the school would triple including a substantial increase in hard 
and soft play area. The Authority would retain the former Infant building for storage purposes. 

7.4 Travel to school arrangements would continue as specified in the Authority’s information 
booklets for parents, which are that the Authority would pay the travel costs of children 
attending Gilbrook either by providing a travel pass for pupils able to travel by public 
transport, or by arranging travel on the Authority’s own or contracted vehicles, including 
providing an escort if necessary. 

7.5 The distance between the two sites is more than 2 miles in a straight line, which means that a 
“prescribed alteration” notice must be issued. Accordingly, it is recommended that Cabinet 
approve a formal consultation lasting at least six weeks to be carried out with various 
stakeholders including the governing body, parents/carers, staff and pupils of Gilbrook 
School, local residents, ward members and local MPs. The outcome of the consultation 
would then be reported back to Cabinet later this year for consideration. 

7.6 Subject to approval, another item on the same Cabinet agenda includes £200,000 from 
2009/2010 capital resources to facilitate the move to the former Arrowe Hill building. 

8.0 Next steps 

8.1 If the Council decides to approve any or all of these options which require consultation, this 
would involve publishing the options within the areas and inviting comments and suggestions 
from as wide a range of stakeholders as can be practicably achieved. Most critically this 
would involve the parents and carers of children in the schools potentially affected. 
Consultation meetings would therefore be held where views can be expressed directly to LA 
officers and the Cabinet member. We would also invite written comments. The outcome of 
these consultations would then be reported back to Cabinet for further consideration, as 
would any further options that had emerged during the process and the consultation.  

8.2 There are new requirements for statutory competitions when new primary schools are 
established (as for example in an amalgamation). Appendix D provides a summary of the 
competition regulations. 

9.0 Financial Implications 

9.1 There are none arising as a result of this report. If options are approved for consultation, 
there will be further detailed reports that will set out all the implications. 

10.0 Staffing Implications 

10.1 There are none arising as a result of this report. If options are approved for consultation, 
there will be further detailed reports that will set out all the implications. 

11.0 Equal Opportunities Implications 
Page 57



11.1 It is essential to plan school provision across the Authority so that it is both efficient and 
effective in the interests of all pupils. Consultations on the options set out in this report will 
need to address very carefully the impact of any preferred options on pupils which are served 
by the schools concerned. 

12.0 Community Safety Implications 

12.1 Rationalisation and refurbishment of schools allow the most vulnerable accommodation to be 
removed and other security improvements carried out. 

13.0 Local Agenda 21 Statement 

13.1 The provision of efficient and effective education is a vital part of serving local communities; 
inefficient use of resources is wasteful both in educational and physical resource terms. 

14.0 Planning Implications 

14.1 The relationship between housing development policy and school place provision is a factor 
in considering surplus place removal. 

14.2 Any proposals that may arise out of options after the consultation and decision making 
process for school re-organisation would be subject to the usual planning processes. 

15.0 Anti-Poverty Implications 

15.1 The redistribution of funding released by school reorganisation, in combination with the 
Authority’s intention to realign the schools budget to give higher levels of funding to schools 
with high levels of deprivation, as well as improved accommodation, goes towards raising 
aspirations and narrowing the attainment gap for vulnerable groups. 

16.0 Social Inclusion Implications 

16.1 School re-organisation and transforming accommodation through the Primary Capital 
Programme and other schemes, provides opportunities to promote joint agency work to 
promote co-ordinated solutions for pupils and their families. There is scope for community 
participation in the design process of any new school buildings, raising the school’s profile 
within the community. 

17.0 Local Member Support Implications 

17.1 The schools specifically mentioned in the report and appendices, and the Wards in which 
they are situated, which are Bidston and St James, Birkenhead and Tranmere, Prenton, Rock 
Ferry, Oxton, Claughton, Noctorum and Prenton.  

Background Papers 

18.1 Surplus place returns 

 DCSF guidance on Surplus Place Removal 

 Pupil and Capacity data held by the LEA 

Recommendations 

(1) That an option appraisal be undertaken regarding the consolidation of Devonshire Park 
Primary School into a single building.  

(2) That consultations be undertaken regarding the following options for change in the North 
Birkenhead small planning area: 

• A -  Closure of Cathcart Street Primary School 

• B -  Closure of Cole Street Primary School 

Page 58



• C - Closure of both Cathcart Street and Cole Street Primary Schools, linked to the 
establishment of a new Primary school on a single site 

• D -  Closure of St Laurence’s Catholic Primary School 

(3) That an option appraisal be undertaken regarding potential sites for a single primary school 
resulting from any of consultation options A, B and C. 

(4) That consultations be undertaken regarding the transfer of Gilbrook School to the former 
premises of Arrowe Hill Primary School, Woodchurch. 

(5) That the remaining Phase 5 small planning areas be reviewed again as necessary or through 
the usual review process. 

Howard Cooper 

Director of Children’s Services 

 

Page 59



Page 60

This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 3A 

Analysis of Consultation 

Consultation Meetings 

Cathcart Street Primary School 

Present: 

Cllr Phil Davies (Chairman) 
Mark Parkinson – LA 
Marie Lawrence - LA 
David Armstrong – LA  
Sally Gibbs – LA 
Phil Edwards – Technician 

Rosemarie Bishop – Headteacher 
John Cocker – Chair of Governors 

Attended by 33 parents, 15 staff members, 4 governors, and 7 other interested 
persons. 

29% of pupils were represented by at least one parent/carer. 

Cole Street Primary School 

Present: 

Cllr Phil Davies (Chairman) 
Mark Parkinson – LA 
Marie Lawrence – LA 
David Armstrong – LA  
Sally Gibbs – LA 
Phil Edwards – Technician 

Val Chaderton - Headteacher 
Barbara Egan – Chair of Governors 

Attended by 16 parents, 22 staff members, 6 governors and 8 other interested 
persons. 

13% of pupils were represented by at least one parent/carer. 

St Laurence’s Catholic Primary School  

Present: 

Cllr Phil Davies (Chairman) 
Mark Parkinson – LA 
Marie Lawrence – LA 
David Armstrong – LA  
Sally Gibbs – LA 
Phil Edwards – Technician 

John Walsh – Acting Headteacher 
Sister Frances Guiney – Vice Chair of Governors 

Sister Pauline – Representative of the Diocese of Shrewsbury 

Attended by 18 parents, 13 staff members, 5 governors and 21 other interested 
persons. 

26% of pupils were represented by at least one parent/carer. 

Page 61



Number of responses received by school 

Responses 
Total Directly 

related 
Others 

Cathcart Street 18 13 5 

Cole Street 38 24 14 

St Laurence’s 10 1 9 

Other  1   

All written responses (forms, letters, e-mails) by 
respondent category and area 

Please note:  Totals may not match with previous table as some people fit into 
more than one category, for example parent and staff. 
 

Category of Respondent No % 

Parents 
Staff 
Governors 
Other 
Total 

29 
7 
7 
28 
71 

41 
10 
10 
39 

 
A petition was received in support of Cathcart Street Primary School containing 
248 entries, of which 125 were duplicates, incomplete or non-existent addresses, 
out of borough or persons not on the electoral roll. 
 
Of the remaining 123 entries: 

Catchment zone            Percentage  

Cathcart Street   27 
Cole Street    36 
Other Wirral    37 

38% of signees were parents/carers of a child attending Cathcart Street Primary 
School. 
 
A petition was received in support of Cole Street Primary School containing 550 
entries, of which 274 were duplicates, incomplete or non-existent addresses, out 
of borough or persons not on the electoral roll. 
 
Of the remaining 276 entries: 

Catchment zone            Percentage 

Cole Street    67 
Cathcart Street     3 
Other Wirral    30 

16% of signees were parents/carers of a child attending Cole Street Primary 
School. 
 

Page 62



A petition was received in support of St Laurence’s Catholic Primary School 
containing 627 entries, of which 329 were duplicates, incomplete or non-existent 
addresses, out of borough or persons not on the electoral roll. 
 
Of the remaining 298 entries: 

Catchment Parish            Percentage 

St Laurence’s   22 
St Werburgh’s     4 
Our Lady and St Edwards    7 
Other Wirral    67 

6% of signees were parents/carers of a child attending St Laurence’s Catholic 
Primary School. 

Page 63



Page 64

This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 3 B 

Summary of responses by school 

People allied to Cathcart Street Primary School 

Falling rolls 

• Birkenhead Docklands development will provide homes for 20,000 
people  

• The Priory CE has taken more children than it should 

• Numbers aren’t falling anymore, they’ve fallen 

Staff and Standards 

• Provides good before and after school club 

• Ofsted said was a good school 

• Wraparound care for F1 children 

• Courses for parents 

• Good teachers and teaching assistants 

• School trips 

• A meeting place for parents 

• Teaching and ethos is outstanding 

• Bent over backwards to meet the needs of my physically disabled child 

• Inclusive school 

• Hardworking, dedicated staff 

• Has an Ofsted registered childminding club in the school holidays 

• Parents rely on CATS club so they can keep their jobs 

• Specialises in special needs 

• High staff:pupil ratio 

• Staff can deal with mixed age teaching 

• Children make good progress 

• One to one teaching 

• Children are assessed properly 

• Out of school clubs – sports, cookery, languages etc 

Pupils 

• Would take children elsewhere if school was in Birkenhead Park 

• My child loves coming to school here 

• My child is happy and settled here 

• Concerns about disruption to education 

Page 65



• Children go on to do really well in secondary school 

• Other schools wouldn’t give my child her medication 

• Children would miss their friends 

• Can’t force children to like each other 

• Concerns about class sizes 

• I would not want my child mixing with Cole Street children 

Building and site 

• DDA compliant 

• Shower and disabled toilet 

• Relatively modern building 

• School could be updated. 

• Open land on the site for extension and enhanced outdoor space. 

• Good landscaping, hedging and many types of trees, a green oasis 

• Access is via a quiet cul de sac 

• Close to pedestrian and cycle-way routes  

• Citylands Regeneration area 

• Residential properties on three sides 

• Close to Birkenhead Docklands 

• Large playground 

• Separate Foundation playground 

• Centre courtyard garden 

• Can accommodate children from both schools 

• CATS childcare facility on site  

• Scope for more extended services e.g. clinic, children’s centre, library 

• Cheaper to build here 

• New parents room 

• ICT suites 

• White boards in every classroom 

• Walking distance to Europa Pools 

• Memorial bench in the courtyard garden 

• Inter school sporting events are held here 

• Only school in the area with a grassed playing field 

New School in the Park 

• We already use the Park as much as possible 

Page 66



• New build in the Park would be potential safety risk to children 

• New build in the Park would be open to more vandalism, drink and 
drug abuse 

• Older children would go to the Park instead of straight home 

• There is broken glass and drug paraphernalia in the Park 

• Council would have to make sure Park was cleaned daily 

• Dark and rocky areas in the Park 

The Options 

• A brand new school would give focus to the area 

• Will the finance be available for a new school given the “credit crunch”? 

• Would have to be a suitable and better site than at present. 

• Question is which is best of current sites. 

• If St Laurence’s closes, more children would come here 

• Cathcart Street is a newer building 

• How will you fit both sets of children onto one site? 

• Concerns about new uniforms 

• If St Laurence’s closes, could move the Children’s Centre satellite here 

• Potential for development of more services here 

• Concern about future of CATS club if school closes 

• Don’t necessarily need a new school, but a renewed school 

• Close to Wirral Waters development 

The Process 

• What are the main criteria for making a decision? 

• Are out of catchment pupils taken into account? 

• Staff should have had letters at the same time as parents 

Traffic and transport 

• Too far to travel to Bidston and St James Children’s Centre, would be 
better located at Cathcart Street 

• Easy for grandparents to pick my child up if necessary 

• School is on footpath and cycle way through City Lands 

Financial 

• How will you fund a new school? 

Other Comments 

• Heart of the community 

 

Page 67



People allied to Cole Street Primary School 

Falling rolls 

• Nearby houses are being improved 

• Cole Street has more pupils than the other schools 

• Cole Street has less surplus places than Cathcart Street 

• Parents who would come here are put off by the closure consultation 

• Many parents are expecting new babies 

• F1 is full 

• Parents don’t come here because of the POTENS home 

• People don’t stop having children 

• Cole Street is not a set of facts and figures 

Staff and Standards 

• Friendly 

• Good standards 

• CVA is good 

• Links with two secondary schools  

• Inclusive school 

• School works closely with parents and children 

• Family learning courses 

• Nurture class was closed by Council 

• Staff help parents find out about other services 

• Activity week in the school holidays 

• Provides extended services 

• Supportive, patient, dedicated, caring and understanding staff 

• One to one teaching 

• Good relationships with midday staff 

• Nurturing approach 

• Family school 

• Good communication 

• Staff are devoted to dealing with each child’s individual needs – 
personalised learning 

• Good reputation 

• I sent my children here despite Cole Street’s poor reputation and have 
not been disappointed 

Page 68



• Outstanding care and education 

• Raises aspirations through links with St Anselms 

• Trust between staff and the community 

• Always taking on new initiatives 

• Concerns about future of staff 

Building and site 

• Centrally located 

• Playground on the roof – one of five in Britain 

• Children are safe in the rooftop playground 

• Easy access to the park and library 

• Park is used for events and lessons 

• Solid building in good repair 

• Are other schools the same age being pulled down? 

• Should be improved not pulled down 

• Good security 

• Kitchen is a good size 

• Very little vandalism 

• Solid, substantial building 

• Has had new toilets, replacement windows and the staffroom has been 
improved 

• Large almost soundproof classrooms 

• Two halls 

• Existing car park could be used for play space if replacement car 
parking provided in or near the Park 

• Small grassed area could be brought within the school 

• Buildings to the rear could be bought to expand the site 

• Warm in winter, cool in summer 

• Could build a conservatory on the flat roof to house technology unit 

• Could upgrade the computers 

• Historical landmark, reeks of heritage 

• Schools with playing fields often don’t use them due to bad weather 

• Disabled access would be improved by a lift 

• Schools with playing fields don’t use them because they’re wet and 
expensive to maintain 

Page 69



Pupils 

• Children love coming to school 

• Children learn really well and get on with the other children 

• Children gain confidence here 

• Children would not cope with more children in a class 

• Provides stability for children 

• Moving school would be an upheaval for children 

• Options will compromise children’s education and affect their progress 

• Children would miss their friends 

• I moved here so my children could attend Cole Street 

• My child is happy and settled here 

• Pleased with my child’s progress here 

• There would be more lateness if children had to travel further to school 

New School in the Park 

• New school in the park could be safety risk to children 

• Staff would have to check all the time that strangers were not talking to 
children through the railings 

• New build may have superb technology, but could be installed in Cole 
Street 

• New build seems attractive but loss outweighs advantages 

• Unlikely to get planning permission for school in the park due to 
heritage issues 

• Would not want children to walk near the Park after dark, I would not 
do so as an adult 

• A teenage girl was sexually assaulted in the Park in the last year 

• Teachers would not be safe working late at night 

• We are already so near to the Park, how close do we need to be 

• School used to have a canteen in the park 

• Sea Cadet building could be used for new school as it may help with 
planning permission 

The Options 

• Why destroy a rich learning environment just to build a new one 

• Change does not have to mean destruction 

• All Cathcart Street children would be welcome and can be 
accommodated here 

Page 70



• Closing Cole Street would leave a big gap in primary school provision – 
the other two are only 5 minutes away from each other 

• Should spend money on an existing school to make it accessible and 
suitable for the 21st century 

• Recycle not rebuild, use what we already have 

• Could a bridge be built from Cole Street to the Park? 

• Cathcart Street is in an industrial area 

• Could house the Children’s Centre satellite if the derelict building at the 
back was bought 

• Close the school with the least pupils 

• Existing schools are looking a bit old and tatty 

• A new school with all “modcons” like a gym and a swimming pool 
would not take long to settle into 

• Why not amalgamate Cathcart Street and The Priory CE? 

Traffic and transport 

• Easy to get to 

• Concerns about distance to alternative schools 

• Need better traffic control between Cole Street and the Park 

• Children would have to cross either Charing Cross or Conway Street to 
get to another school 

Financial 

• Expenditure per pupil is lower than the other two schools 

The Process 

• The local authority must do everything it can to stop pupils drifting 
away before a decision is made 

Other comments 

• Used as a polling station 

• Centre of its community 

• Used as an evacuation refuge for POTENS residential home  

• Generations have gone to this school 

• As a childminder, I would find it difficult to pick children up from further 
away 

• Open for 80 years 

• Friends of Cole Street are active in the school – Summer Fairs etc 

• If not used as a school, would Sea Cadets be interested in Cole Street 
as a building? 

• Our school has the best dinners 

Page 71



• Birkenhead has had it’s heart systematically ripped out by successive 
Councils, you should leave us alone 

People allied to St Laurence’s Catholic Primary 
School 

Falling rolls 

• Numbers would improve if school was publicised more 

• Less children are being born 

• Lots of demolition in the area 

• Numbers are low 

• If parents had known this was coming, maybe they would have sent 
their children here 

• Government says “have a career” so of course people have less 
children 

• Why didn’t extra children (above capacity) at Our Lady and St Edwards 
come here rather than building extra classrooms there? 

Staff and Standards 

• Provides good education 

• Small school means more one to one time for children 

• Teachers are great, go above and beyond the call of duty 

• Fun approach to learning 

• Smaller classes means greater learning 

• Lots of sports, trips and activities 

• School works well with children with special needs 

• Is in an area of high deprivation 

• Some children do not have English as their first language 

• Small schools are just as capable of providing an effective education 

• Small schools can deliver the National Curriculum 

• Small schools have a good ethos 

• Inclusive school regardless of faith 

• A small school works because the staff make it work 

• Class sizes would be bigger in other schools 

• School represents Wirral in football and cricket 

• CVA is high, good standards 

• Nurturing school 

• Would quality of education be as good in other schools? 

Page 72



• One to one teaching 

Building and site 

• Children’s Centre satellite to St Werburghs 

• Could get another two small schools on this site with a good architect 

• Questions about land ownership 

Pupils 

• Children would miss their friends 

• Hard to make new friends in new school 

• Children would be upset if school closed 

• Pupils go on to do well in secondary school 

• My child is happy and settled here 

• Concerns about additional disruption for children with special needs 

• Would children get places in Catholic secondary schools if they went to 
non-Catholic primary schools? 

• Children get the nurturing here they don’t always get at home 

• Children always come back to see us when they’ve left for secondary 
school 

The Options 

• If closed, the Diocese and Local Authority would work together to 
ensure places at St Werburgh’s and Our Lady and St Edward’s for 
every child whose parents want them to go there 

• Best date for closure would be August 2010 

• Couldn’t you scale the school down by finding other uses for the rest of 
the building rather than close the school? 

• Why isn’t there an amalgamation option? 

• We were supposed to amalgamate with St Werburgh’s about 20 years 
ago and it never happened 

• Would be cheaper to keep St Laurence’s open rather than build places. 
Traffic and transport 

• Our Lady and St Edward’s is already full 

• Is the building work at Our Lady and St Edwards to take more children 
from St Laurences? 

Traffic and Transport 

• Concern about distance to alternative schools 

• Expect us to walk two miles in the rain 

• People won’t cross roads to get to school 

Page 73



Financial 

• It costs a lot to educate the children, but don’t they deserve it? 

• This is all about money 

• Council wants the land to build houses on 

• Can’t the Catholic Church provide funding to keep the school open? 

• Will the Diocese sell the land to the Council? 

The Process 

• This should be about children, not about statistics 

• Staff would like help from HR earlier in the process 

• Decision in January 2010 doesn’t give much time for staff to find 
alternative employment 

• You’ve already made a decision 

• Michael Clarke should be at the meeting 

Other comments 

• Generations have gone to this school 

• Parish church already closed – where did the funding go, was it to the 
school or the church 

• Centre of its community 

• Sports days and fairs get lots of visitors 

Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



APPENDIX 5 

Key points from DCSF guidance on School Re-organisation 

5a – Closure of maintained schools 

This would apply to the following options: 

 Closure of Cathcart Street Primary 

 Closure of Cole Street Primary 

 Closure of St Laurence’s Catholic Primary 

Who can propose the closure of a school? 

The LA can propose the closure of any school. 

Linked proposals 

If proposals are related to others they would be published together, for example, the 
proposed closure of Cathcart Street and Cole Street in order to amalgamate the two 
schools would be published with the proposal to establish a new primary school.  

Representations 

A six week representation period follows publication of notices. Representations are 
to be sent to the LA. 

Decision Makers 

This is either the LA, or the Schools Adjudicator. The Adjudicator’s decision is final 
but there are limited rights of appeal following LA decisions. 

The LA decision maker in Wirral is Council’s Cabinet. 

What if there are no objections? 

As long as the closure proposal was made by the LA, and there are no linked 
proposals which receive objections, the proposal can be determined by the LA 
Decision Maker within 2 months. Conditional approval cannot be given.  

There is no right of appeal to the decision. 

And if there are objections? 

If there are objections, or a proposal is linked to another which receives objections, 
proposals must be passed to the LA Decision Maker, who must make a decision 
within 2 months of the end of the representation period. 

In relation to primary school closures, conditional approval can be given in relation to: 

• Changes to admission arrangements at another school  

• The occurrence of any other condition with a specified date for any other 
school or proposed school 

The date for conditional approval is set by the Decision Maker, but can be extended 
before the expiry date if the proposer, i.e. LA, requests this modification. If the 
condition is not met by the specified date, the proposal must be considered afresh by 
the Decision Maker. 

If the proposals are not decided within 2 months, the proposal must be passed to the 
Schools Adjudicator with one week of the end of the 2 month period. 

Page 77



Who can appeal against an LA decision? 

Where objections have been received, the following bodies may appeal against the 
LA Decision Maker’s decision in relation to primary schools: 

• The Anglican Diocese of Chester 

• The Bishop of the Catholic Diocese of Shrewsbury  

• The governing body/trustees of a Foundation or Voluntary school that is 
proposed for closure. 

What happens if an appeal is made? 

Appeals must be submitted to the LA within 4 weeks of the notification of the LA’s 
decision. The LA then sends the proposal to the Schools Adjudicator within 1 week of 
receipt of the appeal. This includes any related proposals. 

What factors are taken into account by Decision Makers? 

These are the factors that must be examined: 

• Will the proposal raise local standards of provision, and lead to improved 
attainment for children and young people? Are attainment gaps likely to be 
narrowed?  

• Will SEN provision be improved, including wider school activities? Transport, 
funding, staffing and placement arrangements must be clearly stated. 

• For schools causing concern, a proposal to close the school in order to 
amalgamate it with a more successful and/or popular school, should normally 
be approved if there is evidence that this will have a positive impact on 
standards.  

• Proposals to close schools causing concern should be approved, subject only 
to checking that there will be sufficient accessible places of an acceptable 
standard available in the area to meet foreseeable demand and to 
accommodate the displaced pupils.  

• Local diversity, the range of schools in the area, the impact on the aspirations 
of parents and whether the proposal will help raise local standards and narrow 
attainment gaps. 

• Closure of schools with a religious character should not normally be approved 
where the proposal would result in a reduction in the proportion of 
denominational places in the area, unless the school concerned is severely 
under-subscribed, standards have been consistently low or where an infant 
and junior school (at least one of which has a religious character) are to be 
replaced by a new all-through primary school with the same religious 
character on the site of one on the predecessor schools. 

• Will the proposal help children achieve the Every Child Matters principles? 
This includes extended services, personal development, and support for 
children and young people with particular needs. 

• Is there sufficient capacity to accommodate displaced pupils taking into 
account likely future demand? The quality and popularity of schools with 
surplus places should be considered. 

Page 78



• Proposals to close schools with 25% or more unfilled places, and at least 30 
surplus places, where standards are low for the Authority, should normally be 
approved. For all other proposals, standards, geographical, social and 
community use should be considered.  

• Alternative sources of extended services 

• The effects of any other changes to school provision in the area 

• Accessibility planning, particularly for disadvantaged groups 

• Proposals should not unreasonably extend journey times or increase transport 
costs, or result in too many children being unable to walk or cycle to school.  

• Any sex, race or disability discrimination issues 

• If the school currently includes early years provision, whether alternative 
provision will integrate pre-school education with childcare and other services 
for young children and their families, and whether educational standards and 
access for parents will be maintained or enhanced at alternative provision, 
which could be private, voluntary or independent. 

• The Decision Maker should not simply take account of the numbers of people 
expressing a particular view when considering representations made on 
proposals. Instead the greatest weight should be given to representations from 
those stakeholders likely to be most directly affected by the proposals. 

What decisions can be made? 

The Decision Maker can decide to reject, approve, approve with a modification (such 
as the closure date) or conditionally approve (see above). A reason for the decision 
must be given. 

What if the proposal needs to be withdrawn? 

As long as the decision has not been made, the proposal can be withdrawn in writing 
by the proposer. 

What if the proposal needs to be modified after the decision has been made? 

The proposer must apply to the Decision Maker for a simple modification, such as a 
change to the date of implementation. 

More complicated changes which substantially change the nature of the proposal 
would require a revocation notice, followed by fresh proposals which then follow the 
statutory process. 

Approval of a revocation notice would only be given by the Decision Maker if 
circumstances have changed so substantially that implementation would be 
inappropriate, or if implementation of the original proposal would be unreasonably 
difficult. 

 

Page 79



5B– Establishment of a new maintained school 

This would apply to the following option: 

A3  Amalgamation of Cathcart Street Primary and Cole Street Primary to 
form a new school on an existing or a new site. 

Establishing a new school 

Most new schools are now expected to be established by a “competition” where the 
LA invites proposals to establish the new school.  

Alternatively, the LA must apply for consent from the Secretary of State to publish 
proposals for a new school without running a competition. This does not mean 
permission to establish a new school has been granted, and the proposal would be 
subject to the usual statutory process.  

Other proposers can also apply for the Secretary of State’s consent to publish 
proposals for a new school without a competition. 

Competition 

A competition is now required when the LA wishes to establish a new school.  

• The LA must invite proposals from potential providers 

• The LA can publish their own proposal as part of the competition 

Are there exemptions to a competition? 

The following do not require a competition: 

• A new Academy 

• New 16 to 19 provision, mainstream or special 

• A new Nursery School 

• Transferring an existing school to a new site 

• Rebuilding an existing school on its current site 

Who makes the decision? 

If the LA: 

• Has entered its own proposal 

• Is a member or has appointed a member of a proposed “Trust School” 

• Appoints a charity trustee of the foundation of a proposed “Trust School” 

• Exercises any voting rights or appoints a person with voting rights in the 
foundation of a proposed Trust school 

Then the decision maker is the Schools Adjudicator, which would be likely to be the 
case if the amalgamation option went ahead in Woodchurch.  

Who can appeal the decision? 

If the LA is the Decision Maker, there is no provision to appeal the decision. 

If the decision is not made within 2 months of the end of the representation period, 
the proposals must be referred to the Adjudicator. 

Page 80



The Adjudicator’s decision is final. 

The specification 

The LA decides the outline specification for the new school, including 

• Number of places 

• Age range including any early years provision 

• Mixed or single sex 

• Admission number 

• Location, playing field provision and transport links 

• Opening date 

• Estimated capital costs and funding sources 

• Provision for pupils with SEN 

• The area and community to be served 

• Extended services or other community use 

• Preferred specialism (secondary) 

• Arrangements for transport and sustainable transport alternatives. 

Capital funding 

Regardless of the proposer who wins the competition, the LA must provide the total 
capital funding to invest in the new school, unless the proposer offers funding 
towards the project.  

The Primary Capital Strategy for Wirral has been approved by Cabinet and by the 
DCSF. The first two years funding have been allocated mainly to projects arising 
from Phase 3 of the Primary Places Review - replacing the building of Park Primary 
School, and building a new primary school in Pensby. This sets a precedent, and a 
new primary school building in North Birkenhead could be considered as a priority for 
a future year of the 14 year programme. 

If a new Voluntary Aided school wins the competition, the governing body are 
responsible for funding 10% of capital costs. 

Sites 

The LA must identify the proposed site, although proposers may put forward 
proposals to establish the school on a different site. 

If the approved proposal is for a new Foundation, Trust, or Voluntary Controlled 
school, the LA must provide the school site and convey their interest to the governing 
body or Trustees. For Aided schools, the LA must provide playing fields, and may 
choose to assist the proposer with the site, although the onus is on the provider. 

The use of existing buildings should be considered on value for money 
considerations. 

New housing 

Page 81



A Section 106 agreement can sometimes be negotiated where the developer bears 
all or part of the costs of a new school. A competition must still be run, and the 
winner has input into the design and specification of the school. 

What are the stages of competition? 

1 Consultation, including on any linked closures – recommended minimum of 
6 weeks, no upper limit, including at least one public meeting. Followed by: 

Invitation to bid (notice published) 

2 Proposer engagement and submission of proposals – minimum of four 
months from invitation to bid 

3 Publication of proposals (notice published) and promotion of public 
awareness – within 3 weeks of the expiry date for submitting proposals. 
Any linked closure proposals would be published at the same time. 

4 Representations – 6 weeks, with a public meeting within the first 2 weeks 

5 Decision – within 2 months of end of representation period (LA) or 
whenever (Adjudicator) 

6 Implementation – as specified in the proposal notice 

Does this mean we would need to consult again? 

Probably. The statutory consultation needs to cover the specific location and 
specification of the new school, which has not been the case in the recent 
consultation. Preliminary consultation to consider a range of options, and/or 
principles, for a possible reorganisation, is not regarded as the statutory period of 
consultation.  

Advertising for proposers 

The DCSF appoints mandatory consultants to market the competition, place adverts 
and act as a first point of contact. When potential proposers have been identified, the 
consultants will hold a seminar to provide advice to proposers. 

The LA has the opportunity to attend the seminar and to take part in the question and 
answer sessions. 

How does the LA submit a proposal for a community school? 

Wirral has an APA rating of 3. Consequently, after the invitation to bid, the LA must 
apply to the Secretary of State for permission to submit a proposal for a community 
school within the competition. 

Would consent be given? 

Each application would be considered on its merits. Guidance indicates that consent 
may be given in the following circumstances: 

• There is a higher than average number of Academies, voluntary or foundation 
schools and there are few or no schools in special measures within the 
authority;  

• There is a clear case that a community school would build on existing diversity 
in the area. Diversity includes specialisms as well as ethos.  

Page 82



The following factors will be considered by the Secretary of State in considering 
applications for consent:  

• The diversity (including distinct character and ethos) of provision within the 
area 

• The views of interested parities e.g. parents and the local community;  

• Whether the proposals will contribute to raising standards: taking into 
consideration performance across the LA and local schools;  

• The range of curricular specialisms to be offered by the proposed community 
school and within the authority.  

• Whether the core offer of extended services will be provided and if there will 
be a varied menu of interesting activities.  

In what circumstances can a school be established without a competition? 

The amalgamation option in North Birkenhead does not fall into any of the exempt 
categories.  

Consequently, permission not to hold a competition must be sought from the 
Secretary of State.  

When will the Secretary of State give consent to not hold a competition?  

Guidance indicates that consent might be given in the following circumstances: 

• Straightforward amalgamations of infant and junior schools where a 
replacement primary school is proposed. 

• Where there is to be a reorganisation of religious schools in the area, and 
schools with a particular religious character are to be replaced by schools with 
the same religious character 

• Where an independent proposer proposes a new school to increase diversity 
in the area, rather than in response to an LA’s need to reorganise. 

The following factors will be considered by the Secretary of State in considering 
applications for consent in the case of new primary schools:  

• The contribution the school would make to levels of local diversity i.e. 
including the range of categories, specialisms, size etc;  

• The prospect of other proposer interest if a competition were run (this factor 
will apply in the case of applications from the LA only);  

• Local standards i.e. the standards achieved by existing schools and the 
performance of the LA in delivering children’s services (this factor will apply in 
the case of applications from the LA only);  

• Urgency for the new school to be in place and the impact of the competition 
process; and  

• Any views expressed by interested parties e.g. parents and the local 
community.  

Page 83



Who would be the Decision Maker if there is no competition? 

The decision would be made by the Adjudicator, since the new school proposal 
would include a bid from the LA to open either a community or a Foundation school.  

5C- Commentary on the recommended options 

Closure proposals 

Options A1, A2 and B would be ultimately decided by the LA Decision Maker. If 
necessary, conditional approval can be given in relation to events at other schools, 
such as gaining planning permission approval. 

Referral to the Adjudicator on a closure decision on options A1 and A2 can only be 
made on appeal by the two Diocesan Authorities, should they choose to do so. For 
Option B, the two Diocesan Authorities or governing body of St Laurence’s Catholic 
Primary School can refer the decision to the Adjudicator, if they choose to do so. 

New school proposals 

In this case, the LA would apply to the Secretary of State for consent to publish 
proposals without a competition. The linked proposals to close existing schools and 
open a new school would then follow the usual processes and all three would 
ultimately be decided by the Schools Adjudicator. 

If consent to establish without a competition is denied and a competition must be 
held, the LA would need to consult once again on the amalgamation option.  

The LA could then apply for consent from the Secretary of State to enter a proposal 
for a community school into the competition. If this consent is not received, the LA 
can still enter a proposal to establish a new Foundation school into the competition.  

In either situation, the decision maker would be the Adjudicator. If the new school is a 
Foundation school, the site and buildings would be conveyed to the Foundation 
governors or Trustees, while any capital costs would still be met by the LA.  

Page 84



APPENDIX 6 
 

Standards at the end of Key Stage 2  
  
  

DATA  
  
  
This report contains information about 2008 Key Stage 2 results.  
  
Actual Results  
  
The % attainment of the cohort at Levels 4+ and 5+ for English, mathematics and 
science.  
For benchmarking purposes, a table showing Wirral and England Average 
Results are shown.   
  
Fischer Family Trust Estimates  
  
Fischer Family Trust (FFT) is an independent organization which produces 
National data used by schools and LAs to support education. Estimates of 
potential attainment are provided based on pupils’ own prior attainment 
(Estimate A), and pupils’ prior attainment plus social context factors such as 
school’s Free School Meal data (Estimate B, ‘similar’ schools).  Use of the two 
estimates allows the impact of school context to be included in any discussion. 
The figures show the estimated result that a school should attain at the end of 
Key Stage 2 based on the results of that cohort’s Key Stage 1 results.   
The source of the FFT estimates used in this document is June 2008 FFT DB 
v12.08. 
  
Actual Results Minus Fischer Family Trust Estimates  
  
Subtracting the FFT estimate from the actual result gives an indication of how 
well a school has performed based on:  
• all schools nationally  the Actual minus FFT A  
• all ‘similar’ schools nationally the Actual minus FFT B  
 
This is a value-added measure as it can be used to determine how well a school 
has performed related to national prior attainment figures.  
  
DCSF Performance Table Figures  
  
The DCSF publish annual tables which show data for Wirral Schools. The data 
includes Contextual Value Added and coverage indicators.  
  
What is meant by value added?  
  
Raw test results tell us whether pupils have scored above or below expected 
national levels. They do not tell us whether a pupil has made more progress than 
expected from one Key Stage 1 to Key Stage 2.   

Page 85



  
The progress schools help individuals to make relative to their different starting 
points is usually referred to as value added (VA). Value added measures are 
intended to allow more relevant comparisons between schools with different pupil 
intakes.  
  
For example, pupils attending school ‘A’ may achieve results in Key Stage 2 tests 
above the expected national level while pupils at school ‘B’ achieve below.  
However, in value added terms, the pupils at school ‘B’ may have made more 
progress than other pupils relative to their Key Stage 1 starting point and, 
therefore, have a higher value added.  
  
If the value added score is between 99 and 101 then pupils in the school are 
making progress in line with national expectations.  
  
Other factors will have an impact on a school’s VA score. The performance 
tables use the measures of coverage and mobility to indicate where a VA score 
may be unrepresentative.  
  
Contextual Value Added (CVA) is not very different from VA. The basic principle 
of measuring progress from the KS1 to KS2 remains the same. However, a 
number of other factors which are outside a school's control, such as gender, 
special educational needs, movement between schools, and family 
circumstances, are also known to affect pupils' performance. 
 
CVA therefore goes a step further than VA by taking these factors into account 
and thus gives a much fairer measure of the effectiveness of a school.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 86



 Key Stage 2 2008 results by school 

ENGLISH  

  Level 4+  Level 5+  

DCSF  School  Actu
al  

FFT 
A  

FFT 
B  

Actual  FFT 
A  

FFT 
B  

2275 Bidston Avenue Primary 83 85 83 28 31 27 

2261 Cathcart Street Primary 100 87 83 29 31 25 

2262 Cole Street Primary 69 58 54 15 14 11 

3368 Holy Cross Catholic Primary 70 79 74 10 23 18 

3367 Our Lady St Edward’s Catholic  76 75 71 17 21 17 

2249 Portland Primary 64 66 63 23 21 16 

3370 St Laurence’s Catholic Primary 79 64 60 21 20 17 

3366 The Priory CE Primary 85 83 80 23 29 23 

3372 St Werburgh’s Catholic Primary 89 80 77 22 29 20 

 

MATHS 

  Level 4+  Level 5+  

DCSF  School  Actu
al  

FFT 
A  

FFT 
B  

Actual  FFT 
A  

FFT 
B  

2275 Bidston Avenue Primary 68 79 77 22 29 27 

2261 Cathcart Street Primary 76 79 75 18 29 26 

2262 Cole Street Primary 38 49 46 8 10 9 

3368 Holy Cross Catholic Primary 60 74 71 13 27 23 

3367 Our Lady St Edward’s Catholic  79 73 70 17 23 19 

2249 Portland Primary 68 62 59 32 21 18 

3370 St Laurence’s Catholic Primary 86 69 66 43 22 19 

3366 The Priory CE Primary 81 79 76 35 28 24 

3372 St Werburgh’s Catholic Primary 89 79 65 22 28 19 

 
SCIENCE 

  Level 4+  Level 5+  

DCSF  School  Actu
al  

FFT 
A  

FFT 
B  

Actual  FFT 
A  

FFT 
B  

2275 Bidston Avenue Primary 88 92 90 47 46 42 

2261 Cathcart Street Primary 94 92 90 27 45 38 

2262 Cole Street Primary 77 73 69 15 21 17 

3368 Holy Cross Catholic Primary 77 88 85 33 40 33 

3367 Our Lady St Edward’s Catholic  90 85 82 38 37 30 

2249 Portland Primary 91 79 76 41 33 27 

3370 St Laurence’s Catholic Primary 93 81 78 43 32 27 

3366 The Priory CE Primary 88 90 88 46 44 37 

3372 St Werburgh’s Catholic Primary 89 90 83 33 44 32 

 

Page 87



Key Stage 2 2008 Actuals and FFT Value Added Scores  

ENGLISH  

    Level 4+  Level 5+  

DCSF  School  Act
ual  

- FFT 
A 

- FFT 
B 

Actu
al  

- FFT 
A  

- FFT 
B 

2275 Bidston Avenue Primary 83 -2 0 28 -3 1 

2261 Cathcart Street Primary 100 13 17 29 -2 4 

2262 Cole Street Primary 69 11 15 15 1 4 

3368 Holy Cross Catholic Primary 70 -9 -4 10 -13 -8 

3367 Our Lady St Edward’s Catholic  76 1 5 17 -4 0 

2249 Portland Primary 64 -2 1 23 2 7 

3370 St Laurence’s Catholic Primary 79 15 19 21 1 4 

3366 The Priory CE Primary 85 2 5 23 -6 0 

3372 St Werburgh’s Catholic Primary 89 9 12 22 -7 2 

 

MATHS 

    Level 4+  Level 5+  

DCSF  School  Act
ual  

- FFT 
A 

- FFT 
B 

Actu
al  

- FFT 
A  

- FFT 
B 

2275 Bidston Avenue Primary 68 -11 -9 22 -7 -5 

2261 Cathcart Street Primary 76 -3 1 18 -11 -8 

2262 Cole Street Primary 38 -11 -8 8 -2 -1 

3368 Holy Cross Catholic Primary 60 -14 -11 13 -14 -10 

3367 Our Lady St Edward’s Catholic 79 6 9 17 -6 -2 

2249 Portland Primary 68 6 9 32 11 14 

3370 St Laurence’s Catholic Primary 86 17 20 43 21 24 

3366 The Priory CE Primary 81 2 5 35 7 11 

3372 St Werburgh’s Catholic Primary 89 10 24 22 -6 3 

 
SCIENCE 

    Level 4+  Level 5+  

DCSF  School  Act
ual  

- FFT 
A 

- FFT 
B 

Actu
al  

- FFT 
A  

- FFT 
B 

2275 Bidston Avenue Primary 88 -4 -2 47 1 5 

2261 Cathcart Street Primary 94 2 4 27 -18 -11 

2262 Cole Street Primary 77 4 8 15 -6 -2 

3368 Holy Cross Catholic Primary 77 -11 -8 33 -7 0 

3367 Our Lady St Edward’s Catholic  90 5 8 38 1 8 

2249 Portland Primary 91 12 15 41 8 14 

3370 St Laurence’s Catholic Primary 93 12 15 43 11 16 

3366 The Priory CE Primary 88 -2 0 46 2 9 

3372 St Werburgh’s Catholic Primary 89 -1 6 33 -11 1 

Page 88



 
Wirral and National Figures  

English  Maths  Science    

Level 4+  Level 5+  Level 4+  Level 5+  Level 4+  Level 5+  

Wirral  85 33 79 32 91 49 

England  80 29 78 31 88 43 

Performance Table Data 2008 

DCSF  School  CVA SCORE  

2275 Bidston Avenue Primary 100.2 

2261 Cathcart Street Primary 99.9 

2262 Cole Street Primary 100.1 

3368 Holy Cross Catholic Primary 99.4 

3367 Our Lady St Edward’s Catholic Primary 100.6 

2249 Portland Primary 101.4 

3370 St Laurence’s Catholic Primary 101.4 

3366 The Priory CE Primary 100.9 

3372 St Werburgh’s Catholic Primary 101.0 

 
Blue shading indicates below the expected rate of progress, green indicates the expected rate of 
progress, and pink above the expected rate of progress. 

 

SUMMARY 

Cathcart Street Primary School 
  
There were 17 pupils in the 2008 Year 6 cohort at Cathcart Street Primary, with 
each child being represented as 5.9%.    
  
Results at Cathcart Street Primary in English L4+ and Science L4+ are above the 
Wirral and national averages. In English and Science L5 and in Maths at both 
levels, results are below both the Wirral and national averages. 
  
Actual results for English L4+ and Science L4+ are above both FFT estimates A 
and B. In Maths L4+ actual results are below FFTA but above FFT B. At L5 
actual results are below FFT A and FFT B for Maths and Science, while in 
English, they are below FFTA, but above FFT B. 
 
The Performance Table overall value added score of 99.9 indicates that pupils at 
Cathcart Street Primary School are making the expected rate of progress.   
 
Cole Street Primary School 
  
There were 13 pupils in the 2008 Year 6 cohort at Cole Street Primary School, 
with each child being represented as 7.7%.    
 
Results at Cole Street Primary in all core subects at L4+ and L5 are below both 

Page 89



the Wirral and national averages.  
  
Actual results in English L4+ and L5, and in Science L4+  were above FFT A and 
FFT B. In Maths L4+ and L5, and in Science L5 actual results were below both 
FFT A and FFT B.  
 
The Performance Table overall value added score of 100.1 indicates that pupils 
at Cole Street Primary School are making the expected rate of progress.   
  
St Laurence’s Catholic Primary School 
  
There were 14 pupils in the 2008 Year 6 cohort at St Laurence’s Catholic 
Primary, with each child being represented as 7.1%.    
  
Results at St Laurences in English L4+ and L5 are below both the Wirral and 
national averages. Results in Maths L4+ and L5 and in Science L4+ are above 
the Wirral and national averages, while Science L5 is equal to the national 
average but below the Wirral average. 
  
In all three core subjects, results at L4+  and L5 were above both FFT A and FFT 
B.  
 
The Performance Table overall value added score of 101.4 shows that pupils at 
St Laurences Catholic Primary School are making above the expected rate of 
progress.  

 
 
 

Page 90



APPENDIX 5B 
  

OFSTED 
  

The following are extracts from the most recent Ofsted report  
  
Cathcart Street Primary School (2006) 
  
Cathcart Street Primary is a good school. It enables its pupils to achieve well 
overall. Pupils are happy and behave well. They have positive attitudes to their 
work and know how to lead healthy lives. From very low standards on entry, 
pupils make good progress overall and leave Year 6 with broadly average 
standards. Children in the Foundation Stage and pupils with average ability in 
Years 1 to 6 make consistently good progress as a result of good teaching. The 
very good teaching and high quality support provided for pupils with learning 
difficulties and/or disabilities enable them to make outstanding progress. In Years 
3 to 6, more able pupils achieve as well as they should in English but not in 
mathematics and science: this is because the work set for them in mathematics 
and science is not challenging enough. Attendance is unsatisfactory and the 
achievement of the most frequent absentees is depressed as a result. The 
punctuality of a minority of pupils is unsatisfactory. 
The well planned and enriching curriculum, together with the consistently good 
level of care and support provided, make significant contributions to pupils' 
enjoyment of learning, their good personal development and their good 
achievement. The quality of teaching is good. As a result, pupils find their work 
fun and interesting. They know what to do to improve because the school has 
successful strategies for assessing their learning and sharing this information 
with them. A good range of out of class activities, such as music and sports 
clubs, is supported strongly by pupils and contributes well to their good personal, 
social and cultural development. 
Leadership and management are good. The school's view of itself is accurate. 
Last year, managers reacted quickly and effectively to a drop in standards and 
morale caused by a series of unavoidable disruptions to the smooth running of 
the school. There has been a marked improvement this year in standards, 
achievement and morale because of the measures taken. The school's capacity 
to improve is good because of the strides it has made since the last inspection, 
the effective action it has taken to address weaknesses and the good quality of 
its plans for the future. It provides good value for money. 

Cole Street Primary School (2009) 
  
The school provides a satisfactory education for its pupils.  
Pupils' spiritual, moral, social and cultural development and their overall personal 
development are satisfactory. Pupils are well mannered and friendly and their 
behaviour is generally good. They are attentive in lessons and keen to learn, 
especially when there are practical activities. Attendance is broadly average. 
Pupils have a good understanding of what it takes to maintain a healthy lifestyle 
and are proud of their Activemark and Health Promoting School awards. The 
school council ensures that everyone has a voice in school affairs and 

Page 91



successfully negotiates improvements such as better playground facilities. Pupils 
feel safe in school and know that adult help is there, when needed. 
They are keen to take on responsibilities and contribute well to the community 
through fundraising for local and international charities and, for example, 
entertaining local groups at Christmas. Projects such as helping to organise stalls 
at the school fair and raising funds towards the cost of their school trips help 
pupils to prepare satisfactorily for their future economic well-being. 
Pupils achieve satisfactorily overall. On entering the Early Years Foundation 
Stage, children's skills are very low in relation to expectations for their age. They 
make satisfactory progress as they move through the school. Currently, 
standards at Key Stage 1 are well below average. This shows some 
improvement over the exceptionally low standards indicated by the national 
assessments in 2008. Teaching in Key Stage 1 has been strengthened and is 
bringing about better progress. Standards in Year 6 currently are broadly 
average overall but this has not been consistent over time. School assessment 
data for 2008 show improvements in English and science but there was a dip in 
mathematics. The school recognises that mathematics standards throughout the 
school are too low. 
The quality of teaching and learning is satisfactory. Teachers are responding well 
to recent professional development but overall, the quality of teaching and 
consequently, pupils' progress are inconsistent. Lesson planning is satisfactory 
and learning objectives build well on what pupils already know. Teachers are 
beginning to use assessments more effectively to speed up progress. The 
curriculum enables pupils to achieve adequately in most subjects. They achieve 
well in sports and physical education. The increased emphasis on writing is 
showing positive results and mathematics is now well targeted throughout the 
school.  
Leadership and management are satisfactory. The school has risen to the 
demands brought about by local changes and needs to ensure every child 
receives the pastoral care and support they require. There is a renewed vision 
and strong commitment to improving achievement and standards. The 
headteacher, supported by senior leaders, has steered the school through a 
period of instability in staffing. She has gained the confidence of all staff in 
enlisting the support of the local authority. Albeit recent, this is already showing 
signs of success in more effective teaching and better pupils' progress. Targets 
have been raised to reflect higher expectations. Systems for checking pupils' 
academic progress have been intensified to give clearer guidance for target-
setting. This is a very inclusive school which amply demonstrates its commitment 
to equality of opportunity and the elimination of discrimination. The school 
promotes community cohesion well. Governors know the school well. They 
provide challenge and support in equal measure. Finances are managed 
efficiently to provide satisfactory value for money. Currently, the school has 
satisfactory capacity to improve further. 
 
St Laurence’s Catholic Primary School (2008) 
 
This is a good school in which pupils achieve well both academically and in their 
personal development. The staff know each pupil very well and relate well to 
them. As a result pupils feel safe, secure and happy in school. Teachers and 

Page 92



other adults provide extensive support to individuals or small groups of pupils, 
which is very effective in enabling them to catch up or extend their learning. 
From starting points which are generally well below those expected for their age 
children make good progress in the EYFS. Nonetheless, by the time they start 
Year 1 pupils' skills and knowledge remain below national expectations. The 
school recognises this and provides useful extra opportunities for some pupils in 
Year 1 to join the Reception children in the afternoon to reinforce basic skills. The 
good start pupils make in the EYFS is built on satisfactorily in Key Stage 1. By 
the end of Year 2 standards remain below average, with some weaknesses 
evident in the standard of pupils' writing skills. Pupils make good progress in Key 
Stage 2, especially in Year 5 and Year 6, in response to high quality teaching 
and the extra support they receive. These factors enable them to make 
especially good gains in their reading and mathematical skills. Older pupils 
demonstrate considerable keenness for mathematical reasoning, show 
perseverance in problem-solving and develop secure calculation skills. By the 
end of Year 6 pupils have done well to reach average standards in English, 
mathematics and science overall, but standards in writing remain a little below 
average. Pupils have few good opportunities in subjects other than English to 
enthuse them for writing and to reinforce this skill. Pupils with learning difficulties 
and/or disabilities make the same good progress as their class-mates.  
Pupils' personal development is good. Pupils enjoy school and relate well to each 
other. They have a good understanding of healthy lifestyles and make good use 
of opportunities at play-times and in sporting activities both before and after 
school to take plenty of exercise. Pupils have a good awareness of how to stay 
safe and behave well in and around school. They have good opportunities to 
support each other and to contribute to the school and the wider community, for 
example, as school councillors and monitors. A key feature of this good sense of 
community is the innovative weekly pastoral care sessions which allow pupils of 
all ages to be taught a wide range of topics together in one class. Older pupils 
say they enjoy developing social and emotional skills this way through working 
with and helping out the younger ones. The school has many initiatives in place 
to promote attendance, which has been stubbornly low for several years. Despite 
a small improvement this term, this remains inadequate and shortfalls in 
attendance affect the progress of some pupils. The school's support programmes 
go some way to reducing the negative impact on pupils' learning. The good 
academic progress most pupils make in Key Stage 2 helps to raise their self-
esteem and confidence, which sets them up well for later life. 
The curriculum makes a good contribution to pupils' learning. It promotes pupils' 
personal development well through the pastoral care sessions and a good range 
of visitors, such as the Kerbcraft team and the Life Education Bus, which provide 
useful advice on how pupils can stay safe. Pupils enjoy the good opportunities 
they have to extend their learning by visiting local museums and the Eureka 
science centre. The school has a satisfactory but interesting range of extra-
curricular activities, including healthy cooking sessions. Extensive attention to the 
individual needs of pupils with learning difficulties and/or disabilities, and those at 
an early stage of learning to speak English, ensure these pupils make good 
progress. 
The school has very effective liaison with outside agencies to remove or reduce 
barriers to learning for pupils with identified needs. Relevant required procedures 
are in place for child protection, safeguarding pupils and health and safety. 

Page 93



School leaders track pupils' progress closely, which enables them to identify 
individual needs at an early stage and take the appropriate actions. Targets for 
pupils' progress in Key Stage 2 are regularly reviewed and frequently adjusted 
upwards to reflect the good progress they make over the key stage and to raise 
their expectations.  
The quality of teaching and learning is good. Teachers manage pupils well and 
relate well to them. In the best lessons, expectations of pupils' behaviour and 
progress are high and lessons are planned very effectively to meet the needs of 
all pupils in the mixed-age classes. Teachers challenge pupils well to develop 
their thinking skills and use a good range of assessment 
techniques, including oral feedback and detailed marking, to help pupils keep up 
and improve their work. Writing frames and examples of model answers are used 
well to guide pupils on how to structure their work. In some lessons where these 
exemplary features are less evident the pace of learning drops. 
The school benefits from good quality leadership and management. The acting 
headteacher and his senior leadership team are highly experienced practitioners. 
They possess the good range of complementary skills required to guide the 
school through the present uncertainties, due to pressures on the school budget 
caused by the falling roll. They are taking effective measures to integrate new 
teachers into the work of the school. Governance is satisfactory in ensuring 
statutory requirements are met, but governors have still to fully develop their role 
as critical friends to the school. The school has maintained the good quality of 
provision since its previous inspection. 

Page 94



APPENDIX 7 

ISSUES CONCERNED WITH SIZE AND VIABILITY 

 

7A In Pursuit of Excellence 

Wirral Headteachers and Primary Team, School Effectiveness 

September 2004 

The following notes are an extract from the policy document ‘In Pursuit of 
Excellence’ which was developed with all Headteachers of Infant, Junior, Primary 
and Primary Special schools through consultations and consideration at the 
termly day conferences, over the academic year 2003-4. It was presented to 
Select Committee on 18 October 2004. Further work is planned to ensure that 
the five outcomes from The Children Bill, workforce reforms and the enriched 
primary curriculum are all firmly embedded. 

The extract considers the issues relating to funding, staffing and resourcesin 
developing an effective and viable primary school. 

Principles of effective and viable primary schools (page 7-8) 

Schools have been given more autonomy over their budgets for some 
considerable time; the government now proposes to provide financial stability 
through agreeing three-year budgets. This will allow for more effective decisions 
to be made on a long-term basis around the school improvement agenda and the 
needs of the community, in relation to the unique context of each school. 

It follows that there needs to be a range of staff employed e.g Headteacher, 
Deputy Headteacher, teachers and support staff who may include: learning 
mentors, cover supervisors, Higher Teaching Level Assistants, other classroom 
assistants, bursars, clerical assistants, cleaners, caretakers, grounds/security 
staff, cooks, lunchtime supervisors, specialist coaches and instructors. 

It then follows that funding should be differentially used on staffing and resources 
to meet the needs and aspirations of each school, thus allowing for flexibility and 
creativity in delivering an excellent primary curriculum. 

There is broad agreement that the Foundation Stage, Key Stage 1 and Key 
Stage 2 should stand-alone and that while cross-Key Stage grouping significant 
level of planning and intensive teaching input. There is also broad agreement 
that vertical grouping (mixed aged teaching) can be effectively deployed within 
Key Stages. The table below gives examples of how vertical grouping could be 
organised. 

 

 

 

 

Page 95



Examples of pupil groupings within a primary school 

 No mixed 
age teaching 

Some mixed age teaching Maximum 
mixed age 
teaching 

Foundation 
30 30 30 30 

1 
30 30 30 

2 
30 30 30 

30 

3 
30 

4 
30 

 30 30 30 

5 
30 30 

6 
30 30 

30 30 

Total Size 
210 180 150 120 

In order for a school to be viable and efficient, the number of pupils on roll will 
impact on the decisions made regarding staffing levels and organisation of the 
curriculum. 

In principle, in order for a single form of entry school to be viable and efficient, 
the number of pupils on roll should be within the range of 180 and 210.  

However, this range of numbers is only intended as a guide and should be 
considered alongside the other factors. 

Other issues to be considered when establishing an effective and efficient 
primary school within a learning community include: 

• the possibility of federation and amalgamation to ensure that community 
and faith needs are met; 

• innovative use of staff across two sites; 

• flexible delivery and use of curriculum time, with some part time staff to 
meet planning, preparation and assessment (PPA) time; 

• sufficient space within school buildings to allow for multi-agency working 
and for staff to undertake planning, preparation and assessment (PPA) 
activities; 

.• appropriate areas to be identified for teaching; meetings; quiet areas 
and deployment of space to help with behaviour strategies; 

• that children should have access to a school that is no further than 2 
miles from where they live; 

• that schools are well placed within communities; 

Page 96



• that due consideration is given to parental choice. 

7b) SMALL SCHOOLS : HOW WELL ARE THEY DOING? 

A report by OFSTED based on the data from Inspections and national 

test results. 

OFSTED March 2000 

There follows a series of relevant quotations: 

Following the completion of the four – year cycle of Ofsted inspections, and the 
National Curriculum test results in the core subjects at both key stages a 
comparison of achievements and the quality of education of small schools with 
larger schools has been completed. 

We have defined a small school as one with fewer than 100 pupils on roll and 
have subdivided this group to create a “very small” category where the number 
on roll is fifty or less. 

Small schools are able to cope with the demands of teaching the full National 
Curriculum. It is a tribute to the commitment of teachers in small schools that, by 
and large, they are able to teach the full range of knowledge, skills and 
understanding required by every subject in the National Curriculum. 

Teachers in small schools work hard to make sure that their teaching is not 
impaired by a lack of subject knowledge; they are also extremely adept at 
harnessing the skills of other adults who can complement the expertise of the 
permanent staff. 

The mixed-aged classes that larger schools prefer to avoid are, of course, 
unavoidable in small schools. The teaching in small schools can be just as 
effective as in larger schools, although it is a particular challenge to provide a 
high quality experience for the youngest pupils.  

The teaching of under-fives is least effective where this age group is a small 
minority in a mixed age class of mostly older pupils. Teachers find it hard to 
provide work suitable for the youngest pupils, working towards the Desirable 
Learning Outcomes, while at the same time meeting the needs of other pupils 
who have progressed well into the National Curriculum Programmes of Study. 

Small schools usually have smaller classes, a factor which works in the teacher’s 
favour to offset some of the problems of teaching a wide age range, particularly 
at Key Stage 1. The teachers also know their pupils very well, often teaching 
them for more than one year, and by working with small groups there is plenty of 
scope to achieve a good balance of direct teaching and independent working. 

Where teaching is weak, the planning often fails to take account of the wide 
range of age and attainment in the class and the work is not sufficiently 
challenging. The potential impact of a weak teacher on the progress of the pupils 
in a small school can be much greater than a large school; the problem is 
especially acute in a very small school where a teacher will stay with the same 
pupils for two or more years. 

Page 97



A significantly greater number than might have been expected on purely 
statistical grounds have been in the top 100 each year, and this does not include 
those successful very small schools with Y6 cohorts of less than 11 and whose 
results were not published. 

At the other end of the scale, there were more small schools than would be 
expected in the table of the lowest scoring schools. Again, these numbers do not 
include the very small schools, but the presence of some of these in the serious 
weakness and special measures categories would increase the number of small 
schools in the bottom 100. The number of very small schools in special 
measures was about three times as many as would be expected, and the 
number of very small schools with serious weaknesses was twice as many as 
expected. 

In summary: 

• The majority of small schools achieve standards which are higher than the 
national average at the age of 7 and 11. However, these standards are less than 
those achieved in larger schools when socioeconomic background is taken into 
account. The quality of education provided by small schools compares well with 
what is provided by larger schools; 

• While there are also many successful very small schools, this group is less 
effective in its provision for under-fives and is more vulnerable to the adverse 
influences of weak teaching and/or leadership; 

• Inspection evidence confirms that the traditional reasons for the popularity of 
successful small schools are well-established features of these schools today. 
They have a positive ethos with a family atmosphere, close links between staff 
and parents, an important place in the community, and good standards of 
behaviour; 

• The inspection evidence underlines the paramount of the headteacher in a 
small school. The head of a small school has a more than usually direct influence 
on the quality of teaching and standards achieved and this provides powerful 
opportunities to bring about change and improvement; 

• There is much from the first cycle of inspections to encourage those who work 
in small schools. Higher unit costs notwithstanding, a good case emerges for the 
for the place of small schools in the education system as a whole, when the 
quality of their educational performance is added to the broader contribution they 
make to their communities. 

OFSTED 2000 

Page 98



7c) Within the North Birkenhead area the number of pupils on roll and the 

projected numbers are: 

 2009 2014 

Bidston Avenue Primary School 411 401 

Cathcart Street Primary School 101 98 

Cole Street Primary School 124 111 

Holy Cross Catholic Primary School 182 183 

Our Lady and St Edwards Catholic Primary 
School 

249 290 

Portland Primary School 176 186 

St Laurence’s Catholic Primary School 75 55 

The Priory CE Primary School 208 195 

Birkenhead High Academy for Girls (Junior) 270 281 

 

Cathcart Street, Cole Street, Portland and St Laurence’s Catholic Primary 
Schools currently fall into the category of small schools as defined by the Wirral’s 
policy document, “In Pursuit of Excellence”, within the subsection “Principles of 
effective and viable primary schools”. Holy Cross Catholic Primary School and 
Portland Primary School are at the bottom of end what is considered a viable 
primary school according to the same policy document. 

The projected number of pupils in Cathcart Street Primary School, 98 on roll in 
2014, will not generate a level of funding that will give the flexibility to organise 
resources which will meet the needs of the school community and therefore it will 
be difficult to provide an excellent quality of education. 

The projected number of pupils in Cole Street Primary, 111 on roll in 2014, will 
not generate a level of funding that will give the flexibility to organise sufficient 
resources to meet the needs of the school community and therefore it will be 
difficult to provide an excellent quality of education. 

The projected number of pupils in St Laurence’s Catholic Primary, 55 on roll in 
2014 will not generate a level of funding that will give the flexibility to organise 
sufficient resources to meet the needs of the school community and therefore it 
will be difficult to provide an excellent quality of education. 

Page 99



Page 100

This page is intentionally left blank



��������
�

�������	
��������������
�

��������� ����������� ������������������

�
� ������������ ����� �����

!�"�#����
��"�#����
!�!��������
��$���	�
�

��%��&�����
'�����
(�)�����
(����*������
�

+�������������� ������������ !�,�����
(,�!�����
(������
�

+�%�-���
%�'������
!�.����
�

�
/01� 	��
�����

�
����2��������3����������2�����&����� ����*�����������*� ������4���
�
����������������������������������������������
�

/00� ��� �����!���!"�����������
�
����2�2 �����3������� �����-������#�����������������-����������	�������*�����������
*��5�������� ��������� ��������������-������	��3� ���� ���2����� �����&��������
� �3���
� ���
�������� ��� ���� ������ ���� ������� �3� ����� ��������4� � ���� 3����-��&� ������������� -����
2�����
�
6��� �2 ���� �3� ���� �� ����� ��������� �� *�������� ��������� ��� ������ 7�1� �6�����
���&�2����8*�������������2�2 �����*��3�(��������&�2������22������������9���
��������3����#����:�
�
����������� ������� $���	� ;� �� *�������� ��������� ��� ������ 7�/� �'�����&� ,<*������������
,�� ���&� ���� �	���2� ��� ����#��� 2�������	� �3� !�#���2���� ����&���� ���� ��� ����
�2*��	2���:�
�
�������������2������ ����� ;� �� *�������� ��������� ��������� 7�=� ���� ���'���������
��22��2�����������������2*��	2���:�
�
����������� ���#�� �������� ;� �� *��5�������� ��������� ��� ������ /��� �+�����2� �������&�
�����	�3���>�-�������&�"�#���*2�����������������2*��	2���:�
�
����������������"�#����;���*��������������������������/�/��.�����&�.������;�.�����&�
>��&� ��������� ������ ���� ��� ���� 2�2 �����*� �3� .������ ����*������� �����&��
!�#�����&�?��	�������������@�<�����#������������3�.���������
���*��������������������
������7����6����A���������2�6-�����;�'���22����������3���3�����&����09�������
��� ���� 2�2 �����*� �3� ������&� ������ A����� ���� ��22����	� ������� (�����
���&�2������22�����
�������*��������������������������7����"���#����&�+2*��#���

Page 101



�����2���3���#������ �����������
���3��2��� 	�������������B����������������#��-������
�������2�2 �����*��3�����?������3�����2������&�����:�
�
����������� !���&�� "�#���� ;� �� *�������� ��������� ��� ������ /��� ���������	� �������
'�#��-�� � �2������ ������������� �*������ 3��� ������ �� �������� ���� ������� �������
�*�����������������2�2 �����*��3�&�#�����&� �������3���������2���������-����������
��*���� ���� �� *�������� ��������� ��� ������ /�/� �.�����&� .������ ;� .�����&�
>��&� ��������� ������ ���� ��� ����2�2 �����*� �3�.������ ������	� 3��� ���� ?����� ����
*�������	���&����:�
�
����������� (���� ���*������ ;� �� *�������� ��������� ��������� 7��� �6���� A����� ����2�
6-�����;�'���22����������3���3�����&����09��������������2�2 �����*��3�������&�
������A�����������22����	��������(��������&�2������22�����:�����
�
���#������<
�����3�,<�����#��;���*��������������������������/�/��.�����&�.������;�
.�����&� >��&� ��������� ������ ���� ��� ���� 2�2 �����*� �3� .������ ����*�������
�����&�� !�#�����&� ?��	� ���� ������ 7�C� ������<����� ������������ ���� ��� ����
2�2 �����*��3�����?������3������<������!�����������	������%�2����4�
�

/0�� #�!$����� �!%����� �&�� �����"!�	���!�� !"� ��
 �� �!��� �
���'�����(�"������� ����
����
�
����"���������3�6��������#�������&���&��������2�2 ��������2 ����3�*��*�������������
��&�����&� 3��������� ��������33�����&� ����"�*���2�����3�6���������������#����4� ����	�
��������� ����� 6������ ��� ����:� 3���� *�	� ��� ��� '����������� D� >�����&� ��2��
�
��**������ %�#��&����#������ ����"�2�������	���������#������ ���� ���� �����3��� ��� ����
%�����6�������	��3�>���;�.�����������2��	�������������������&�3���%������&�"��� ����	�
���#����4���
�
����%�������3� ������������ ���������� ��������-���2������ ��� ����22������3�������3�
*���� �3� ���� ����22��������4� � ���� �� ����� �2 ��� 3��� ������� ����� ���� +���������
�������������������������E�������3���������3��2�������������2 ����3�2��������������&�
��� ������������ ���� ������&� ��2��� ���� 3���� ��� -��� �**��*������ ����� ���� 2������  ��
 ���&��� �������������<��2�����&��3������� ����4�
�
������������%��&�����2�#�������2���2���
����	�����������������-���@��
�
��������������
�
)*+� ,�����-��������"�����..��������������.�/�����.���������.����������
������� ��.���� .��� ����.�� ��� ������������ ��� %������ ,��� ���� .����.��� ����
������������������������0�
�
)1+� ,���� �-����� ��� ���������  ����-/� ��� ��2� 3*4�*5� ��� ����� ���� ��� ����
��������� ,��� ���� ����.���� ��2� ,����� �..��� ��� ��������� ���� -��� 4�
�����������.������������.�����.���,�������������,��������6�����%��7����
��������7���������������6������������������.�����������������������
������������6���������6�������-�1889:18*8��������,��7������.����������
��� .������������,���� ��������� ���� �6� ������ 6������ ���������� �� ����-��� ���
���������������6������������������������������.�����*�������18*8��
�

Page 102



)4+� ,�����-������������.�����2����/�������������;�����-�.�����.����������
���3*1������������� ����� )����18���.���������+�,�������,�.�����.�� �����
������������-�1889:18*8����.����.�*�������18*8�,���������������.����-�
��������������� ��6�������.�������������������������� �����,���������,����
�� ���.�� ,���� .�������� ����� �6��� ��� �..��� ��� ��������� ���� ����
.�����.���,���������������),����4�������<�����.+���
�
)=+� ,�����-����������������������������-�&���/������-�.�����������
������������������������6��6������������������������-�������������/�
��������.���6�������������6������������.�����6���������.��������.�����
������.������������ �������;������-��6� �������������9���������1889�,����
6������ ������� ��������-� ��� ���� ������ ��� ������� ������ �����-� ���
.���������������.��0�
�
)>+� ,�����-����������������6�������� �.�����������2��6�#�����2�����������
"�����-�6��� �����-����������2�����.���
�
)�+� ��� �������� �����6�� �6� 6�����-� �6� 3?/4>=/19?� ����� ��� ����.��� ,����
�.��� 6��� ��7��-� ������������2� 6��� ��� .��� �6� �� ������ �6� ����� ,����
������������.������2�6������2��&��%�����/����������0���
�
)�+� ��� �����2���� ���� ������������ �������� �� �.������� ���
�����������������������6����6����,��-��������������������������6���������
�����������������������������������������������������
�

•� "����.�(��*��.���.�����������!66�.��)�.���1(=+�31=/888�

•� �..����������������@�1���.����%��7�#�����391/888�

•� ������.���@�*�������.��!66�.��)#!*+�34A/888�
�

/��� %����B���C���$�������!��(��&����� �#�!D�����
�
����"�*��	�����3�,<�����#�9"���������3����*���������#�������3��2����� ������3�����
�������� �3� ���*������ +�#���2����B� ��#����� ����&�� *��*������ 3��� ���� ����� ���5���4�
�2 ���� -���� ��E������� ��� ��������� ���� ����&�� *��*������ ��� ���� �����<�� �3� ����
�������B����*���������3��� ������&�����������3���	���������.����$�� 	����-�����������
-������2 ��������3������������B��+�#���2����������&	4�����"�����������&��������������
3��2��� ��������-���������������������������**����3���������#�����*��*����� ��������
��������&����� 2�����4�+3��2 ����-������**����#���3�������#���������2������&�
���
3������� ��*����-����� ��  ���&��� ����� ����� �������6*���� ��� ��������������� 3���������
*����&��3�������*��5���
���������&��������������3��������*�������#���������������2����
��������2����-���������������2����*���������#�����3���2���	����.�������������4�
�
.��������*��2��������3����������
���"�&�������� ����3��3�.����$�� 	�.�����&�!���*
�
����������� (���� ����� ���� �� ?��-���� ���  ����3� �3� ���� ��#���*���� ���������� ����
�� ����4�
�
�����������!����!����������3�����������������������F���3�������#���*2�����������������
�3�����*�����&�*��#�����4� ������������!��������3���� ����� ��������&���3� ����������������
-���&���� ������������������-������������������ ������&�����������*���3��4�������������
!��������2�#�����2������-�����-������	���������4�
�
������ ������2 ���3���'�&���������������������&�������&	���**����������2�����4�

Page 103



�
���� "�*��	� %������ �3� ���� �������� ��3������ ��� ���� ��33������ *����*������ �3� ����
�������������*������� ��������� �����<*����������� ��E������������3����������� ������
2������4�
�
.���� ����*��2��������3� ���������
� ����%�������3� ����������#���#��!���*�����������
������ ����4�
�
��������(�����
�
)*+� ������� �.�-����� ����� ��� �6� ���7��-� 6��� �������� ���� ��.���
��������� ��� %��� B���2� ��� ,��� ��� ��� ��,�<�� ��������� ��� ��� ����������
.������������ ����� ��� ����� �6� ��� �������� ��������� ���� �-��������
�.�����������.�������������������6�������������2��6������,�0�
�
)1+� ����������������������������������������,�����.�����6���������������
��6���������-0�����
�
)4+� ��������.7��,��-��������6�����.����������.��,���������������E.��
������6���������,�������������.�������������6�������������������-�����
�������-����.���,��.��,������.��������������������.������7��-��
�

/��� ���!����C� ��&!! � ��'��%�� �	������ �!��
 ����!�� !#��!�� "!��
#&����*���&!! ��������&!! �����
��
#������
�
����"���������3���������B�����#�������#����������� ������3�*��&��������������������
6���� '�#��-� �3� ��������	� ������� *������ -����� ��2*������ �3� �������� ��� ����
?���������� ���� ?� ��&���� �����4� �����-��&� ����������� �������������� -����
������������
� ����*����2����	�������������-����*��������� �*������� 3������6����2	
�
���� ��*���� *��� 3��-���� 3������� ����22���������� 3��� ������������� �*������ ��� ����
?���������� ����4� +�� ����� *��#����� ��� �*����� ��� ������� ����&��� ��� ������� ������
�
��������&�������������	��3������B��������������?������������&���������3���!����4��
�
������ ������2 ��� 3�����������B�����#����� ���� %�3����&� %������&� ��3������ ��� ����
�����<�� �3� ���� ��#��-� ��� ���� ��&��� �3� 3�����&� ������� ������ ���� ����� ���� *������	� �3� ����
��#��-� -��� ��� ������ ����  ��� ��� ���2�� �3� ���������4� � ����������� ����� "�#���� �����
�������������������� �����-����� ���*�����������������	�3��������*��������������������
����������3������������������*������4�
�
���� %������ �3� ���� �������� ��3������ ��� ���� ��������� �3� ��� 6����2	� 3��� !����� ���
?���������� ���� E������� -������
� ��� ���� "�������B�� #��-
� ����� -��� ����  ���� -�	� �3�
2�����&� ���� �������B�� ���*������ � 5����#��� ��� ���2�� �3� �������&� ���E��������4� � ����
"���������3���������B�����#���������������������������&���3�2��������*��*�����-�����
�����3��2� ���� ���������� �<*�������� ��� ?���������4� � ���� %������ �3� ���� ��������
�<*���������������� ���� ���� 3�������3�'��&�-�	���&������������� ��������������3�
�������������������������4�
�
�������(������
�
)*+� ��� ������� 6��� .������������ ��� �.�����2� �.����� �(��-���������� ���
���7����� ���.��������6� ����������������6� �,��>� 6�����6����2�**� ���*?�

Page 104



�.������@���������-���;��.���2�6�����2����������������.��6����/�����
������������;���;��.���2������������6�#��7�&�-���.����0�
�
)1+� �������������������������,�������������.���������2�6��������������
����������������������6����.���������������.��0�
�
)4+� ���.����������7����.�,�������6�����2�C�����������-�����-���������
��� �6� ��� ���6�����2� #��2��-� "���� ���� ���� ����� .������������� ,���� ���
���E.�0�
�
)=+� ��� ���.���� �� -���� ���� �.����2� ��������2� ��� 6�������� �-������
,���� ��������� ��������/� ���� ��� .�(������ ,���� !��� ���� ���"� ���������
.����������� ��� �������� ��� ��� �������� �6� ������ ���� �;�������� �6� �������
�������6��.���2���������0�
�
)>+� ��� ���.���� �� ���������� ��� ��7� ���� �.����2� ����� ��� ����� ���
���.��������.��������6����,�/���.�����-�.�������������������.�������6�
���.������.�����/����6�������.��6�����,���.���2�������0�
�
)?+� �� ������ ��.�����-� ����;���������6� ������� ������-��� ���������� ���
������18890�
�
)A+� ����.���.���-���6��.������������������0�����
�
)5+� �������������������.��������6�����������������6�������7�����&�-��
�.���2� 6��� $����� 6���� ������� 1889� �� ����-��� ��� ������� ��� ������
1889��
�

�!
���  !����	!��&! ��!!B�����&���&����
�

/��� ������	�# �����$�#! ��C�"!����%�&!
���$���'� !#	�����
�
�2 ����-������2������������������������������*�������+�����2��������&������	�3���
>�-� ������&� "�#���*2���� ��� G��� ��� ���C� ��� 3����� ��-� ������&� ��#���*2����
-����������2 ����3�������3������&����������*������	���������������&�����>�-�����������
������&�������'���-�������3��������� ����
����G��� ������C
���������10���3����4�
�
�� ����� ��� =� >�#�2 ��� ���0� ����� �����#��� ����� ���� +�����2� �������&� �����	�  ��
��#��-���������*������������*� ����������3�����>�����.�����3�,�&����������'�&������
�*������������&	��������
�3����-��&����������2���3���3������2��&�*������&��**�������
'���	 ����'���
�����������������C1���3����4�
�
�������&�+��*�����������-����������**�������������
����'���	 ����'���
�������������
��� ?����3���� '���
� G<���
� ���� ���������� ����� ���� +�����2� �������&� �����	� -�����
������� ��� 2�����&� ���� � 5����#��� �3� ��� ���� ��-� '��
� -����� ���� ���� *���������� 3���
��#���*2���������������'�&���4������"�*��	�����3�,<�����#�9"���������3����*������
���#����� �����3���� ����22������ ����� ���� +�����2��������&������	� 3���>�-�������&�
"�#���*2���� ��������������������4�
�
�������� (� ����� ��� ������� #������-� #���.2� 6��� �,� &�����-� ���������
)!.����� 188>+� �� ������� �������� 6��� ��� ��� ��������-� �������-�
�����.��������

Page 105



�
�!
���  !�����'��"!
 B�������&���&����

�
/�/� %!�B��$�%���� �(�%!�B��$����$&�!
�&!!���"
����

�
�� ����� -��� ��E������� ��� �**��#�� ���� 3��������� ����22���������� �3� ���� .������
,����2���"�#���*2�������������������������*��.,"�����������+�#���2����?��������
������������.�����&�.������3�����&�������������������!�#���2����������-����3��2���
����.�����&�>��&� �������������������������3�������9������H�
01�
7��4��
�
������ ������2 ���3���'�&���������������������&�������&	�-����2���������*���4�
�
�������(������
�
)*+� ������� ��� �..�������� ���2� 6��� ��� %��7��-� ��-����������� "����
�-�������.�������������6����%����#����������������������������/�
���E.������������.�����.���-�%��7��-�%������;��������6����
�

•� ����.�.2����%������@�%����������-�����E.������������;������6�3=9/1=?�
6������������1889�@�18**0�

•� %������  �����-� ����������� @� ���������-� %������ ���E.�� ��� ��� ��
��;������6�3*/*8=/995�6������������1889�@�18**0�

•� %������ 	���� ���� ��-���� #��E.�� ��� �� ��;����� �6� 3A>1/A54� 6��� ���
�������6�1889(18**�

•� �����2(�  ��7��-� ����� ��� �����2���� ���E.�� ��� �� ��;����� �6�
358?/485�6������������1889(18**�

•� �������F�%�������&��"����������������@� ��������-�&��������E.�� ���
��;������6�*?4/*=8�6������������1889(18**�

•� %������ ��.��2� �6� ��� ������ ���� #�������2� ��-���� @� �������-� ����
������������E.���������;������6�34A/1>4�6������������1889(18**�

•� %������ 	����������� ����-� @� "����� ����� ��� �����2���� ���E.�� ��� ��
��;������6�3*48/888�6������������1889(18**�

•� �������������������(�4�������;�������������%�������G����-��������
�������;������6�31?1/>88�6������������*����������48�D���18890�

•� ������������� ��7��#��E.������������;������6�34?8/888�6������������
1889(18**�

•� ��������6���������	�������G���������������E.������������;������6�
3*/?88/888�6������������1889(18**�

•� ��6������.���������������������;������6�3>8/888�6������������1889(
18**��

�
)1+� �6���2������.�6�����-�6���.���6��,������������H����/����������2�����
6��� ��������2� ���� .�������2� �.���� -������ ��� ��� ��;����� �6� �� H������2�
���������������������������������E.������
�
�+� �����-����������.����2�����.��-������6��������.�6�����-/�����
�
��+� ����� ��� H������2� ��6�����.� ������ ��������� ��� ��� ��� �6� �.��
H������ ����������� ����� ��� ���E.�� ��� ��6�����-� ��� ���-�� ���� ����.����
�6�����2�6�����������.��6�6�����-���������
�

Page 106



/�7� �
��������
##!���(����#!�����!��&���
��������!�!	���� �	�����
�
���� "�*��	� ����3� ,<�����#�9"�������� �3� ���*������ ���#����� *��������� �� ��*����
��������&������2*�����3��������������������������.�����B�������2	�����������3	��&�����
���*�� ������  	� ���� �������� ��� �������  ���������� �33������  	� ���� �������� �����2���
�������&��
� ����  ����� �*��� ����  ��&��� *��*������ ������3���� ��� �� ����� ��� �/���
�� ����	�����4�
�
���� "�*��	� ����3� ,<�����#�9"�������� �3� ���*������ ���#����� ��� 2�����&�� ����� ����
 ���������-�����������2*��	������������*����&���3�2���������&����� 	�������������
��� ����2�����&�����������������4� ������&&������ ������� ����������������2�����	�
��*������������2�����4�
�
���������(������
�
)*+� ���.��������6����������������0�
�
)1+� ��� ���������� 6��� ��� �������� �.�������� ���� ���-�����
������������������������������������������-��/���.�6�.���2��
�

•� ���.���-����������6����������7���-����������"����

•� �����-������6���������6������������������)3>87����-������������
����35887�%��7��-�%�����+�

�
)4+� ��� ����2� ���6� �;.����:���.���� �6� ��������� ����.�� ������� ��
������2�����������������������������������6������.���.����2��
�

/�C� 	����C������
�� ���!�!	C�������$C��
�
�� ����� -���� ��#����� ����� ���� ����	����� '����� ,����2	� �������&� !���*� ����
�������	�  ���� ���� ������
�  ���&��&� ��&������ ���� =� !������� ����	����� %�����
6����������
�-�������������������������4�������2��3�����&���*�-���������� �������������
�#������� �����3� �����������2����**����������������������&��:� ����&��������22���
������������&� �3� ������ �����2��� *��&��22��� ���� 3�����&� �**����������:� ���� ���
����������������*���3�����������3����������#��������������������	4��
�
�2 ����-���� ��E������� ��� �**��#�� �� ���@�33� ������ ������ �3� H��
���� 3��2�.������
��-����� ��#���*��&� ���� ����	����� '����� ,����2	� �#�������  ���
� ������&	� ����
�������*�����2*��2��������4��
�
������� (� ����� �� ��(�66� .������������ �6� 3*8/888� 6���� %������ ��,�����
�������-����	��2�����������.����2�����.����/������-2������.�����
�����������������������������
�

/�=�  �"� �'������� ����� (� ������$C� "!�� �!%�� �������/� ����� � ����
�!		����� � ���
������%���� �(��I�����!��!"��!��������
�
����"�*��	�����3�,<�����#�9"���������3����*���������#�������*���������������������3�
����������	������������� ������22������������*�����3�����*��������3�����2 ���&����
�#������� ����3���.�����B��%�����"�#���*2�������2�-���4��
�

Page 107



���*�������������*������#����&��3�����<�������� ��� ������������� 3��� ����'�����
���-��
�������� ������22������� %������� ����	� ��������	�  ���&� *��*�����  	� '�&��� �	2�D�
��������� ��� ����	� ���� ����������� ���#�	� -���� ��� ������� ���� �2*���� �3� ���� %�#��*����
G��� ��#���*2���� ��� ����?����&�4� �'�&����	2�������������� ���� �� 2������ �� 3���
*��*����� �3� ��� ����������� H��
00C� �<�����#�� �3� I6�� ��� ���������� ����� -���
� *����
���#�	�3�����3�H��
C���*����I6����������3�H��
71C�*����I6��4�������������B�����������
����������'����� �C4�4��� ��E�������� ����� �**��#��� 3��� �����<���������3�����<�����&�
��������4� ���-�#��
� ���#��-��3� ��������������22�����������������������-������������
��� *���� ��
� ��#���� -��� ������ 3��2� ���� �������B�� �������2���� �������� ���� ����
*��*����� �<�������� �3� ���� ��������� -��� �����������  	� ���� "�*��	� ����3�
,<�����#�9"�������� �3� ���*������ ���#����� ������ ����&����� *�-���
� ��� �������������
-���� ���� %������ �3� ���� �������� ��� ���� ������������&� ���� 2������  �� ��*������ ���
�� ����4���
�
�������@����������.������6��������2����6��;.����:���.�����6����������
����.���������-������,��� ����-�� ���;��������6� ���.�����.��,����
��-�� �2�� F� #������� ��� ������7� ��� ����������� ��������� ����2� ����
����.���������2����6�����6��6�311/=A>���������
�

/�1� ��$�!�� ��#���� �������$C�"!���&���!��&�%����@�#����� ���'��%�@�
�!��
 ����!��!��������	����"��#! �������
�
�� �����-������#����� ����� ����'�&������%�����������2��7>.������*� �������"��3��
+�����2� ��������� ��� ���� ��<�� ���&�� ��� ���� �������� '�#��-� �3� ���� '�&������ �*������
������&	�3�������>�����.���4�������-��&�������������-��������!�#���2���
��������*��
�3�����'�#��-����� �����2����������-�������-����	���#���*��������3���&	*���������
���#������
����#�����&����-*��*�������*�����&����������4��������2�����&��������-�����
 �� ��#��-������*�����3� �����2��&��&����&���'�&������������&	�-�����-��� ��� �� ����
�� 5�����3�����*�������������������*������4�
�
������������� 3�����22�������� ����"��3�� +�����2���������� 3���&	*��������� ���#������
�
���#�����&� ���-*��*��� ���� *�����&� ���������� -��� �1� ����� ����4� � +�� -���
����22���������������"�����������22�������������-���������� ��	��3�������*����3��2�
���� ������3������������B�����*��������7>.4�
�
�������(������������.������������������.������������*����4��������
��������������6��������������6��������.��<����������������-������ �����
"������
�

/�0� �!		
���C���������'���"
�������#������#��!�C��
�$����$�#� !������
�����"!�
	��(��'� 
���!���������!		������!����
�
����"�*��	�����3�,<�����#�9"���������3����*���������#�����*�������������#��-��3�����
*����� *������� 3��� ���������&� ��22����	� +�������#��� ������ ��+��� #��� *������*����	�
 ��&����&4� ���� *������ ����� *����� 3��� G<���� �������� ���� ?������� ����&����� �����
3���2�4�������&�� ���������� ����� �����*�������-�����#�� ���-�	��3����������&� 3�����&�
�������-�������22����������
�-������2��2���3��������������2*��#�2����
�����*�����
 �� �<������� ���� ����� 2������ ������� ���� ��� ������ 3���2� �����
� -���� ���� �*����� 3���
3���2��������*����33������2�������3��*���������**��*�����������������4�
�
���� �� ����� �2 ��� 3��� ��22����	� ���� �����2��� ,�&�&�2���� 2�#��� ��
����22��������
����	���������
��������-���;�

Page 108



�
�������(�������
�
)*+� ������� �.������� ���� ���� "������ ��� ������ ��� �����.������2�
���-���-������6���������������6�����.����-�.�������2������������6���0�
�
)1+� ������� ��--���� ���� "������ ������ ��� �����.������2� ����� ��2�
������������������.��.������.��,�������������.���20�
�
)4+� ��� ���� "����� ������� $����� �� .���-�� ,���� .�(���������-� ����
���������-��������������6������������6���������6�.�����������������-��6�
-�������.��.0�����
�
)=+� ��� �����.������2� ���-���-� ������ �6� ����.����-� ��"� �� ������� ���
J"�����"���C��<�
�

/��� C!
��������#� !���'� 
���!���������!		������!����
�
����"�*��	�����3�,<�����#�9"���������3����*���������#�����*�������������#��-��3�����
*����� *������� 3��� ���������&�A���"������ 3����� #����� 3��2��3� *������*����	� ��&����&4�
����*�����������*�������������������������3���2�4�������&����������������������*�������
 ���3����� ���� ��22����	�  	� ��� ���&� ����������� ���#����� ���  �� ����#����� ��� ������
��22�������
� 	���#��#��&�����������������������2����&����� 	���� ���&��������������
��#����&�������������������&��3������������3����#���������������������������4�+������
�����*��#�������*���2�����-�������������������������&������������������*������������
��������������������#������#�������������&�	4��
�
6���������������������������������� �����&�����3�������3�����&���� ��2�������������
H�=�
����-�����-���H��
����*���6��������2
�-����������������������3���������������
H��
���������3�������A�����������2������������G��������*����������2���4��
�
�������@������
�
)*+� ���������� �����62� ����.�� ����� .��� �� �66��� K6��� ���K� ����� ���
,����������������.��2����
�
(�
��H�����������H�����������������1885������.������.���������������.����
�6�,�������.������H������
(��.�����.�������6�.���������.������-���6���������6����H������������2�
�������-�,�������������������������.�������.������.��6�����
�
)1+� �������"������������$�����.��������������.��.�6���������������
6��� C��� �.��� �����.������2� ���-���-�� � ���� ��� �� ������ �6� ��66����
������ ����� .����� �� �������� ��� ���������� ���.��� ���� ���,�� �����
�����.�������,������-����������6������������������.��������7��-����.���
�����������������.��������,����������-�������.���6��������������
�

7��� &�C$���&� #��	��C� ��&!! � (� ��%� B���&��� :� �	#�!'��� �����$:�
��!��$��"��� ������(���&�	����������	������#!����
�
����"���������3���������B�����#����������� �������-������E�����������	&��������2��	�
�������3���������2�#����3��<�����&������������������&������&�2������������*��#������

Page 109



��-���������3������	
����������������������&����������������<�����&������������ ��������
�����&����24�������*��������������������2����������2���������� �����-������������
��������������**��#����������2�4��
�
��������(������
�
)*+� ����.����������������������������..���0�
�
)1+� �����������-���� 6����.���.�������.��������������������� ������
6�������.���������������.7����������0�
�
)4+� �.���.��� ����.�� �� ���������� ��� ������� ���� �.����2� ��������2�
����������6�������.��0�����
�
)=+� �.���.����������.�������.���H������������������������������
��� ;�����-����������� �� ������ �6� .����2��-� ����������-��-��������#����  �
��������.����6����,��7�������-���,�����������-����������
�

7��� ����� C!
�&� "!�
	� �%����� (� ���!		������!��� "!�� "
����$�
1885:89��
�
����"�*��	�����3�,<�����#�9"���������3����*���������#����� ��3��2����� ������3�����
*��*������ �����#��� 3��2� 	����� *��5����� 3��� 3�����&� 3��2� ���� 6���� A����� ����2�
�
��3��2����� ������3���������22����������2���� 	�	���&�*��*���3��2�����3����6����
A����� ����2�� ��� ��*��2 ��9>�#�2 ��� ���1� ��&�����&� ������������ ��� *��5�����
 ���3����&�	���&�*��*������������������������E�������������� ������&�������������3���
�3� ���� H��
����  ��&��� 3��2� ���*������ ���#����� ��� ��������� ���� A���&� ���*��B��
"�*���2���� ��A�"�� ���� ����
� ��� 3�����
� ����3�������� 3��� ���� �-�����  �� #��� ���� 3����
�A�"�"��������?�����4�
�
�� ����� -��� 3������� ��E������� ��� ��������� ���� ����22���������� �3� ���� 3���� 6����
A����� ����2�� ���� �&���� ��� 3���� �**���������� ��� ���� ��#���� ������3���� -������ ����
�**����<��3�������*���4����� ��&����3�H�
C���*���6����A���������2�-���-����������
���*���������#�����?��&��
� ���������**����3�������A���������2��-���*��#����� 	�����
�A�"4����
�
��������(������
�
)*+� ��� ������ ���� ��� �������� ����.������ �6� 6�����-� ��� ������� ���
������;�*����-��0�
�
)1+� ��������6���6����3*8/888����-��6�����������������.������C#����
�-��0�����
�
)4+� 6���������6�.�������6������,��������������6�����C#��������.����������
�

7��� �� �'����$� �	#�!'��� !
��!	��� "!�� '
 ����� �� �&� ����/�
��"!�	����C��&���&� ����K���!��� ��������'��%��
�
����"���������3���������B�����#������������������������&	����*������������������������
��*����	� ��E������ ��� ����#��� �2*��#��� �����2��� 3��� ��������� ��� ����
� ��� ����� �3�
��&��3���������2����-��������<*�����������&��3���������24�����2�5������#����-��������

Page 110



3�����&���3�����3����������	��3����#�����3����-��&�?� 	��:�������E����2����������������
�����������������A���&�������B��6������0
������������������A���&����*��B������
�
%����� 6���� 6&���2���� ���� ���� �������B�� ���*������ ����4� �� ����B�� �**��#��� -���
���&�������2*��2��������3����-��&�����&���3��2��&����� ��&���&��-����3�H=��
���4�
�
���� �� ����� �2 ��� 3��� ��������B�� ���#����� ���� %�3����&� %������&� -����2��� ����
��*�������� ����2���������������� ��� ���� ��*����-�����-����������&����� ����� ����	��3�
�������-�����������*������2��-������������4�
�
��������(������
�
)*+� ��������-2�����������������������������0�
�
)1+� ��.�������� 1885:89� ��$� )��� ��� 31?8/*88+� �� .������ 6��,���� ��� ���
1889:*80�
�
)4+� ������������6������������2����F��������������������0�����
�
)=+� ��� ���.���� �6� �������<�� ����.�� ���� ��� ���.���� �6�  �,/� &�� ����
�����	���-���������� �� 6������ ������ 6���������� �����-����� ��������
��������-� �6� �-��� �������� 6��� .������/� ��� ��� ��-��� �6� .���-��
.��.������.���
�

7�/� ������$��I#������!��������� ��$��&���C���	��!��� �'���	��&����C�
!"�$!'���	�����&��$����
�
����"�������� �3� ��������B�� ���#����� ��������� ���� �������� ���&�� ��� *��*����&� 3��� ����
������������3���22��������&�����3�����&��3�*���@�=�*��#������ 3��2�����%������&�����
����������������������%�����6�������	4������3���������3����3���22��������&�����3�����&�
�3�*���@�=�3�����&�-����������*������������4�
�
��������(�����
�
)*+� ��� ���-� 1� �����.������ �� �������� 6��� ����������� ��� $��������
!66�.�������%��0�����
�
)1+� ��� ���.���� �6� �������<�� ����.�� �� �H����� ��� ������ ��.7� ���
���66��-�����6����.���������.��������6�����.���-�������2�������
�

7�7� ��'��%� !"� #��	��C� ��&!! � # ����� (� !
��!	�� !"� "
��&���
�!��
 ����!���!����D!�����&
��&���&!! ���� ���!%���
�
�� �����-������#������3� ���������2���3�����3��������������������*�������-���������
������*������������%����-������.������	�������������*�����3������*������������ �������
(����������������������%����-�4������*�����-���*��#�����	������������*�������*���&�
���1������&�������/��3��������2��	��������'�#��-4�������*���������� ��������*����
�
�������*�����������
�����2��������22����������-������&���������������	�*��*���������
�����������������*����4�
�
�������@������
�

Page 111



)*+� ��� �,�� ���.���� ������ �� -���� ���� �.����2� ��������.� ���
���������-���������.�������������.����2��6������������������7���,������6�
����H�����������������.���������0�
�
)1+� ������.�����6��������<������.�������������� ��� ��7������.����2�
�������������������������/������������.��������.��������6����,��6���
��� .������ �6� !���  ��2� �6�  ������ �������.� #�����2� �.����� ���� ���
�������������6� �� D���������.���.����� ��� ���!��� ��2��6�  ������ ���/� ���
;�.�� ���.���� ���-� ������� ��� ��� ���.��� �6� ��� �����.������ ��� )*+�
����0�
�
)4+� ��� ��������� ���������� ������ �6� ��� D����� ����.�� �.����� ��
���������� ��� 1>� ������� 6��� �� ������ �6� ���� 2���� 6���� ������������/�
���,������������ �6���6��.����������2� �������������� ��.����0�
����
�
)=+� ����������D���������.���.����������������������������������)1+/�
���  ���,� ���� ������� 6���� #���� ?� �6� ��� #�����2� #��.�� ���,� ���
#����5��..�����-�2��
�

7�C� �!���I�!�����������!���
�
����"�������� �3���������B�����#�����*����������� ��*����-�����*��#����� ������ �����
-���� ��3��2������ ��� ���� �����&�2����� 3��� ���� 3������ ��22��������&� �3� �����<�����
���#����4�
�
��������(������
�
)*+� ��� ;�����-� .�����.��,����$�����	��2��������;�����#����������
�� ������ ��� .���� ��� ������ ��� 48��� ������� 1889/� �����-� ���
.����������6����.���������.���0�
�
)1+� ��� �,� .�����.�� 6��� J.���;����� ����.�<� .���� ��� ������ 48���
�������� 1889� ��� 4*���	��.�� 18*1�,���� ��� ������� �6� ��� ;������� ��� ���
.�����.�� 6��� �� 6������ ������ �6� ��� ��� 4� 2���/� ���� 6��� ��� .�����.�� ���
�..�������������������������7�.����������������6��������6�����.����
���.�� 6����.���� .���.��2� ��� .���������� ��� ����.� ��� ��� ���� ��������2�
�-��0�
� �
)4+� &������ �����-�� ����.��� �� ��� ���� ��������2� 6��� ���.������ �6� ���
�,� �����-����� ��� ����6� �6� ��� ?� �����.������-� 	��2����  �.���
����������0��
�
)=+� &������ �����-�� ����.��� �.���� ��� .�����.�� ������-� ��������2� ���
����6��6����?������.������-�	��2���� �.��������������6����������2��-����
6��� ��� �,� .�����.�� ,��� �,����� ,���� ��� ����������� .����� ��������2�
.���������0�����
�
)>+� %������ ����.��� ���� ����� ��� �-����� ,���� $����� 	��2����
����;����� #����������  ������ ��� ;���� ��� .������ .�����.�� ��� 48�
�������1889�����������������6���	��2���� �.���������������-�����

Page 112



���;����������� �����2� �������������2��-���������������6� �����2�����
���������.�����2���������;�����.�����.���
�

7�=� �!	�����!�� !"� 	�C!�� ���� ��#
�C� 	�C!�� "!�� 	
����#� � C����
1889:*8��
�
���� �� ����� -��� ��E������� ��� 2���� ��2��������� 3��� ���� *��������� �3� �	��� ����
"�*��	� �	��� 3��� ���� 2�����*��� 	���� ����9��
� -����� -�����  �� �� 2������ ��� ����
6�����������&��3����������������������	�����4�
�
�������(�������������.������.�������������
�
)*+�����.����������,�&�����������������6����������������6�	�2���6������
����.�����2���1889:*80�����
�
)1+�����.�����������D����-�������������6�������2�	�2����
�

7�1� ������	���$�	����
#������
�
���� "�������� �3� %�-
� �'� ���� 6����� ���&�2���� �*������ �2 ���� ��� ����
�2*��2��������� �3� ���� G33���� 6���22�������� ������&	:� ���&��� �**��#��� �3� ��-�
����������������&����"��*������������22����	�6����������3��:������������������33������
���*��&�����"��*������������22����	������3���
� ��������������-����������*�������4��
6�� �������2� -��� ����������� ���������&� 3������� ��3��2������ � ���� ���� ��22����	�
�������������22�������-����������� ������������**�������������������3���*������4�
�
��������(������
�
)*+� ������-��������6����!66�.��..����������������-2���������0�
�
)1+� ����,�#���.����������������������������2�����������6�� )���E.��
��������6����6�.�������2�.��������-��66���6����������������������������
D�����	���-������������+���������������������.�����6� �,/�&������
�����	���-������������.���������-�����������E.����0�
�
)4+� �.������������)*+�����)1+�����������������������������������������
�����.������� 6��� ��� �6� ��� ��������2� "���� ��� �������� ����� �����6�� ��
���������������������,��
�
)�+� �����������2�"���������������������.�������2�����������6���2��
�
����-�.������6���������������������7��������-��6���6��������������������
�6� �����6��� ��� ������ ���� .���� �6� ��.�� ������� ,���� �� �������� �2� ���
����.��<��&����6������	���-���� �������� �6� ��� �����6�� ���.��0� ���:���
.����������-������������������,�����������-�.�����6����������,��2����,���
�����-���������� .������������� ����� ��� ��� ����6� ����� ������ ���,���� ���� ��
�������������������������
�
)�+� �� E����� �����.������ �� ���� ��� ��� "���� �2� ��� ����.��� ���� ���
.�������2�-��������,��.����������������-������6�������������6�����.����
���-� �6� ��� �����.������ ���.��� ��� ���� ��� ��� ��������2� ����� �����6��
#���.2��

Page 113



�
)=+� ��� ���.���� �6�  �,/� &�� ���� ����� 	���-���� �� ��������� ��� ���
�,� ����.��� ����������� ��� ��� E����� %��7��-� $����� �����������-� ���
��������2� "���/� ��� ����.� ��� �������-� &��� �6�  -��� ���� 	����
����.���
�
)>+� ��� ���.���� �6� "����.� ,��7�� ��,����� ����-������-� ��� ;�����-�
���-���6����������-�.����;�������������-�/�����.������������������2�
�6�������.�����6� �,/�&�����������	���-�����
�

7�0� #�!#���C�#��"!�	�����	���$�	�����
�
����"���������3�%�-
��'�����6��������&�2������*������������������C����� ����	�
����
��� ������������������������*���������2*�������#�����3��2�����6�����2����
���6��8��� �3�'��������� 3��� ���04� ����� ���� ���������� ����� �� ������ �3� /� ����  ����
�����#��� �#������ 3��� J8��� �3� '��������K� -����� ��������� 6����� ���&�2���4� ����
��*�����*������2�2 �����������2 ����3�6��������&�2���� ������� �������&� ��� ����
���&��&�'���������������2���4�
�
��������(����������.��������7����������-��������������������2����
��
�6������.����������/�������.���6������	���-���/������������
�

7��� ��������!�� "�!	� �!	#��&����'�� #��"!�	����� ������	���� �!�
�!	#��&����'�������������	�����
�
�� ����� -���� *��#����� -���� ��� �*����� ��� ���� ����&��� ��� ���� 6����� ��22������B��
�**������ ��� ��������&� ���� *��3��2����� �3� *���������*�� ���� ������ *� ����  �����
�
��������&������������������4���
�
����%�������3���������������3��������������������B����#�������6������&�;����������&�
��� �� /� ����� ��������	� ;� ���� ���&���������� ���� ���33� ����� ���� ������ ����� ��� �����
�����#�2���4� �������������������� ��E������� ������� �����2�2 ���������&�� ��� #�����
���33�-������������*���3������������&������������24�
�
�������@������
�
)*+� ��� .���-�� ������-� 6���� ��� �������.����� �6� ��� ���� 6���,��7� ��
����0������
�
)1+� ��� ���������� ����� �� ����-��� ��.7� ��� ������� ����� ���-����� ���
��-������������ ���� ���� ���������/� ��� �6� �����.�� ���� ����-��-�
��6�����.� ������ ��� ��� ��������/� ���� ����� �������� �� ���-�����.�
�����������6�����-�������������6��������������
�

7��� "������� �����#��"!�	�����	!���!���$��
�
��������3�,<�����#����#������2 ���������������*����-��������3�����������3���*�����
�� 2������ �����&����� ���� 	���� *��������&� ��� �#��#��-� �3� ���� *��3��2����� �3� ����
���������������#����&�����I������3���.���������������������������*���������������-���3���
����E������@������/��"���2 ������04�
�
�������@��

Page 114



�
)*+� �����6�����.�������������0�����
�
)1+� ������� �.�-����� ��� ��� ��� ������ ��6��������� ��� �� .��.��� ����
����2�6����������������������2��..����������������������6�����7��6���
������������������������������ ��������.��������.�����.� ������2�,�������,��
,7�� �6� ��� ��� �6� ��� H������ ���� �� ��������������� �2� ������.���� �6�
�������������.���������;�������������������
�

7��� #�!D�������
�$���18*8(**��
�
����"���������3���������*�������������*��5������ ��&���3�������@�����-�����-�����
 ������3�����	�����3�������2*�������#���*�����&�'�#��-����1����'�4�
�
������� @� ����� ��� ���E.��� ���-�� 6��� 18*8(**� �� ������� ���� �������
�-�����2���������������
�
�

7��� �����
�C�	���$�	����������'���	����������$C�1889��!�18*1��
�
����"���������3���������*�������������*����-������������������������	����&�2����
���� +�#���2���� ������&	� 3��� ����@����� ��� ����������� -���� ���� �+��6� ����� �3�
���������3����������	����&�2��������� �������#����4�
�
��������(�������
�
)*+� ���������2�	���-����������������������-2�6���1889����18*1���
�������0�
�
)1+� ���#�������������.��������������0�����
�
)4+� ��� ����.��� !66�.��� ������ ��� ������;� �� �� ���������� ��� �������
��2�����6����������7��..������6�������������2�����-�����.���������
�

7�/� #�C	����!"��
## �����%��&���*8���C���
�
���� "�������� �3� �������� ����22������ ����&��� ��� ���� *�	2����� *��������� ���
�����������*�������3���2�����������*�	�*��#������������**������3��2������*���3���#����4��
����*��*�����-�����������#��*�	2�����3��,���**����������*��#������-�����������	��
�3���#����������*�4��������������*��3��2��������&���-���/����	�4�
�
���� ��*���� ��������� ���� #���2�� �3� ������������� *���������  	� ���� �������� ����
������3��������2 ����3�2����������������	�����2*��#������*�	2������	���4�
�
����"�*��	�%�������3���������������E�������-�������3��������*�����������������������
#������3���#���������-���������2 ��4�
�
.���� ����*��2��������3� ���������
� ����%�������3� ����������#���#��!���*�����������
������ ����4� ������������!�����E�������-���� ��������-�������#�����3������� �����
���	�-����� ��*����-�����������	������-�����3��2�����������-�������*���� ������������
�����3�������4�
�

Page 115



��������(������
�
)*+� �����������2����-��������2�����6��	�������.����������2�������.�����6�

3*A8/888��
�
)1+� �����������������������������������-�������������������������

�6��.�����-��������������������2��������.����
�
)4+� ��� ���66��-� �����-����� �H����� ��� ������ ����� �.����� #���� ��

�����������������2��
�

7�7� �� ������!"�	�����$��1889:*8��
�
����"���������3�%�-
��'�����6��������&�2����*�������������*��������22�����&�
������3����������
��� �����������22������2�����&��3��� ����2�����*���	��������9��4�
����*��*��������������-��������������6**����<�6����������*���4�
�
������ ������2 ���3������*������'���������2�#�����2�����
����	���������
�����
���-���;�
�
�������� (� ����� ��� .������� �6� ����-�� 6��� ��� ����.����� 2��� 1889:*8/�
����.������������;��/�����������@�;.��������(�
�
)�+� ��� ��� ���� ����� ��� ������ �6�!����,� �����.�����2���������� ���
���.��6����*8����?/���������6���!F��)*+����)?+������0�����
�
)�+� ��������������6����4���D���1889����15���	�2�1889�����6����*?���D��2�
1889����14���D��2�1889��
�

7�C� �!�����
��!�� ��	���	������
�
6�� ���� 2�����&� ��� �� (��	� ���0
� ���� �� ����� ���� ����������� �� ��*���� ��� *��*�����
��������������� �2���2����� ���� �����#��� ��� ��#��-� ���� ���������� �3� G#��#��-� ����
�������	���22������4������"���������3�%�-
��'�����6��������&�2����*�����������
��*������������2������-����������*��*���������#���������2���3�����&���������*���3�����
�������4�
�
��������(�������
�
)*+� ����.����6���-�������6�;.�����6��.�������������6��������������
������ ��� ����,� ���� ���(72� �.������� ��������� ����� ��-������ ��� ����
,��������-�����4�4��6���������0�
�
)1+� ��� ����������� !����,� ���� �.�����2� �������� �� �(������
J���������������������<�!����,������.�����2��������0�
�
)4+� ���������66�����������,�������������(;.������������6��������.���
)����� ����� ���	�2��+� ����������� �������������2� ��� ����������!����,�
���� �.�����2� �������� �6� ��2� ��� .����� ���� ���6��� ������ ����� �.��
!����,������.�����2��������������������*8������0�
�

Page 116



)=+� ������������ ���������� 6��������,������.�����2�.�������/������
��� �������.��<��.�������������������� 6��,�������� ��� ����#���2� �����
6��������.����������������-�����.7����������������������;������-0�����
�
)>+� ������<�� ��6��.� ��� ����� ��� �.�����2� ������� �������� �� ��
������2� .���������� .������� ���� ����� ���� ���� �� ����� �6� ���-����� .�(
����������� ���� .���(���� ����� ������� �,�� ��� ���� !����,� ���� �.�����2�
����������
�

7�=� ����!�����
���!���!		��	�����
�
���� "�������� �3� ���������� ���#����� �*������ �2 ���� ��� ����&��� ��� ���� ��� ���
'�����������22��2������'���2���� 	�����!�#���2���
�����������*��#�������*�������
�������22��������������C�(�����	����04�����2��������&���������������������������3�
���� ������ �������
� �� ����&�� ��� ���� ��*�����&� *������ 3��2� ���� ��������� 	���� ��� ����
3���������	���
� ���� �����������&��3�����2 ����3���������������&��3������ ��������� ��3�
C�L���������3�<���������3�����-�������������3�����������	��������H��M�����4�������*����
����� ��&&������ �� -�	� 3��-���� 3��� ���� �������� ��� �������� ������������� ��-� *��� ����
�����	� 3�����	���������	� ��� ���������������HC��
���� ���6*��������4�6�� ��������L��3� ����
�����	�-����� �����	�����������������������G��� ����������*��������������*�����������
�����'�����&����� ��4�
�
��������(�������
�
)*+� ��� �� 6����.���� ��.����� ��� ����� �6� ��2� ������ ��� �����2� ��.�����
.���.����2���������� ������������.��������� ����� ����.����-��.������ ���
�.����2������.������
�
)1+� �����������������.�������������������������������2����-��/��������
�������.����;��2/���������.����������6���������������;�������������
�
)4+� ��������������6����.���������.��������6���������.�������.��������
���6�����6����.�����������-�6����������.����
�
)=+� ��� ���������� ������� ��� �.������ >�4/� >�=/� >�A/� >�9� ���� >�*8� ��
��������0�����
�
)>+� 6��������������������������������������������������!����,�
�����.�����2��������� �������������� ��6������������ ���H��������6� ���
�����.����.��������������
�

7�1� $��""����#��'����!��������	!'� �(����'����
#������
�
���� "�������� �3� ���������� ���#����� ��E������� 2�2 ���� ��� ����� ���� �����2���
�����#��� �����&�� ���� ��@������� �3� ���� !��33���� ���#������� ���� '�2�#��� ���#����4��
�2 ���� ���� �������&��33���� ��� �������	�G*����� 3��� ���09�� ��� ������ ����<*���� ����
���*���3�&��33���� ��2�#����������.�����4� �������*���������������-����������������H/�$�
���� ����������������������������������������3�&��33�����������*��#�������3�����33�������
������������ ������#���4��2 ����-������E�����������**��#������*������2�����3���/�
	����!��33�������#�����������'�2�#�����������������22�����6*������������
����������
���������������&��@���2��������� ��������&�2����3�����������#���4�
�

Page 117



���� �� ����� �2 ��� 3��� ���� ,�#����2���� ���������� ����� ���� >��&� ��������
,�#����2���� ���2�-��� ������@�*� 3��� ���� ,>�6�� �-���� 3��� �33���������� �����&��
*���������*���������&�������������33����������-���4�
�
�������@������
�
)*+� ������-���������2����$��66���������-�$��������������..����6����
�,�-��66���������������.�������0�
�
)1+� ���;��������6����L��-���M�������6�����6������*1�����������������
�6�	��.��18*8����������0�
�
)4+� ��� ���.������ ;�.��� 6��� �� 4(2��� -��66���� ������� ���� ���������
.�����.�������������
�

7�0� 	��B����$��
##!���"!��%���� K���!
���	��
����������
���$��&��
����!�� ���!�!	����!%��
���)*��#�� �1889��!�4*�	���&�18*8+��
�
����"�*��	� ����3� ,<�����#�9"�������� �3� ���*������ ���#����� ��3������ ��� ���� ��������
��������� �����2��� ��-������ ���� ���� 2���� ������&��� �**������ ������� ��� ��**����
.�����B�� ������2�  ���������� ��� ���� �22������� 3�����4� ���� �**������ -�����  �� � ���
2������.������ ���������B�� ������2� �33���2���� �33����#��	� ���� ���*� ������  ����������
��������� ������ �����&�� *���������*4� .���� ����� ��� 2���
� ���� "����������� �������&�
G33�����"G������ ����-�����&�������	�-������������	�����������*������3��� ����
*����	���
����-����������������������������������
������#���*���5�����������	����J���������
3��� ������2� !��-��K� *��5���� 3��� ,���*���� 3����4� ����  ��
� 3��� 3����� 3��2� ����
>����-���� "�#���*2���� 6&���	B�� �>."6�� �*���������� *��&��22�
� -����� �������	�
���*�������������2� ����������2���������������#�����2�����33����#��	������33�������	4��
�������*������&���&�������������	������������3�����3��2�����>."6B��*��&��22�������
��2�� �3� &�������� ����� 3��� .�����B�� ������2�  ���������
� ���� ���� �22������� ������2�
2�����������22�����������**�������2������&�����������2���������4�
�
�������� (� ����� ��� ����.������ �6� 3?8/888/� 6���� �������.��<��	��.�� "�����-�
���-��������������������/������������1889������-����7���-�.�����-��
�����������%�����<�� ����������������������-� ���.���������������.�����.�
��,������� ����� ��� ��� ��� �����������-� ����� ��� 6����� ,���� �� �(�������/�
6�������%������������6��������2���L#�������6�����������$��,��M����"�
���/��6����������
�

7��� 	
��
	������������!���
�
���� "�������� �3� '�&���������� ��#����� 2�2 ���� ����� ����2�� 6������������� ����
��*������ ����2�� '�&���������� ���� -��� ���� ��������� ��������� 3��� 2����2�� ���
?������
���2���������� 	���������2�
�%� �����������6����#������������%6�4��.������
����2�� ���#���� ������� ��� �� 2��� �**���������� 3��� ���� 6������������� �3� ����
.�����2����6���!�����	� D�����2�����?���������������	�  �3���� ���� ���� �3������
����4� �?����������-���� ��&�������������� ����*��#������������������2�4� �������3� ����
�**��������� *������� ��E�������� ����� �**��#��� 3��� ���� �**��������� 3��� 6������������
�
�������-�����������������6�E��������������"��*����������	4�
�
��������(������
�

Page 118



)*+� ��� �����.������� 6��� �..���������� 6��� %���������� ���� $����2� ����
	������������7�����#����2����������0�
�
)1+� ���"��,����#����6������	����������.����������0�����
�
)4+� ��� �.H���������� ���� ���������� #���.2� 6��� ��� 	������ ����.� ��
���������
�

7��� 1889:*8� !�� ������#!�����#��� �#�!$��		��(��!�����"��C���
�
����"�������� �3� ���������� ���#����� ��*������ ����� 3������� ��� ���� ��*���� ��� ���� %�����
�����*������*��������&��22�
�-�����-�������������������**��#��� 	��� ����� ���
�C��� (�����	� ����
� ���� 3������� ��*���� ���� ���� *��5���� �������� �������&� ��� *��*�����
����2���-����������'������3��	�?����4��
�
��������� ����������3���������$�	�"������������������-��������4�
�
��������(������
�
)*+� ����������6�2����-�����6���1889:*8��������������������� ��������
�����0�
�
)1+� ��� ���.���� �6� �.���.��� ����.�� �� ���������� ��� ��.�� �� ��������
���������� 6���� ��� ����� ����� �6� �.���� ��� .������������ ,���� ����2�
���7�������/� ��� ��� ���� ����� ��� ������ �����.��.��� ��� ���.�� ,���� ���
���������.������������.����6����.��.������������0�
�
)4+� ��� �.�����6���������� 6��� ���66�.�.�����-���� �����6��� ����.�����A���
�������������.�������2�!����,������.�����2����������������������6���
��� ��� �������� ��E��2� �..����� �.���� .��� �� �.����� �2� �.������-� ����
�H����/���2�������������������6����.����������������������
�

7��� 1889:*8�  !�� � �����#!��� ��#��� � #�!$��		�� (� ��'��!�	���:����
N
� ��C��
�
�������� ��� ���� ��*���� ��� ���� %����� �����*���� ��*����� ���&��22�
� -����� -���
����������������**��#��� 	��� ���������C���(�����	�����
�����"���������3�����������
���#����� *��#����� *��5���� �������� �������&� ��� *��*����� ����2��� -������ ����
,�#����2���96���)�����	�?�����������E��������� ���������**��#�������*��&��22�4��
�
��������� ����������3���������$�	�"������������������-��������4�
�
�������@������
�
)*+� ���������������� :�����N�����2����-�����6���1889:*8��������������
��������������������0�
�
)1+� ��� ���.���� �6� �.���.��� ����.�� �� ���������� ��� ��.�� �� ��������
���������� 6���� ��� ����� ����� �6� �.���� ��� .������������ ,���� ����2�
���7�������/� ��� ��� ���� ����� ��� ������ �����.��.��� ��� ���.�� ,���� ���
���������.������������.����6����.��.��������������
�

Page 119



7��� �����#!��� ��#��� � #�!$��		�� ����$������ �����#!��� � !�B� (�
�����"!�
	��!��
 ����!���
�
����"���������3��������������#����� ���&����� ����B����������������������������3�6����
����2������������������������-��&��*��3���������9���������3���&�-�	�����2���������
����%���+���&�����������*����?����4�
�
������*������22���������������������3������6��������2��������*���� ����������������
�3�����������*���� �����3��2��������������������6��������2����
��������������
����&���
�� ����� �**��#��� ��� ���� ?����� 6����������  ���2��&� -����	� �������������� ���� �����
6��������2������#��&����������������3�H�0
���4�
�
��������(������
�
*+� ��� ����������������� ������66�.����� ����7�� 6��� ����� �-�-����
,�����������"����������������������
�
)1+� ��� ���-����� ���������� ���.7� ����.������ �� �.��������� ,���� �.��
���� "����� �.����-� �� ��(������ ����� ��������-� ��� �����;�����2�
3*5/188����1889:*8����.���2������.��)�+��6������66�.�����-���:�������6�2�
��������������.��������
�
)4+� ��� ���.���� �6� �.���.��� ����.�� ������� ��������.� ��� �.�� "�����
���� 6��� ����� ;�������� ��� ���� �.��������7��-� ��� ���,��-� ��� 6�����,��7��
���-�����������������-������������������.7�����.�������
�

7�/� �!		
���C��#������������'��)����������1O��8+��
�
���� "�������� �3� ���������� ���#����� ��3��2��� �� ����� �3� ���� �������� �3� 3�������
�������������-������22����	�����2�������2 �����#�����E������3���������<��������
�3� ������ -������ ���� ��22����	� �*���� +�������#�� �?���&� 6��������� "�-�� �F�����
*��&��22�4�
�
������&����**��#��� 3��2��� ����� ���2�#������ �������� ����������������2�������3�������
��#���������������3����-������������*���4�
�
�������������(��
�
)*+� ���.�������6����������������.���6����.������������,��.��������7��
���.����6���������0�
�
)1+� ������.�����6��.���.�������.�� ������-���������������������������
����.����2������-����������-���������.����20�
�
)4+� �� ���-������6� ����������6� ����� 6��� �������-��..��������,��1G�8�
�.����������.�����������-�����=�1��6������������������0�����
�
)=+� �����.������6�����;��A������6��������-�������������������������
��-�������������6�!66�.�����.������������,�����������6������������������
����� �� .����� 6���� ��� *=� �����6��� ��� ��� ������ ��� -��� �� %�����(,���
������,������7��-�������..�������2�����������������������.�����
�

Page 120



7�7� &�$&%�C� ���� ��$�������$� ���'����� #�!�
��	���� �I������� (�
�!�������	!�� �����!��
#������
�
������������������������ 	��� ���������=���G��� ������0�����-����������-���&�-�	�
���� ,�&�������&� ���#����� ��������� ��� ������ %�2����
� ���� "�������� �3� ����������
���#�����*��#���������*�������� �������������2� ����������*���������� ���� ���@�*� ���
��������6*��������������������22����2�����������&����� ������������2����3�������
��22����2�����3� ������-���������� 3����-��&� ���� �������!���-�	�7�'��������� 3���
���#����'�#��-4�
�
���� ��*���� ����� ���&��� �� ����� �**��#��� 3��� �<�2*����� 3��2� ���������� ����������
'���� ��� N�������2���� #������ ��� ����� ����� HC�
���4��B
� ��� 3���������� ���� ���� �3� ����
,�&�������&�.������*
� 	���������������"�*���2����
���������������*���&��*���/474C�
����/474=4�
�
�������������
�
)*+� ������-����������������������.�����.������������������������������
���.����6�����.���$��,�2�=���������6�������.����,������������
�����������������.����.�����6�����,�.�����.����������0�����
�
)1+� �������6������-�����-�%��7������2����������.������������/����
���������������-������4�=�>�����4�=�?/������������������;�������6����
������.���#��.��������*9�J#��.������������������������3>8/888<�6��������
���.��� ��� ��� �� ����� �6� 348/888� ���� ���E.�� ��� .����� ���������� ���-�
�����6�������������6������2�������-��.����/�������������
�
�

7�C� 	����C�$���%�C�����$��#�!D����$�!
#���#���������!���
�
����"���������3��������������#�������3��2����2 �����3�����*��*����������3���������
*���������*� �����&�2����� �������&� ��� ���� ��-� ����	� �������&� ;� ���-�� ��� ����
����	�!���-�	4�
�
�� ����� -��� ��E������� ��� �**��#�� ���� ����������� �3� ���� �33����� ���� ���� ��������
�2 ������������3��2�������	�!���-�	�?���&�����5����!���*4�
�
�������� ����� ����.��� �� �.������� ����� ��� ������� 	���� 6���
�����.��������������������.���������&����6������.������%������
����������������6�����	��2�$��,�2�����-�#��E.��$���������������2�
����.������������.������6���������������,�����������������������
�

7�=� ��(��$�$�	���� !"� �!��
 ������ "!�� %���� � &!
���$� ������ ����
	��B��� ������	���� ���� ������$��� ��!�!	��� '���� ��C�
������	�����
�
���� "�������� �3� '�&���������� ���&��� �**��#��� �3� ���� �**����2���� �3� ������2�
�������������������	�����-�����������������������*������3�����������&���������&�������
6�����2�������6��3�������?����&���������������������������&���,����2���I�� ����	�
6�����2���� ��� *��#���� ���� �#�������  ���� 3��� ���� *��*�������� �3� ���� %�����
"�#���*2�������2�-����-�������������������� �����-�������E������*�����������'����
C4���3�����������������������������4���

Page 121



�
��������(���������������������6�"�������.��������������.���2��������,��7�
�����6��� ��� ��� ������,������� ������ ����������,������H�������������� ���
����>�1��6����������.��#��.���������������������
�

7�1� �I�	#����"!�	���!��(��I� 
��!��!"��&��#���������#
� ����
�
�������� �����/�������.�����*88�)�+�)=+��6� ��� �.���$���������.��*9A1/�
��������.���;.�����6�����������-������-�.�������������6����6����,��-�
����� �6� �������� ��� ��� -������� ����� ��2� ������� ��� ��7�2� ���.������ �6�
;������6�������������6�����2���������������-�������6�#�������6��.�����
*1��)��������+����������.���
�
�

7�0� 	!�!��������$�������$����
�������
�
�� ����� -���� ��#����� ��� ���� *������2���� *������� 3��� ��������� ���� ,�&�������&�
+������������������� 	�����"���������3��������������������22�����������-�����&��3�
 �����������������O�����������*���3���3�#��	�����3��2���6*��������4�
�
��������������
�
)*+� ��� 	����� �������.� .�����.�� �� �,����� ��� O���.�� 	���.����� 6��� ��
�������6�4�2����.����.��-�6����*�������1889�,�����������������;����6�����
6������1�2���0�
�
)1+� �����-�����-�����.����������������.�.�����.�����,��������O���.��
	���.������6������������6�4�2����.����.��-�6����*�������1889�,��������������
���;����6�����6������1�2���0�����
�
)4+� ���������������-��6�3=A/>*9���������
�

7��� �!�������&����!"���%�	!�!��'�&�� ����
�
�� ����� -���� ��#����� ����� ���� �������� ���� �*������� -���� �� ���� %�����&� ����2��
������ ��01� ��� ��**���� ���33� �������2���� ���� ���������4� � ���� ����2�� ��������	�
�*������� ���*���������*�-��������������������	�����������������3� ���� ����� ��2�����&�
���������� 3��2������� ������ ����.������ ���� >�����.����� ����������*4� � ���� ��������
��������� -��� �� J8���� �������� ����2�K� -����� ����-��� �33������ ������� ��� ���
�������������������3�#�������4�
�
���� "�������� �3� �������� ���&��� �**��#��� ��� ���*�� ���� G33���� �3� !�#���2����
��22���������%�����&����������-�����33����3��2���6*����������������������������*����
����*�����������#��&��������#����2�������������������&�3��2����������3�������������4�
�
�������� (� ����� ��� ��������� �6� ��� !66�.� �6� $�������� �����.� ����
 ����-� ������.��,���� 66.�� 6���� ��� *� ������ 1889� ��� �� �����-� �6� 3*8/888� ���
1889(*8������������
�

7/�� �����$�!"�"!�	����!�B�#�!#��������
�

Page 122



G���1�>�#�2 ������0��� ����������������������������&���������#���������3��������&�
*��*����� �3� -���� -���� *��#�����	� ������ ��� ��� "���� 8���������&�4� � �� ����� ����
��E���������3���������*����-����!�#���2����*��*������-�������-�4�����"���������3�
��������&�#������*��������������������*�������
��������������-�	�3��-����3����2 ���
�**��#���������&���&�����������������-�����������������3�������� ������������#��#���
�������3�����4�
�
����%�������3���������������3������������������������������������������3�%����4�
�
��������(�������
�
)*+� ���E.�����)4+����,/�������.�����6�"����.�,���������.��������..�����
,��������������������������.������������6���1889(*8������-�����������������
,���� ���������� ���� ������� �.���..����� ��� .������� �H�����-� ���������
�.��������2������������;����������0�����
�
)1+� !66�.���.����������������������������������������.����-�����-��
,�������������,���,�����-�����������������2�������������,����
�
)4+� !66�.���������-�����������.��������6����&�����6� ��������.�������/�
�����6���2�������2�����.���������.����������/���6������������������-���
��.7���������������������������.���������-�����������
�

7/�� #!��� ����'������
�
���� "�������� �3� �������� ��#����� 2�2 ���� ����� ���� ����&�������� �3� ���� �������
���#�����2������ +�� (�����	� ���C� ���� *��������� ��� �**�������	� 3��� ���� �������� ���
�<�2����*���� ���3��������������33������	���#��&��-������������������*���������#���4�
�
���� ��*���� ��������� ���� -���� �������� ���� ��� ���� ��&��� �3� 2������ ����&��
� 2����
����22����������3�������&�
������������������*����������33������	���#��&�������������
 �������#��4�
�
�������������
�
)*+� �������.���.������� ���.�����.��,������2���	���� 6��������������.�����
����������.�����6������;�����2�3??=/888��
�
)1+� ��� ��������� �6� ��� 66�.��.��� �����6��� ��� ��� ������ ��� �.����
6����.���������-���6�351/888���������������������
�

7/�� �
 �
�� ����'�����'������!'��C��
�
���� "�������� �3� �������� ��3��2��� �2 ���� �3� -���� �����������  	�
�����.������������*������-��� ������*�����3��� ���������I�����6�������<��I6���
���������������������-���������������������������'�����*���&��*��C4�4��P,<��*������
����������2����*��������B4�
�
����������������,��7�.����������������.���6����������.����'���.������
������7���2�#,�������L���,��/����6M���������������������.��#��.����
����� ����-����� >�*�*� K�;.������� ��� #��.������ ���.���</� ��
�.7��,��-���

Page 123



�
7//� '! 
����C�"�������$�������!��!"���� ���

�
���� "�������� �3� %�-
� �'� ���� 6����� ���&�2���� ���&��� �2 ���B� �**��#��� ���
��&�&������%����'�&����	������&���������������������������&���������������������������B��
�-������*� �����&����� ���� ?����&�� -���� 3�����&� 3��2� ���� ,33������	� +�#���2����
?��&��4�
�
��������(�������
�
)*+� ��� '�������2� �-���������� �6� ���� ����� ���� ������2� ������ ��� ���
����.��<���,������������������0�����
�
)1+� ��� �����-����2�6�������6��������66�.��.2�������������-���
�

7/7�  �������%!!�&�  ��'��
�:�!C��!���'��
�/�%�  ���C�(��� ���
�
���� "�������� �3� %�-
� �'� ���� 6����� ���&�2���� ���&��� �� ����B�� �**��#��� ��� ��
3���������#�������3����2��3�������������3���������������������'�	�����6#����9�.��������
6#����
�,&��2���
� �����'�&��������������� %�������� �'�%������ ���-��#�� ���� ����@���
*����������������*�������#��-��3�������&���	��3��2*��2�����&�����������������2��������
��2���������22��������6&���	� ���6�� 3�����&�����������3� /������������������
�#����H�
�/�
�����3�&�����3�����&� ���&�����4�
�
��������(������
�
)*+� ����������������������6��������6� ������� �����6�������������������
�������0�����
�
)1+� ��� .���(��� ������ 6��� ����� ������ ��,����� ��� ��,� �6� ��� ��-�.2� �6�
���������-� ��� �.������ ��� ��� ��� &��� 6�����-� �������� ���� ������
31/141/888��6�6�����-����-�����/������������.�������������..�����-�2��
�

7/C� #�C�!  �����&
	������!
������C���	��
�
���� "�������� �3� %�-
� �'� ���� 6����� ���&�2���� ����22������ �� ��#�����
*������2����*�������3�����*�	�����������2��������������'���	���2������*����� ����
�������B�� �������� �	���2��-���� ���� ����������<*�������� ���������3��	�����4�����
�����������������-��������<���������3������������-������<*���������	����04��
�
6� ��#����
� ����&������ *�	����� �����'� �	���2�-��� �<*������ ��� &�������� ��&��3������
��#��&���������#�����2*��#�2�����������������������4�
�
�������� (� ����� ��� ���.���� �6�  �,� &�� ���� ����� 	���-���/� ���
.������������ ,���� ��� ���.���� �6� "����./� �� ���������� ��� ���.��� ����
�������� ���������������������2����� ����&���2���/� ��7��-� ��� ����..�����
������������������������������
�

7/=� #�������$�����#��'����!���!		����!���$��
�
����"���������3���������B�����#�����2��������22��������������� �����3����**��#���
���*�������*�������&�����*��#������#�����#�����3�������9��4�����*��*��������#��������

Page 124



 ����22���������-�������**������������#��	��3���#�����"�*���2�������������*������
*�����������������*���������#���*2��������5�����-�����&���4&4������3��������2��������
���� ������ ����� ���� ��#���*2���� �3� 6���� ���2��4� � ���� ��22��������&� ����
*������2���� *������� ��������&� ��� ������ ����22���������� ����  ���� �� ���
� 2����@
�&���	� ���������&� #�������	� ���� ��22����	� ������� ��#��#�2����� ���� �������#�� �3�
*������
��������������	���&�*��*��4�
�
��������������
�
)*+� ��� ���.������ �6� ����.�� ��� ������;� *� ��� ��� ������ �� ��������
����.�����.���-���������,������������6�������.������������6����84:8A:890�
����
�
)1+� ���;��������6����;�����-�.�����.��6�����.����	������2������.�������.��
���48����������1889������������������,�6��������������
�

7/1� &	��� (� �##!���	���� !"�  !'�  � ��� �&�� �!
��� K�� #��"������
��'� !#���#�������"!������	�����
�
���� "�������� �3� %�-
� �'� ���� 6����� ���&�2���� ���&��� �� ����B�� �**��#��� ���
3��2���	� �**����� %�#���� ��� ���� �������B�� *��3������ *��#���� ��#���*��� *������� 3���
����#����&�������&�2����������-����������2���4�
�
��������(������
�
)*+� �����.��������6����������������,�������������.����������������
#��-������������������������;������-��0�
�
)1+� ������������-�����������������,���� ����� �������������
����.������������6�������0�
�
)4+� ���.������$�����������������������������#��������2����������
����������6���#����*��6�����.��������������������������;����������0�
�
)=+� ��� ��7������� ����� �������.���,������ �H����� ����������-��� 6�����-�
6���#����*��6� �������.��������.���@� ��������������@� �������� ��� ���
�������������.������1889:*8�������0�
�
)>+� �� 6������ ������ �� �.���� ��� ��� ���� 6����� �-�����-� ���
������������-����/�������2���������6�-���6�����-��H�����6���#����*�
��������H����������������������������-�����6���#����*0�
�
)?+� ��7� ��������� ��� ����� ��� ����.�� ����� 6��� ��������� ����
����H�����������6�������,������������������������������0�����
�
)A+� ��� .�������� �-�-���� �6� �,��� ��� .���� .���������� �������� ��
�������� ��� 6������� ���� �������� ��� ��������� ���-����� ��� ��� ����
���������������������&�����-�������������2���6�2�!����,�F��.�����2�
�����������1?����������188A�)������*?+��
�

7/0� ��C�!�&����
��������
�

Page 125



���� ������ ��3������ ��� �����  ���&� 6������ !����B�� ����� �� ����� 2�����&� ��� .������
�������� ���� �������� ���� 3��� ���� -���� ���.�����4� � ������������ ��� ����� ���� !�����
�������������%�����B����22����4�
�
�

Page 126



Manor Primary School
Inspection report

105041Unique Reference Number

WirralLocal Authority

324145Inspection number

3–4 June 2009Inspection dates

Allan Torr HMIReporting inspector

This inspection of the school was carried out under section 5 of the Education Act 2005.

The registered childcare, managed by the governing body, was inspected under section 49 of the Childcare Act

2006.

PrimaryType of school

CommunitySchool category

3–11Age range of pupils

MixedGender of pupils

Number on roll

122School (total)

0Government funded early education

provision for children aged 3 to the end

of the EYFS

0Childcare provision for children aged 0

to 3 years

The governing bodyAppropriate authority

Mr Peter AbernethyChair

Mr Nigel GreatheadHeadteacher

22 March 2006Date of previous school inspection

Not previously inspectedDate of previous funded early education inspection

Not previously inspectedDate of previous childcare inspection

Beechwood DriveSchool address

Beechwood

Birkenhead

Wirral

CH43 7ZU

0151 6773152Telephone number

0151 6789369Fax number

3–11Age group

3–4 June 2009Inspection dates

324145Inspection number

Page 127



.

© Crown copyright 2009

Website: www.ofsted.gov.uk

This document may be reproduced in whole or in part for non-commercial educational purposes, provided that

the information quoted is reproduced without adaptation and the source and date of publication are stated.

Further copies of this report are obtainable from the school. Under the Education Act 2005, the school must

provide a copy of this report free of charge to certain categories of people. A charge not exceeding the full cost

of reproduction may be made for any other copies supplied.

2 of 12Inspection Report: Manor Primary School, 3–4 June 2009

Page 128



Introduction

The inspection was carried out by one of Her Majesty's Inspectors.

Description of the school

Manor is a smaller than average primary school. Most pupils are White British. There is a larger

proportion of boys in the school than average and there is a small number of pupils looked

after by the local authority. The proportion of pupils eligible for free school meals is exceptionally

high. Although the proportion of pupils with a learning difficulty and/or disability is double

the national average, the proportion with a statement of special educational needs is around

the national average. There is an Early Years Foundation Stage class for three to five year old

children. Attached to the school is Beechwood Children's Centre which is managed separately

by Sure Start. The school has been awarded the Sportsmark and a Family Works award.

Key for inspection grades

OutstandingGrade 1
GoodGrade 2
SatisfactoryGrade 3
InadequateGrade 4

3 of 12Inspection Report: Manor Primary School, 3–4 June 2009

Page 129



Overall effectiveness of the school

Grade: 4

In accordance with Section 13(3) of the Education Act 2005, Her Majesty's Chief Inspector is

of the opinion that this school requires special measures because it is failing to give its pupils

an acceptable standard of education and the persons responsible for leading, managing or

governing the school are not demonstrating the capacity to secure the necessary improvement

in the school.

Manor Primary School has positive features but it has made too little progress to tackle the

issues identified at the previous inspection and some important areas have deteriorated. This

is partly because of frequent and long-term staff absences involving a high proportion of

teachers. The absences have hampered the ability of staff to embed new initiatives and

developments, and to lead and manage different subject areas to ensure the school improves

and meets the needs of its pupils. The headteacher has been unable to delegate responsibilities

and therefore retained too many roles to enable him to drive improvement. Although he has

led the improvement in attendance and has kept the school running on a daily basis over the

last two years of turbulence, there is no capacity to improve and tackle the school's weaknesses.

Governance is also inadequate. Governors do not have a clear understanding of their roles and

responsibilities, a grasp of the school's weaknesses, or the knowledge to be able to challenge

and support the school to ensure it improves.

Standards in Key Stage 1 have fallen since the last inspection and in 2008 were well below the

national average, although standards in the current Year 2 are slightly higher. Standards in

Years 3 to 5 are low, accentuated by long-term staff absences in those classes. Standards at

the end of Year 6 have been well below average for three years, particularly in English. Pupils'

writing skills are weak. Achievement is uneven across the school and inadequate overall. Some

year groups and some groups of pupils, particularly more able pupils and boys, do not make

the progress they should. In contrast, most pupils with a learning difficulty and/or disability

make satisfactory progress because of the effective support that they receive.

There are pockets of effective teaching but the overall quality is inadequate. There is not

enough good teaching to tackle the low standards and to raise achievement. Pupils do not have

the guidance they need to improve their work. Too many tasks are easy and lack challenge and

pupils are unaware of the steps they need to take to improve their work further. Although the

curriculum is satisfactory and there are some elements that are good, subjects are not being

managed sufficiently well to deliver improvements. Subject leaders do not evaluate or monitor

the subjects well enough. Improvements are also hampered because a high proportion of subject

leaders have been absent. Consequently, standards attained in different subjects are too variable.

Pupils and parents are supportive of the school and its work. Learning environments are bright,

well decorated and welcoming and there is a calm and inclusive feel to Manor Primary. Pupils

are friendly, generally well behaved, sensible and polite. They have a good understanding of

how to lead a safe lifestyle and a satisfactory understanding of how to be healthy. They make

a positive contribution to the school community through the school council and through taking

up jobs and responsibilities around the school. They are not well prepared for their future lives

because their basic skills are weak and their attendance, although improving, remains below

the national average. Pupils cooperate well together and have good social development; they

take opportunities to debate, discuss, and to reflect which aids their good spiritual development.

Their understanding of different cultures is less well developed.

4 of 12Inspection Report: Manor Primary School, 3–4 June 2009

Page 130



Effectiveness of the Early Years Foundation Stage

Grade: 3

Children enter the Early Years unit with skills and knowledge that are below those typical for

their age. By the time they leave the unit, children have made satisfactory progress in gaining

the knowledge and skills expected for their age but their progress is variable between different

areas of learning. Children make good progress in developing their personal and social skills

and are able, for example, to choose and use resources independently, take turns, share,

cooperate and to work well with others. The majority of children achieve more highly than the

national andWirral averages in their physical development. However, although there have been

improvements over the last three years, children's attainment in mathematical development

and communication, language and literacy skills is below national expectations. Occasionally,

children underachieve in these areas of learning because the planned activities lack focus and

are not matched to their abilities so that their skills are not extended. Skilled and able teaching

assistants provide valuable support in the unit and ask a good range of questions which moves

pupils' learning on. There is an appropriate mix of teacher-led and child-initiated activity.

What the school should do to improve further

■ Raise standards in English throughout the school, particularly writing.
■ Improve the quality of academic guidance so that pupils have a clear understanding of what

they need to do to produce better work.
■ Improve the quality of teaching so that pupils make at least satisfactory progress and

continually build on their prior knowledge
■ Improve the effectiveness and knowledge of governors and subject leaders so they are able

to evaluate accurately the quality of the school's provision and take steps to raise standards

and achievement.

Achievement and standards

Grade: 4

Pupils enter Key Stage 1 with a variable range of skills and knowledge but are below average

in their mathematical development and communication, language and literacy skills. Since the

last inspection, standards at the end of Key Stage 1 have declined. Over the last three years

standards in reading, writing and mathematics have been at best below and sometimes well

below the national average. Girls in particular attained significantly below the national average

and boys' attainment lagged behind the girls. Currently in Key Stage 1, standards are beginning

to recover, particularly in mathematics but they remain too low given the children's starting

points when they entered Year 1.

Standards attained by Year 6 pupils have been well below average for the last three years. In

2008, for example, only half of pupils attained the expected Level 4 in mathematics. Attainment

in English, and in particular writing, is low. Although pupils' attainment in Year 6 has risen

during the last year as a result of better teaching, standards remain low in Years 3, 4 and 5.

Pupils' learning is fragmented due to the high level of staff absence, frequent changes of

teachers and the relatively high proportion of inadequate lessons. In some classes, pupils make

satisfactory progress; in others they make very slow progress, leading to variable standards and

achievement. Girls attain well below the national average for girls and boys perform less well

than the girls, particularly in English. Higher ability pupils make inadequate progress and do

not reach the higher grades they should do given their abilities. Children who attain highly by

5 of 12Inspection Report: Manor Primary School, 3–4 June 2009

Page 131



the end of the Early Years Foundation Stage rarely continue to attain well by the end of the

following key stages. However, pupils with learning difficulties and/or disabilities make

satisfactory progress because their needs are met more appropriately through targeted support.

Personal development and well-being

Grade: 3

Pupils are mostly polite and welcoming. Their social development is good. They thrive on the

many opportunities they have to cooperate in teams, discuss and debate issues and to perform

for others. Although their cultural development is satisfactory, pupils have a narrow view of

other cultures and countries. Pupils have a good understanding of the need to adopt healthy

lifestyles; however, many do not put this into practice and are sometimes inactive at break

times and many eat unhealthy snacks. Pupils say they feel safe and free from harassment and

poor behaviour. They have a good understanding about safety; for example the school council

showed good understanding of how to stay safe when using the internet. Most pupils' behaviour

is good, although at times some pupils show a slight lack of respect for adults and are

over-familiar.

Generally, pupils enjoy coming to school as evidenced by their improving attendance. The

proportion of pupils persistently absent is reducing. Pupils make a satisfactory contribution to

the community and are generous in their support for good causes.

Quality of provision

Teaching and learning

Grade: 4

While some satisfactory teaching was observed, too much of the teaching seen was inadequate.

One of the main reasons for this is the same issue as highlighted at the last inspection: there

is often a lack of challenge resulting in activities not being matched to pupils' needs. While

this can be partly explained by the long-term absence of staff, the impact on pupils has been

to restrict the progress they make. For example, more able pupils complete the same work as

less able pupils and they are often engaged in low level tasks such as cutting, sticking, colouring

in, or adding just a few words onto a worksheet. In too many lessons pupils are occupied, rather

than challenged. Similarly, pupils sometimes complete work they have already proved they can

do earlier in the year. Some teachers ask questions which enable pupils to think, reason and to

explain. The majority ask questions which are too narrow and need very little effort from pupils

to answer. By doing this, they are spoonfeeding the answer rather than helping pupils to make

progress in their thinking. There are many opportunities to work on practical activities, work

collaboratively and to support each other. There are instances, however, where this is at the

expense of good individual work and pupils consequently have little to show for their efforts.

Use of assessment across the school is inconsistent. In some classes teachers' marking provides

good tips for pupils to improve their work; in the majority of classes marking is celebratory and

does not let pupils know what they need to do to improve their work.

While there are significant weaknesses in the quality of provision, classrooms are bright, well

resourced and attractive places to work. Relationships between teachers and pupils are good;

staff are caring, supportive, kind and generous with their time.

6 of 12Inspection Report: Manor Primary School, 3–4 June 2009

Page 132



Curriculum and other activities

Grade: 3

The school's curriculum is based on national requirements and schemes of work from the

International Primary Curriculum. Pupils have opportunities to be involved in research, discussion

and debate. For example, Year 5 pupils completed some good research into different habitats

as a part of their science work. Other year groups explore stimulating topics such as airports,

chocolate and shelters. This enables pupils to learn the connections and links between different

subjects. Although this curriculum is having a positive effect on some subjects such as history

and information and communication technology (ICT), the work in some classes is too low level

and pupils are not using their writing skills enough. Subject leadership is weak. This means the

effectiveness of the curriculum on raising standards and improving pupils' outcomes is not at

good as it could be.

The curriculum is enriched and enhanced by different trips, and visiting speakers. The Diwali

day, for example, helped pupils to gain a fuller knowledge of celebrations and festivals in

different faiths. The annual cycling proficiency programme enhances pupils' knowledge of

safety as well as their physical skills and balance.

Care, guidance and support

Grade: 3

Many aspects of care and support are satisfactory and some are good. There are rigorous and

effective systems for vetting staff, for safeguarding pupils and for working with other agencies

to help improve pupils' lives. Systems for checking health and safety and risk assessment are

good. Effective systems are in place to intervene to support pupils with a learning difficulty

and/or disability. However, pupils do not get good enough guidance and support to improve

their work. Although targets are set, pupils cannot remember them and teachers do not refer

to them in lessons. Similarly, the targets do not help pupils to know what to do to improve

their work and to reach the next level. There is often little opportunity for pupils to respond

to any comments made by teachers from previous lessons. Marking in writing, as a result of

'the big write', is better because it gives pupils clear advice about what to do to improve.

Generally, marking is not used well enough to secure improvements across all subjects and

varies from one piece of work to another. Teaching assistants play an important role in

supporting vulnerable pupils and those at risk of falling behind. The support they give is

satisfactory, but in some instances they do all the work for the pupils which hampers pupils'

ability to think, reason and explain.

Leadership and management

Grade: 4

The headteacher and deputy headteacher have an accurate view of the quality of teaching and

can demonstrate the impact of their actions to improve some aspects of the school's work, for

example in improving attendance. However, there is not enough capacity in leadership

throughout the school to drive improvement. The headteacher does too much. Although he

has done a creditable job in keeping the school running through two years of turbulence,

leadership is not sufficiently shared among middle leaders to enable them to monitor their

subjects or to take action to improve achievement. Systems are not securely in place to ensure

7 of 12Inspection Report: Manor Primary School, 3–4 June 2009

Page 133



that staff work as a team and for senior leaders to listen to their suggestions to improve

provision.

Self-evaluation is inadequate. The school's judgements about pupils' standards, progress and

work are over generous. Key weaknesses in attainment, standards and the quality of provision

have not been picked up. Although the local authority has put in some good support, the

intensive support it received was not effective in challenging weak practice and the school has

not fully engaged with the support offered.

The headteacher is effective in his promotion of community cohesion. He has analysed the

local population and has a strategy for ensuring the school helps to support parents and the

local community. The governors are not aware of their duties in this respect. Governance is

inadequate overall. There are four vacancies on the governing body which is limiting its ability

to support the school. Governors have a lack of knowledge and understanding about how to

measure the impact of initiatives. They are not able to interpret data to understand how well

pupils achieve. They are unsure about their role in ensuring statutory duties are met and are

unable to evaluate accurately the effectiveness of the school.

8 of 12Inspection Report: Manor Primary School, 3–4 June 2009

Page 134



.

Any complaints about the inspection or the report should be made following the procedures set out

in the guidance 'Complaints about school inspection', which is available from Ofsted’s website:

www.ofsted.gov.uk.

9 of 12Inspection Report: Manor Primary School, 3–4 June 2009

Page 135



Annex A

Inspection judgements

School

Overall
Key to judgements: grade 1 is outstanding, grade 2 good, grade 3 satisfactory, and

grade 4 inadequate

Overall effectiveness

4
How effective,efficient and inclusive is the provision of
education,integrated care and any extended services in meeting the
needs of learners?

No
Effective steps have been taken to promote improvement since the last
inspection

3
Howwell does the school work in partnership with others to promote learners'
well being?

4The capacity to make any necessary improvements

Effectiveness of the Early Years Foundation Stage

3
How effective is the provision in meeting the needs of children in the
EYFS?

3How well do children in the EYFS achieve?

2
How good are the overall personal development and well-being of the children
in the EYFS?

3How effectively are children in the EYFS helped to learn and develop?
3How effectively is the welfare of children in the EYFS promoted?
3How effectively is provision in the EYFS led and managed?

Achievement and standards

4How well do learners achieve?

4The standards
1
reached by learners

4
How well learners make progress, taking account of any significant variations
between groups of learners

3How well learners with learning difficulties and/or disabilities make progress

1
Grade 1 - Exceptionally and consistently high; Grade 2 - Generally above average with none
significantly below average; Grade 3 - Broadly average to below average; Grade 4 - Exceptionally
low.

10 of 12Inspection Report: Manor Primary School, 3–4 June 2009

Page 136



Personal development and well-being

3
How good are the overall personal development and well-being of the
learners?

3The extent of learners' spiritual, moral, social and cultural development
3The extent to which learners adopt healthy lifestyles
2The extent to which learners adopt safe practices
3The extent to which learners enjoy their education
3The attendance of learners
3The behaviour of learners
3The extent to which learners make a positive contribution to the community

4
How well learners develop workplace and other skills that will contribute to
their future economic well-being

The quality of provision

4
How effective are teaching and learning in meeting the full range of
learners' needs?

3
How well do the curriculum and other activities meet the range of needs and
interests of learners?

3How well are learners cared for, guided and supported?

Leadership and management

4
How effective are leadership and management in raising achievement
and supporting all learners?

4
How effectively leaders and managers at all levels set clear direction leading
to improvement and promote high quality of care and education

4How effectively leaders andmanagers use challenging targets to raise standards
4The effectiveness of the school's self-evaluation
3How well equality of opportunity is promoted and discrimination eliminated
3How well does the school contribute to community cohesion?

4
How effectively and efficiently resources, including staff, are deployed to
achieve value for money

4
The extent to which governors and other supervisory boards discharge their
responsibilities

Yes
Do procedures for safeguarding learners meet current government
requirements?

YesDoes this school require special measures?
NoDoes this school require a notice to improve?

11 of 12Inspection Report: Manor Primary School, 3–4 June 2009

Page 137



Annex B

Text from letter to pupils explaining the findings of the inspection

Inspection of Manor Primary School, Birkenhead, CH43 7ZU

This letter is to tell you about my recent visit to inspect your school. It was good to meet so

many of you at break time, in class and in the school council meeting. It was also great to see

you making good use of the two refurbished playground areas. I thought most of you were

polite, sensible and cooperated well with others. I also thought most of you have a good

understanding of hazards and how to lead a safe life, particularly staying safe using the internet.

Most of you said you enjoy lessons, particularly the more practical lessons such as mathematics,

science, physical education and art. It was certainly clear you enjoy lessons more when you are

actively involved and when lessons are challenging and not too easy. Your school environment

is warm, inviting and the classrooms are good places to learn and to study.

Following my visit, I have decided Manor Primary needs to improve. This means that although

there are some things the school does well, in some very important areas there are weaknesses

which need to be tackled quickly for you to make better progress in your learning and to reach

higher standards. I have asked the school to:

■ Help you to attain higher levels in your work, particularly in English.
■ Improve the range of activities in lessons to help you learn more and make better progress.

I have also asked teachers to improve the guidance you get to improve your work so that

you know exactly what to do to reach a higher level.
■ Make regular checks to ensure that you are all doing as well as should in your work.

You and your teachers will be given help and support to carry out these improvements and

inspectors will visit the school regularly to check the progress everyone is making. You, your

teachers, parents and governors will all need to work together to ensure the school improves

as quickly as possible.

12 of 12Inspection Report: Manor Primary School, 3–4 June 2009

Page 138



SCHOOLS INCLUDED IN PROPOSED PHASE 6 
REVIEW BY SMALL PLANNING AREA 
!
SOUTH WALLASEY 
!
"#$%&'(()!$*#+,!,$*#-!.$%&#$!
$/#$0(%&!1#20*#,!
32%/-'*,!1#20*#,!
1*#3!1#20*#,!
#24$#-2)$!1#20*#,!
-(0$#42++$!1#20*#,!
-&!5(-$16-!.*&6(+2.!1#20*#,!7'8998:;<=!
!
NORTH WALLASEY 
+2-.*#)!1#20*#,!
/#$$%+$*-!1#20*#,!
0(>%&!1#20*#,!
%$'!"#2/6&(%!1#20*#,!
-&!*+"*%-!.*&6(+2.!1#20*#,!!
-&!/$(#/$-!1#20*#,!
--!1$&$#!?!1*>+!.*&6(+2.!1#20*#,!!
!
MORETON
$*-&'*,!1#20*#,!
+2%/6*0!1#20*#,!
-*%)"#((3!1#20*#,!
.6#2-&!.6>#.6!.$!*2)$)!1#20*#,!
-*.#$)!6$*#&!.*&6(+2.!1#20*#,!
!
GREASBY 
"#((3)*+$!1#20*#,!
/#$*-",!2%@*%&-!
/#$*-",!5>%2(#!
(>#!+*),!(@!12&,!.*&6(+2.!1#20*#,!
!
UPTON
(4$#.6>#.6!2%@*%&-!
(4$#.6>#.6!5>%2(#!
-&!5(-$16-!.*&6(+2.!1#20*#,!7>ABCD=!
!
BEECHWOOD 
0*%(#!1#20*#,!

Page 139



Page 140



WIRRAL COUNCIL      

CABINET – 1st OCTOBER 2009 

REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN’S SERVICES 

REVIEW OF SECONDARY SCHOOL PLACES PHASE 2 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This report provides an update of the position in respect of secondary school places in 
Wirral and describes recent developments, the current position and issues for the future in 
relation to the proposed Phase 2 of the Secondary Places Review.  Following various recent 
developments, the report also recommends that Phase 2 of the review be divided into two 
sub-phases. 

1.0 Background 

1.1  At its meeting of 29th November 2007, Cabinet instructed that Phase 1 of the Secondary 
Places Review should comprise schools in Birkenhead and Bebington (Wirral South). Phase 
2 of the Review would then comprise schools in Wirral West and Wallasey, due to begin in 
Autumn 2009. The report and minute form Appendix A to this report. 

1.2 Phase 1 has resulted in a complex option for consultation including the establishment of a 
mixed Academy and a Boys Academy, linked to the closure of three existing schools – 
Ridgeway High School, Rock Ferry High School and Park High School. The Secretary of 
State has issued a Statement of Intent for the two new Academies, and the process is 
currently at the Expression of Interest stage. The Council are acting both as sponsor and as 
Local Authority for both new Academies, and a separate report on the Expressions of 
Interest will be brought to Cabinet during the Autumn.  

1.3 As in Phase 1 of the Review, there are four essential elements in looking to plan future 
secondary school requirements across the Borough.  These are, firstly, the numbers of 
children expected to enter school over the next seven years (Section 2); secondly the 
capacity of the current stock of secondary schools, individually and in areas (Section 3), 
thirdly the impact of school size on standards, including the National Challenge (Section 4), 
and finally various other factors with implications for place provision (Section 5) 

1.4 This report updates Cabinet on changes to the four elements in 1.3 above and proposes a 
subdivision of Phase 2 of the Review. 

2.0 Pupil Numbers 
 

2.1   The projection method for Years 7 to 11 in secondary schools is as follows. In order to 
calculate the Year 7 intake for each future year, the actual number of pupils in Wirral 
primary schools is rolled forward to their equivalent Year 7 intake year, then multiplied by 
101.7 to reflect a historical increase at this transition point which is related to movement to 
the maintained sector from independent schools. Individual school Year 7 intakes are then 
based on the previous three years Year 7 intake figures. Years 8 to 11 at each individual 
school are simply rolled forward. 

 
2.2   Post-16 projections are not the focus of this report, however, for completeness, Year 12 

pupil numbers are calculated from Year 11 actual numbers at individual schools (excluding 
schools without sixth forms), to which the individual school’s historical staying on rate is 
applied. In a similar manner, Years 12 and 13 are calculated from the actual number on roll 
for the previous year, using the historical staying on rate.  

 
2.3 The number of secondary age pupils has already begun to fall, following as a natural 

consequence of the longstanding falling roll in primary schools, and will continue to fall in 
the future, based upon numbers of actual pupils now in primary schools which will translate 
into intakes up to 2016.  Total secondary numbers on roll, actual and projected, to 2016 are 
as set out below. 

Agenda Item 5

Page 141



 

YEAR PUPILS ANNUAL CHANGE CUMULATIVE CHANGE 

2002 21109   

2003 21432 +323 +323 

2004 21331 -101 +222 

2005 20955 -376 -154 

2006 20581 -374 -528 

2007 20051 -530 -1058 

2008 19439 -612 -1670 

2009 19007 -432 -2102 

    

2010 18894 -113 -2215 

2011 18485 -409 -2624 

2012 18064 -421 -3045 

2013 17696 -368 -3413 

2014 17283 -413 -3826 

2015 17169 -114 -3940 

ACTUAL 

PROJECTED 

2016 17165 -4 -3944 

 
The numbers set out above are for secondary age pupils (11 – 16) in mainstream schools, e.g. not including 
pupils in special schools or maintained sixth form provision. Actuals are as at the January Census. Projections 
from 2010 onwards include Birkenhead High Academy for Girls. Cumulative change is measured against 2002 
baseline. 

2.4 The above figures illustrate a significantly falling school roll across the Borough.  The levels 
of reduction are not evenly distributed between areas, or between individual schools within 
areas. The table below shows 11 to 16 numbers on roll at January 2009 and projected to 
2016 by area. 

 

 2009 2016 % Projected Fall 

Birkenhead 3734 3302 12% 

Wallasey 5244 4350 17% 

Wirral South 4442 4095 8% 

Wirral West 5896 5417 8% 

 The numbers set out above are for secondary age pupils (11 – 16) in mainstream schools, e.g. not including 
pupils in special schools or maintained sixth form provision. Actuals and Wirral areas are as at the January 
Census. Numbers on roll in 2009 for Birkenhead include Birkenhead High School for Girls to allow proper 
comparison with 2016. Woodchurch High School and Upton Hall School, previously included within the 
Birkenhead area, are now incorporated into Wirral West throughout this report in line with Local Authority 
planning areas. 

2.5 Pupils attending Wirral secondary schools over the next seven years already exist in Wirral 
primary schools. Migration is minimal, and while individual school rolls may vary, it seems 
reasonable to conclude that over the next seven years around 1,800 fewer pupils will require 
11 to 16 school provision, continuing a trend which has already resulted in over 2,400 fewer 
pupils in the system in 2009 than there were in 2003.  

3.0 School Capacity and Surplus Places 

3.1 Establishing the projected number of pupils is the first step in planning ahead, the second 
step is the calculation of the capacity of both individual schools and overall LA capacity, in 
order to try to achieve the best match between need and provision, whilst at the same time 
retaining some flexibility to allow parental preferences to be considered. 

3.2 The capacity of secondary schools is calculated by the DCSF Net Capacity method, used by 
all Local Authorities. This method replaced two former measures of school capacity, the 
Standard Number capacity (SN) and the More Open Enrolment (MoE) method, which 
produced anomalies and variations year on year. When first introduced in 2002/2003, the 
Net Capacity method resulted in reductions at some schools and increases in others. It 
seems likely that the Net Capacity method will continue to be used by the DCSF and LAs in Page 142



future years. There is little scope for “on paper” reductions in surplus places using this 
method.  

3.3 The Council is required to monitor surplus places, both by the DCSF and by the Audit 
Commission. The Audit Commission recommends that surplus places overall should be no 
higher than 10%. Below 4%, there may be little scope for parents to exercise their right to 
express a preference, while above 10% the Council is considered to be wasting resources 
supporting empty space, rather than directly funding education. In the most recent Supply of 
School Places return to the DCSF, the overall surplus percentage for secondary schools 
was calculated at 15%.  

3.4 DCSF also uses the number of schools with more than 25% and more than 30 surplus 
places as a measure of how effectively the LA is managing places. In January 2009, five of 
Wirral’s 22 secondary schools were in this category. The Authority is obliged to make a 
statement about schools in this category, stating how and when the surplus place issue is to 
be addressed, or if no action is to be taken, the reasons for this decision. 

3.5 Wirral is already above the Audit Commission’s recommended 10% maximum for surplus 
places, and has two schools in the 25% and 30 places category. No action is taken to 
address these issues, and applying the pupil projection methods given in 2.1 and 2.2 above, 
the overall Wirral surplus place percentage in secondary schools will increase to 24% by 
2016, more than double the Audit Commission’s maximum acceptable level.  

3.6 With regard to the DCSF 25% and 30 places measure, it is estimated that the number of 
schools exceeding this benchmark would rise from five to nine secondary schools by 
2015/2016, 40% of the total. 

3.7 Projections for percentage surplus and numbers of schools exceeding the 25% and 30 
places measure by area are given in the table below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The numbers set out above are for secondary and post-16 age pupils (11–19) in mainstream schools, e.g. not 
including pupils in special schools. Actuals are as at the January Census. For comparison purposes, 2009 
NOR and Capacity include Census and provisional Net Capacity data from Birkenhead High School for Girls. 

3.8 The two areas upon which the falling roll has and will continue to have most impact are 
Birkenhead and Wallasey. It should however be noted that surplus places are projected to 
increase in all parts of Wirral, and that by 2016 all four areas are expected to exceed the 
Audit Commission’s 10% maximum benchmark. 

 

3.9 As in the primary school sector, there are a number of methods of removing surplus places. 

• Re-allocation of space within schools for non-core purposes, such as extended services 
and other community provision. 

• Removal of temporary accommodation.  

• Changes in accommodation to meet the needs of a changing curriculum 

• Proposals for school re-organisation where other measures are insufficient to reduce 
surplus capacity to an acceptable level. 

3.10 The intention is that these methods will continue to be applied but increasingly it is the final 
one which will have most relevance.  

3.11 Phase 1 of the Secondary Places Review is intended to address falling rolls in the 
Birkenhead area, the outcome of which will necessarily also impact upon schools in the 
Wirral South area. Phase 1 will be the subject of a report to Cabinet during the Autumn. 

 2009 
number 
on roll 

2009 
Capacity 

% 2009 
Surplus 

% 2016 
surplus 
(projected) 

No. schools 
with 25% & 
30 places 

Birkenhead 4001 5838 32 35 3 out of 6 

Wallasey 6410 7539 15 30 3 out of 5 

Wirral South 5398 6249 13 19 1 out of 5 

Wirral West 7299 7902 8 16 2 out of 7 

Page 143



3.12 The surplus place situation in Wallasey remains the next most significant, however other 
factors lead to a recommendation to Cabinet to split Phase 2 into two sub-phases; the first 
being Wirral West, the second being Wallasey. 

4.0   School Size and Standards 

4.1 Section 4 of Appendix A covers this element in some detail, which will not be repeated here. 

4.2 At time of writing, no secondary school is in an Ofsted category of concern. 

4.3 On 10th June 2008, the DCSF announced the National Challenge, a three year £400 million 
programme targeting 638 schools in England where fewer than 30% of pupils achieved at 
least five GCSEs at A* to C, including English and maths in 2007, with the target of no 
schools in the below 30% category by 2011.  

4.4 Six Wirral secondary schools were identified as part of the National Challenge, three of 
which are included in the Phase 1 review area. They are: Ridgeway High School, Park High 
School and Rock Ferry High School. 

4.5 The remaining three schools fall within the Phase 2 review area. They are Wallasey School, 
Oldershaw School and Pensby High School for Boys. 

5.0 Other factors impacting on school capacity 

5.1 On 13th August 2009, the Planning Committee approved an application in relation to Plot 1 
(Northbank East) of the Wirral Waters development which would create 141 apartments in 
the Seacombe area. Outline planning permission has also been granted for an additional 
1,531 residential units divided between the Birkenhead and Seacombe sides of the 
waterfront area.  

5.2 The number of pupils generated on average by new housing developments is lower than is 
often thought to be the case. The Audit Commission recorded a range of three to six pupils 
per year group for every one hundred new homes built in their 1997 study ‘Trading Places’.  
In addition, family movement within Wirral means that some children moving to new 
developments will already be on roll at a Wirral secondary school. The first phase of 141 
apartments could reasonably be expected to produce an additional 40 pupils aged 11 to 18 
in the Seacombe area, although the majority of these would be expected to be existing 
Wirral residents. If fully realised and occupied, the entire Wirral Waters development could 
be expected to accommodate around 470 pupils aged 11 to 18. 

5.3 The majority of the Wirral West review area remains within the Council’s West Wirral 
planning restraint area for new housing development, and as such, new housing is unlikely 
to impact greatly on secondary schools in this area. 

6.0 Birkenhead High School for Girls Academy update 

6.1 Following final approval from the Secretary of State in Spring 2009, this former fee-paying 
independent school for girls is now a 3 to 19 Academy for girls from September 2009. The 
admission number for entry to Foundation 2 is 40 pupils, with an admission number of 100 
pupils to Year 7. 

6.2 There are substantial and wide-ranging implications to the Authority, not only in terms of 
school place planning and data sharing with the new Birkenhead High Academy, but in 
terms of financial and staffing implications of the Authority’s involvement with the 
procurement and delivery of £10.5 million of capital works at the Birkenhead High Academy 
sites. This capital is in addition to previous indicative allocations to the Authority for BSF. 

6.3 Using the Partnerships for Schools framework, Mott MacDonald has now been appointed as 
an external technical advisor in relation to the proposed capital works at Birkenhead High 
Academy. Mott MacDonald Group is a management, engineering and development 
consultancy serving the public and private sectors worldwide. In 2009, the company was 
named Best Technical Advisor in the Infrastructure Journal Awards. 

6.4 In terms of admissions, the current allocation for entry to Birkenhead High Academy in Year 
7 in 2009 breaks down as follows: 

  Page 144



 Birkenhead  - 42% 

 Wirral West     -          29% 

 Wallasey         -          14% 

 Wirral South  -  10% 

 Out of Borough   -        5% 

 38% of allocated pupils had previously attended Year 6 of the former independent school, of 
whom a third had joined Birkenhead High School for Girls for all or part of Year 6 only. 
Pupils on roll at Birkenhead High School for Girls at the end of Year 6 in Summer 2009 were 
guaranteed a place in Year 7 at the Girls Academy in September 2009. 

6.5 If this pattern of admission from the various areas of Wirral continues into future years, there 
is likely to be further significant impact on numbers of girls entering existing schools not only 
in Birkenhead, but also in the Wirral West area. 

7.0 Inclusion 

7.1 At its meeting of 23rd April 2009, Cabinet approved the development of a new build 11 to 19 
school for young people with complex learning difficulties on a split site. The 11 to 16 
provision of approximately 135 places is to be co-located with a mainstream secondary 
school. In reorganising Wirral’s secondary school provision, potential sites for co-location 
should be considered. 

7.2 There may be further opportunities to locate special needs bases/places within mainstream 
secondary schools, meeting the increasing national emphasis on inclusive education. Given 
the small numbers of pupils involved, any impact on rolls or surplus places is expected to be 
minimal. 

8.0 Building Schools for the Future and PFI 

8.1 The Council’s Private Finance Initiative (PFI) has resulted in the rebuild or significant 
remodelling of 9 secondary schools and one primary school. A unitary charge is payable on 
these buildings for twenty-five years after the building is handed over the Local Authority. 
This liability remains whether or not the building remains in use as a school, however it does 
not preclude options affecting schools occupying PFI buildings. 

8.2 Due partly to Wirral’s participation in PFI, the Council’s place in the original ranking for the 
national Building Schools for the Future (BSF) programme was in wave D, which meant full 
participation by 2016. In advance of the full BSF programme, Wirral was invited to take part 
in a One School Pathfinder scheme to fully re-build one secondary school, and the 
rebuilding of Woodchurch High School was approved by Cabinet on 15th November 2006. 
Building work officially began on site in May 2009. The new building is due to be open in 
September 2010. 

8.3 The national BSF programme has subsequently been re-ordered by Partnerships for 
Schools (the national body managing BSF) and Wirral now have a three phase listing rather 
than the single start in 2016. Wirral’s Phase 1 is listed as a priority entry into BSF at a date 
yet to be determined. 

8.4 As part of the full BSF programme, the Council will be required to draw up a Strategy for 
Change and an Outline Business Case articulating its vision for transforming secondary 
school provision and outlining the principles that would underpin the programme. 

These principles are likely to include: 

• Meeting the demands of 21st century learning activities and curriculum changes 

• Access to ICT 

• Inclusion 

• Extended schools provision 

• Specialist facilities 

• Promoting physical and mental well-being 
Page 145



8.5 It is important to start planning and consulting early with schools, parents/carers and other 
stakeholders, and to begin thinking in depth about what modern schools should look like and 
where funding and work can be targeted most effectively.  

9.0 Dividing Phase 2 of the Secondary Places Review 

9.1 In thinking about how to provide the best educational opportunities for Wirral’s future 
children and young people, we must give consideration as to whether we have not only the 
right number of schools, but the right size of schools to meet the needs of Wirral’s 
secondary school population.  

9.2 Cabinet are asked to approve the sub-division of Phase 2 into two phases – 2A to comprise 
Wirral West, 2B to involve the Wallasey area. 

9.3 The factors involved in this recommendation include: 

• The limited availability of staffing resource to support the review process 

• The recent approval of the Wirral Waters development in Seacombe and the 
subsequent potential impact on school rolls in that area 

• The implications of the National Challenge 

• Opportunities for change, linked to Building Schools for the Future 

• The impact of Birkenhead High Academy for Girls 

• The falling roll situation in the Wirral West area, which, although impacting on all 
schools (including Grammar schools) is relatively localised to the Pensby area. 

9.4 All schools in the Wirral West area would be reviewed in Phase 2A, which would involve 
Calday Grange Grammar School for Boys, Hilbre High School, Pensby High School for 
Boys, Pensby High School for Girls, Upton Hall School, West Kirby Grammar School for 
Girls, and Woodchurch High School. The last bullet point above indicates that the falling roll 
is most localised to the Pensby area, and these two schools are discussed in more detail 
below. 

9.5 Pensby High School for Boys is in the 25% and above surplus place category. By 2016, 
both Pensby High School for Boys and Pensby High School for Girls are projected to fall into 
this category. There are 1,422 pupils on roll between the two schools in 2009, and 328 
surplus places (19% overall). By 2016, the total roll is projected to fall to 1,163 pupils, while 
surplus places rise to 587 (34% overall). 

9.6 Pensby High School for Boys is also one of the six schools identified in 2008 as part of the 
National Challenge (Section 4). 

9.7 The two schools are located on the same site, and already share alternating floors in the  
central “tower”. The two schools have successfully operated a joint Sixth Form, albeit with 
two separate heads of Sixth Form, for around 20 years. This enables what would otherwise 
be two small school sixth forms – approximately 100 pupils each – to offer a wider range of 
post-16 subjects and curriculum opportunities. 

9.8 Individually, each school is relatively small in overall pupil numbers. As a combined school, 
either by amalgamation, or hard federation, the total number on roll should secure the 
viability of secondary school provision for boys and girls in Pensby.  

9.9 A hard federation differs from amalgamation in that it involves the two schools remaining 
separate in terms of budgets, admissions and performance data, each school being 
inspected separately by Ofsted. The two schools would operate under a single governing 
body. There are a range of possible senior leadership structures. Federations can only be 
proposed by the Governing bodies of two or more schools.  

9.10 As discussed in Section 8, it is vital for BSF to begin thinking early how capital funding can 
be targeted most effectively. It is recommended that the Wirral West area be targeted in 
Phase 2A of the Secondary School Review, beginning in Autumn 2009. It is hoped that 
Phase 2B (Wallasey) would then commence in Autumn 2010. 

 
Page 146



10.0 Secondary Place Review Process 
 
10.1 This report proposes that in addition to the existing measures set out in 3.9 above that a 

review of secondary school places in the Phase 2A area is begun in Autumn 2009 to match 
current provision against future predicted need and draw up proposals for discussion and 
further consultation, leading to formal proposals, where appropriate. This will also enable the 
Authority to be prepared for BSF, and for any further “advance” projects that might arise of a 
similar nature to the current One School Pathfinder at Woodchurch High School. 

10.2 Should a school be placed in an Ofsted category of concern during this time, it may alter the 
timescale for schools in that area. 

10.3 As Phase 1 of the Secondary Places Review, and in the on-going Primary Places Review, it 
is proposed that a review document be produced for each area, including the following 
information: 

 (a) Relevant cabinet reports 
 (b) Maps of the area 
 (c) School data, including Aided provision. 
 (d) Demographics and projections 
 (e) Current school populations plotted by address. 

(f) Asset Management Data 
(g) Other services / provision currently located on school sites. 
(h) School performance data 
(i) Diocesan Body statement 

 This document would be used as the basis for pre-consultation discussions with school 
governors and headteachers, Diocesan Bodies, other Council departments and relevant 
external bodies, with a view to producing options for more formal consultation as 
appropriate.   

10.4 The outcome of the pre-consultation, including any options for formal consultation, will be 
the subject of a future report to Cabinet. If Cabinet approves options for formal consultation 
at that stage, the next step would be to publish the options and hold wide consultation with 
stakeholders including parents/carers.  

10.5 Following consultation, a further report will be brought to Cabinet, containing 
recommendations for next steps, which may include statutory proposals. The earliest date 
for implementation of such proposals would be September 2011.  

10.6 The challenges created by the falling roll also offer an opportunity to make a significant 
investment and complete the transformation of Wirral’s secondary schools, begun by PFI, to 
ensure that all pupils and their communities have access to high-quality secondary 
education, in high quality facilities, fit for purpose for 21st century education and provide 
stability in this sector for a significant period of time. 

10.7 The review process proposed in this report will enable the Council to be well-placed to make 
best use of BSF and other funding streams, by developing a comprehensive strategic vision 
for the future of secondary school provision in Wirral.   

11.0 Financial Implications 
 
11.1 Inaction will mean spending larger proportions of the overall schools budget on fixed costs, 

and consequently less directly on pupils. The decisions on school re-organisation emanating 
from the Primary Places Review have already demonstrated value for money and enabled 
the Authority to devote more resources to children’s education in order to produce better 
quality outcomes, leading to higher standards and more efficient use of capital. The first 
three phases of the Primary Places Review will enable more than £500,000 to be 
redistributed each year which would otherwise have been spent on fixed costs. 

11.2 The Council’s existing consultation option for Phase 1 of the Review, if implemented, will not 
be funded directly through the Building Schools for the Future programme, but will impact on 
the amount of capital funding available to the Council when Wirral enters the full BSF 
programme. 

Page 147



12.0 Staffing Implications 

12.1 Current staffing levels are one of the factors involved in proposing a division of Phase 2 into 
two sub-phases. 

13.0 Equal Opportunities Implications 
 
13.1 It is essential to plan school provision across the Authority so that it is both efficient and 

effective in the interests of all pupils. 

13.2 An equality impact assessment will be carried out on this report. 
 

14.0 Community Safety Implications 
 
14.1 Rationalisation and refurbishment of schools allow the most vulnerable accommodation to 

be removed and other security improvements carried out. 
 
15.0 Local Agenda 21 Implications 
 
15.1 The removal of old, inefficient accommodation contributes to Council principles and targets 

in respect of Agenda 21. 
 
16.0 Planning Implications 
 
16.1 The relationship between housing development policy and school place provision is a factor 

in considering surplus place removal.  

16.2 Any proposals that may arise out of options after the consultation and decision making 
process for school re-organisation would be subject to the usual planning processes. 

17.0 Anti-Poverty Implications 

17.1 The redistribution of funding released by school reorganisation, in combination with the 
Authority’s intention to realign the schools budget to give higher levels of funding to schools 
with high levels of deprivation, as well as improved accommodation, goes towards raising 
aspirations and narrowing the attainment gap for vulnerable groups. 

18.0 Social Inclusion Implications 

18.1 School re-organisation and transforming secondary mainstream and secondary special 
accommodation through BSF and other schemes, provides opportunities to promote joint 
agency work to promote co-ordinated solutions for pupils and their families. There is scope 
for community participation in the design process of new school buildings through BSF, 
raising the school’s profile within the community. 

19.0 Local Member Support Implications 
 
19.1 Secondary school re-organisation has relevance to all Wards.  

19.2 Wirral West secondary schools are located in the following Wards: Hoylake and Meols, 
Pensby and Thingwall, Upton, West Kirby and Thurstaston. 

 
20.0 Background Papers 
 
20.1 Audit Commission Report: Planning School Places in Wirral September 2004. 

 Asset Management Plan and Statement of Priorities. 

School Census, January 2009 

Supply of School Places return, August 2009, to DCSF requirements. 

Other data held in Department 

Page 148



Recommendations 
(1) That approval be given to the division of Phase 2 of the review of secondary school 

provision into Phase 2A and Phase 2B, beginning with pre-consultation with headteachers 
and chairs of governors in schools in Wirral West. 

(2) That options arising from this initial consultation be the subject of a further report to Cabinet 
with my recommendations for option(s) to proceed to wider, formal, consultation with all 
stakeholders.  

 
 

Howard Cooper 
Director of Children’s Services 

 

Page 149



Page 150

This page is intentionally left blank



3
WIRRAL COUNCIL

CABINET – 29TH NOVEMBER 2007

REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN’S SERVICES

PROVISION OF SECONDARY SCHOOL PLACES – FUTURE STRATEGY

Executive Summary

This report provides a summary of the position in respect of secondary school places
and describes recent developments, the current position and issues for the future.  It
identifies a significant increase in secondary surplus places over the medium term if
further action is not taken and proposes a phased review of secondary school
provision, involving schools and stakeholders, to identify any further opportunities for
the removal of surplus places.

1.0 Background

1.1 There are four elements in looking to plan future secondary school requirements
across the Borough.  These are, firstly, the numbers of children expected to enter
school over the next seven years; secondly the capacity of the current stock of
secondary schools, individually and in areas, thirdly the impact of school size on
standards, and finally a series of factors with implications for place provision.  These
include developments within the Education System: for example, those arising from
the Children Act and Extended Schools, Building Schools for the Future and the need
for diversity in school provision, the duty to respond to parental preference, and
external factors which impact on secondary school numbers; for example, Housing
Market Renewal and new housing developments.

2.0 Pupil Numbers

2.1  The projection method for Years 7 to 11 in secondary schools is as follows. In order to
calculate the Year 7 intake for each future year, the actual number of pupils in Wirral
primary schools is rolled forward to their equivalent Year 7 intake year, then multiplied
by 101.7 to reflect a historical increase at this transition point which is related to
movement to the maintained sector from independent schools. Individual school Year 7
intakes are then based on the previous three years Year 7 intake figures. Years 8 to 11
at each individual school are simply rolled forward.

2.2   Post-16 projections are not the focus of this report, however, for completeness, Year 12
pupil numbers are calculated from Year 11 actual numbers at individual schools
(excluding schools without sixth forms), to which the individual school’s historical
staying on rate is applied. In a similar manner, Years 12 and 13 are calculated from the
actual number on roll for the previous year, using the historical staying on rate.

2.3 The number of secondary age pupils has already begun to fall, following as a natural
consequence of the longstanding falling roll in primary schools, and will continue to fall
in the future, based upon numbers of actual pupils now in primary schools which will

Page 151



translate into intakes up to 2014.  Total secondary numbers on roll, actual and
projected, to 2014 are as set out below.

YEAR PUPILS ANNUAL CHANGE

2000 20599

2001 20995 +396

2002 21109 +114

2003 21432 +323

2004 21331 -101

2005 20955 -376

2006 20581 -374

2007 20051 -530

2008 19474 -577

2009 19005 -469

2010 18573 -432

2011 18221 -352

2012 17848 -373

2013 17545 -303

ACTUAL

PROJECTED

2014 17164 -381

The numbers set out above are for secondary age pupils (11 – 16) in mainstream schools, e.g. not
including pupils in special schools or maintained sixth form provision. Actuals are as at the January
Census.

2.4 The above figures illustrate a significantly falling school roll across the Borough.
The levels of reduction are not evenly distributed between areas, or between
individual schools within areas. The table below shows 11 to 16 numbers on roll at
January 2007, and projected to 2014, by area.

2007 2014 % Projected Fall

Birkenhead 5936 4868 18%

Wallasey 5536 4617 17%

Bebington 4550 4032 11%

Deeside 4029 3647 10%

The numbers set out above are for secondary age pupils (11 – 16) in mainstream schools, e.g. not
including pupils in special schools or maintained sixth form provision. Actuals and Wirral areas are
as at the January Census.

2.5 Pupils attending Wirral secondary schools over the next seven years already exist
in Wirral primary schools. Migration is minimal, and while individual school rolls
may vary, it seems reasonable to conclude that over the next seven years almost
3,000 fewer pupils will require 11 to 16 school provision, continuing a trend which
has already resulted in over 1,300 fewer pupils in the system in 2007 than there
were in 2003. The average size of a Wirral secondary school is around 1000
pupils, with a range of 645 to 1560.

3.0 School Capacity and Surplus Places

3.1 Establishing the projected number of pupils is the first step in planning ahead, the
second step is the calculation of the capacity of both individual schools and overall
LA capacity, in order to try to achieve the best match between need and provision,
whilst at the same time retaining some flexibility to allow parental preferences to
be considered.

Page 152



3.2 The capacity of secondary schools is calculated by the DCSF Net Capacity
method, used by all Local Authorities. This method replaced two former measures
of school capacity, the Standard Number capacity (SN) and the More open
Enrolment (MoE) method, which produced anomalies and variations year on year.
When first introduced in 2002/2003, the Net Capacity method resulted in
reductions at some schools and increases in others. It seems likely that the Net
Capacity method will continue to be used by the DCSF and LAs in future years.
There is little scope for “paper” reductions in surplus places using this method.

3.3 The Council is required to monitor surplus places, both by the DCSF and by the
Audit Commission. The Audit Commission recommends that surplus places overall
should be no higher than 10%. Below 4%, there may be little scope for parents to
exercise their right to express a preference, while above 10% the Council is
considered to be wasting resources supporting empty space, rather than directly
funding education. In the most recent Supply of School Places return to the DCSF,
the overall surplus percentage for secondary schools was calculated at 11%.

3.4 DCSF also uses the number of schools with more than 25% and more than 30
surplus places as a measure of how effectively the LA is managing places. In
January 2007, two of Wirral’s 22 secondary schools were in this category. The
Authority is obliged to make a statement about schools in this category, stating
how and when the surplus place issue is to be addressed, or if no action is to be
taken, the reasons for this decision.

3.5 Wirral is already above the Audit Commission’s recommended 10% maximum for
surplus places, and has two schools in the 25% and 30 places category. No action
is taken to address these issues, and applying the pupil projection methods given
in 2.1 and 2.2 above, the overall Wirral surplus place percentage in secondary
schools will increase to 23% by 2014, more than double the Audit Commission’s
maximum acceptable level.

3.6 With regard to the DCSF 25% and 30 places measure, it is estimated that the
number of schools exceeding this benchmark would rise to a third of secondary
schools by 2013/2014.

3.7 Projections for percentage surplus and numbers of schools exceeding the 25%
and 30 places measure by area are given in the table below.

The numbers set out above are for secondary and post-16 age pupils (11–19) in mainstream
schools, e.g. not including pupils in special schools. Actuals are as at the January Census.

3.8 In 2007, the two areas upon which the falling roll has had most impact are
Birkenhead and Wallasey. It should however be noted that surplus places are
projected to increase in all parts of Wirral.

3.9 As in the primary school sector, there are a number of methods of removing
surplus places.

• Re-allocation of space within schools for non-core purposes, such as extended
services and other community provision.

2007
number on
roll

2007
Capacity

% 2007
Surplus

% 2014
surplus
(projected)

No. schools
with 25% &
30 places

Birkenhead 6340 7539 16 30 4 out of 7

Wallasey 6572 7612 14 27 1out of 5

Bebington 5486 5977 8 18 1 out of 5

Deeside 5190 5496 6 14 1 out of 5

Page 153



• Removal of temporary accommodation.

• Changes in accommodation to meet the needs of a changing curriculum

• Proposals for school re-organisation where other measures are insufficient to
reduce surplus capacity to an acceptable level.

3.10 The intention is that these methods will continue to be applied but increasingly it is
the final one which will have most relevance. 

View of the Schools Forum

3.11 Members should note that in June 2005 the Schools Forum passed the following
resolution:

“Resolved - That Wirral Schools Forum recognises that the local education
authority has a duty to maintain and fund schools in an efficient and effective
manner.  This implies that the number of schools should reflect the pupil
population and the needs of Wirral communities, which could mean the
amalgamation or closure of schools for the efficiency and effectiveness of the
service.”

4.0 School size, funding and standards

4.1 Funding is delegated to the governing bodies of individual schools based on a
multi-factorial budget formula, the principal component in which is the Age
Weighted Pupil Unit (AWPU). Consequently, schools with more pupils on roll will
clearly have a larger budget, while schools with fewer pupils will receive a smaller
budget.

4.2 The budget formula ensures that all schools have sufficient resources to operate,
regardless of size, although increasingly difficult compromises have to be made as
schools get smaller – see further comment below. Smallness alone would not
cause any school to become financially unviable. What does happen is that small
schools draw in a greater share of the resource per pupil from the total available
for distributing among all schools. Since the total sum available for spending on all
our children does not increase if we choose as an Authority to organise our
children in more schools than is necessary for the efficient and effective delivery of
education, it follows that the maintenance of small schools, where this is not
necessary, comes at the expense of all other children.

4.3 Larger schools can employ more staff, and through division of labour, employ
more specialist subject teachers. Smaller schools may only require a small amount
of teaching in certain subjects, and face compromises in terms of the range of
subjects they are able to offer, and the grouping arrangements they are able to
employ.

4.4 Earlier in 2007, under the guidance of a seconded headteacher, a group of
curriculum deputy headteachers representing different types of school met to
discuss issues of curriculum viability. The group acknowledged that compromises
were necessary as the number pupils in each year group reduced, limiting not only
the breadth of subject choice available to pupils, but also placing pressure on
teachers to teach outside their subject area, and on the school to employ more
part-time staff, as well as limiting grouping arrangements and creating timetabling
difficulties. The outcome is reported as Appendix A.

4.5 Given the diverse nature of Wirral’s secondary school provision, the group’s view
was that a definite size beyond which a school was no longer viable was
impossible to determine. However, the group agreed that the compromises
became increasingly difficult for cohorts approaching 100 pupils.

Page 154



4.6 National research on secondary school size has been scarce, but a study carried
out in 2002 suggests that the optimum cohort size for a comprehensive school is
between 175 and 200 pupils. For an 11 to 16 secondary school, this would result
in between 875 and 1000 total pupils.

4.7 Other Councils who have already begun reviewing their secondary school
provision have produced various optimum sizes, often with a range rather than a
fixed number. Local context and population patterns are inevitably a factor in the
variation between local authorities. Sefton Council, which is one of Wirral’s
statistical neighbours, have stated that they “will not be prescriptive on the issue
on school size”, but that as a guide they consider that 11 to 16 schools should
have at least 90 pupils per year, and 11 to 18 schools at least 120. This is not
dissimilar to the 100 pupil figure agreed by the Wirral working group. 

4.8 With regard to organisational viability there can be no question that small schools
face greater challenges.  This of course does not mean that at any one time a
particular small school cannot produce excellence through having outstanding
teachers.  In many parts of the country it is a clear necessity to maintain small
schools because the alternative would be that children be transported, perhaps for
a number of miles, to the nearest school.  Authorities who have such schools
receive additional funding from the government which enables them to spend
more on these schools without it being at the expense of others, in order for them
to be organisationally viable.  Wirral does not receive this element of grant.

4.9 No Wirral secondary school is currently in an Ofsted category of concern, however
were to this to occur, this could trigger a school review as there is a duty to
consider whether schools in these categories should be closed or amalgamated
with another school.

4.10 In thinking about how to provide the best educational opportunities for Wirral’s
future children and young people, we must give consideration as to whether we
have not only the right number of schools, but the right size of schools to meet the
needs of Wirral’s secondary school population.

5.0 Other factors impacting on school capacity

5.1 Other factors can be broadly grouped into changes to communities in Wirral which
impact on pupil numbers and the debate about the nature and form of secondary
education provision and the subsequent implications for school size, structures,
inter-school relationships and locations, which has been brought about by the
Children Bill and other recent and proposed legislation.

5.2 Looking firstly at changes to communities in Wirral, the biggest changes impacting
on school provision over the next ten years are likely to come from the Housing
Market Renewal Strategy in the Birkenhead, Tranmere, Rock Ferry and
Seacombe areas.  Once future options are brought forward to the Council and the
community, then more detailed work will be undertaken to assess the implications
for secondary school places and provision and consider options for the future to
complement, integrate with and support the Housing Market Renewal Initiative
(HMRI). However, it is unlikely that this will have a significant impact on pupil
numbers.

5.3 Clearly, sufficient “spare” capacity has to remain in the system to deal with local
growth fluctuations as a result of new development.  The number of pupils
generated on average by new housing developments is lower than is often thought
to be the case; the Audit Commission recorded a range of three to six pupils per
year group for every one hundred new homes built in their 1997 study ‘Trading
Places’.  Added to this is the situation that family movement within Wirral means

Page 155



that some children moving to new developments will already be on roll at a Wirral
secondary school.  The current planning development rules for parts of Wirral are
also a factor to be taken into account, for example, the restrictions on new
housing.

5.4 In addition to these “practical” factors regarding pupil numbers and premises
capacity there is a need to set the places debate into a framework which considers
not only pupil numbers but links provision to the aims, principles and aspirations
for secondary education in Wirral, thereby providing a template for consideration
when looking at individual schools, groups of schools or provision across larger
areas.

5.5 It is also important that Aided school provision is considered in overall school
place planning in any area. Across the borough, there are two all-ability mixed sex
Catholic Aided secondary schools, and two single sex Catholic Aided grammar
schools. There is no Church of England secondary school. There will be a
continuing need to work in partnership with the Diocesan Bodies in looking at
future capacity needs in the secondary sector.  The generally falling roll may
impact unevenly, to some extent, on Aided and community schools.

5.6 In the future, curriculum changes may alter some of the issues and ease some of
the difficulties, for example, increased flexibility at KS3 may reduce the need for
specialist teachers and facilities. The introduction of specialised diplomas at 14 to
19 may also lead to a change in staffing arrangements and facilities. We cannot
determine the full impact of curriculum changes at this point in time, however
these changes are unlikely to change the fact that smaller schools are unable to
provide the breadth of choice for pupils that larger schools can.

5.7 The Government has recently announced their plans to require young people to
remain in school, training or workplace training until the age of 18 from 2013. In
2006, Connexions estimated that 1,210 or 10% of young people aged 16 to 19 in
Wirral were NEET (Not in Education, Employment and Training), which is above
the average proportion of NEET young people across the North West region
(8.9%), but below the Merseyside regional average (10.8%). The document
“Raising Expectations: Staying in education or training post-16 – from policy to
legislation”, available at:
http://www.dfes.gov.uk/14-19/documents/Raising%20Expectations.pdf sets out the
economic and social imperatives behind the change. The first age group to be
affected will enter secondary school in September 2008. The change does not,
however, mean that pupils would be forced to stay in school or continue with
academic lessons, as the definition also includes vocational and further education
college courses, as well as apprenticeships and work-based learning. The change
in the participation age is unlikely to have a significant impact on overall numbers
on roll in school-based provision.

6.0 Academy and Independent School developments

6.1 Birkenhead High School is a 3 to 19 fee-paying independent school for girls,
operated by the Girls Day School Trust (GDST) and sited at Devonshire Place,
Prenton. There are currently around 640 girls on roll across the age range,
including 96 in post-16 education. The school draws pupils from across Wirral,
with a small number travelling from out of borough. The admissions arrangements
have recently been altered to enable boys to be admitted to the 3 to 7 age range.

6.2 In early October, it was announced that the GDST had approached the Academies
division of the DCSF with a view to becoming an Academy from September 2009.Page 156



The school has released a statement via its website which can be read at:
http://www.gdst.net/birkenheadhigh/

6.3 This application is at an early stage, and there has yet to be a full formal
consultation which must involve the Authority. If it is approved by the Academies
Division, the school would become an all girls Academy with approximately 900
free places for girls aged 3 to 19. Parents of existing pupils will no longer be
required to pay fees. The school intends to phase admissions by admitting new
pupils only to F2 (Reception), Year 7 and Year 12 (sixth form) in the first year, with
all other year groups remaining unchanged in terms of “in-filling”. The school
intends to select 10% of pupils in Year 7 on the basis of aptitude in music. All other
places would be allocated on the basis of a “fair banding” system, the details of
which are currently unclear.

6.4 The school indicates that there would be two forms of entry to F2, and four forms
of entry to Year 7. Currently classes in primary phase have up to 20 pupils, whilst
classes in secondary phase have no more than 24 pupils. The Academy would
admit girls only up to age 16, but there is a possibility of boys being admitted into
the Sixth Form department.

6.5 Shortly after the GDST announced their intention to apply for Academy status, the
independent Birkenhead School (Boys) announced that it will become a co-
educational school from September 2008. Ahead of this date, they have stated
that girls will be admitted to Foundation 2, Year 1 and Year 2 (Key Stage 1) from
January 2008, to Years 3 to 5 from April 2008, and to Year 6 and the Senior
school from September 2008. They will remain independent, and retain their fees
and selection system. Further detail is available via the school’s website.
http://www.birkenheadschool.co.uk/news/coed.htm

6.6 Changes to the independent school sector, creating more mainstream places for
girls, is likely to have an impact on both primary and secondary school places and
pupil numbers, particularly in schools in the local area to Birkenhead High School,
(although the Academy proposal is to draw pupils from the wider Wirral area).
There are four secondary schools within two miles of Birkenhead High School
which admit girls, they are Park High, Prenton High for Girls, Ridgeway High and
Woodchurch High Schools. Upton Hall School, a Catholic Aided grammar school
for girls is just over 2 miles away. St Anselm’s Catholic Aided College is within 2
miles, and may be affected if boys are admitted to the new Academy’s Sixth Form.
Other schools further afield may also be impacted if this change is approved.

6.7 It would be prudent to invite representatives from Birkenhead High School to
participate in the pre-consultation exercise referred to in section 10 below.

7.0 Inclusion

7.1 Concurrent with the proposed review of mainstream secondary school provision, a
seconded special school headteacher will be leading on an investigation of the
future of secondary special school provision in Wirral. This will be the subject of a
separate report to Cabinet.

7.2 Nationally, there has been an increasing emphasis on inclusive education, that is,
the education of more children and young people with special needs within
mainstream educational settings. There may be opportunities to locate special
needs bases within mainstream secondary schools, or indeed to co-locate special
schools with their mainstream counterparts.

7.3 The numbers of pupils involved are relatively small, and while this is an important
accommodation factor to be considered, especially within the Council’s vision forPage 157



Building Schools for the Future, the impact on surplus places and school size is
expected to be minimal.

8.0 Building Schools for the Future and PFI

8.1 The Council’s Private Finance Initiative (PFI) has resulted in the rebuild or
significant remodelling of 9 secondary schools and one primary school. A unitary
charge is payable on these buildings for twenty-five years after the building is
handed over the Local Authority. This liability remains whether or not the building
remains in use as a school, however it does not preclude options affecting schools
occupying PFI buildings.

8.2 Due partly to Wirral’s participation in PFI, the Council’s place in the national
Building Schools for the Future (BSF) programme is in wave D, which means full
participation by 2016. In advance of the full BSF programme, Wirral was invited to
take part in a One School Pathfinder scheme to fully re-build one secondary
school, and the rebuilding of Woodchurch High School was approved by Cabinet
on 15th November 2006. Design and programme development are underway,
architects and relevant Technical Services staff have been appointed to the
scheme. Completion is anticipated in August 2009, with subsequent demolition of
part of the existing buildings and ground works.

8.3 As part of the full BSF programme, the Council will be required to draw up a
Strategy for Change and an outline business case articulating its vision for
transforming secondary school provision and outlining the principles that would
underpin the programme.

These principles are likely to include:

• Meeting the demands of 21st century learning activities and curriculum
changes

• Access to ICT

• Inclusion

• Extended schools provision

• Specialist facilities

• Promoting physical and mental well-being

8.4 It is important to start planning and consulting early with schools, parents/carers
and other stakeholders, and to begin thinking in depth about what modern schools
should look like and where funding and work can be targeted most effectively.

9.0 Secondary Place Review Process

9.1 It is proposed that in addition to the existing measures set out in 3.9 above that a
review of secondary school places is begun in Autumn 2007 to match current
provision against future predicted need and draw up proposals for discussion and
further consultation, leading to formal proposals, where appropriate. This will also
enable the Authority to be prepared for BSF, and for any further “advance” projects
that might arise of a similar nature to the current One School Pathfinder at
Woodchurch High School.

9.2 Surplus places are currently highest in Birkenhead and Wallasey, lower in Deeside
and Bebington. However preliminary analysis indicates that Birkenhead and
Bebington have interlinked pupil populations at the secondary level, and
consequently should be reviewed together in Phase 1 during 2007/2008. Wallasey
and Deeside areas will then form Phase 2 of the Secondary review. Should a

Page 158



school be placed in an Ofsted category of concern during this time, it may alter the
timescale for schools in that area.

9.3 As in the on-going Primary Places Review, it is proposed that a review document
be produced for each area, including the following information:

(a) Relevant cabinet reports
(b) Maps of the area
(c) School data, including Aided provision.
(d) Demographics and projections
(e) Current school populations plotted by address.
(f) Asset Management Data
(g) Other services / provision currently located on school sites.
(h) School performance data
(i) Diocesan Body statement

This document would be used as the basis for pre-consultation discussions with
school governors and headteachers, Diocesan Bodies, other Council departments
and relevant external bodies, with a view to producing options for more formal
consultation as appropriate.

9.4 The outcome of the pre-consultation, including any options for formal consultation,
will be the subject of a future report to Cabinet. If Cabinet approves options for
formal consultation at that stage, the next step would be to publish the options and
hold wide consultation with stakeholders including parents/carers.

9.5 Following consultation, a further report will be brought to Cabinet, containing
recommendations for next steps, which may include statutory proposals. The
earliest date for implementation of such proposals would be September 2009.

9.6 The challenges created by the falling roll also offer an opportunity to make a
significant investment and complete the transformation of Wirral’s secondary
schools, begun by PFI, to ensure that all pupils and their communities have
access to high-quality secondary education, in high quality facilities, fit for purpose
for 21st century education and provide stability in this sector for a significant period
of time.

9.7 The review process proposed in this report will enable the Council to be well-
placed to make best use of BSF and other funding streams, by developing a
comprehensive strategic vision for the future of secondary school provision in
Wirral.

10.0 Financial Implications

10.1 Inaction will mean spending larger proportions of the overall schools budget on
fixed costs, and consequently less directly on pupils. The decisions on school re-
organisation emanating from the Primary Places Review have already
demonstrated value for money and enabled the Authority to devote more
resources to children’s education in order to produce better quality outcomes,
leading to higher standards and more efficient use of capital. The first three
phases of the Primary Places Review will enable more than £500,000 to be
redistributed each year which would otherwise have been spent on fixed costs.

11.0 Staffing Implications

11.1 Current staffing levels will need to be taken into account in determining the
number and timescale of proposed area reviews.

Page 159



12.0 Equal Opportunities Implications

12.1 It is essential to plan school provision across the Authority so that it is both
efficient and effective in the interests of all pupils.

13.0 Community Safety Implications

13.1 Rationalisation and refurbishment of schools allow the most vulnerable
accommodation to be removed and other security improvements carried out.

14.0 Local Agenda 21 Implications

14.1 The removal of old, inefficient accommodation contributes to Council principles
and targets in respect of Agenda 21.

15.0 Planning Implications

15.1 The relationship between housing development policy and school place provision
is a factor in considering surplus place removal.

15.2 Any proposals that may arise out of options after the consultation and decision
making process for school re-organisation would be subject to the usual planning
processes.

16.0 Anti-Poverty Implications

16.1 The redistribution of funding released by school reorganisation, in combination
with the Authority’s intention to realign the schools budget to give higher levels of
funding to schools with high levels of deprivation, as well as improved
accommodation, goes towards raising aspirations and narrowing the attainment
gap for vulnerable groups.

17.0 Social Inclusion Implications

17.1 School re-organisation and transforming secondary mainstream and secondary
special accommodation through BSF and other schemes, provides opportunities to
promote joint agency work to promote co-ordinated solutions for pupils and their
families. There is scope for community participation in the design process of new
school buildings through BSF, raising the school’s profile within the community.

18.0 Local Member Support Implications

18.1 Secondary school re-organisation has relevance to all Wards.

19.0 Background Papers

19.1 Audit Commission Report: Planning School Places in Wirral September 2004.

Asset Management Plan and Statement of Priorities.

School Census, January 2007

Supply of School Places return, August 2007, to DCSF requirements.

Other data held in Department

Page 160



Recommendations

That

(1) approval be given to the principle of a two phase review of secondary school
provision beginning with pre-consultation with headteachers and chairs of
governors in schools in Birkenhead and Bebington;

(2) approval be given to invite representatives from Birkenhead High School to
participate in the review from the pre-consultation stage onwards; and

(3) options arising from this initial consultation be the subject of a further report to
Cabinet with my recommendations for option(s) to proceed to wider, formal,
consultation with all stakeholders.

Howard Cooper
Director of Children’s Services

Page 161



Minutes - Cabinet - 29 November 2007 

Present 

Chair S Foulkes 

Councillors George Davies, PL Davies, G Gardiner, PJ Hackett, SA 
Holbrook, SE Kelly, M McLaughlin, RK Moon, Jean Quinn 

In attendance: C Blakeley, S L Clarke, JE Green, SR Mountney, WW Smith 

Minute 361 - CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND LIFELONG LEARNING: 
PROVISION OF SECONDARY SCHOOL PLACES – FUTURE STRATEGY 

The Director of Children's Services gave a summary of the position in respect 
of secondary school places and described recent developments, the current 
position and issues for the future. His report identified a significant increase in 
secondary surplus places over the medium term if further action were not 
taken and proposed a phased review of secondary school provision, involving 
schools and stakeholders, to identify any further opportunities for the removal 
of surplus places. 

The Cabinet Member for Children's Services and Lifelong Learning referred to 
the rationale for the review being similar to that for Primary School reviews. 
He felt that the process gave everyone the opportunity to get involved and 
thanked those staff that had been involved in the initial work. 

The Leader of the Council referred to the additional factors that would be 
involved in the review of secondary school provision and indicated that he had 
been impressed with the work that had been undertaken to date and the links 
that had been made with Headteachers and Chairs of Governors. 

The Leader of the Liberal Democrat Group stated that whilst it was necessary 
to address the issue of numbers set out in the report, the additional factors for 
consideration needed to be set out. 

The Director of Children's Services agreed to arrange a seminar for all 
members of the Council on the different governance arrangements in schools. 

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Minute Decision : 

Resolved - That 

(1) approval be given to the principle of a two phase review of secondary 
school provision beginning with pre-consultation with headteachers and chairs 
of governors in schools in Birkenhead and Bebington; 

(2) approval be given to invite representatives from Birkenhead High School 
to participate in the review from the pre-consultation stage onwards; and 

(3) options arising from this initial consultation be the subject of a further 
report to Cabinet with recommendations from the Director of Children's 
Services for option(s) to proceed to wider, formal, consultation with all 
stakeholders.  

Page 162



WIRRAL COUNCIL      

CABINET – 1st OCTOBER 2009 

REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN’S SERVICES 

REVIEW OF SECONDARY SCHOOL PLACES PHASE 1 
 

 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 This report provides an update of the progress so far with regard to the development of 
the two new Academies in Birkenhead. The report seeks approval for the two Expressions 
of Interest and for commencement of the statutory consultation process for closure of the 
three secondary schools affected by the Phase 1 proposals. 

1.0  Background 

1.1  At its meeting of 29th November 2007, Cabinet instructed that Phase 1 of the Secondary 
Places Review should comprise schools in Birkenhead and Bebington (Wirral South). 

1.2 Phase 1 has resulted in a complex option for consultation including the establishment of a 
mixed Academy and a Boys Academy, linked to the closure of three existing schools – 
Ridgeway High School, Rock Ferry High School and Park High School. This was reported 
to Cabinet on 19th March 2009. 

2.0  Overview of the Academies Process and Progress So Far 

2.1 Following the approval by Cabinet at the March meeting of the proposals for the 
Secondary Review of School Places, the Office for the Schools Commissioner (OSC) 
worked on a Statement of Intent for each Academy. This outlines the intention of the 
Minister for Schools to establish the two academies in Birkenhead. The LA was asked to 
provide the OSC with some background information about the schools and their context 
and each of the sponsors were asked to provide information about themselves and what 
they would bring to each Academy. There was a delay in us receiving the Statements of 
Intent as a result of a change in the Minister for Schools and Learners in early June. We 
received the two Statements of Intent on 8th July 2009. 

2.2 The confirmation of the Statements of Intent also confirmed the sponsor teams for the two 
Academies. These are: 

Mixed Academy 

University of Chester (lead sponsor) 

Wirral Metropolitan College 

The Local Authority 

 

Boys’ Academy 

David Hughes (lead sponsor) 

University of Liverpool 

Birkenhead Sixth Form College 

The Local Authority 

2.3 The next stage in the process was for each of the Academy sponsor teams to put together 
an Expression of Interest. The lead sponsor oversees this process. The New Projects 
Division of the DCSF identifies an external consultant to support the process. The 
consultant for the Wirral Academies was appointed by the DCSF in early July 2009 and 
the first meeting between herself and the sponsors took place on the 27th and 28th July 
2009. In her timeline the Expressions of Interest are due to be submitted for Ministerial 
decision later in October once they have been approved by the DCSF Operations Board 
on 6th October 2009. 

Agenda Item 6

Page 163



2.4 The meetings on 27th and 28th July triggered a range of actions. The LA was asked to 
provide the consultant with data and information about the existing schools, 
demographics, standards and so forth. Quite a large part of the DCSF template for the 
Expression of Interest (EOI) contains this information.  

2.5 Each of the sponsor teams was charged with producing a Vision Statement as part of the 
Expression of Interest for their Academy. The process for producing the vision statement 
has taken place over August and early September, via meetings and electronic 
communication. 

2.6 Following this process, the consultant has pulled together the data sections using the 
information from the LA and the Vision statements and then worked on a covering 
commentary. 

2.7 As part of this process, the governing bodies of the three existing schools have been 
invited to a meeting where each of the sponsor teams have been able to present their 
vision statements and invite comments. Each governing body, on the same evening, was 
asked to formally meet and minute their response. As the model is for 3 schools becoming 
2 academies, each governing body was asked to produce a response to each of the EOIs. 
It is not a requirement that the existing governing bodies approve the EOIs, but the 
process does require that they are given an opportunity to express their views. 

2.8 At the Cabinet meeting of 1st October 2009 the Cabinet is being asked to approve the two 
EOIs as both the LA and as a sponsor.  

2.9 Once the sponsors have all agreed and signed the EOIs and Cabinet has also approved 
they will then be submitted to the Minister for Schools and Learners for his approval. 

2.10 Once the Minister for Schools and Learners has approved the EOIs, the third stage 
commences which is called the Feasibility Stage. This stage is about more detailed 
planning for the Academy, agreeing curriculum structure, leadership and management 
arrangements, staffing requirements, starting planning processes regarding buildings, 
planning ICT, deciding key policy statements and so on. The DCSF appoint a Project 
Management Team to support the sponsors in this process. The current timeline has this 
commencing in November and being completed early spring 2010. 

2.11 The Feasibility stage also includes the formal consultation with stakeholders on the 
establishment of the two new Academies, as well as the pre-statutory consultation on the 
closure of the predecessor schools, which is discussed in more detail in Section 4 below. 

2.12 The outcome of this stage will be a further submission to the Minister for approval who, if 
he approves, signs the Funding Agreement.  

3.0 Expressions of Interest  

3.1 The Vision Statements as part of the Expressions of Interest for each of the two proposed 
Academies will be presented by the sponsor teams to Cabinet as part of this report. The 
draft Expressions of Interest are included as Appendix 1 (Boys) and Appendix 2 (Mixed). It 
should be noted that these documents are draft and may contain comments and minor 
items of missing information that will be rectified before submission to the DCSF 
Operations Board. 

4.0 Consultation on Closure 

4.1 In order to establish Academies on existing school sites, it is necessary to follow the 
statutory procedures to close the existing community secondary schools. The process 
must to be completed before the Funding Agreement with the DCSF can be signed. 

4.2 The two Academies are due to open in 2010, with pupils on roll at the existing three 
schools transferring to the new Academies. In order to meet this timeline, it is anticipated 
that the funding agreement between the sponsor teams and the DCSF to finance the two 
Academies will be signed by April 2010.  For this to happen, it is necessary for the Council 
to secure the necessary approvals to close the existing schools as community schools 
before this date. 

Page 164



4.3 The Local Authority undertakes formal consultations on the closure of the predecessor 
schools in order to make way for the new Academies. It is envisaged that this would take 
place in October-November 2009, with the outcome reported to Cabinet in January 2010. 
If it were then decided to proceed further, statutory notices would be published, followed 
by a six week representation period during which comments and objections can be made 
by any person or organisation in relation to the proposals. Council’s Cabinet, as the 
Decision Maker, would then be asked to determine the notices taking into consideration 
the representations received, to decide whether the three predecessor schools should 
close, with a proviso that these closures are linked to the signing of the Funding 
Agreement. 

4.4 The timetable below outlines the necessary stages of consultation for each school 
concerned.  Consultation will involve staff, governors, parents and the local community at 
each affected school, as well as other statutory consultees set out in guidance. 

Action Date 

Report to Cabinet 1st October 2009 

Formal closure consultation begins (6 weeks) 21st October 2009 

Formal closure consultation closes 27th November 2009 

Report to Cabinet 14th January 2010 

Statutory closure consultation begins (6 weeks) 28th January 2010 

Statutory closure consultation closes 10th March 2010 

Report to Cabinet 15th April 2010 

Funding Agreement signed End of April 2010 

 

4.5 At the same time, the sponsor teams undertake a non-statutory consultation on the 
opening of the Academies. The consultation outcomes are reported to the Secretary of 
State as part of the required documentation for the Funding Agreement. 

5.0 Financial Implications 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from the report.  

5.2 Capital funding for new and refurbished Academy buildings is from the national Building 
Schools for the Future programme. The responsibility to provide sites for Academies rests 
with the LA. There are likely to be significant costs in the management of the Academy 
programme and the transition stage which will be the subject of future reports. 

6.0 Staffing Implications 

6.1 There are none arising directly from this report. 

6.2 The creation of Academies 2 and 3 will require significant staff transfers under TUPE, 
provision of staff matched to the transition arrangements and the management of the 
transfer from existing staffing structures to those of the new Academies. 

6.3 Costs arising from redundancies agreed prior to establishment of the new Academies are 
shared between the LA and the DCSF. Any redundancy costs arising following the 
establishment of the Academies are to be met from the Academy’s budget. 

7.0 Equal Opportunities Implications 

7.1 It is essential to plan school provision across the Authority so that it is both efficient and 
effective in the interests of all pupils. 

7.2 An equality impact assessment will be carried out on this report. 

8.0 Community Safety Implications 

8.1 There are none arising directly from this report. 
Page 165



9.0 Local Agenda 21 Implications 

9.1 There are none arising directly from this report. 

10.0 Planning Implications 

10.1 All capital works will be subject to the relevant national and local planning legislation. 

11.0 Anti-Poverty Implications 

11.1 The capital investment in new and refurbished Academy provision is intended to contribute 
to “narrowing the gap” which is one of the Council’s priorities. 

12.0 Social Inclusion Implications 

12.1 There are none arising directly from this report. 

13.0 Local Member Support Implications 

13.1 Secondary school re-organisation has relevance to all Wards.  

13.2 The three secondary schools named in this report are located in Claughton and Rock Ferry 
Wards. 

14.0 Background Papers 

14.1 Reference documentation and guidance on the Academy programme produced by the 
DCSF 

Working papers for Academy 2 and Academy 3 held in the Children and Young People’s 
Department 

Recommendations 

(1) That Cabinet approves the Expressions of Interest for the two Academies and their 
submission to the Minister of State for Schools and Learners. 

(2) That the Director of Children’s Services undertake all necessary formal consultations on 
the closure of the three predecessor schools as set out by guidance 

Howard Cooper 

Director of Children’s Services 

 

Page 166



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

 

ACADEMY 2 (BOYS) 
(Working title) 
IN WIRRAL 

 
EXPRESSION OF INTEREST FOR AN ACADEMY 
REPLACING THREE PREDECESSOR SCHOOLS 

 
 
Section 1: 1.1Executive Summary 
 
It is proposed to replace three co-educational secondary schools, Park, Rock Ferry, 
and Ridgeway High Schools, in Birkenhead, an area of the Wirral which has significant 
social and economic disadvantage, with two academies; one for boys only and one 
which will be co-educational.  
 
This proposal is for the Boys Academy. The lead sponsor would be David E.  
Hughes, a Birkenhead born business man, with co-sponsors the University of 
Liverpool, Birkenhead Sixth Form College, and Wirral Borough Council. The academy 
would open in 2010 on the site of one of the predecessor schools, Rock Ferry High 
School, in the south of the town, with its new building expected to be completed in 
2012.  
 
The three 11-16 schools which are non-selective secondary schools within a selective 
area, are located in areas of acute social and economic disadvantage; Rock Ferry is in 
the bottom 10% and Park is in the bottom 10-20% most disadvantaged nationally. 
Ridgeway is in the 20-30% most disadvantaged nationally. Rock Ferry’s and Park’s 
students are drawn from areas in the bottom 5% most deprived nationally; in 2008 over 
50% of their students were entitled to free school meals. Ridgeway’s students are 
drawn from areas in the bottom 19% most deprived areas nationally with 36% of 
students entitled to free school meals in 2008.  The proportion of students with learning 
difficulties and/or disabilities is above average and students enter the school with below 
average literacy levels. Most students are from white British backgrounds and there are 
a small number of students from minority ethnic groups, of whom 1-2% in 2008 were at 
an early stage of speaking English.  Park and Rock Ferry are Community schools and 
Ridgeway has Foundation status. All three schools have significant surplus places. 
There are currently 2124 students in total in the three schools and 1261 surplus places. 

 
Student achievement at 16 of 5+A*-C grades at GCSE including English and 
maths in the three schools in 2008, was 26% at Park; 23% at Rock Ferry; and 
37% at Ridgeway- well below both national and Wirral averages.  Provisional 
results for 2009 are 27% at Park; 25% at Rock Ferry and 47% at Ridgeway. 
The school’s CVA scores, in 2008, placed them in the top 25% of schools 
nationally. All three schools are in the National Challenge programme 
 
It is proposed that Academy 2 (Boys) would have an admission number of 150 

Page 167



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

providing 750 11-16 places, which along with a PAN of 150 for the proposed co-
educational Academy would result  in a reduction of 1,868 total places overall.   
 

 
The lead sponsor and co-sponsors  for academy 2 (Boys) comprise what they intend 
will prove to be a top drawer team committed to ensuring the academy raises the 
ambitions and expectations of its students, achieves high standards, significantly raises 
student attainment, and is outstanding in everything it does. The academy will promote 
the concept of individual self-determination; constantly seeking to defeat the 
expectation that one’s life script is written at birth and to instil the belief in students that 
what they ultimately achieve will be in their own hands. Borrowed from the social 
institution that is FC Barcelona, the motto of the academy will be “more than a 
school”.  In the current vernacular, it will establish the belief that doing well in school 
really is cool.   
 
The Academy’s specialisms will be Applied Learning and Business and Enterprise to 
capitalise on David Hughes’s business acumen, the Sixth Form College’s strengths, 
and the University’s renowned business school and its Chinese/ Shanghai University 
links. The specialist curriculum will have a strong technically oriented focus which will 
include Engineering and Construction, the Built Environment, and aspects of 
Manufacturing and Product Design, underpinned by maths and science; a whole school 
approach will be adopted for the teaching of business and enterprise, students will 
have ‘Business and Enterprise Passports’ to record their  work related learning and 
enterprise skills and knowledge, and positive attitudes towards risk taking and 
entrepreneurial attitudes will be cultivated. High flyers will be expected to apply for 
places at the most prestigious universities worldwide and students of all abilities will be 
expected to become the engineers; architects, builders, technicians and trades of the 
construction industry; specialists in all fields of science; and the business brains and 
entrepreneurs of the future.  
 
All students will study as part of the new secondary curriculum the core curriculum, 
English, maths, science, foundation subjects, ICT, PE, citizenship; work related 
learning and enterprise, a course within any or all of the areas of the arts, design and 
technology, humanities, modern foreign languages if they wish to, will develop 
functional skills in literacy, numeracy, and ICT and will develop personal learning and 
thinking skills. Each student will be offered an individually tailored curriculum- with 
academic and vocational courses being given equal status- leading to a variety of 
academic and vocational qualifications for all abilities, for example GCSEs and applied 
GCSEs, BTECs, NVQs, A levels, Diplomas and Young Apprenticeships, and, utilising 
in particular our co-sponsors’ expertise and employer networks, with clear progression 
pathways to FE, HE and worthwhile employment.   
 
There will be a strong focus on playing sport in the curriculum and especially team 
sports, team participation, winning and losing and internal and external competition and 
activity; and a complementary focus on the arts and sciences and on making a 
contribution to the academy and wider community. Our students’ skills and qualities in 
leadership, team working, communication, independent enquiry, self management, 
creative thinking, reliability and work ethic will be developed through curriculum 
programmes and projects and through competitive and collaborative activities to 
ensure students have a well rounded educational experience and to equip them for 
meaningful employment in an increasingly sophisticated labour market.   
 
Students with the most need and gifted and talented students will be suported through 
learning mentors and  all students willl have access  to a wide range of student and 
family suport services through partnerships with the local authority and other statutory 
agencies for example  “Gold standard” health and well being support and services 

Page 168



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

provided by Wirral NHS .   
 
The academy will offer on site programmes of Saturday morning catch-up, summer 
holiday learning camps, reading and writing clubs and examination re-sits workshops. 
Local business people and local tradesmen and women, very possibly from the pool 
that have retired, will be actively encouraged to be involved in the education of the next 
generation of young men.  The academy will make its facilities available 7-days-a-
week, up to 16-hours-a-day to students, parents/carers and the community in general 
and will encourage adult learning and participation in recreational and social activities.    
 
The academy will have strong leadership and management; the Principal and 
leadership team will have ambitions which match those outlined in our vision and our 
teaching and support staff will be of the highest quality with the skills, experience, 
knowledge, and understanding to inspire our students to excel. 
 
This academy will be more than a school.  It intends, in partnership with other local 
organisations, to be the very heartbeat of its community.  
 
The name of the academy will be decided in feasibility.  
 
1.2    Key statistics  
 

1. Predecessor School – Educational attainment 

GCSE 5+ A* -C GCSE 5+ A* -C inc English and maths 

 

2005 2006 2007 2008  2005 2006 2007 2008  

National  
Average 

56.3 58.5 60.8 64.8 44.3 45.3 46.0 47.3 

LA 
Average 

57 58 61 66 45.4 46.3 48.4 50.2 

Park 
High 
School 1 

29 31 41 52 13 16 23 26 

Rock 
Ferry 
High 
School 2 

33 35 28 41 20 24 19 23 

Ridgeway 
High 
School 3 

54 52 48 53 25 33 27 37 

 
 
 

CVA 
Scores 
(KS2-4) 

2006 2007 2008 

LA 
Average 

1007.8 1009.7 1009.4 

Park 
High 
School 1 

1000.8 1014.9 1021.0 

Rock 
Ferry 
High 

School 2 

1019.8 1000.2 1015.8 

Page 169



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

Ridgeway 
High 

School 3 
1040.5 1037.2 1022.0 

 
 

 

 
* Students on roll as at Jan 2009 

2. Predecessor School – Deprivation 

 
National figures 
quoted relate only 
to secondary 
schools  

 
Pupil rank (based 
on number of 

secondary schools) 
out of 3377 of which 

1 is the most 
deprived) 

 
2008 

 
 

Site rank (school 
location) of which 0 
is the most deprived 
and 100 is the least 

deprived 
                                

2007 

 
 
 
 

% students eligible 
for Free School 
Meals (FSM) 

 
2008 

National Average - - 13.1 

LA Average - - 23.1 

Park High  
School 1 

152/3377 
4.5% 

10-20% 51.5 

Rock Ferry High 

School 2 
128/3377 
3.8% 

0-10% 53.0 

Ridgeway High 

School 3 
632/3377 

19% 
20-30% 35.7 

3. Predecessor school – Basic characteristics 

National 
figures 

quoted relate 
only to 

secondary 
schools. 

Students 
on Roll 
 (3-11)  

Students 
on Roll* 
 (11-16) 

Students 
on Roll 
(16-19) 

School 
capacity 
2009 

% with 
SEN 

statement 
 

2008 

% of 
students 
with EAL 

 
2008 

National 
Average 

- - - - 2.0% 10.6 %  

LA Average - - - - 2.3% 1.5% 

Park High 
School 1 

0 811* 0 1250 1.8% 2.1% 

Rock Ferry 

High School 2 
0 584* 0 1232 8.3% 1.0% 

Ridgeway High 
School 3 

0 729* 0 885 4.0% 1.3% 

Page 170



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

 
 
Section 2: The Predecessor Schools 

2.1 Not applicable  

 

2.2   Basic Characteristics    

 School 1 School 2 School 3  

School Name:              Park High Rock Ferry High Ridgeway High  

School Address: 

 

Park Road South, 
Prenton, 
Merseyside,  

CH43 4UY 

Ravenswood 
Avenue, Rock 
Ferry, Birkenhead, 
Merseyside, CH42 
4NY 

Noctorum 
Avenue, 
Noctorum, 
Prenton, 
Merseyside, 
CH43 9EB 

Name of LA:  Wirral     LA Code: 344       

Type of Establishment  (Please mark one with an x)  

Community School X X  

Foundation School   X 

Voluntary Aided (VA) School    

Voluntary Controlled (VC) 
School 

   

City Technology College    

Independent    

Other (please specify)    

 

4. Proposed Academy – Basic characteristics 

Planned 
number of 
students 
(3-11) 

Planned 
number of 
students 
 (11-16) 

Planned 
number of 
students 
(16-19) 

Planned 
maximum 
number 

Specialism(s) 

 
0 

750 0 750 

Applied 
Learning 

and 
Business and 
Enterprise 

Proposed 
opening date 

Target build 
completion 

date 

Building route 
(BSF or 
National 

Framework) 

Faith 
Designation 

Name of 
Sponsor(s) 

 
2010 

 
2012 

National 
Framework 

None 

Lead sponsor-
David Hughes 

with 
  The University 
of Liverpool, 
Birkenhead 
Sixth Form 
College,and 
Wirral MBC 

as Co-sponsors 

Page 171



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

 

 

Is this a designated Faith School?   (Please mark one with an x) 

   Yes  

with faith admissions                 
(Faith:)                                           (Faith: )                             

 
(Faith: )                             

   Yes  

without faith admissions                             
(Faith:)                             (Faith:)                              

 
(Faith: )                             

   No X X X 

     
 

 
Specialism(s) if applicable): 
 
 
 
 

 
Sport 

 
Performing Arts 

 
Business 

and 
Enterprise 

and 
 Language 

 

 

2.3 School Population 

 Park High School 
1 

Rock Ferry High 
School 2 

Ridgeway High  

School 3 

Admissions Number:  250 250 160 

Year 7: 150 92 130 

Year 8: 111 98 147 

Year 9: 173 113 147 

Year 10: 184 159 156 

Current number 
of students on 
roll as  
at: January 
2009 
 Year 11: 193 122 149 

  

Sept 2005 200 153 157 

Sept 2006 179 112 156 

Sept 2007 111 96 148 

Number of 
Year 7 students 
admitted in: 

Sept 2008 150 92 130 

  

Sept 2005 0 0 0 

Sept 2006 0 0 0 

Sept 2007 0 0 0 

 
Number of 
Year 12-13 
students at the 
school in:  
 
 

Sept 2008 0 0 
0 

  

2004/05 
 

N/A N/A N/A 

2005/06 
 

N/A N/A N/A 

2006/07 
 

N/A N/A N/A 

Percentage of 
pupil population 
who joined or 
left the school 
other than at 
the start or 
finish of the 
academic year: 

2007/08 N/A N/A N/A 

 

2.4   Admissions 

Page 172



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

Please attach a copy of the current Admissions Policy    
 
School 1 Park High 
 
School 2 Rock Ferry High 
 
School 3 Ridgeway High school 3 

 
 

Attached 
 

Attached 
 

Attached 

 
 
X 
 
X 

 
X         

 
2.5 Leadership  
 
School 1 Park High 
 
Name of headteacher: Mr Steven McMahon  
 
 

Headteacher has been in post for: 4 Years 0 Months as of 1
st
 September 2009. 

 
Rock Ferry High School 2 
 
Name of headteacher: Mr Peter Bennett  
 
 

Headteacher has been in post for: 9 Years 0 Months as of 1
st
 September 2009. 

 
Ridgeway High School 3 
 
Name of headteacher: Ms Pauline Roberts  
 
 

Headteacher has been in post for: 1 Year 0 Months as of 1
st
 September 2009. 

 
 

2.6   School Improvement  

 Park High  

School 1 

Rock Ferry High  

School 2 

Ridgeway High  

School 3 

Intervention status 

(Please mark box(es) with an x)        

None X X X 

Special Measures    

Significant Improvement/Notice to   
Improve 

  
 

Warning Notice issued    

Causing Concern    

Interim Executive Board    

 Required school to enter into partnership 
arrangements 

  
 

 Added additional governors    

Page 173



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

 Suspended delegated budget    

Please provide details:     

Yes – National 
Challenge 

 

X 

 

X 

 

X 

Yes – other    
 

Does the 
predecessor school 
receive any external 
support and/or is it 
in receipt of a 
tailored external 
support package?  

 

  

No   

 

If other, please provide details:   

 

 

   

 
2.7    Finance 

 
Park High  
School 1 

Rock Ferry High 
School 2 

Ridgeway High 
School 3 

Yes  Yes   Does the predecessor 
school 
currently have a budget 
deficit? 

No X No X 
 
X 

If yes, please provide 
details:   

  
 

 
 
 

 
Park High  
School 1 

Rock Ferry High 
School 2 

Ridgeway High 
School 3 

Yes X Yes   Does the predecessor 
school currently have an in- 
year deficit?  

 
No 

 
 
No 

 
X 

 
X 

If yes, please provide 
details:  

 
Budget deficit of 
£22,000 at time of 
writing - is 
expected to 
balance when the 
budget is 
resubmitted during 
Autumn 2009. 
 

 

 

The LA should note that any deficit budget remaining at the point of school closure 
would not transfer to the academy.  

 

Page 174



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

Section 3: The Proposed Academy 

 

3.1 Academy Population 

Gender (Mark one with an x)  

   Co-Educational  

   Single Sex Boys  X 

   Single Sex Girls  

 
 

Forms of Entry:                                5FE 

   Admissions Number: 150 

   Nursery (age 3-5):                            0 

   Years 7-11 (age 11-16) 750 

   Years 12-13 (age 16-19):    0 

 
 

Please provide a detailed justification for the size of the proposed academy: 
 
There are 23 secondary schools in Wirral, 6 of these are single sex selective schools (three 
boys, three girls), 6 are single sex non-selective schools (four girls, two boys), the remainder 
being mixed sex non-selective schools, two of which are Catholic secondary schools. 
 
Within the Birkenhead review area, in September 2009 there will be three non-selective 
mixed schools – Ridgeway High, Rock Ferry High and Park High; two non-selective girls 
schools – Prenton High and Birkenhead High Academy and one selective boys grammar – 
St Anselm’s Catholic College. 
 
Expected Year 7 admissions in September 2009 for the 6 schools are currently 680 (c 23 
FE) of which 126 (c 4 FE) are for the boys selective school, 243 (c 8 FE) are for the two girls 
non-selective schools  and 311 (c 10 FE) are for the three non-selective schools.  
 
Pupil numbers entering Year 7 in the area are forecast to fall over the next few years, rising 
again to reach approximately 680 (23 FE) by 2018.  
 
Park High School has a PAN of 250 for Year 7 with 811 students on roll in January 2009, 
and 439 surplus places, projected to reach 670 surplus places by 2018. 
 
Rock Ferry High School has a PAN of 250 for Year 7 with 584 students on roll in January 
2009 and 648 surplus places, projected to reach 831 surplus places by 2018. 
 
Ridgeway High School has a PAN of 160 for Year 7 with 729 students on roll in January 
2009 and 157 surplus places, projected to reach 302 by 2018. 
 
It is proposed that the Boys Academy will have a PAN of 150 for Year 7. PANs of 150 for 
both the proposed Boys and Mixed Academies would result in a reduction of 1,868 total 
places overall  and bring school provision in line with pupil population projections. It is 
anticipated that the Boys Academy if successful through its status and improved educational 
offer and intended increased attainment will admit to its planned admission number as an 
Academy. The PAN for the  Boys Academy is the same as the admission number at Prenton 
High School for Girls. 
 
 

 

Page 175



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

3.2 All-age Academies  

If the academy would provide primary school places, please provide the case for an  

all-age academy:  N/A 

 

 

If the academy proposes to cater for nursery students (age 3-5), please provide details of  
how this would fit with the LA’s strategic plan for nursery education:  N/A 

 
 

Yes  Does the LA confirm it would fund the capital costs of the primary 
and/or nursery element for the all-age academy? 
 N/A X 

 

3.3 Proposed Opening Date in existing buildings  

2010 

 

3.4 Target Build Completion Date  

2012 

 

3.5 Specialism(s)   

The academy would specialise in:  Applied Learning and Business and Enterprise 

 

 

3.6 Admissions  

Please confirm that the academy’s admissions policy and arrangements would be in 
accordance with admissions law, the School Admissions Code of Practice and the School 
Admission Appeals Code of Practice as they apply to maintained schools. 

              Confirmed X 

   

Please confirm that the admissions policy would ensure that the academy meets the 
statutory requirements (i.e. “provides education for students of different abilities who are 
wholly or mainly drawn from the area in which the school is situated”).  

              Confirmed X 

     
    

The academy would take up its place on the local admissions forum:  

              Confirmed X 

  

        

Page 176



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

Yes  
If oversubscribed would the academy select up to 10% of its students 
by aptitude for the specialism?   No N/A 

If yes, please provide details of how the sponsor would develop a selection mechanism that 
is not dependent on ability: N/A 

  
      
Please provide any further details known about the proposed over subscription criteria and 
admissions policy. In particular, how the policy would lead to a balanced intake and whether 
“banding by ability” would be considered : 
 
The Sponsors of Academy 2 are committed to adopting the same admission arrangements 
and oversubscription criteria as the local authority. 
 
Banding- the local authority and the Sponsors have considered banding and believe that a 
mixed ability intake,  as far as is possible in a selective system,  would be achieved without 
the need for banding using the proposed oversubscription criteria.  

Firm proposals for admissions would be decided during feasibility but are expected 
to be based on the following:  

Admissions at Age 11, Year 7 

The Admission Number of the Academy would be 150. 

The Academy would admit all students with a Statement of Special Educational Need 
naming the Academy and to which the Academy has agreed. 
 
Should the Academy be undersubscribed all applicants would be admitted.  
 
Should the Academy be oversubscribed it would be expected that the following 
oversubscription criteria would be used: 
Priority would be given in the following order: 

1. Children who are in the care of the local authority. 
2. Children who have a valid medical reason for a specific placement 
3. Children who have a brother  (including half-brothers or step brothers living in the 

same household) on roll at the Academy of statutory school age;  
4. Children living nearest to the Academy using the shortest road route, unless it is 

possible to use a footpath which is considered a safe walking route 

 

 

3.7 Exclusions 

Please confirm that the academy would have regard to and have an independent appeal 
panel which acts in accordance with the Secretary of State’s guidance on exclusions.  

              Confirmed X 

 

3.8 Special Educational Needs (SEN)  

Please confirm that the proposed academy’s SEN policy would 
have regard to meet the requirements of the SEN Code of Practice.  

Confirmed X 

Would the academy be co-located with an SEN unit? If yes please 
note that the LA would bear all capital costs 

Yes  

Page 177



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

No X 

 
If yes who would run the SEN unit? 
 

The academy N/A The LA N/A 

 
Please provide details of the SEN unit: N/A  

 
Please note that students in the unit should not be included in overall pupil numbers for the 
academy. If the academy is proposing to manage the unit, revenue funding to support the 
unit will be recouped from the Dedicated Schools Grant.     
    

 
3.9  The National Curriculum 

Please confirm that the academy would teach the National Curriculum Programmes of Study 
in English, maths, science and ICT to all students in years 1 to 6 (where these exist in the 
Academy) and years 7-11.  

                                                                                       Confirmed X 

 
3.10 Behaviour Partnerships 

The academy would be part of a Behaviour Partnership and would work closely 
with the LA to improve behaviour and tackle persistent absence. 

 

Confirmed X 

 
3.11  Vision  
 
 

Context 
This proposed academy will be formed as a result of the closure of three 
secondary schools in the Wirral, all of which are currently 11-16 co-educational.  
An understanding of the demography and the current number of single sex places 
in the Birkenhead area has uncovered a clear requirement for a boys’ school to 
balance the needs of boys and girls in secondary education.   
 
The catchment area for the academy is some of the most deprived areas of the 
borough, and in the bottom 4-19% most deprived nationally. Of the 2,124 
students who attend the 3 predecessor schools approximately 48% are on free 
school meals and 17% are registered as being at school action plus of the SEN 
Code of Practice.   Many of the students have low literacy and numeracy skills at 
the start of their secondary education and standards attained at 16 by many are 
well below Wirral and national averages. 
 
The sponsors recognise the need for social and economic regeneration in the 
area.  Unquestionably, this needs to be underpinned by significant and continuing 
improvements in educational outcomes.  There is a real need for many more 
students across the Borough to succeed in core academic subjects and to enable 
the community to overcome high levels of deprivation which are now 
intergenerational.   
 

Page 178



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

It is intended that the academy will raise the self-esteem, aspirations and indeed 
the attainments and economic prospects of all of its students in an atmosphere of 
respect for and enrichment of the local community. 
 
The sponsors are unanimously committed to developing a place of learning which 
will challenge low aspiration and inspire all and intends to involve the local 
community, most especially the parents/carers of students, in order to impact 
significantly upon the life opportunities of the young people that pass through its 
doors.   
 
The Sponsors 
 
The Lead Sponsor – David Hughes 
The lead sponsor is Birkenhead born, educated at St. Anselm’s and achieved a 
degree in Management Sciences at UMIST.  He has a considerable track record 
of high performance in business.  His particular interests are enterprise and 
retailing, following a successful career in retail spanning over 30 years, founding 
and controlling a £180m per annum turnover business.  David Hughes has a wide 
range of interests and ambitions, with the desire to improve education standards 
at the very top of his list and as lead sponsor will provide strong leadership and 
governance, business acumen, expertise in results oriented management, and 
support for curriculum development particularly in employability skills through the 
engagement of local businesses/ sporting bodies etc to support the academy.  
 
Co-Sponsors 
The co-sponsors comprise what they intend will prove to be a top drawer team 
working in conjunction with the lead sponsor.   

 
A key aim of the new academy will be to raise the ambitions and expectations of 
its students.  To that end, the encouragement and involvement of Birkenhead 
Sixth Form College, the University of Liverpool, and Wirral MBC, as co-sponsors 
are expected to be significant factors.  This will manifest itself not only by offering 
the complementary and additional services that access to their resources can 
achieve, but also by embedding, by their close involvement, the expectation that 
students can and should proceed to further and higher education or a job with 
training through both academic and work-based routes.  Higher level 
qualifications through university or employment will become an expectation and 
not an exception in the lives of our students.   
 
The University of Liverpool 
The University of Liverpool was established in 1881 and is a member of the 
Russell Group of 20 leading research-intensive universities in the UK.  It is a joint 
partner in the Xi’an Jioatong Liverpool University based in Suzhou in China.  The 
University excels in learning and teaching and offers over 200 degree 
programmes in subjects ranging from clinical and life sciences, law, architecture, 
physical sciences, engineering, management and the humanities.  As a civic 
university, the University of Liverpool has a commitment to working locally and to 
widening access.  As well as a continuing education programme for over 3000 
adults in Merseyside and Cheshire, the University works with local schools and 
colleges to raise the aspirations of young people and encourage them to apply to 
university.  The University of Liverpool is co-sponsor of the established North 
Liverpool Academy and of the developing Garston Enterprise Academy.   
 
The University of Liverpool will offer as a co-sponsor: adult education provision 
based in the academy buildings; aspiration raising activities for those students  
who may not see university as a choice; access to staff development and training 

Page 179



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

for academy staff and joint activity with staff from the North Liverpool Academy 
and Garston Enterprise Academy to promote sharing of good practice; for 
example, access to international interns who can work with the academy for 
periods of up to three months on projects, e.g. tackling racism. 
 
Birkenhead Sixth Form College 
Birkenhead Sixth Form College has been established for 22 years and attracts 
students from across the Wirral. Although operating in a highly competitive 
market, the College has proved to be very successful and a popular choice with 
students and has a strong reputation in widening participation.  There are over 
1200 full time students aged 16-19 and over 2,000 part time student enrolments 
taking courses at levels 1- 4 including vocational options covering a range of 
subject areas.  The College strongly supports the philosophy of raising 
expectations and ambitions for all young people within the community and will 
work with the academy to ensure that there are clear progression pathways into 
post 16 education and onto higher education as an associate college of the 
University of Liverpool; provide access to  a   wide range of networks across the 
Wirral; offer joint staff training and development activities and joint student 
initiatives to promote staying on in education; explore ways in which there may be 
opportunities to attain ‘value for money’ through close working relationships e.g. 
procurement opportunities/finance arrangements; and share expertise and 
knowledge on the engagement of adult learners and developing adult learning as 
part of the community programme within the academy.  
 
Wirral Borough Council 
The enthusiastic participation of the third co-sponsor, Wirral Borough Council, is 
most welcome and should provide the necessary oil to the machine - the enabling 
that brings the lead sponsor’s vision to life.   
The Council, as co-sponsor, will support the academy through a wide range of 
services and resources including school improvement, curriculum innovation, 
special educational needs, partnership working with other schools and colleges, 
networking, multi-agency working, adult learning, and will ensure the academy 
contributes to and benefits from social and economic regeneration. 
 
 
The Broad Educational Ethos of the Academy 
It was the Roman poet, Juvenal, who wrote “mens sana in corpore sano”.  The 
literal translation is “you will find a sound mind within a sound body”.  Put into 
modern idiom, that means it is easier to study and use the brain well when the 
physical body is fit and well.  Academy 2 will NOT be a specialist sports academy, 
but its educational ethos is firmly founded in the core belief that fit, healthy, active 
students will perform better academically.   
 
There will be a significant emotional investment in shared spirit and teamwork.  
Concepts from a different age of not letting your side down, pulling through for 
your partners and a commitment to healthy competition will be paramount within 
the academy.  There will be a clear recognition that the twin impostors of success 
and failure should be treated with equanimity.  Success and failure, victory and 
defeat are all integral parts of the human condition and a mature adult will 
understand and accept that proposition.   
 
Because of the glorious arrival of the Olympic Games in London in 2012, there is 
now a clear governmental sports strategy ambition.  That ambition is that all 5-16 
year olds should be offered at least five hours of sports per week in their 
curriculum.  The boys’ academy will certainly achieve that.   
 

Page 180



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

The academy’s clear intention is to achieve high standards, significantly raise 
student attainment, and to be outstanding in everything it does.  The first 16 year 
olds to move on after five years of academy education on the new site will be the 
benchmark of what we intend to achieve. 
 
The academy will aspire to: 
 

• Develop successful learners who enjoy learning, make outstanding 
progress and achieve their full potential; and who are able to make healthy 
and safe decisions in life. 

• Promote community engagement and social responsibility.  Develop 
responsible citizens who celebrate human diversity and  make a positive 
contribution to society; 

• Foster creativity and critical thinking, and respect, tolerance and 
compassion; 

• Act as a hub to support wider local services, with a particular emphasis on 
providing advice and guidance, access to services, family outreach 
programmes and parenting support in its widest form. The academy will be 
a centre for the community. 

 
Currently the percentage of students achieving 5+ A*-C GCSE, including English 
and maths, are 27% at Park; 25% at Rock Ferry; and 47% at Ridgeway.  The 
ambition of academy 2 is that within five years of opening on its new site, pass 
rates will be above the national average. Ambitious targets for 5A*-C incl Eng & 
Ma are, 2011 – 25%, 2012 – 31%, 2013 – 37%, 2014 – 43%, 2015 – 50%. 
Considerable emphasis will be placed upon achieving above average standards 
in the functional skills of English, maths and ICT.  We expect the natural 
consequence of this to be that no young person will be lost to the system and 
become not in education, employment or training.   
 
The ethos of the academy will be to encourage aspiration and endeavour and 
even more importantly to promote the concept of individual self-determination.  It 
will constantly seek to defeat the expectation that one’s life script is written at 
birth.  Students from Academy 2 will progress to their adult life with the firm belief 
that what they ultimately achieve will be in their own hands. The current 
Government talks a lot about the need for greater social mobility.  Most parents 
would see “mobility” as being their children acquiring greater skills and better 
employment opportunities than they themselves were able to achieve.  Kick-
starting social mobility again in Birkenhead will be one of the signs of this 
academy's success.   
  
The academy will strive constantly to raise the realistic expectations and 
aspirations of its students.  By working closely with the University of Liverpool and 
Birkenhead Sixth Form College, we expect to significantly broaden the horizons 
of our students.  We will foster academic ambition and we will promote the 
expectation of progression to higher education.  We will expect some of our 
students to apply for places at the most prestigious universities worldwide.   
 
Simply by being a brand new, state-of-the-art academy, which is intended to be 
the best built and best equipped in the Wirral, there will be a massive investment 
in raising local self-esteem.  The anticipated preferred site, adjacent to Tranmere 
Rovers Football Club, should produce a powerful synergy of expectation in an 
area where achievement in sport is valued above many other things.   
 
Whilst there will be a strong focus on playing sport in the curriculum and 

Page 181



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

especially team sports, team participation, winning and losing and internal and 
external competition and activity there will also be a complementary focus on the 
arts and sciences, and on making a contribution to the academy and wider 
community, on to ensure our students have a well rounded educational 
experience.  The clear aim of the academy is to turn out positive, confident, and 
caring young adults who are fit to take on the challenges of the 21st Century.  Our 
students will be empowered to have a strong voice in the life and work of the 
Academy and community.   
 
The academy will seek to recruit teaching staff who can offer positive role models 
to young men.  As an example, we can foresee an English teacher who coaches 
one of the year rugby teams, but is equally at home standing on a stage and 
delivering a Shakespearian love sonnet.   

Borrowed from the social institution that is FC Barcelona, the motto of the 
academy will be “more than a school”.  In the current vernacular, it will establish 
the belief that doing well in school really is cool.  It is worth restating that the 
academy will relentlessly drive up standards by establishing a positive, can-do 
attitude.  Within that framework, recognition and reward for achievement will be 
encouraged.  
 
 
The Specialisms  
The Academy’s core specialism will be Applied Learning. The principles of 
Applied Learning –to provide a curriculum and a range of qualifications which 
gives every student the chance to perform at their best and show what they are 
really capable of; to offer clear choice in progression routes to further or higher 
education and to meaningful employment; and to develop partnerships to offer 
more interesting and alternative career pathways, a broader skill base for their 
future employment, and to seek others who could teach our students new skills in 
new ways- will permeate all aspects of the Academy’s wider curriculum and 
teaching and learning. As part of our specialism we will have a strong technically 
oriented focus which will include Engineering and Construction and the Built 
Environment, and aspects of Manufacturing and Product Design in line with the 
concept underpinning the recently announced University Technical Colleges 
being championed by Lord Baker.  
 
To complement our Applied Learning specialism, Business & Enterprise will be 
our second specialism. Some of our students will be the future engineers, 
electronics professionals, and technicians in civil, mechanical, petro chemical, 
medical, marine and aeronautical engineering; the architects, builders, and trades 
of the construction industry; specialists in all fields of science; and the business 
brains and entrepreneurs of the future.  
 
We will fully embrace and play a lead role for the area in the introduction and 
development of Diplomas in Engineering, Construction and the Built Environment, 
aspects of Manufacturing and Product Design, and in Science, and will develop 
academic and vocational programmes and work-based learning and clear 
progression routes to further and higher education and employment in these 
sectors. 
 
The Academy will house on-site outstanding technical, vocational and ICT 
facilities. Through our College and University co-sponsors’ established business 
links, and with other quality training providers, including providers and enablers 
sponsored by local industry, we will build local company partnerships with 
Hagelin, SamelCo, Cammell Laird and Open House Products Limited to develop 

Page 182



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

our specialist curriculum, and teaching and learning practice, create opportunities 
for real life, work-based, and vocational learning to be experienced in a real and 
non-classroom environment, and develop the knowledge, skills, and 
understanding of both staff and students of opportunities in these sectors. 
 
Maths and science for the 21st century will be cornerstones of the curriculum and 
our specialisms.  We want our young people to be able to interrogate data, 
critically evaluate evidence and reach well-founded conclusions.  We want them 
to understand the basis on which the modern world works and for them to be 
excited by it. Our maths specialists will make sure maths is integrated into the 
whole curriculum, and will develop materials and resources, and provide support 
for non specialist staff to ensure all of our students will be numerate. We will 
teach all 3 sciences, physics, chemistry, and biology, to underpin our Diploma 
programmes and as key areas of knowledge for functioning in the 21st Century, 
and in conjunction with other providers we will offer a wide range of courses both 
academic and vocational for all abilities within the field of engineering and 
construction.  
 
We will take an innovative and all round approach to stimulate and enthuse our 
students, for example we will capitalise on our location by the River Mersey with 
its very obvious heritage to interest our students in marine studies and marine 
engineering, provide access to vocational learning in the technical and manual 
skills required for ship building and repair and provide extra curricula activities in 
sea cadet training and sailing. 
 
The partnerships with the Sixth Form College and especially the University of 
Liverpool will give access to a range of educational opportunities and directions.  
On the Wirral, the University of Liverpool operates a veterinary science school 
and a large botanical garden and are already working in partnership with Unilever 
and the diploma consortia in engineering to deliver learning in the workplace.  
These are examples of what it is expected that these co-sponsors will be able to 
offer to encourage interest from our students.   
 
Business and Enterprise: The Academy would take a whole school approach to 
teaching business and enterprise, building business and enterprise activities into 
all curriculum areas and giving learners ‘Business and Enterprise Passports’ to 
record their  work related learning and enterprise skills and knowledge.  We will 
cultivate positive attitudes towards risk taking and entrepreneurial attitudes.  
 
All of our students will be competent in English, maths, and ICT, and the 
curriculum offer will include  a range of business related programmes e.g. 
personal finances, economics, accounting, business studies, and business 
languages. We will also develop curriculum programmes, projects, competitive 
and collaborative activities to develop our students’ skills and qualities in 
leadership, team working, communication, independent enquiry, self 
management, creative thinking, reliability and work ethic to equip students for 
meaningful employment in an increasingly sophisticated labour market. 
 
We will  capitalise on David Hughes’s business acumen, the University’s 
renowned business school and its Chinese/ Shanghai University links- and will  
expect to introduce and develop the Diploma in Business Administration and 
Finance and vocational qualifications for example in aspects of  customer 
services, logistics, financial analysis and enterprise. 
  
It is particularly expected that business, budgeting and personal finance skills will 
be well taught in the academy in the appropriate years.  Business and enterprise 

Page 183



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

is the key interest of the lead sponsor and we anticipate every student leaving the 
academy will have a good understanding of personal finance. 
 
The University of Liverpool runs a programme called ‘Achieve’ which helps 
students to develop employability skills and has employer involvement.  A similar 
programme, using student and employer mentors could help both academy 
students and University students develop these important skills. Birkenhead Sixth 
Form College has a strong focus on Business Education-add an example  
 
Teaching and Learning and Curriculum Opportunities for Students 
All students will study as part of the new secondary curriculum the core 
curriculum, English, maths, science, foundation subjects, ICT, PE, citizenship; 
work related learning and enterprise, a course within any or all of the areas of the 
arts, design and technology, humanities, modern foreign languages if they wish 
to, will develop functional skills in literacy, numeracy, and ICT and will develop 
personal learning and thinking skills.  
 
We will  offer each student an individually tailored curriculum leading to a variety 
of academic and vocational qualifications for all abilities, for example GCSEs and 
applied GCSEs, BTECs, NVQs, A levels, Diplomas and Young Apprenticeships,  
that will be examined when appropriate. We will also work with Wirral 
Metropolitan College and other training providers to develop our vocational focus. 
 
In years 7 and 8 students will follow a traditional curriculum, differentiated by 
need. Students will be assessed and set on entry, with the most able having 
access to two languages and enhanced lesson time in science, leading to three 
separate sciences at GCSE level. 

 
The acquisition of literacy and numeracy skills will be a given and will form a core 
part of the curriculum for every year group. We will: 

• Identify and tackle any weaknesses on entry quickly and effectively through 
targeted support and modified timetabling.  

• Ensure less able students have literacy and numeracy lessons alongside their 
traditional English and maths lessons to ensure they were able to access a 
level 2 curriculum at the end of year 8. 

• Implement individual and small group tuition for identified C/D borderline 
students in English and maths. 

• Rigorously track students’ progress to targets. 

• Draw on the expertise of our co-sponsors and external consultants to carry 
out an audit of literacy and numeracy teaching and identify strengths, and 
areas for development, in order to improve the mainstream teaching of 
English and maths and to integrate literacy and numeracy into all subjects.  

 
The curriculum at the Academy will be designed to take on the best elements of 
the 3 predecessor schools and the Sponsors will work the local authority and staff 
from the 3 schools to identify this best practice and embed it in the Academy’s 
curriculum. 
 
The academy intends to build a strong working relationship with its partner 
primary schools to support students through transition, develop teacher and pupil 
exchanges, provide access to the academy’s resources and thus help to provide 
opportunities to further support the raising of standards in primary schools.  
 
The academy intends to introduce the concept of vertical teaching to its 
curriculum.  This means, in simple terms, that students will be taught on the basis 

Page 184



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

of their ability and achievement level and not on the basis of their calendar years.  
The educationalists call it “stage not age”.  It is intended to encourage progress 
on the basis of ability and not on calendar age and we believe that it will fit 
students better for their adult life if some are able to move ahead quickly in some 
or all areas of their learning, fast tracked through opportunities provided by the 
Sixth Form College and University, whilst others will benefit from a slower pace, 
specialist support, and reinforcement activities. The academy will systematically 
and rigorously track individual student progress and make the necessary early 
interventions, whenever required, to accommodate high flyers and to provide 
additional support if progress is not meeting expectations.   
 
14-19 Curriculum and Collaboration  
In years 9-11 students will be able to follow both vocational and more traditional 
academic subjects. All students will take English, mathematics and double 
science, with the most able taking three separate sciences. All students will take 
at least one vocational subject and will then have a further range of options, 
including a second vocational subject according to their individual interests and 
aptitudes. The vocational courses the Academy proposes to offer includes 
courses covering : construction; bricklaying, carpentry, plumbing and electrical, 
engineering, IT, and business which are directly related to its specialisms, and 
additionally, media, music, and sport.  
 
There would be built in flexibility for fast tracking or taking more time for more 
able and less able students as appropriate. Links with Birkenhead Sixth Form 
College will provide opportunities for early entry to exams and for starting A-level 
or equivalent courses earlier. Learning mentors  would directly support students 
with the most need and gifted and talented students. Learing mentors will be 
supported with high quality data about every student’s progress and will meet 
regulary with Heads of Department, especially mathematics and English, to 
ensure the highest possible outcomes for all students.  

 
Birkenhead Sixth Form College will provide a range of support in developing the 
curriculum and appropriate progression routes; planning strategies to enable the 
fast tracking of students, and linking across key stage 3 and 4 to enable 
opportunities for smooth and effective transition to be developed. There is also 
the possibility that joint teaching may be explored as the College already has 
experience of delivering programmes to year 10 and 11 students. 
 
 As part of the borough-wide 14-19 collaborative strategy, the academy will play a 
lead role in the development of diplomas related to its specialisms and will take 
part in reciprocal arrangements with other schools and academies, particularly 
the University Academy in the north of the town, colleges and work-based 
learning provides to ensure its students have access to courses and programmes 
which best meet their individual interests, abilities and aspirations and that 
students from other institutions can access the academy’s specialist curriculum. 
The academy will always recognise that there is more than one successful route 
through the blackboard jungle.   
 
Birkenhead Sixth Form College and the University of Liverpool will provide 
impartial advice and support for staff, students and parents on progression routes 
into FE and HE and option choices, through one to one sessions, group sessions 
and bespoke taster activities, for example, through the University’s three day 
‘Choose Science’ programme. The academy will work with other FE and HE 
providers to ensure students have access to the full range of opportunities and 
advice.  
 

Page 185



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

Enrichment Activities 
There will be on site programmes of Saturday morning catch-up, summer holiday 
learning camps, reading and writing clubs and examination re-sits workshops to 
encourage students to achieve the standards that are reasonably expected but 
not set in stone for their calendar age.  
  
Local business people and local tradesmen and women, very possibly from the 
pool that have retired, will be actively encouraged to be involved in the education 
of the next generation of young men.   
 
Through its curriculum the Academy will seek to engage and enable the most 
desirable outcome, which is that positive, confident and socially integrated young 
adults progress from the academy and are primed to take on the challenges of a 
changing world.   
 
The co-sponsors- the University of Liverpool and Birkenhead Sixth Form College- 
will help to achieve the academy’s ambitions for the curriculum through: 

• Joint staff development activities with the co-sponsors and other academies 
to help with identifying and sharing good practice in this area; 

• The use of students from the University and Sixth Form College to provide 
mentoring for academy students in maths, English and science; 

• Development of e-mentoring and associated activities to motivate young 
people; 

• Student volunteers to work with academy students as subject tutors, on joint 
projects and as part of sports activities; 

• Access to students as part of their degree programme, who will work with 
the academy to develop new curriculum material and will be assessed on 
this as part of their degree work; 

• Enrichment work for gifted and talented students to support the 14-19 
curriculum; 

• Providing expertise in relation to curriculum development for the 14-19 
 curriculum; 

• Providing supportive work with students to raise aspirations within subject 
areas; 

• Joint activities and enrichment opportunities for students to promote 
engagement in learning and the raising of skill levels. 

 
 
The Management, Leadership & Governance Policies of the Academy 
The academy will have strong leadership and management. The academy’s 
Principal and leadership team will have ambitions which match those outlined in 
our vision.  Our teaching and support staff will be of the highest quality and will 
have the skills, experience, knowledge and understanding to inspire our students 
to excel. 
 
The key to the whole process of leadership is that the management team and 
staff will create a sense of purposeful identity within the academy.  A very strong 
sense of team spirit, a sense of belonging and a sense of self-worth will prevail. 
 
We will seek to recruit and retain our staff through innovative and professional 
development and career progression opportunities.  Performance management 
and the assessment of performance will be rigorous.  The academy will champion 
the notion of lifelong learning and learning for life. Continuing professional 
development for all staff will be an expectation and an entitlement.  
 

Page 186



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

The academy will succeed by developing a partnership of committed groups and 
individuals whose common purpose is to raise standards, increase aspiration and 
equip our students with the skills needed to enhance the life chances of the 
people of Birkenhead and we will make sure  that the composition of the 
Governing body reflects that commitment. 
 
It is envisaged that the Governing Body of the Academy would be made up of 12-
14 members who would be appointed by the Board of Trustees, and would 
comprise: 4 governors appointed by - David Hughes, the Lead sponsor; 2 
appointed by Liverpool University Co-sponsor, 2 appointed by Birkenhead Sixth 
Form College; 1governor appointed by Wirral MBC as Co-sponsor, 1 by Wirral 
MBC as the LA, 1or 2 elected staff members, 1 or 2 elected parent/community 
members- and the Principal ex-officio. 
The Principal will report directly to and be accountable to the Board of Governors. 
 
 
Transition Planning 
A detailed transition plan will be developed during feasibility. It is anticipated that 
the academy will occupy the Rock Ferry High School site from September 2010 
and that it will move into its purpose built accommodation adjacent to this site, or 
on the same site, as appropriate, in September 2012.   
  
The sponsors will work closely with the local authority to develop transition 
arrangements which safeguard the interests of all students and staff, ensure 
standards are maintained, continuity of learning is protected, attainment is 
enhanced, and students are well supported throughout this period.  
 
Extended Activities and Interacting with the Local Community  
The very foundation stone of the new academy’s position in the community is its 
intent to intimately interact with the local community and especially with the  
parents/carers of students.   
 
We will play our part in line with Wirral Council’s   Children and Young People’s 
strategy, in providing a range of Extended Schools services which will include: 
study support  and recreational activities offering young people a safe place to be 
from 8am to 6pm during term-time and more flexibly in the holidays; parenting 
support, including family learning; swift and easy access to targeted and 
specialist services for example  health and well-being services, relationship 
advice, weight management, and sexual health in partnership with Wirral NHS; 
and community access to facilities including adult learning, ICT and sports 
facilities.  
 
The academy intends to make its facilities available, uniquely 7-days-a-week, 16-
hours-a-day to students, parents/carers and the community in general.  
Involvement and commitment to the cause by parents/carers and the entire 
community are seen as essential to the flowering of the academy.    
 
The design of the academy will incorporate at its very heart a restaurant which, 
through a variety of means and innovative thinking, will be a hub of academy 
activity throughout the day; it will be more than a restaurant; the social heart of 
the academy and will operate up to 16 hours a day.  Parents and carers will be 
able to get a breakfast early or a meal late if turning up to be involved in academy 
activity and community groups or volunteers will be able to “drop in” whilst taking 
part in activities, accessing services, or volunteering.   
 
A key plan is to recruit retired members of the community to help in raising 

Page 187



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

reading standards and assisting development.  This will be encouraged by 
making the restaurant available to those mentors at all times.  Newspapers will be 
freely available in the restaurant and the quiet study areas of the academy.  
Students will be encouraged to read these to their mentors.  Appropriate checks 
will be carried out on all mentors to protect the students. 
 
Our sports facilities will be available to the local community, as will the food 
facilities and changing facilities to support them.  The older generations will be 
encouraged to swap/trade their input of teaching and mentoring hours for hours 
returned/repaid to them through community activity by the students.   
 
The building will be designed to encourage adult learning and participation in 
recreational and social activities.   The aspirations and commitment of the whole 
community to life-long learning will be nurtured and developed.  We will use the 
services of University students as volunteers to run clubs and societies and the 
involvement of the University Guild of Students to provide activities delivered by 
student societies, e.g., drama performances, and will provide venues for 
university led Continuing Education courses – formal courses for University credit, 
one day courses, reading groups, and adult education provided by other colleges 
and organisations. 
 
This academy will be more than a school.  It intends to be the very heartbeat of 
its community and will seek the overt assistance of the local professional sports 
club, Tranmere Rovers, to assist those aims.  Professional footballers today are 
positive role models for young men promoting anti-drugs, healthy and fit lifestyle. 
We will also take part in the Playing for Success project based at Prenton Park. 
 

The academy’s sponsors are keen to work with Shaftsbury Youth Club to develop 
strong and effective partnership working, whilst maintaining the independence of 
both organisations, so that both parties benefit from their adjacent location; and to 
work with the youth club and local residents’ associations to develop plans for 
making the best use of all the facilities so that young people in the area have 
access to a wide range of sport and recreational opportunities.  

Clearly, the academy will collaborate particularly with Birkenhead Sixth Form 
College and Liverpool University within its wider Merseyside community, but 
through the sponsorship of Wirral Borough Council, it intends to remain close to 
the democratic process and the political and administrative functions of the 
community.  
 
One thing that a boys’ academy clearly has missing is girls!  To promote confident 
social interaction, it is expected that there will be collaborative activities with the 
other schools in the area, particularly the other two academies and Prenton High 
School for Girls. 
 
Use of the Charitable Trust Fund – Promoting Citizenship 
It is envisaged that the income of the trust fund will be used to purchase/provide 
practical facilities to enable the students of the academy to fully integrate and 
interact with their retired mentors in extracurricular activities.  More specifically, it 
means the providing of transportation facilities to encourage intergenerational 
interaction.  
 
There will be intergenerational shared cultural activities.  Whether that is 
accompanying pensioners to watch Tranmere Rovers play in complimentary 
seats reserved through their sponsorship, or assisting with visits to other cultural 
activities, we will promote good citizenship and a strong inter-generational bond.  

Page 188



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

Students will swap time offered by others to help them, back to their mentors in 
practical and social support.  A virtuous circle.   
 
The charitable trust will support and promote good citizenship and develop good 
citizens.  The academy intends to be a cornerstone of its community.  The 
academy will be more than a school. 

 
 
  

 

Section 4: Sites and Buildings 
 
4.1 
The academy would be located at the following address:   
 
On first opening the Academy would be located in the former Rock Ferry High School 
building, Ravenswood Avenue, Rock Ferry, Wirral, CH42 4NY. 
 
The current proposal is that the school will re-locate to a new building on a site in Borough 
Road, Birkenhead.  This site is partly owned by the council and partly by the independent 
Shaftesbury Youth Club.  Negotiations are in progress with the Youth Club with a view to a 
land swap and redevelopment of their premises.  This would facilitate the building of the new 
school on the current Youth Club field and also provide new youth facilities alongside the 
new school.  If it is not possible to secure the Youth Club site, then the council will bring 
forward other location proposals for consideration. 
 
 

 
 

The approximate size of the site to be transferred to the Academy Trust is: 6.5 hectares 
 

 
 

Please confirm that the proposed academy would have access to 
playing fields of a sufficient size to deliver its proposed vision and 
curriculum   

Yes X 

If not, please explain how would the PE curriculum be delivered: 

Please provide details:  

  
          

Please attach a copy of the Ordnance Survey Map with the 
boundaries of the Academy site clearly marked.     

Attached X 

 
4.2 

All parties are content with the selection of this site and no others are under consideration 
for this project.   

                                                                                             Confirmed X 

        
 

Page 189



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

 
 

If it is not currently a school site, please provide details of the ownership and current usage 
of the entire site and details of who would bear the costs of acquiring the site:  

The council’s view is that the best site in Birkenhead for the location of the new school is on 
Borough Road in Birkenhead, on a site partly owned by the council and partly by the 
independent Shaftesbury Youth Club.  The proposal is to build the new school on the Youth 
Club site fronting Borough Road and re-locate the Youth Club onto a new facility onto the 
ajoining council owned field, with the remainder being the school field.  The new school 
would therefore be located next to a new Youth Facility. 

It is intended that any playing field lost would be replicated by use of part of the facilities 
vacated at Ridgeway High School and Rock Ferry High School.  It is intended that some 
part(s) of these council assets would be considered for release to contribute to the councils 
capital costs of the total project, including the youth locality.  It is hoped to have a decision 
on the site proposals from the Shaftesbury Youth Club in the next three to four months. 

The Academy’s sponsors are keen to work with the Youth Club to develop partnership 
working, whilst maintaining the independence of both organisations, so that both parties 
benefit from their adjacent location, to maximise use of all facilities, and to ensure that young 
people in the area have access to a wide range of opportunities, facilities, and services.  

Shaftesbury Youth Club was first established in Birkenhead in 1886, moving to the current 
site in Tranmere in 1971 with the provision of a brand new building. The club now offers a 
wide range of sporting, cultural and educational facilities to over 1,000 girls and boys aged 
between 8 and 21 years in a disciplined and safe environment under the guidance of 
professional youth workers, coaches and adult volunteer helpers. The club is open six 
evenings a week and daytime at weekend, after school and during school holidays. 
Youngsters have the opportunity to participate in outward bound activities plus exchanges 
with other European clubs. The club facilities, which are also available for community hire, 
include a sports hall, computer suite, café area, seminar rooms, plus two grass and two 
floodlit astro-turf pitches. 

The club is a charitable organisation and its success depends not only on a voluntary 
committee that manages the centre and assists with fund raising but also the financial 
support of the wider community. In addition to the youth facilities, the club has a ‘community 
project’ strand to their work and  provides facilities for a wide range of community groups 
including the Mount Estate Mums & Tots Group which delivers a valuable service to the local 
young families. Tranmere Rovers Football Club is adjacent to the Youth Club and also 
utilises the facility to provide educational programmes for their youth teams. 

 

 
Note: If the site is currently a school site, it would be transferred at nil cost (or leased at 
nominal rent) to the Academy Trust prior to the academy opening, with terms agreed 
prior to Funding Agreement 
 

 

The site of the proposed academy is owned by (mark one with an x) 

LA X 

Diocese  

CTC Trust  

Other X 

If other, please provide details  The site is currently part owned by the council and part 
owned by the independent Shaftesbury Youth Club 

Page 190



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

Yes  

No  

If the site is owned by the LA does it intend to seek permission to 
dispose of any part of it?  
 
  N/A X 

If yes, please provide details and confirm that you would abide by PfS guidelines regarding 
contributions to the capital cost of the academy project. 

 

The Council is unlikely to dispose of the Ridgeway High School site, which will not be 
required long term for the Academies. Should it do so- the Council will abide by PfS 
guidelines on contributions to the capital costs of the academy.  

 

The Council intends to continue using the Ridgeway High School site to provide community 
facilities.  

The Council would seek to consider disposal of part of the Rock Ferry site to potentially fund 
the associated youth capital project. 

 

                        

         
 

If the academy proposes to open in existing buildings (Section 3.3) please provide a brief 
description of the age, size and condition of these buildings:  

Park High School 
The site area is 26,190 m2. The original school was built in 1960, and is in good condition 
having been significantly rebuilt and refurbished in recent years. The building and site are 
part of Wirral’s 9 school PFI contract until 2031, currently held by Semperian PPP 
Investment Partners LP (www.semperian.co.uk). Disabled access is 100%. 

Ridgeway High School 
The total site area is 94,944 m2. The school occupies four principal buildings. The main 
school was built in 1974 – there is also a mid-1980’s mobile classroom, and two further 
blocks built in the last 10 years. A community centre is located within the school’s main 
building. The school also shares accommodation and services with a City Learning Centre, 
which also houses a Local Authority maintained library, also used by the school. The main 
building and mobile will require substantial refurbishment works over the next ten years. 
Disabled access is 50%. 

Rock Ferry High School 
The site area is 82,543 m2. The school occupies five principal buildings. The main school 
was built in 1938, the Sanderling Unit for students with SEN (BESD) was constructed in 
1922. The remaining buildings comprise the Stoneleigh building (1955), Highfield building 
(1971) and Sports Hall (1980). There is also a caretaker’s house on site (1922). There has 
been major investment at the site following various fires in recent years. The school will 
require substantial works over the next ten years. Disabled access is 60%. 
 
 

 

4.3 

Please provide details of discussions with LA planners or legal advisors on any likely 
planning or legal restrictions that could preclude academy building development, lead to 
abnormal costs or impact on the proposed programme: 

 

There have been initial, positive discussions with the planning authority with regard to using 
the Borough Road site as the site for the new school.  As part of the proposed site is owned 
by the Shaftesbury Youth Club, full details have not been available regarding the ground 
conditions, covenants and so on as no agreement has been reached yet on the site 
acquisition as part of the youth facility re-development.  The site is flat and adjacent to all 

Page 191



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

main services, the Youth Club land has easy access from a main arterial road. 

 

Should it be necessary to co-locate primary schools, special schools, Pupil Referral Units, 
youth or community groups currently sharing the site, please confirm that the LA would bear 
associated capital and revenue costs.   

Yes (please give more information) 

 

Not applicable (mark with a x) X 

 

 

Where required in response to site constraints or as a result of remodelling, please provide 
details of a decanting plan for existing occupants during construction and details of who 
would pay the associated costs:  

Decanting is not anticipated. 

 

  

 

Please confirm that the LA would meet the cost of any off- site works that may be 
associated with the development of the academy.    
 
                  

                                                                                   Confirmed X 

  
 
4.4 
 
The Department intends to deliver all procurement through Partnerships for Schools (PfS) 
and Local Authorities.  
 
If approved, this academy would be procured through: (Please mark one with an x) 
 

BSF Local Education Partnership  

PfS National Framework   
 
Procurement likely to be combined with PfS framework for Birkenhead High 
Academy for Girls (Academy 1) 
 
 

X 

 
 
Section 5:  Agreements 
 
5.1 Sponsor Agreement 
Some categories of sponsor (listed below) are not required to make a financial contribution to 
the endowment fund, or to sign a Deed of Gift. The Department would nonetheless expect the 
Academy Trust to establish the means of receiving and to use reasonable endeavours to raise 
donations. 
  

Name of Lead Sponsor: David Hughes 

Page 192



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

Amount of sponsorship to be contributed:  £500,000.00 

Name of co-sponsor/s:  
 

• The University of Liverpool 
 

• Birkenhead Sixth Form College 
 

• Wirral MBC 
 

Amount of sponsorship to be contributed: N/A 

Governance arrangements i.e. composition of the trustee board and the governing body: 

Final proposals for the composition of the Trustee Board and the Governing Body 
would be decided during feasibility but it is envisaged that there would be up of 6 
Trustees who would set the strategic direction of the Academy.  They would be made up of 
representatives of the Lead Sponsor- David Hughes (2), Co-sponsor The University of 
Liverpool (1), Co-sponsor Birkenhead Sixth Form College (1), the Chair of the Governing 
Body of the Academy (1) and a representative of the Secretary of State (1).  
 
It is also envisaged that the Governing Body of the Academy would be made up of 12-14 
members who would be appointed by the Board of Trustees, and would comprise: 4 
governors appointed by - David Hughes, the Lead sponsor; 2 appointed by The  University 
of Liverpool Co-sponsor, 2 appointed by Birkenhead Sixth Form College; 1governor 
appointed by Wirral MBC as Co-sponsor, 1 by Wirral MBC as the LA, 1or 2 elected staff 
members, 1 or 2 elected parent/community members- and the Principal ex-officio. 
 

 

Please note: sponsors other than local authorities would appoint a controlling 
majority of the governing body 

 

*The following categories of sponsor are not required to make a financial contribution to the 
endowment fund.  

Please indicate if sponsor/s fall into any of the categories below: 

Existing sponsor who has already contributed £2million as financial 
sponsorship 

 

University/College X 

School or other educational establishment  

Diocese  

  
       

Please confirm that sponsors understand and are content with the roles and responsibilities 
of the Sponsor, as set out in Sponsorship Guide: Establishing an Academy.   

                                                                                 Confirmed X 

                  

5.2 Local Authority Agreement  

Page 193



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

 

Yes X Does the LA agree to all aspects of this proposal, including the admissions 
criteria proposed in Section 3?       

No  

   

  

Yes X Does the LA confirm that it would bring forward proposals for the closure 
of any predecessor schools?    

No  

  

    

Yes X Is this proposal included (or due to be included) within the LA’s BSF 
Strategy for Change?    

No  

  

 

      

If you have answered no to any of these questions, please provide full details:  

 

 

 

 

 

If this project involves a predecessor school, please provide details of the proposed 
consultation that the LA would undertake on its closure: 

 

Wirral MBC will undertake closure of the three predecessor schools, Park High School, Rock 
Ferry High School, and Ridgeway High School as follows: 

 

 

Date Indicative Timeline 

 
1
st
 October 2009 

 

 

Report to Cabinet on EOI including required consultation 
process and closure timeline.  

 

21
st
 October 2009 

 
Commencement of formal closure consultation (6 weeks)  

 

 
27

th
 November  2009 

 

 

Conclusion of formal closure consultation 

 

14
th
 January 2010 

 

Report to Cabinet  

 

28
th
 January 2010 

 
Statutory Notice published- statutory closure   consultation 
begins (6 weeks) 
 

 

10
th
 March 2010 

 
Statutory closure consultation closes 

15
th
 April 2010  Report to Cabinet 

 

31 August 2010  

 

Schools close 

Page 194



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

1 September 2010 

 

 Academy opens 

 

 

 

Where staff at existing schools transfer to an academy, please 
confirm that the LA agrees to indemnify the academy in respect of all 
employment costs relating to the period prior to the transfer, which 
will include without limitation the costs arising out of any equal pay 
claims relating to that period. 

Confirmed X 

 

 
Please confirm that the LA would contribute towards the costs associated with TUPE as 
follows: 
 
 
1.  to meet all costs – including any severance, redundancy or associated pension costs 
associated with any restructuring resulting from or arising out of:  
 

• an academy inheriting staff from more than one school 
 

• Academy operating on fewer sites than predecessor school(s); 
 

• Academy offering fewer places than at the predecessor school(s);  
 

• the predecessor school(s) being overstaffed; or 
 

• the predecessor school(s) running at a deficit. 
 
2.   to meet 50% of any other severance and associated costs incurred by an academy not 
covered by the criteria above.  
 
All costs referred to relate to those incurred in the run up to 
the academy opening or at the point of opening (allowing time 
for the academy to follow due process) and not some time 
thereafter. 

 

     

Confirmed X 

 

5.3 Neighbouring Local Authority Agreement  

Yes  

No  

If the proposed academy is likely to have an impact on schools in 
neighbouring local authorities have these authorities been consulted about 
this academy project?  

 

 N/A X 

Where applicable please provide details:   

  

5.4 Governing Body Agreement  

Yes  Is the Governing Body of any predecessor school(s) content with this 
proposal? 

No  

Page 195



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

N/A  

Where applicable please provide details:  

The governing body of park High School met on 28
th
 September- and voted to support/ not 

support the proposal.  

The governing body of George Rock Ferry High School met on 28
th
 September - and voted 

to support/ not support the proposal.  

The governing body of Ridgeway High School met on 28
th
 September - and voted to 

support/ not support the proposal.  

  

5.5 Learning and Skills Council (LSC) Agreement  

Yes X Has the local LSC been consulted on and agreed to any proposed  

post -16 provision? 

 

 
No 

 

         

Yes  Is a letter confirming support attached? 

  No  

If no   - Please provide copies of any correspondence and give details of LSC objections:  

 

   

5.6 Diocese Agreement 

Yes  

No  
Where the relevant predecessor school is a VA school, please confirm that 
the Diocese/Archdiocese has agreed to this proposal and has formal Board 
of Education / Diocesan Schools Commission agreement.  

N/A X 

Where applicable please provide details:  

        

5.7 Miscellaneous     

The Department has established a Framework for the Project Management of academy 
projects following an open competition.  This arrangement has been made to ensure 
compliance with the government procurement regulations and avoid lengthy competition 
processes. The ten project management companies appointed to our Framework have been 
selected on the basis of their experience, expertise and commitment to deliver a quality 
service.   

Please confirm that all parties are content for a Project Management company to be 
selected from the DCSF framework.   

*Please note that alternative arrangements may be agreed for multiple sponsors through 
discussion with the Project Lead. 

                                                                                        

Agreed 

 

X 

     

  

     

Please confirm that all parties understand and are content with the roles and responsibilities 
of the Sponsor, Project Steering Group, Academy Trust, LA and PfS in relation to the 
academy buildings, as set out in Delivering Academy Buildings through PfS:  

                                                                                               Confirmed 
X 

Page 196



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

  

       

Please provide details of any known impediments, risks, conditions or hazards not 
mentioned elsewhere in this document:  

 

None known. 

 

Page 197



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

5.8 Signatory details 
 

We fully support all aspects of this Expression of Interest and agree to use it as a basis 
for the future development of an academy project. 

 

Signature  

 

                             (For and on behalf of David E. Hughes, the lead sponsor) 

 

Name in full:         David E. Hughes 

 

Position: 

 

Date: 

_________________________________________________________ 
 

Signature  

 

                            (For and on behalf of The University of Liverpool, a co-sponsor) 

 

Name in full:        Sir Howard Newby 

 

Position:               Vice Chancellor 

 

Date: 

___________________________________________________________ 
 

Signature  

 

                         (For and on behalf of Birkenhead Sixth Form College, a co-sponsor) 

 

Name in full:      Peter Cummings 

 

Position:             Chair of the Corporation 

 

Date: 

_________________________________________________________ 
 

Signature  

 

                      (For and on behalf of Wirral MBC, as a co-sponsor) 

 

Name in full: 

 

Position: 

 

Date: 

 

___________________________________________________________ 
 

 

 

Page 198



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

Signature  

 

                       (For and on behalf of Wirral MBC, as the local authority) 

 

Name in full: 

 

Position: 

 

Date: 

 

Page 199



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

Section 6: Contact details 
 
Name of lead sponsor, representative: David E. Hughes/ Lisa Gregory-Jones PA 
Address: 
Email: LisaGregory-Jones@thestoreroom.co.uk  
Tel: 07957 463819 
Mobile: 
Fax: 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 
Name of The University of Liverpool, co-sponsor, representative: Dr Anne Qualter, Head of 
Educational Development. 
Address: University of Liverpool, 126 Mount Pleasant, Liverpool, L69 3GR 
Email:a.qualter@liv.ac.uk 
Tel: 0151 794 3280 
Mobile: 
Fax: 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
Name of Birkenhead Sixth Form College, co-sponsor, representative: Kathryn Podmore, 
Principal 
Address: Park Road West, Birkenhead, CH43 8SQ 
Email:kyp@bsfc.ac.uk 
Tel: 0151 651 3706 
Mobile: 
Fax: 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
Name of Wirral MBC, as co-sponsor, representative: Mark Parkinson, Head of Branch (Learning 
& Achievement). 
Address: Wirral Children & Young People's Department, Council Offices, Hamilton Building, 
Conway Street, Birkenhead, CH41 4FD. 
Email:markparkinson@wirral.gov.uk 
Tel: 0151 666 4297 
Mobile: 
Fax: 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
Name of Wirral MBC, as the local authority, representative: Mark Parkinson, Head of Branch 
(Learning & Achievement). 
Address: Wirral Children & Young People's Department, Council Offices, Hamilton Building, 
Conway Street, Birkenhead, CH41 4FD. 
Email: markparkinson@wirral.gov.uk 
Tel: 0151 666 4297 
Mobile:  
Fax: 
_______________________________________________________________ 
 
School 1 
Name of Park High School, predecessor school, representative: Headteacher, Mr Steven 
McMahon. 

Address: Park Road South, Prenton, Merseyside, CH43 4UY 

Email: headteacher@parkhigh.wirral.sch.uk 
Tel: 0151 652 1574 
Mobile: 
Fax: 0151 653 6760 

_______________________________________________________________ 
 
 

Page 200



 

ACADEMY 2 DRAFT                             This version updated 22/09/2009 

School 2 
Name of Rock Ferry High School, predecessor school, representative: Headteacher Mr Peter 
Bennett.  
Address: Ravenswood Avenue, Rock Ferry, Birkenhead, Merseyside, CH42 4NY. 
Email: headteacher@rockferryhigh.wirral.sch.uk 
Tel: 0151 645 6917 
Mobile: 
Fax: 0151 643 1236 
 
 

_______________________________________________________________ 
 
School 3 
Name of Ridgeway High School, predecessor school, representative: Headteacher, Ms Pauline 
Roberts.  
Address: Noctorum Avenue, Noctorum, Prenton, Merseyside, CH43 9EB 
Email: headteacher@ridgeway.wirral.sch.uk 
Tel: 0151 678 3322 
Mobile: 
Fax: 0151 678 6571 
 

Page 201



Page 202

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

 

UNIVERSITY ACADEMY OF BIRKENHEAD 
(working title) 
IN WIRRAL 

 
EXPRESSION OF INTEREST FOR AN ACADEMY 
REPLACING THREE PREDECESSOR SCHOOLS 

 
 
Section 1: 1.1 Executive Summary 
It is proposed to replace three co-educational secondary schools, Park, Rock Ferry, 
and Ridgeway High Schools, in Birkenhead, an area of the Wirral which has 
significant social and economic disadvantage, with two academies; one for boys 

and one which will be co-educational.  
 

The proposal is for a co-educational Academy. The lead sponsor would be 
the University of Chester, supported in co-sponsorship by Wirral Metropolitan College 

and Wirral Borough Council. The University Academy of Birkenhead would open 
in 2010 on the sites of two of the predecessor schools, Park and Ridgeway High 
Schools and would consolidate on the Park High School site, in the North of the 
town, following refurbishment. 
 

The three 11-16 schools which are non-selective secondary schools within a 

selective area, are located in areas of acute social and economic disadvantage; 
Rock Ferry is in the bottom 10% and Park is in the bottom 10-20% most 

disadvantaged nationally. Ridgeway is in the 20-30% most disadvantaged 
nationally. Rock Ferry’s and Park’s students are drawn from areas in the bottom 
5% most deprived nationally; in 2008 over 50% of their students were entitled to 

free school meals. Ridgeway’s students are drawn from areas in the bottom 19% 
most deprived areas nationally with 36% of students entitled to free school 
meals in 2008.  The proportion of students with learning difficulties and/or disabilities 

is above average and students enter the school with below average literacy levels. 
Most students are from white British backgrounds and there are a small number of 

students from minority ethnic groups, of whom 1-2% in 2008 were at an early stage 

of speaking English.  Park and Rock Ferry are Community schools and Ridgeway 
has Foundation status. All three schools have significant surplus places. There 
are currently 2124 students in total in the three schools and 1261 surplus 
places. 
 
Student achievement at 16 of 5+A*-C grades at GCSE including English and maths 
in the three schools in 2008, was 26% at Park, 23% at Rock Ferry, and 37% at 
Ridgeway- well below both national and Wirral averages.  Provisional results for 

2009 are 27% at Park; 25% at Rock Ferry and 47% at Ridgeway. The schools CVA 

scores in 2008 placed them in the top 25% of schools nationally. All three schools 

Page 203



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

are in the National Challenge programme. 
 
It is proposed that the University Academy of Birkenhead would have an admission 
number of 150 providing 750 11-16 places, which along with a PAN of 150 for the 

proposed Boys Academy would result  in a reduction of 1,868 total places overall.   
 
The sponsors for the University Academy of Birkenhead have worked in close 

collaboration to formulate a unique and strongly supported transformational response 

to the needs of young people, families and the wider community of Birkenhead.  
 
Our vision is based on Three Pillars of Learning - Sense of Personal Worth; 
Personalised and Lifelong Learning; Partnerships and Networks to secure student and 
staff achievement, success, happiness, and productivity. Key aspects of our vision are: 
 
Students would be empowered to have an influential and meaningful voice in the life 
and work of our Academy and community and would feel and be involved in their own 
and others’ learning.  
 
We would develop leadership at all levels, with explicit strategies for staff, students and 
families to hold each other to account, make extensive and intelligent use of data on 
pupil progress, and ensure that all teachers were competent at ‘mentoring for learning’ 
in order to maximise student achievement. Working with the University of Chester we 
plan to become a centre of excellence for the initial training of teachers and the 
continuing professional development of all staff to raise  standards.   
 
The Academy would be at the learning heart of the community, reaching beyond the 

site of the Academy to facilitate Lifelong Learning for all the people of Birkenhead, 
providing a community resource both inside and outside of the traditional school day 
and forming a hub for wider local services and activities, particularly through 

partnerships with health and the co-located Multi-Professional Children and Young 
People’s Locality Team.  
 
The Academy would become an outstanding place of learning and achievement, 
organised for every student’s success and happiness with Personalised Learning at its 
core. Students would initially follow the broad features of the National Curriculum and 
would progress through Key Stage 3 in two years to provide more time for GCSEs, 
diplomas and broad life and learning skills development in Key Stage 4.  
 
At Key Stage 4 we would offer the full range of qualifications, become a centre of 
excellence in the development of integrated academic and vocational routes to further 
and higher education and employment with every student having a rich, integrated and 
productive experience across academic and vocational settlings. Students would be 
able to use the extensive business network and partners of the University of Chester, 
Wirral Metropolitan College, and the Wirral Council to develop new opportunities and to 
extend their horizons. 
 
Literacy and Numeracy would be a major focus.  We would work with primary schools 
and families “upstream” to target support to minimise under-achievement, have a 
strong emphasis on teaching Literacy and Numeracy across the curriculum at Key 
Stage 3, ensure all staff have the skills to teach and support Literacy and Numeracy, 
and would draw on specialist expertise and support in Maths and English from our co-
sponsors, the University of Chester and Wirral Metropolitan College. 
 
We would specialise in Enterprise and Applied Learning and in Health and Social Care 
building on the strong foundations for Business and Social Enterprise within the current 

Page 204



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

schools and drawing on our sponsors’ expertise and extensive resources in these 
areas, and on the skills and talents of people from outside the Academy and from our 

neighbourhood and local communities - to develop curriculum materials which would 
excite and motivate our learners; enable our students to apply core learning skills and 
the full range of traditional academic disciplines to practical and meaningful settings, 
gain a real understanding of subject disciplines, especially English, Mathematics and 
Science and their link with technologies, innovation and enterprise,  and ensure our 
students  would become  familiar and confident in their interaction with a wide range of 
industries and professions.  
 
High quality, world-class technology would be integral to the learning, management, 
and organisation of the University Academy and the realisation of the Academy’s 
vision. Students would be able to access information systems remotely (e.g.in the 
Academy, from home or elsewhere) to support curriculum breadth and independent 
study and/or research. The University of Chester and Wirral Metropolitan College will 
offer particular expertise in the development and use of IT and new technologies in 
learning, including Virtual Learning Environments and control technologies.   
 
We would  make extensive use of our sposnors  expertise and resources   for example-
enrichment programmes such as lectures and masterclasses, mentoring and tutoring 
support, access to extensive campus  facilities, a strong network of employer and 
business links, student and staff work placement schemes, advice and suport for 
students on routes into further and higher education,  specialist support to meet the 
needs of students facing significant learning and behavioural challenges,   and social 
and economic regeneration programmes, and that of our staff, and  other partners, to 
raise aspirations, to develop a deeper and broader culture of lifelong learning and to 
equip our students, and others, with the knowledge, skills, understanding and self-
confidence required for a brighter future – a future that they will need to shape for 
themselves.    

 
The name of the academy will be decided in feasibility. 
 
 
1.1 Key statistics  

1. Predecessor School – Educational attainment 

GCSE 5+ A* -C GCSE 5+ A* -C inc English and maths 

 

2005 2006 2007 2008  2005 2006 2007 2008  

National  
Average 

56.3 58.5 60.8 64.8 44.3 45.3 46.0 47.3 

LA 
Average 

57 58 61 66 45.4 46.3 48.4 50.2 

Park 
High 
School 1 

29 31 41 52 13 16 23 26 

Rock 
Ferry 
High 
School 2 

33 35 28 41 20 24 19 23 

Ridgeway 
High 
School 3 

54 52 48 53 25 33 27 37 

 
 

Page 205



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

 

CVA 
Scores 
(KS2-4) 

2006 2007 2008 

LA 
Average 

1007.8 1009.7 1009.4 

Park 
High 
School 1 

1000.8 1014.9 1021 

Rock 
Ferry 
High 

School 2 

1019.8 1000.2 1015.8 

Ridgeway 
High 
School 3 

1040.5 1037.2 1022 

 
 

 
 

 
  * Pupils on roll as at Jan 2009 

2. Predecessor School – Deprivation 

 
National figures 
quoted relate only 
to secondary 
schools  

 
Pupil rank (based 
on number of 

secondary schools) 
out of 3377 of which 
1 is the most 
deprived) 

 
2008 

 
 

Site rank (school 
location) of which 0 
is the most deprived 
and 100 is the least 

deprived 
                                

2007 

 
 
 
 

% pupils eligible for 
Free School Meals 

(FSM) 
 

2008 

National Average - - 13.1 

LA Average - - 23.1 

Park High  
School 1 

152/3377 
4.5% 

10-20% 51.5 

Rock Ferry High 

School 2 
128/3377 

3.8% 
0-10% 53.0 

Ridgeway High 

School 3 
632/3377 

19% 
20-30% 35.7 

3. Predecessor school – Basic characteristics 

National 
figures 

quoted relate 
only to 
secondary 
schools. 

Pupils on 
Roll 
 (3-11)  

Pupils on 
Roll* 
 (11-16) 

Pupils on 
Roll 
(16-19) 

School 
capacity 
2009 

% with 
SEN 

statement 
 

2008 

% of 
pupils 
with EAL 

 
2008 

National 
Average 

- - - - 2.0 10.6 %  

LA Average - - - - 2.3% 1.5% 

Park High 
School 1 

0 811* 0 1250 1.8% 2.1% 

Rock Ferry 

High School 2 
0 584* 0 1232 8.3% 1.0% 

Ridgeway High 
School 3 

0 729* 0 885 4.0% 1.3% 

Page 206



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

  

 

 
 
Section 2: The Predecessor Schools 

2.1 Not applicable. 

 

2.2   Basic Characteristics    

 School 1 School 2 School 3  

School Name:              Park High Rock Ferry High Ridgeway High  

School Address: 

 

Park Road South, 
Prenton, 
Merseyside,  

CH43 4UY 

Ravenswood 
Avenue, Rock 
Ferry, Birkenhead, 
Merseyside, CH42 
4NY 

Noctorum 
Avenue, 
Noctorum, 
Prenton, 
Merseyside, 
CH43 9EB 

Name of LA:  Wirral     LA Code:  344      

Type of Establishment  (Please mark one with an x)  

Community School X X  

Foundation School   X 

Voluntary Aided (VA) School    

Voluntary Controlled (VC) 
School 

   

City Technology College    

Independent    

4. Proposed Academy – Basic characteristics 

Planned 
number of 
pupils 
(3-11) 

Planned 
number of 
pupils 
 (11-16) 

Planned 
number of 
pupils 
(16-19) 

Planned 
maximum 
number 

Specialism(s) 

 
0 

750 0 750 

Enterprise 
and 

Applied 
Learning 

Proposed 
opening date 

Target build 
completion 
date 

Building route 
(BSF or 
National 
Framework) 

Faith 
Designation 

Name of 
Sponsor(s) 

 
2010 

 
2011  

Existing PFI 
contractor 

None 

Lead sponsor-
University of  

Chester  
with 

 Wirral 
Metropolitan 

College 
and 

Wirral MBC 
as Co-sponsors 

 

Page 207



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

Other (please specify)    

 

Gender and age range (Please mark with an x) 

   Co-Educational X X X 

   Single Sex Boys    

   Single Sex Girls                                       

   Age Range 11-16 X X X 

   Age Range 11-19    

   Other Age Range (e.g. 
Middle Schools) 

  
 

 

 

Is this a designated Faith School?   (Please mark one with an x) 

   Yes  

with faith admissions                                      
(Faith: )                                          (Faith: )                             

 
(Faith: )                             

   Yes  

without faith admissions                             
(Faith:)                            (Faith: )                             

 
(Faith: )                             

   No X X X 

     
Specialism(s) if applicable): 
 
 
 
 
 

Sport 
 

Performing Arts Business 
and 

Enterprise 
and 

 Languages 

 

 

2.3 School Population 

 Park High  

School 1 

Rock Ferry High  

School 2 

Ridgeway High  

School 3 

Admissions Number:  250 250 160 

Year 7: 150 92 130 

Year 8: 111 98 147 

Year 9: 173 113 147 

Year 10: 184 159 156 

Current number 
of pupils on roll 
as  
at: January 
2009 
 Year 11: 193 122 149 

  

Sept 2005 200 153 157 

Sept 2006 179 112 156 

Sept 2007 111 96 148 

Number of 
Year 7 pupils 
admitted in: 

Sept 2008 150 92 130 

  

Sept 2005 0 0 0 

Sept 2006 0 0 0 

Sept 2007 0 0 0 

 
Number of 
Year 12-13 
students at the 
school in:  
 
 

Sept 2008 0 0 
0 

Page 208



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

  

2004/05 N/A N/A N/A 

2005/06 N/ N/A N/A 

2006/07 N/A N/A N/A 

Percentage of 
pupil population 
who joined or 
left the school 
other than at 
the start or 
finish of the 
academic year: 

2007/08 

 

N/A 

 

N/A 

 

N/A 

 

2.4   Admissions 

Please attach a copy of the current Admissions Policy    
 
School 1 Park High 
 
School 2 Rock Ferry High 
 
School 3 Ridgeway High school 3 

 
 

Attached 
 

Attached 
 

Attached 

 
 

X 
 

X 
 

X 

 
2.5 Leadership  
 
School 1 Park High 
 
Name of headteacher: Mr Steven McMahon 
 

Headteacher has been in post for: 4Year(s) 0 Months as of 1
st
 September 2009. 

 
Rock Ferry High School 2 
 
Name of headteacher: Mr Peter Bennett  
 
 

Headteacher has been in post for: 9 Years 0 Months as of 1
st
 September 2009. 

 
Ridgeway High School 3 
 
Name of headteacher: Ms Pauline Roberts  
 
 

Headteacher has been in post for: 1 Year 0 Months as of 1
st
 September 2009. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2.6   School Improvement  

 Park High  

School 1 

Rock Ferry High  

School 2 

Ridgeway High  

School 3 

Intervention status 

Page 209



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

(Please mark box(es) with an x)        

None X X X 

Special Measures    

Significant Improvement/Notice to   
Improve 

  
 

Warning Notice issued    

Causing Concern    

Interim Executive Board    

 Required school to enter into partnership 
arrangements 

  
 

 Added additional governors    

 Suspended delegated budget    

Please provide details:     

Yes – National 
Challenge 

 

X 

 

X 

 

X 

Yes – other    
 

Does the 
predecessor school 
receive any external 
support and/or is it 
in receipt of a 
tailored external 
support package?  

 

  

No   

 

If other, please provide details:   

 

   

 
2.7    Finance 
 

 
Park High  
School 1 

Rock Ferry High 
School 2 

Ridgeway High 
School 3 

Yes  Yes   Does the predecessor 
school 
currently have a budget 
deficit? 

No X No X 
 
X 

If yes, please provide 
details:   

  
 

 
 
 

 
Park High  
School 1 

Rock Ferry High 
School 2 

Ridgeway High 
School 3 

Yes X Yes   Does the predecessor 
school currently have an in- 
year deficit?  No  No X X 

If yes, please provide 
details:  

Budget deficit of 
£22,000 at time of 
writing - is 

 
 

Page 210



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

expected to 
balance when the 
budget is 
resubmitted during 
Autumn 2009. 
 

The LA should note that any deficit budget remaining at the point of school closure 
would not transfer to the academy.  

 
Section 3: The Proposed Academy 

 

3.1 Academy Population 

 

Gender (Mark one with an x)  

   Co-Educational X 

   Single Sex Boys   

   Single Sex Girls  

 
 

Forms of Entry:                                5FE 

   Admissions Number: 150 

   Nursery (age 3-5):                            0 

   Years 7-11 (age 11-16) 750 

   Years 12-13 (age 16-19):    0 

 
 

 
Please provide a detailed justification for the size of the proposed academy: 
 
There are 23 secondary schools in Wirral, 6 of these are single sex selective schools (three 
boys, three girls), 6 are single sex non-selective schools (four girls, two boys), the remainder 
being mixed sex non-selective schools, two of which are Catholic secondary schools. 
 
Within the Birkenhead review area, in September 2009 there will be three non-selective 
mixed schools – Ridgeway High, Rock Ferry High and Park High; two non-selective girls 
schools – Prenton High and Birkenhead High Academy and one selective boys grammar – 
St Anselm’s Catholic College. 
 
Expected Year 7 admissions in September 2009 for the 6 schools are currently 680 (c 23 
FE) of which 126 (c 4 FE) are for the boys selective school, 243 (c 8 FE) are for the two girls 
non-selective schools  and 311 (c 10 FE) are for the three non-selective schools.  
 
Pupil numbers entering Year 7 in the area are forecast to fall over the next few years, rising 
again to reach approximately 680 (23 FE) by 2018.  
 
Park High School has a PAN of 250 for Year 7 with 811 pupils on roll in January 2009, and 
439 surplus places, projected to reach 670 surplus places by 2018. 
 
Rock Ferry High School has a PAN of 250 for Year 7 with 584 pupils on roll in January 2009 
and 648 surplus places, projected to reach 831 surplus places by 2018. 
 
Ridgeway High School has a PAN of 160 for Year 7 with 729 pupils on roll in January 2009 
and 157 surplus places, projected to reach 302 by 2018. 

Page 211



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

It is proposed that the Mixed Academy will have a PAN of 150 for Year 7, which along with a 
PAN of 150 for the proposed Boys Academy would result  in a reduction of 1,868 total 
places overall  and bring school provision in this area in line with pupil population. It is 
anticipated that the Academy will admit to its planned admission number as an Academy.  
 

 

3.2 All-age Academies  

If the academy would provide primary school places, please provide the case for an  

all-age academy:  N/A 

 

 

If the academy proposes to cater for nursery pupils (age 3-5), please provide details of  
how this would fit with the LA’s strategic plan for nursery education:  N/A 

 
 

Yes  Does the LA confirm it would fund the capital costs of the primary 
and/or nursery element for the all-age academy? 
 N/A  

 

3.3 Proposed Opening Date in existing buildings  

2010 

 

3.4 Target Build Completion Date  

2012 

 

3.5 Specialism(s)   

The academy would specialise in:  Enterprise and Applied Learning and  in Health and Social 
Care 

 

3.6 Admissions  

Please confirm that the academy’s admissions policy and arrangements would be in 
accordance with admissions law, the School Admissions Code of Practice and the School 
Admission Appeals Code of Practice as they apply to maintained schools. 

              Confirmed X 

   
 

Please confirm that the admissions policy would ensure that the academy meets the 
statutory requirements (i.e. “provides education for pupils of different abilities who are wholly 
or mainly drawn from the area in which the school is situated”).  

              Confirmed X 

     

Page 212



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

    

The academy would take up its place on the local admissions forum:  

              Confirmed X 

   

       

Yes  
If oversubscribed would the academy select up to 10% of its pupils by 
aptitude for the specialism?   No X 

If yes, please provide details of how the sponsor would develop a selection mechanism that 
is not dependent on ability:  

   
     
Please provide any further details known about the proposed over subscription criteria and 
admissions policy. In particular, how the policy would lead to a balanced intake and whether 
“banding by ability” would be considered :  
 
The Sponsors of the University Academy of Birkenhead are committed to adopting the same 
admission arrangements and oversubscription criteria as the local authority. 
 
Banding- the local authority and the Sponsors have considered banding and believe that a 
mixed ability intake,  as far as is possible in a selective system,  would be achieved without 
the need for banding using the proposed oversubscription criteria.  

Firm proposals for admissions would be decided during feasibility but are expected 
to be based on the following:  

Admissions at Age 11, Year 7 

The Admission Number of the Academy would be 150. 

The Academy would admit all pupils with a Statement of Special Educational Need naming 
the Academy and to which the Academy has agreed. 
 
Should the Academy be undersubscribed all applicants would be admitted.  
 
Should the Academy be oversubscribed it would be expected that the following 
oversubscription criteria would be used: 
 
 
Priority would be given in the following order: 

1. Children who are in the care of the local authority. 
2. Children who have a valid medical reason for a specific placement 
3. Children who have a sibling  (including half-siblings or step siblings living in the 

same household) on roll at the Academy of statutory school age;  
4. Children living nearest to the Academy using the shortest road route, unless it is 

possible to use a footpath which is considered a safe walking route 

 

 

3.7 Exclusions 

Please confirm that the academy would have regard to and have an independent appeal 
panel which acts in accordance with the Secretary of State’s guidance on exclusions.  

              Confirmed X 

 

Page 213



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

 

3.8 Special Educational Needs (SEN)  

Please confirm that the proposed academy’s SEN policy would 
have regard to meet the requirements of the SEN Code of Practice.  

Confirmed X 

Yes  
Would the academy be co-located with an SEN unit? If yes please 
note that the LA would bear all capital costs 

No X 

 
If yes who would run the SEN unit? 
 

The academy  The LA  

 
Please provide details:  
 
The proposed Academy would be expected to use its financial, staffing, and accommodation 
resources flexibly to meet the wide range of pupil need. The LA would wish to commission 
up to 40 inclusive places in this Academy for pupils with learning difficulties, both specific 
and moderate, combined with social and emotional difficulties, to replace the Sanderling Unit 
currently located on the Rock Ferry site.  
 

 
Please note that pupils in the unit should not be included in overall pupil numbers for the 
academy. If the academy is proposing to manage the unit, revenue funding to support the 
unit will be recouped from the Dedicated Schools Grant.     
    

 
 
3.9  The National Curriculum 

Please confirm that the academy would teach the National Curriculum Programmes of Study 
in English, maths, science and ICT to all pupils in years 1 to 6 (where these exist in the 
Academy) and years 7-11.  

                                                                                       Confirmed X 

 
3.10 Behaviour Partnerships 

The academy would be part of a Behaviour Partnership and would work closely 
with the LA to improve behaviour and tackle persistent absence. 

 

Confirmed X 

 
 
3.11  Vision  
 
 

Context 
The opportunity for Rock Ferry, Ridgeway and Park High Schools to be re-born as 
the two new Academies for Birkenhead is a massive vote of confidence in the future 
for a strong but challenged community.  The schools of Birkenhead have responded 
with determination and notable successes but a step change is now required if the 
dream of sustaining and exceeding those achievements is to be realised.  
Educational achievements and the life advantages they bring depend on many 

Page 214



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

different contributions and resources – strong and meaningful partnership with 
families and carers, rigorous attention to the full range of the individual needs of 
every one of the young people and a continuous and consistent pursuit of quality and 
innovation in teaching and learning. These will be among the priorities for the new 
University Academy for North Birkenhead.  A key underlying challenge for 
Birkenhead, however, is about mindsets - to raise aspirations, to develop a deeper 
and broader culture of lifelong learning and to equip people with the knowledge, 
skills, understanding and self-confidence required for a brighter future – a future that 
they will need to shape for themselves.  Having a mindset for learning and enterprise 
that translates into action is a critical component for individual and community 
responses to these challenges. 
 
The reality for our three schools in Birkenhead is tough. For a number of reasons, 
including the availability of more places in schools outside Birkenhead, the overall 
level of attainment of students as they enter secondary education has been getting 
lower over the last five years but with some signs of a rise in the last year.  The 
performance of students leaving the three schools has been much higher than might 
have been expected.but the challenge is high.   The response of the partners 
promoting the University Academy will be aspirational, humane and relentlessly 
focused on building long-term sustainable achievements on day-by-day learning 
gains.   

 
Transition Planning 
A detailed transition plan will be developed during feasibility. It is anticipated 
that the academy will occupy the Park and   Ridgeway High School sites from 
September 2010 and that it will consolidate onto the Park site on completion 
of the refurbishment works in September 2012.   
The sponsors will work closely with the local authority to develop transition 
arrangements which safeguard the interests of all students and staff, ensure 
standards are maintained, continuity of learning is protected, attainment is enhanced, 
and students are well supported throughout this period.  

 
The Sponsors 
The University of Chester, the lead sponsor, is a small University with 

approximately 15,000 students, some 97% of which are from state schools. It has a 
substantial teacher training department and works with a range of schools in the 
Chester/Wirral/Halton local authorities providing professional development 

programmes for both primary and secondary school teachers. The University is also 
lead sponsor of the Ellesmere Port Academy.  
 
Wirral Metropolitan College, co-sponsor, has 3,000 full-time students and 
13,000 part-time and its curriculum focuses on skills for life, employability and 
work.  The College has Centre of Vocational Excellence status for both Health 
and Care and Construction, extended partnership arrangements with five 
local Universities, is taking a lead role in the provision of all the new Diploma 
lines, has extensive experience in new builds, having recently completed a 
major new build programme, and is intending to recruit a new directorate level 
role who will take the lead on the Academy development.  
 
Wirral MBC is also a co-sponsor.   
 
Ethos and Core Values 
The University of Chester, the main sponsor for the University Academy of 
Birkenhead, has worked in close collaboration with Wirral Metropolitan College and 

Page 215



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

Wirral Council, the co-sponsors, to formulate a unique and transformational response 
to the needs of young people, families and the wider community of Birkenhead. Our 
vision has been jointly developed and is strongly supported. We will promote 
consideration and respect, restore hope and trust, raise aspirations and standards 
and, critically, do things better. We will encourage an understanding of the meaning 
and significance of humanity and faith, promoting spiritual values through the 
experience it will offer to all its pupils. The leadership and management of the 
University Academy would ensure that these values and this ethos was articulated 
throughout the Academy and maintained in its day-to-day activities and curriculum.  

The sponsors of the University Academy of Birkenhead believe in learning and the 
powerful contribution it makes to personal and collective inspiration, growth and 
wellbeing. Our Academy will be a place of shared knowledge, practical skills and rich 
learning, with an underpinning commitment to social justice and social cohesion.  
Birkenhead and its future matter very much to us and so does every single learner, 
of whatever age, in this community. We want to work closely with external partners, 
especially the community and the sponsors of the South Birkenhead Academy, so 
that together we can do the best for Birkenhead. The Academy will be outwards-
facing, looking beyond local strengths and resources to draw upon ideas and best 
practice wherever we can find it.  

Vision 
In order to facilitate, through the Academy, the transformational education that this 
implies we have adopted the following three principles or Three Pillars of Learning 
that - Sense of Personal Worth; Personalised and Lifelong Learning; Partnerships 
and Networks. These principles express in more practical terms our underpinning 
values and objectives and will shape the ethos upon which we propose that the 
University Academy of Birkenhead should be built. The University Academy will use 
this framework to deliver a vision that should produce high quality and sustainable 
outcomes for every student and staff member. The Academy will open up new 
possibilities and routes for growth and development by challenging existing 
aspirations and working beyond traditional boundaries.  

A fundamental principle of this vision is the creation of a productive partnership 
between the Academy and the community in Birkenhead. This partnership will play a 
key role in the delivery of radical, transformation and regeneration in the area. In 
order to achieve this, the Academy will have a particular focus and identity, 
becoming a centre of excellence in Enterprise and Applied Learning and (Health and 
Social Care.  

Our Academy would nurture the health, safety, and self-fulfilment of every student 
and member of staff. Every individual would be valued, accorded dignity and treated 
as of equal worth, so that each student, member of staff, or community partner would 
have high levels of access and opportunity for learning and development. Human 
diversity would be celebrated within a strong framework of respect for both the 
individual and for social cohesion. To do so, we would nurture qualities of respect, 
tolerance, forgiveness, generosity, compassion, enthusiasm, self-discipline, honesty, 
co-operation and thoughtful loyalty. A values-based learning environment and ethos 
would be created that would articulate our core values and would nurture and 
develop students of every and all backgrounds to enable them to be healthy and 
safe, to enjoy and achieve, to make a positive contribution to society and to attain 
economic well being. 
   
For us it is vital that the experience of every student will be both “academic” and 
“vocational” because we see the integration of academic and vocational elements as 
the best way of preparing them for their current and future development. We will 

Page 216



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

seek to develop more detailed and specific student entitlements but one priority 
entitlement will be for each and every student to have a rich, integrated and 
productive experience across academic and vocational settlings.  
 
Everyone who studies or works at the Academy would be challenged and supported 
to achieve their personal best and be well equipped to lead happy and productive 
lives. We would ensure that we regularly monitored and evaluated all Academy 
policies and practices to secure genuine inclusion and a strong contribution to the 
Every Child Matters agenda. Students would be able to access opportunities for 
learning, extended learning, recreation and enjoyment, regardless of any learning 
disability or barriers associated with gender, race, culture or belief. They would 
understand and benefit from the Academy’s commitment to outcomes which support 
the development of the whole person, their wellbeing and life chances.  
 
We are committed to respond positively and imaginatively to additional and specific 
needs in general and of students in particular.  Following an agreement in principle, 
further discussions at the Feasibility Stage will be undertaken with Wirral Council on 
the development of an appropriately resourced and supported mainstream provision 
that would be more flexible and inclusive than a straightforward replacement of the 
Sanderling base currently situated at Rock Ferry High School.  We would also want 
to build on the opportunities provided by the decision to co-locate a multi-
professional locality team on site. 
 
This vision for the University Academy of Birkenhead will be open to challenge, 
review and change as new circumstances emerge – this is a learning vision. It would 
be realised through commitment and discipline within the framework of the three key 
pillars for learning. 
 
Governance of the University Academy 
In addition to the University, College and Local Authority sponsor appointments and 
elected representatives of staff and parents the sponsors would seek to recruit 
governors with a wide range of business expertise, engaging their extensive 
employer networks, and operating in local, national and international business 
arenas to support the Academy's specialist curriculum.  They would also seek to 
recruit governors from community and voluntary sector organisations who know and 
keep in touch with local realities. All governors would be expected to demonstrate a 
high level of involvement and engagement with the Academy through regular 
attendance and active engagement at meetings and events and through the use of 
communications technology.  

It is envisaged that the Governing Body of the Academy would be made up of 
11-15 members who would be appointed by the Board of Trustees, and would 
comprise: 5/6 governors appointed by - the University of Chester the Lead 
sponsor; 2/3 appointed by the Co-sponsor Wirral Metropolitan College; 
1governor appointed by Wirral MBC as Co-sponsor, 1 by Wirral MBC as the 
LA, 1or 2 elected staff members, 1 or 2 elected parent/community members- 
and the Principal ex-officio. 
 
University Academy Specialisms 
The University Academy would specialise in a) Enterprise and Applied 
Learning and (b) Health and Social Care. This would allow our learners to 
apply core learning skills and the full range of traditional academic disciplines 
to practical and meaningful settings. There are strong foundations for Business 

and Social Enterprise within the current schools that will contribute to the new 
Academy and the sponsors have extensive resources to contribute in relation to 

Page 217



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

Health and Social Care. Both offer meaningful contexts for the effective building of 
knowledge and application of learning. 
 
Applied learning is the practical application of theory that allows learners the 
opportunity to actively engage with the curriculum they are studying. Applied learning 
is doing what you know as well as knowing what to do – a “can-do” approach. 
Applied learning is more relevant and meaningful to learners as it allows for learning 
within different contexts and environments. For example applied learning 
encourages: 

• Linking understanding and learning activities to jobs and other life roles e.g. using 
applied mathematics or science in family life or leisure interests.  

• Interaction with experienced adults, workers and specialist professionals e.g. 
understanding and managing competitive instincts alongside professional 
athletes, business entrepreneurs or local politicians. 

• Real life investigations and active inquiry e.g. investigations and surveys on 
behalf of the Academy Student Council, curriculum research projects, product 
testing, and feasibility studies. 

• Learning through doing e.g. developing personal strength and resilience through 
performing arts, communicating through presentations and formal debates, 
encountering different forms of belief through direct experience of faith 
communities, learning what it is to become skilled at care through working in 
supported settings with very young children or vulnerable adults. 

• Interaction with other learners through group work e.g. team-building, team-work, 
team-based assessment within the curriculum and opportunities to experience 
and reflect on team-working in family, leisure and work-based settings.  

• Learning in different environments e.g. working outwards from “safe” learning 
centres inside the Academy to experience different forms of the same learning in 
contrasting settings – perhaps the use of good questioning in a local firm’s 
customer care department, a magistrates court, pub quiz and a council meeting 
or the risks associated with poor spelling or grammar for shop-workers, health 
and safety and personal texting. 

The expertise and support of the three sponsors would bring a valuable new 
dimension to the Academy in encouraging the promotion of appropriate forms of 
Applied Learning and Learner Inquiry and Research for learners of all ages and 
interests inside and outside the Academy. Applied Learning reflects the interest of 
sponsors in: promoting access to learning for individuals, groups and the community; 
action research and reflective learning; supported entry to and support through 
learning; and work-focused vocational and professional development. Building on 
Primary school experience and working with our family of schools, our aim would be 
to promote awareness of work and the world of work as early as possible. Applied 
learning is also essential to the vision for the New Diplomas and the Academy would 
aim to play a full part locally in this development.  
 
To meet this challenge effectively we would develop a clearly understood, integrated 
or holistic framework for activity within the school – each part of the life of the 
Academy would make a contribution to the learning and life outcomes. We would 
want to explore the use of an integrated approach such as that developed by Edison 
Learning.   
 
The transition from Primary schools would be managed very carefully and full 
recognition would be given to the Applied learning achievements of the students on 
entry to the Academy to minimise learning loss at age 11 and to maximise long-term 
learning potential. We would arrange Summer School opportunities for new entrants, 

Page 218



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

including a series of concentrated summer learning opportunities at Wirral 
Metropolitan College and engagement with University students over a more 
extended period following entry to the Academy.  
The University Academy would therefore adopt tried and tested as well as innovative 
means to: 
 

• Provide a curriculum which would give every single one of our learners the 
chance to perform at their best, through theoretical and practical study. 

• Offer a range of qualifications and at appropriate levels so that every single one 
of our learners would have the chance to show what they really can do. 

• Extend learner information, advice and guidance (IAG) to allow every single one 
of our students to have a clear understanding of life chances and opportunities 
and so to realise their potential. 

• Provide qualifications under the Foundation Learning tier and provide the 
opportunity for learners to undertake the personal development profile in 
supporting their vocational choices 

• Drive up the numbers of young people achieving level 1, 2 and 3 qualifications 
(including English and Mathematics) and reducing and eventually eradicating the 
incidence of NEET (young people “not in education, employment or training”).  

• Extend progression routes so that every single one of our learners would have 
genuine, clear choices and opportunities. 

• Provide work placement opportunities for our learners to experience at first hand 
the world of work and to develop clear routes to further and higher education and 
meaningful work and employment. 

Students in the University Academy would be able to gain a real understanding of 
subject disciplines, especially English, Mathematics and Science (e.g. Applied 
Science GCSSEs, First Diploma Applied Science) and their link with technologies, 
innovation and enterprise. They would become familiar and confident in their 
interaction with a wide range of industries and professions.  

The University Academy would develop a strong ethos to support its specialisms 
which would pervade all aspects of school life. We would develop curriculum 
materials which would excite and motivate our learners. We would encourage work 
with the local community, including the imaginative use of communications 
technologies, and provide curriculum enrichment activities and involvement in 
national initiatives and competitions to raise standards of teaching and learning and 
attainment, especially in English, Mathematics and Science across the curriculum. 
We would also work in close partnership with local business to provide opportunities 
to demonstrate the relevance of these disciplines within a working context.  

We believe that our combination of specialisms enhance the intellectual discipline of 
all learners and increase their understanding of the world in which they live and can 
make a vital contribution.  

The following development of this framework provides more detailed information 
about the Framework for our Vision. 

The Three Pillars of Learning 

Page 219



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

P1. DEVELOPING THE INDIVIDUAL’S SENSE OF WORTH AND THEIR 
CONTRIBUTION TO THE WIDER ORGANISATION AND COMMUNITY. 
 
All learners and their families, irrespective of ability, belief, gender or ethnicity would 
be welcome at the University Academy as equal members of the Birkenhead 
learning community. We will not introduce selective admissions arrangements. 
Particular emphasis would be placed upon the development of the whole person, 
nurturing the individual’s spiritual, moral and social health so that they can explore 
and articulate their understanding of right and wrong and offer a clear rationale for 
their views. All students’ cognitive, emotional and behavioural skills would be 
carefully developed and enhanced during their time with us. All learners at the 
Academy would be encouraged to celebrate and take pride in their own and other’s 
achievements and would progress from the University Academy well equipped to 
enjoy a happy and productive life. 
 
Student voice 
Students would be empowered to have an influential and meaningful voice in the life 
and work of our Academy and community and we would ensure this permeated 
throughout all our Academy policies and practices. The Academy will be committed 
to promoting a strong student voice that will include an active Student Council.  
Students would feel and be involved in their own learning and appreciate the 
importance of interdependence in learning and become skilled at taking part in 
collective learning. The Academy would be organised for every student’s success, 
with structures developed to ensure the safety and security of each student. 
Vulnerable students would know there would be a supportive team around them, 
who would understand their needs and would act swiftly to help them.  
 
Leadership and organisation 
The sponsors recognise the critical importance of leadership for success. Our 
Academy would develop leadership at all levels to support the delivery of our ethos 
and vision, convey the significance of our Three Pillars of Learning and secure 
student and staff achievement, success, happiness and productivity. The Academy 
management structure would be devised to ensure that organisational structures, 
time and people were organised for every student’s success. Clear lines of 
accountability would be maintained, with explicit strategies for staff, students and 
families to hold each other to account, in order to maximise student achievement. 
We would make extensive and intelligent use of data on pupil progress, linked to our 
Information Management System, to reflect on the effectiveness of teaching 
arrangements and Academy organisation. The organisation of the academy and 
design of the building would accommodate the varying group sizes, staffing, session 
frequencies, and length of day required to deliver flexible learning pathways and 
meet the requirements needed to deliver the new secondary curriculum.  
 
The University Academy would ensure that all teachers were competent at 
‘mentoring for learning’, an important expression of leadership, and would develop 
mentoring skills for and in young people and adults.  We plan to become a centre of 
excellence for the initial training of teachers and the continuing professional 
development of all staff and to meet the criteria for national recognition as soon as 
possible. 
 
The Academy leadership team and the Trustees have a critical role and they would 
together ensure that a culture of teamwork, harmony and productivity was created 
and sustained throughout the Academy. Meaningful opportunities would be created 
for students to be involved in the organisation and running of the Academy. In 
summary our Academy would be distinguished by its emphasis on the development 
of distributed leadership at all levels. 

Page 220



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

 
Learning in the wider community and valuing everyone’s contribution to the 
success of the University Academy. 
Learner horizons and aspirations would be extended beyond the immediate 
community by providing signposting and access to a varied menu of study support 
and enrichment activities. The skills and talents of people from our neighbourhood 
and local communities would be used as a resource for supporting teaching and 
learning. We would seek to employ or otherwise draw upon people from outside the 
Academy who have experience of our specialisms, especially in Business or Social 
Enterprise, Health and Social Care. We would work with industry and business 
partners to help the Academy identify and promote the key skills and aptitudes 
students would need to contribute to the community of Birkenhead and beyond, to 
gain employment and be effective at work.  Students would be able to use the 
extensive business network and partners of the University of Chester, Wirral 
Metropolitan College, and the Wirral Council to develop new opportunities and to 
extend their horizons. Together these strategies would enhance the self-esteem, 
confidence, sense of personal worth and social conscience of each member of the 
Academy . 

 
P2. PERSONALISED AND LIFELONG LEARNING FOR ALL  
The University Academy would become an outstanding place of learning and 
achievement, organised for every student’s success and happiness with 
Personalised Learning at its core. Through Personalised Learning we would aim to 
raise educational standards significantly by relating learning to the aptitudes and 
interests of students. By using such strategies as assessment for learning, inquiry-
based and evidence-based learning, accelerated learning, and learning styles 
profiling, each student would find the University Academy a place within which they 
could grow as people and build up their personal capabilities. Part of our purpose will 
be to support the development of reflective learners and practitioners who are 
confident in themselves, skilled and skilful in practice, working alone and with others. 

The University Academy would be at the learning heart of the community, reaching 
beyond the site of the Academy to facilitate Lifelong Learning for all the people of 
Birkenhead. It would be a “tower of strength” for learning, providing a community 
resource both inside and outside of the traditional school day, forming a hub for 
wider local services and activities. The Academy would be a place of learning, 
inquiry and enjoyment, a centre of excellence in the development of academic and 
vocational routes to further and higher education and to work and employment.  

Personalised learning and the curriculum 
We would challenge each student to achieve their personal best and develop an 
interest in lifelong and independent learning. We would strive to ensure that all our 
students would continue their learning into higher or further education, employment 
or work based training and thus enable them to achieve economic well being and 
make a positive contribution to society. These aspirations would be achieved through 
providing a world-class educational environment. Experience of other Academies 
already supported by the University of Chester has demonstrated the value of 
sharing the experience of curriculum development and delivery partners.  One such 
partner with a strong track-record is Edison Learning and it would be our intention to 
explore the scope for applying their E2 Curriculum framework to the University 
Academy of Birkenhead. 

The learning required for the 21st Century and the goals for the Government’s and 
Wirral Children’s Plan would be achieved through a rich and challenging skills-based 
curriculum and targeted interventions. Students would initially follow the broad 

Page 221



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

features of the National Curriculum in our planning, though we would keep this under 
review, looking for opportunities to innovate with the staff and community.  The 
Academy would propose to allow students to progress through Key Stage 3 in two 
years so that they could allocate more time to their GCSEs, diplomas and broad life 
and learning skills development in Key Stage 4. At Key Stage 4 we would work in 
partnership with other providers to offer the full range of qualifications linked to 
current and future frameworks and would meet the needs of our learners and the 
community of Birkenhead. The University Academy would become a centre of 
excellence in the development of integrated academic and vocational routes to 
further and higher education and employment.  

The three schools that will form the basis of the two new Birkenhead Academies 
have been judged “good” or “outstanding by  Ofsted and one judged “outstanding” 
with many examples of good added value - and yet attainment in key areas is well 
below Wirral and national averages. The challenge for the University Academy is to 
create an outstanding learning environment in which levels attained by students can 
rise to meet those of other schools and areas. Our aim will be to provide wider 
opportunities for all students to learn and become proficient in skills that will support 
them throughout their lives - to reach good standards of literacy and numeracy as 
well as being financially literate, having well developed skills for employability.   
 
Inevitably, the teaching and learning of Literacy and Numeracy will be a major focus 
of the programmes across the University Academy.  Attainment in English and Maths 
upon entry will be the subject of close analysis and our work with primary schools 
and families will be targeted on “upstream” support to minimise under-achievement, 
through the deployment of staff and Academy student mentors for under-achieving 
primary pupils. We plan to work closely with other secondary schools and academies 
in a coordinated programme of work with primary schools and specifically plan to run 
a summer school for new entrants to support their transition into the University 
Academy with particular attention to Applied Literacy and Numeracy.   
 
Throughout Key Stage 3 there will be a strong emphasis on teaching Literacy and 
Numeracy across the curriculum and all staff (teaching and support staff) will be 
supported with training and development opportunities to ensure that they are able to 
work in support of the Academy’s priority focus on Applied Literacy and Numeracy. 
Through the University of Chester and Wirral Metropolitan College the Academy will 
benefit from specialist expertise and support in Maths and English, including contexts 
for applied Literacy and Numeracy.   
 
The three existing schools have already benefited from additional investment in 
response to National Challenge. [Examples of practice from three schools to be 
inserted – Mark Parkinson to arrange] The University Academy will incorporate 
these programmes and agree further research- and evidence-led initiatives.  These 
will be constructed to be appropriate to the context of our students, and designed in 
the light of a careful analysis of their needs and experience of successful prior 
developments. Taken together these programmes would justify high aspirations and 
setting challenging targets for the students to reach. [Revised stretching targets to 
be added here – Mark Parkinson to arrange.  This will replace the section 
deleted above  ] 
 
The University of Chester will seek to offer an annually agreed programme of 
enrichment to enhance the Academy’s teaching activities and the processes of 
student development, including: lectures and masterclasses from University 
academics; mentoring and tutoring support for Academy students from University of 
Chester students, as a vehicle for raising standards and developing self-esteem and 
confidence; visits to the University’s campuses in Chester and Warrington and 

Page 222



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

access to the University’s extensive campus facilities, including laboratories, sports 
facilites and libraries; support for strategies to draw in sponsorship to the Academy; 
support to the Academy in building a strong network of employer and business links; 
assistance with the promotion of student and staff work placement schemes; advice 
for Key Stage 4 students on routes into further and higher education; support with 
the higher education entry process from University admissions tutors; promoting 
Academy staff participation in a programme of ongoing professional development, 
with access to accreditation via the University; exploring the development of on site 
foundation degree provision; developing an international programme of enrichment 
activities, drawing on the University’s links with schools and universities overseas. 
 
The Wirral Metropolitan College has an extensive programme of supported entry that 
would be targeted at students in the Academy facing significant learning challenges. 
This would include: Vocational Access Courses; First Steps to: Business, 
Administration and IT; Foundation Learning Tier; Pre-Uniformed Service; Princes 
Trust Volunteers Award. It is envisaged that this expertise will provide a strong 
foundation for an important transitional and developmental dimension to progression 
in learning and personal development, particularly in relation to personalised 
learning, with a vocational and life skills focus. 
 
Wirral Council will bring high quality support in a number of key areas, including: 
securing access to networks with other schools and colleges and links between the 
work of the Academy and social and economic regeneration programmes in 
Birkenhead and across the Borough that will contribute to narrowing gaps in 
achievement and life chances, raising aspirations and outcomes for children and 
young people. The Council will also: facilitate partnership, multi-agency and 
integrated working so that children, young people, parents and families are fully 
supported to meet their needs; create strong links with the universal Youth Offer and 
Youth Participation; help the Academy to promote community cohesion and 
community engagement; and support building projects and PFI related issues; 
support the Academy through  a range of inclusion strategies, including behaviour, 
attendance and meeting the needs of children with Special Educational Needs, so 
that children are helped to achieve their best regardless of their ability or need; link to 
programmes of parent and family support as well as lifelong learning for children and 
their families.  
The pervading culture of the Academy would be one in which every student feels that 
they can succeed and in which their aspiration to be life-long learners would be 
supported and encouraged. For this to become a reality all these partner 
contributions are vital. 
 
Using technology to support learning in an information age 
High quality, world-class technology would be integral to the learning, management, 
and organisation of the University Academy and the realisation of the Academy 
vision. Students would be able to access information systems remotely (e.g.in the 
Academy, from home or elsewhere) to support curriculum breadth and independent 
study and/or research. This would be available at all times of the day and week, 
supported by systems to for e-safety. The learning platform would also support the 
development of teaching and learning plans and professional development of staff. 
 
The University of Chester and Wirral Metropolitan College will offer particular 
expertise in the development and use of IT and new technologies in learning, 
including Virtual Learning Environments and control technologies.  The University 
has an extensive campus based IT system, to which the Academy would have 
access.  During Feasibility, the University will explore with other sponsors and local 
partners strategies to resource and, where appropriate, provide intelligence, systems 
support and equipment for the Academy and its students. Wirral Council brings 

Page 223



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

applied ICT expertise in school-based learning to the Academy partnership. 
 
Building on this unparalleled combination of expertise and resources we plan to 
develop open access learning environments for students and all other We will be 
discriminating and challenging about new and emergilng technologies, looking for 
ways to exploit existing technologies to the full as well as ensuring that we are up to 
date with the latest developments through active links with national and international 
organisations. 
 
Developing the Academy workforce 
All staff would be encouraged and supported to develop higher-level skills. The 
leadership team would ensure that each member of staff would be accountable for 
the success of their individual learners and would have high expectation of their own 
and their students’ learning and development. Over time, the University of Chester 
will work with the Academy to develop research into effective learning thereby 
supporting the raising of standards.  The overall staff development programme would 
be further supported by providing access for Academy staff to a range of 
opportunities.  
 
Supporting community learning and aspirations 
The Academy would be at the heart of the community, offering a focus for supporting 
the learning of a wide range of community members – for them personally as well as 
for the support they can provide to the young people enrolled in the Academy. Where 
possible, it would become a hub for wider local services and activities during and 
outside the traditional school day. A priority for consideration for such a learning hub 
would be the current Ridgeway Site, perhaps in association with the City Learning 
Centre.  
 
The University Academy would ensure that its facilities are available for a wide range 
of adult education, leisure activities, and community use and would be designed to 
be accessible to all, on a broader basis, including the early morning, evenings, 
weekends, or holiday periods. We would extend and stagger the school day in order 
to facilitate personal and where possible, community learning needs and support or 
establish in key locations outside the Academy a number of learning hubs to provide 
neighbourhood learning support sites.   
The University Academy would seek to provide facilities on its main site that would 
be of interest to local people and local businesses as well as offering practical 
experiences for students. We are particularly excited by the possibility of developing 
health services in partnership with the Primary Care Trust, which has already 
indicated a strong commitment to engagement with us, and by the co-location on the 
Academy site of neighbourhood offices or staff, including especially the Wirral Multi-
Professional Children and Young People’s Locality Team which has now been 
agreed in principle. By opening up our facilities to the wider community and working 
in partnership with other agencies to support the needs of the locality, we would be 
helping to support and energise other local and national initiatives aimed at 
increasing wellbeing, skills and enterprise.  

Our partnership with local schools and educational institutions would be particularly 

important to the overall future success of the Academy and in delivering the radical, 

transformational change and regeneration in the Birkenhead area. We would be fully 

engaged “upstream” with Early Years settings and Primary Schools and 

“downstream” with post-16 providers including our Academy co-sponsor, Wirral 

Metropolitan College and Birkenhead Sixth Form College.  

 

Page 224



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

P3.  RECOGNISING AND DEVELOPING THE POWER OF PARTNERSHIPS AND 
NETWORKS 
The University Academy will work closely within existing and new networks and 
partnerships to ensure that all students have access to a comprehensive range of 
services and support. It is central to our vision that we will work closely and 
productively with parent/carers, the local community, other educational institutions, 
support services and the business world. Effective partnerships will provide the 
support and range of opportunities that individual learners and the community of 
Birkenhead need to succeed. The University Academy will develop and maintain an 
active and affirming relationship with public, private, voluntary, community and faith 
groups in Birkenhead. Our partnerships will be forged by learning from and building 
on existing links.  
 
Partnerships with students, parents and carers 
The Academy will build genuine partnerships with students and families, based on 
inclusive support, in order to ensure that families were made fully aware of their 
child’s successes and any problems that they were facing. The Academy will be 
committed to “Think Family” and undertake regular “learner-friendly” and “family-
friendly” audits on its policies and practices. We will promote Family Learning and 
support families at risk or in need by developing a well coordinated and proactive 
approach to meeting needs, in partnership with external and community support 
agencies. We would work closely with Parent and Community Champions. Even 
better levels of family support for good attendance will be one of our priorities. This 
would ensure that all students would have access to available opportunities and 
range of support to ensure that the local dimensions of the Every Child Matters 
agenda and the national Children’s Plan would be delivered to exemplary standards.  
 
Partnerships with other agencies 
The University Academy would provide additional services for children, young people 
and families, building on the innovative work already developed with the Children’s 
and Young People’s Services, Wirral Primary Care Trust Community Protection, 
Leisure and Sports and other statutory and voluntary service providers. We would 
ensure that our communication and operating systems with other agencies were 
robust and effective. 
 
Partnerships with the wider community 
A key challenge for the Academy will be to build trust and effective communications 
with the wider community.  Our aim will be to both “reach out and welcome in” and in 
so doing we will contribute to the development of good social networks and links in 
Birkenhead.  A good example is one of our partnership objectives which will be to 
maximise the quality and engagement of the Academy with older people in the 
community and so promote intergenerational bonding and cultural consciousness. 
This will have major potential benefits for both younger and older people. 
 
The University Academy will support the overarching priorities of the Local Strategic 
Partnership through its Sustainable Communities Strategy. We will provide support 
for community cohesion and sustainability, through socio-economic, health and 
environmental programmes. 
 
It is central to our Vision that we will work closely and productively with parent/carers, 
the local community, other educational institutions, support services and the 
business world. These partnerships will be reflected in the governance 
arrangements.   
 
The sponsors would wish, finally, to confirm that an Endowment Trust Fund would be 
established for the University Academy and that they would use their best 

Page 225



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

endeavours collectively to attract funds either directly or indirectly which would be 
used to provide support for additional activities such as curriculum enrichment or 
summer schools and essential support such as breakfast clubs or clothing grants.  

 

 
Section 4: Sites and Buildings 
4.1 

The academy would be located at the following address:   

 

On first opening in existing buildings the Academy would operate as a split site Academy 
utilising the former Park High School, Park Road South, Prenton, Merseyside, CH43 4UY 
and former Ridgeway High School, Noctorum Avenue, Prenton, CH43 9EB- and will 
consolidate on the Park site on completion of the transition process.  

 

Park High School is part of the Wirral Joint PFI scheme across 9 schools. The contract runs 
until 2031, and is currently operated by Semperian PPP Investment Partners LP. 

 
 

The approximate size of the site to be transferred to the Academy Trust is:  approx.26 
hectares.  
The LA is seeking clarification from the DCSF as to the legal implications of integrating 
Academy status with the existing PFI contract. 
 

 
 

Please confirm that the proposed academy would have access to 
playing fields of a sufficient size to deliver its proposed vision and 
curriculum   

Yes X 

If not, please explain how would the PE curriculum be delivered: 

Please provide details:  

  
          

Please attach a copy of the Ordnance Survey Map with the 
boundaries of the Academy site clearly marked.     

Attached X 

 
 
4.2 

All parties are content with the selection of this site and no others are under consideration 
for this project.   

                                                                                             Confirmed X 

        
 

Page 226



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

 
 

If it is not currently a school site, please provide details of the ownership and current usage 
of the entire site and details of who would bear the costs of acquiring the site: N/A  

 

 
Note: If the site is currently a school site, it would be transferred at nil cost (or leased at 
nominal rent) to the Academy Trust prior to the academy opening, with terms agreed 
prior to Funding Agreement 
 

Yes  

No X 

If the site is owned by the LA does it intend to seek permission to 
dispose of any part of it?  
 
  N/A  

If yes, please provide details and confirm that you would abide by PfS guidelines regarding 
contributions to the capital cost of the academy project. 

 

  

The Council is unlikely to dispose of the Ridgeway High School site, which will not be 
required long term for the Academies. Should it do so- the Council will abide by PfS 
guidelines on contributions to the capital costs of the academy. The Council will require 
capital to invest in the new Youth facility, should Academy 2 proceed on the current 
Shaftesbury Youth Club site. 

 

The Council intends to continue using the Ridgeway High School site to provide community 
facilities.  

                      

         
 

If the academy proposes to open in existing buildings (Section 3.3) please provide a brief 
description of the age, size and condition of these buildings:  

 

Park High School 
The site area is 26,190 m2. The original school was built in 1960, and is in good condition 
having been significantly rebuilt and refurbished in recent years. The building and site are 
part of Wirral’s 9 school PFI contract until 2031, currently held by Semperian PPP 
Investment Partners LP (www.semperian.co.uk). Disabled access is 100%. The school can 
accommodate 1250 pupils. 

 

Ridgeway High School 

The site of the proposed academy is owned by (mark one with an x) 

LA X 

Diocese  

CTC Trust  

Other  

If other, please provide details:  
 
Park High School is part of the Wirral Joint PFI scheme across 9 schools. The contract runs 
until 2031, and is currently operated by Semperian PPP Investment Partners LP 
(www.semperian.co.uk).  
 

Page 227



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

The total site area is 94,944 m2. The school occupies four principal buildings. The main 
school was built in 1974 – there is also a mid-1980’s mobile classroom, and two further 
blocks built in the last 10 years. A community centre is located within the school’s main 
building. The school also shares accommodation and services with a City Learning Centre, 
which also houses a Local Authority maintained library, also used by the school. The main 
building and mobile will require substantial refurbishment works over the next ten years. 
Disabled access is 50%. 

 

Rock Ferry High School 
The site area is 82,543 m2. The school occupies five principal buildings. The main school 
was built in 1938; the Sanderling Unit for pupils with SEN (BESD) was constructed in 1922. 
The remaining buildings comprise the Stoneleigh building (1955), Highfield building (1971) 
and Sports Hall (1980). There is also a caretaker’s house on site (1922). There has been 
major investment at the site following various fires in recent years. The school will require 
substantial works over the next ten years. Disabled access is 60%. 

 
 

 

4.3 

Please provide details of discussions with LA planners or legal advisors on any likely 
planning or legal restrictions that could preclude academy building development, lead to 
abnormal costs or impact on the proposed programme:  
 
Some refurbishment work will be required for this Academy in the predecessor school, Park 
High School. Park High School is part of the Wirral Joint PFI scheme across 9 schools. The 
contract runs until 2031, and is currently operated by Semperian PPP Investment Partners 
LP (www.semperian.co.uk).  Any refurbishment works will have to be carried out by the PFI 
contractor under the terms of the PFI contract. 

 

 

Should it be necessary to co-locate primary schools, special schools, Pupil Referral Units, 
youth or community groups currently sharing the site, please confirm that the LA would bear 
associated capital and revenue costs.   

Yes (please give more information) X 

Ridgeway-A community centre is located 
within the school’s main building. The school 
also shares accommodation and services 
with a City Learning Centre, which also 
houses a Local Authority maintained library, 
also used by the school.  

The Council intends to retain these facilities 
on this site. 

 

Rock Ferry- the Sanderling Unit for pupils 
with SEN (BESD) is within the school and it 
is intended that this resourced unit will be 
relocated to the University Academy of 
Birkenhead. It will be funded, capital and 
revenue, by the Council and will be operated 
by the Academy.   

The LA’s Multi-disciplinary Area Team for 
North Birkenhead would be co-located in the 

Not applicable (mark with a x) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 228



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

Academy.  The building can accommodate 
1250 pupils and the Team would make use 
of accommodation not required by the 
Academy’s 750 pupils. 

 

 

Where required in response to site constraints or as a result of remodelling, please provide 
details of a decanting plan for existing occupants during construction and details of who 
would pay the associated costs:  

The Park site adjoins Birkenhead Park, which is a Grade I Listed landscape, and precludes 
any expansion of the existing site. 

Some decanting may be required during refurbishment of the former Park High school 
buildings. These costs would be met from the capital funding. 

 

 
 

Please confirm that the LA would meet the cost of any off- site works that may be 
associated with the development of the academy.    
 
                  

                                                                                   Confirmed N/A 

  
4.4 
 
The Department intends to deliver all procurement through Partnerships for Schools (PfS) 
and Local Authorities.  
 
If approved, this academy would be procured through: (Please mark one with an x) 
 
NB Park High School is part of the Wirral Joint PFI scheme across 9 schools. The 
contract runs until 2031, and is currently operated by Semperian PPP Investment 
Partners LP (www.semperian.co.uk).  Any refurbishment works will have to be carried 
out by the PFI contractor as required in the terms of the contract. 
 

BSF Local Education Partnership N/A 

PfS National Framework   
 
 

N/A 

 
 
Section 5:  Agreements 
 
5.1 Sponsor Agreement 
 
Some categories of sponsor (listed below) are not required to make a financial contribution to 
the endowment fund, or to sign a Deed of Gift. The Department would nonetheless expect the 
Academy Trust to establish the means of receiving and to use reasonable endeavours to raise 
donations. 
 

Name of Lead Sponsor: University of Chester  

Page 229



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

Amount of sponsorship to be contributed:  N/A 

Name of co-sponsor/s:  
 

• Wirral Metropolitan College. 
 

• Wirral MBC 
 

Amount of sponsorship to be contributed:    

The sponsors will use their best endeavours to raise funds for the Endowment Trust for the 
Academy. 

 

Governance arrangements i.e. composition of the trustee board and the governing body: 

Final proposals for the composition of the Trustee Board and the Governing Body 
would be decided during feasibility but it is envisaged that there would be up of 5 
Trustees who would set the strategic direction of the Academy.  They would be made up of 
representatives of the Lead Sponsor- the University of Chester (2), Co-sponsor Wirral 
Metropolitan College (1), the Chair of the Governing Body of the Academy (1) and a 
representative of the Secretary of State (1).  
 
It is also envisaged that the Governing Body of the Academy would be made up of 11-15 
members who would be appointed by the Board of Trustees, and would comprise: 5/6 
governors appointed by - the University of Chester the Lead sponsor; 2/3 appointed by the 
Co-sponsor Wirral Metropolitan College; 1governor appointed by Wirral MBC as Co-
sponsor, 1 by Wirral MBC as the LA, 1or 2 elected staff members, 1 or 2 elected 
parent/community members- and the Principal ex-officio. 

  
 Sponsors also intend to appoint associate student governors. 

An advisory board of parent/community representatives would also be established. 

 

Please note: sponsors other than local authorities would appoint a controlling 
majority of the governing body 

 

 

 

*The following categories of sponsor are not required to make a financial contribution to the 
endowment fund.  

Please indicate if sponsor/s fall into any of the categories below: 

Existing sponsor who has already contributed £2million as financial 
sponsorship 

 

University/College X 

School or other educational establishment  

Diocese  

  
       

Please confirm that sponsors understand and are content with the roles and responsibilities 

Page 230



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

of the Sponsor, as set out in Sponsorship Guide: Establishing an Academy.   

                                                                                 Confirmed X 

            

       

5.2 Local Authority Agreement  

 

Yes X Does the LA agree to all aspects of this proposal, including the admissions 
criteria proposed in Section 3?       

No  

  

Yes X Does the LA confirm that it would bring forward proposals for the closure 
of any predecessor schools?    

No  

    

Yes X Is this proposal included (or due to be included) within the LA’s BSF 
Strategy for Change?   

 

 

No  

      

If you have answered no to any of these questions, please provide full details:  

 

 

If this project involves a predecessor school, please provide details of the proposed 
consultation that the LA would undertake on its closure: 

 

Wirral MBC will undertake closure of the three predecessor schools, Park High School, Rock 
Ferry High School, and Ridgeway High School as follows: 

 

Date Indicative Timeline 

 
1

st
 October 2009 

 

 

Report to Cabinet on EOI including required consultation 
process and closure timeline.  

 

21
st
 October 2009 

 
Commencement of formal closure consultation (6 weeks)  

 

 
27

th
 November  2009 

 

 

Conclusion of formal closure consultation 

 

14
th
 January 2010 

 

Report to Cabinet  

 

28
th
 January 2010 

 
Statutory Notice published- statutory closure   consultation 
begins (6 weeks) 
 

 

10
th
 March 2010 

 
Statutory closure consultation closes 
 

15
th
 April 2010  Report to Cabinet 

 

31 August 2010  

 

Schools close 

Page 231



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

1 September 2010 

 

 Academy opens 

  

 

Where staff at existing schools transfer to an academy, please 
confirm that the LA agrees to indemnify the academy in respect of all 
employment costs relating to the period prior to the transfer, which 
will include without limitation the costs arising out of any equal pay 
claims relating to that period. 

Confirmed X 

 

 
Please confirm that the LA would contribute towards the costs associated with TUPE as 
follows: 
 
 
1.  to meet all costs – including any severance, redundancy or associated pension costs 
associated with any restructuring resulting from or arising out of:  
 

• an academy inheriting staff from more than one school 
 

• Academy operating on fewer sites than predecessor school(s); 
 

• Academy offering fewer places than at the predecessor school(s);  
 

• the predecessor school(s) being overstaffed; or 
 

• the predecessor school(s) running at a deficit. 
 
2.   to meet 50% of any other severance and associated costs incurred by an academy not 
covered by the criteria above.  
 
All costs referred to relate to those incurred in the run up to 
the academy opening or at the point of opening (allowing time 
for the academy to follow due process) and not some time 
thereafter. 

 

  

Confirmed X 

  

5.3 Neighbouring Local Authority Agreement  

Yes  

No  

If the proposed academy is likely to have an impact on schools in 
neighbouring local authorities have these authorities been consulted about 
this academy project?  

 

 N/A X 

Where applicable please provide details:   

  

 

5.4 Governing Body Agreement  
 

Is the Governing Body of any predecessor school(s) content with this Yes  

Page 232



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

No  proposal? 

N/A  

Where applicable please provide details:  

The governing body of park High School met on 28
th
 September 2009 - and voted to 

support/ not support the proposal.  

The governing body of George Rock Ferry High School met on 28
th
 September 2009 - and 

voted to support/ not support the proposal.  

The governing body of Ridgeway High School met on 28
th
 September 2009 and voted to 

support/ not support the proposal.  

 

  

5.5 Learning and Skills Council (LSC) Agreement  

Yes X Has the local LSC been consulted on and agreed to any proposed  

post -16 provision? 

 

 
No 

 

         

Yes  Is a letter confirming support attached? 

  No  

If no   - Please provide copies of any correspondence and give details of LSC objections:  

 

 

5.6 Diocese Agreement 

Yes  

No  
Where the relevant predecessor school is a VA school, please confirm that 
the Diocese/Archdiocese has agreed to this proposal and has formal Board 
of Education / Diocesan Schools Commission agreement.  

N/A X 

Where applicable please provide details:  

  

 

     

5.7 Miscellaneous     

The Department has established a Framework for the Project Management of academy 
projects following an open competition.  This arrangement has been made to ensure 
compliance with the government procurement regulations and avoid lengthy competition 
processes. The ten project management companies appointed to our Framework have been 
selected on the basis of their experience, expertise and commitment to deliver a quality 
service.   

Please confirm that all parties are content for a Project Management company to be 
selected from the DCSF framework.   

*Please note that alternative arrangements may be agreed for multiple sponsors through 
discussion with the Project Lead. 

                                                                                                                 Agreed 
X 

     

  

     

Page 233



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

Please confirm that all parties understand and are content with the roles and responsibilities 
of the Sponsor, Project Steering Group, Academy Trust, LA and PfS in relation to the 
academy buildings, as set out in Delivering Academy Buildings through PfS:  

                                                                                               Confirmed 
X 

  

  

      

Please provide details of any known impediments, risks, conditions or hazards not 
mentioned elsewhere in this document:  

 

 None known. 

Page 234



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

5.8 Signatory details 
 

We fully support all aspects of this Expression of Interest and agree to use it as a basis 
for the future development of an academy project. 

 

Signature  

 

                         (For and on behalf of the University of Chester, the lead sponsor) 

 

Name in full:      Professor Tim J. Wheeler DL 

 

Position:            Vice-Chancellor and Principal 

 

Date: 

 

___________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Signature  

 

                         (For and on behalf of Wirral Metropolitan College, a co-sponsor) 

 

Name in full:      Mike Potter CBE 

 

Position:            Principal and Chief Executive  

 

Date 

 

___________________________________________________________ 

 
 

Signature  

 

                          (For and on behalf of Wirral MBC, as a co-sponsor) 

 

Name in full:      Councillor Phil Davies 

 

Position:             Lead Member for Children and Young People  

 

Date 

 

___________________________________________________________ 
 

Signature  

 

                          (For and on behalf of Wirral MBC, as the local authority) 

 

Name in full:      Steve Maddox 

 

Position:            Chief Executive 

 

Date 

Page 235



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

 

Section 6: Contact details 
 
Name of the University of Chester, lead sponsor representative:  Dr Colin Hankinson, Director of 
14-19 and Academy Development.  
Address:  Vice Chancellor’s Office, The University of Chester, Parkgate Road, Chester,    
Cheshire, CH1 4BJ 
Email:      c.hankinson@chester.ac.uk 
Tel:          01244 512179 
Mobile: 
Fax: 
 

_______________________________________________________________ 
Name of Wirral Metropolitan College co-sponsor representative: Peter Trigg, Head of Learning. 
Address: Wirral Metropolitan College, Conway Park Campus, Europa Boulevard, Conway Park, 
Birkenhead,CH41 4NT. 
Email:     Peter.Trigg@wmc.ac.uk 
Tel: 0151 551 7777 
Mobile: 
Fax: 

 
______________________________________________________________ 
Name of Wirral MBC, as co-sponsor representative: Mark Parkinson, Head of Branch (Learning 
& Achievement). 
Address: Wirral Children & Young People's Department, Council Offices, Hamilton Building, 
Conway Street, Birkenhead, CH41 4FD. 
Email:   markparkinson@wirral.gov.uk 
Tel:       0151 666 4297 
Mobile: 
Fax: 
 

_______________________________________________________________ 
 
Name of  Wirral MBC, as the local authority representative: Mark Parkinson, Head of Branch 
(Learning & Achievement). 
Address: Wirral Children & Young People's Department, Council Offices, Hamilton Building, 
Conway Street, Birkenhead, CH41 4FD. 
Email:     markparkinson@wirral.gov.uk 
Tel:        0151 666 4297 
Mobile: 
Fax: 
_______________________________________________________________ 
School 1 
Name of Park High school, predecessor school, representative: Headteacher, Mr Steven 
McMahon 

Address Park Road South, Prenton, Merseyside, CH43 4UY 

Email: headteacher@parkhigh.wirral.sch.uk 
Tel: 0151 652 1574 
Mobile: 
Fax: 0151 653 6760 

_____________________________________________________________ 
School 2 
Name of Rock Ferry High School, predecessor school, representative: Headteacher Mr Peter 
Bennett  
Address Ravenswood Avenue, Rock Ferry, Birkenhead, Merseyside, CH42 4NY. 
Email: headteacher@rockferryhigh.wirral.sch.uk 
Tel: 0151 645 6917 
Mobile: 
Fax: 0151 643 1236 

Page 236



 

Academy 3 DRAFT EOI                          This version updated 22/09/09 

______________________________________________________________ 
School 3 
Name of Ridgeway High School, predecessor school,  representative: Headteacher, Ms Pauline 
Roberts  
Address Noctorum Avenue, Noctorum, Prenton, Merseyside, CH43 9EB 
Email: headteacher@ridgeway.wirral.sch.uk 
Tel: 0151 678 3322 
Mobile: 
Fax: 0151 678 6571 
 

Page 237



Page 238

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 8

Page 239

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 246

This page is intentionally left blank



P
a
g
e
 2

4
7

B
y
 v

irtu
e
 o

f p
a
ra

g
ra

p
h
(s

) 3
 o

f P
a
rt 1

 o
f S

c
h

e
d
u
le

 1
2
A

o
f th

e
 L

o
c
a

l G
o

v
e

rn
m

e
n

t A
c
t 1

9
7

2
.

D
o
c
u
m

e
n
t is

 R
e
s
tric

te
d



P
a
g

e
 2

4
8

T
h

is
 p

a
g

e
 is

 in
te

n
tio

n
a
lly

 le
ft b

la
n
k



Page 249

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 252

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Relocation of Gilbrook Primary School - Consultation
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C

	4 Review of Primary School Places - Phase 5 Planning Areas and Commencement of Phase 5
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C (1)
	Appendix C (2)
	Appendix D
	Appendix E
	Appendix F
	Appendix G
	Appendix H
	Appendix I
	Appendix J

	5 Review of Secondary School Places Phase 2
	Appendix 1

	6 Review of Secondary School Places Phase 1
	Appemdix 1
	Appendix 2

	8 Aiming Higher
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2


